Bounded Littlewood identities

Eric M. Rains

S. Ole Warnaar

Author address:

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, CALIFORNIA INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY, PASADENA, CA 91125, USA *E-mail address*: rains@caltech.edu

School of Mathematics and Physics, The University of Queens-LAND, BRISBANE, QLD 4072, AUSTRALIA *E-mail address:* o.warnaar@maths.uq.edu.au

Contents

Acknowledgements	
Chapter 1 Introduction	1
1.1. Littlewood identities	1
1.2. Outline	3
	2
Chapter 2. Macdonald–Koornwinder theory	5
2.1. Partitions	5
2.2. Generalised q-shifted factorials	7
2.3. Rogers–Szegő polynomials	8
2.4. Plethystic notation	10
2.5. Macdonald polynomials	12
2.6. Koornwinder polynomials	15
2.7. Macdonald–Koornwinder polynomials	18
2.8. Hall–Littlewood polynomials	23
Chapter 3. Virtual Koornwinder integrals	29
3.1. Basic definitions	29
3.2. Closed-form evaluations—the Macdonald case	31
3.3. Closed-form evaluations—the Hall–Littlewood case	37
Chapter 4 Bounded Littlewood identities	41
4.1 Statement of results	41
4.2 Proofs of Theorems 4.1–4.8	45
	10
Chapter 5. Applications	55
5.1. Plane partitions	55
5.2. Character identities for affine Lie algebras	60
5.3. Rogers–Ramanujan identities	71
5.4. Quadratic transformations for Kaneko–Macdonald-type basic	
hypergeometric series	80
Chapter 6. Open problems	91
6.1. Missing <i>q</i> -analogues	91
6.2. Littlewood identities for near-rectangular partitions	91
6.3. Littlewood identities of Pfaffian type	92
6.4. Elliptic Littlewood identities	93
6.5 <i>a t</i> -Littlewood–Bichardson coefficients	93
6.6. Dyson–Macdonald-type identities	95
	50
Appendix A. The Weyl–Kac formula	97

CONTENTS

Appendix B.	Limits of elliptic hypergeometric integrals	103
Bibliography		109

iv

Abstract

We describe a method, based on the theory of Macdonald–Koornwinder polynomials, for proving bounded Littlewood identities. Our approach provides an alternative to Macdonald's partial fraction technique and results in the first examples of bounded Littlewood identities for Macdonald polynomials. These identities, which take the form of decomposition formulas for Macdonald polynomials of type (R, S) in terms of ordinary Macdonald polynomials, are q, t-analogues of known branching formulas for characters of the symplectic, orthogonal and special orthogonal groups. In the classical limit, our method implies that MacMahon's famous ex-conjecture for the generating function of symmetric plane partitions in a box follows from the identification of $(\operatorname{GL}(n, \mathbb{R}), \operatorname{O}(n))$ as a Gelfand pair. As further applications, we obtain combinatorial formulas for characters of affine Lie algebras; Rogers–Ramanujan identities for affine Lie algebras, complementing recent results of Griffin et al.; and quadratic transformation formulas for Kaneko–Macdonald-type basic hypergeometric series.

²⁰¹⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 05E05, 05E10, 17B67, 33D67.

Key words and phrases. Macdonald–Koornwinder polynomials, Hall–Littlewood polynomials, virtual Koornwinder integrals, character formulas, Rogers–Ramanujan identities, plane partitions.

Work supported by the National Science Foundation (grant number DMS-1001645) and the Australian Research Council.

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to Fokko van de Bult, Hjalmar Rosengren, Michael Schlosser, and Jasper Stokman for helpful discussions on hypergeometric functions, Macdonald identities and Macdonald–Koornwinder polynomials. We thank Richard Stanley for pointing out the paper [**121**] by Schur, and Chul-hee Lee for his many small corrections to an earlier version of this paper. Finally, we wish to thank the anonymous referee for his or her careful reading of the paper and for noticing a connection with the recent work of Cohl et al. on basic hypergeometric functions [**28**]. This has led to the inclusion of the material on very-well poised multiple basic hypergeometric series in Section 5.4.

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

1.1. Littlewood identities

In his 1950 text on group characters [85], D. E. Littlewood presented three identities for Schur functions which can be viewed as reciprocals of the Weyl denominator formulas for the classical groups B_n, C_n and D_n . The B_n case—which earlier appeared in an exercise by Schur [121]—is given by [85, Eq. (11.9; 6)]

(1.1.1)
$$\sum_{\lambda} s_{\lambda}(x) = \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{1 - x_{i}} \prod_{1 \le i < j \le n} \frac{1}{1 - x_{i} x_{j}}$$

where $s_{\lambda}(x) = s_{\lambda}(x_1, \dots, x_n)$ is a Schur function indexed by the partition λ . Almost 30 years later, Macdonald [90] proved the following bounded analogue of (1.1.1):

(1.1.2)
$$\sum_{\substack{\lambda \\ \lambda_1 \leqslant m}} s_{\lambda}(x) = \frac{\det_{1 \leqslant i, j \leqslant n}(x_i^{m+2n-j} - x_i^{j-1})}{\prod_{i=1}^n (x_i - 1) \prod_{1 \leqslant i < j \leqslant n} (x_i - x_j)(x_i x_j - 1)},$$

for m a nonnegative integer, and observed that it implied MacMahon's famous conjecture [95] for the generating function of symmetric plane partitions in a box. By reading off the 'sequence of diagonal slices'—an idea more recent than [90], see e.g., [103]—it immediately follows that the generating function

(1.1.3)
$$\sum_{\substack{\pi \subset \mathcal{B}(n,n,m)\\\pi \text{ symmetric}}} q^{|\pi|}$$

for symmetric plane partitions π contained in a box $\mathcal{B}(n,n,m)$ of size $n\times n\times m$ is given by

(1.1.4)
$$\sum_{\substack{\lambda\\\lambda_1\leqslant m}} s_\lambda(q,q^3,\ldots,q^{2n-1}).$$

Hence MacMahon's formula [95]

(1.1.5)
$$\sum_{\substack{\pi \subset B(n,n,m)\\\pi \text{ symmetric}}} q^{|\pi|} = \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1 - q^{m+2i-1}}{1 - q^{2i-1}} \prod_{1 \le i < j \le n} \frac{1 - q^{2(m+i+j-1)}}{1 - q^{2(i+j-1)}}$$

should follow from the evaluation of the determinant on the right of (1.1.2) in which the variables x_i are specialised as $x_i = q^{2i-1}$ for $1 \leq i \leq n$. Since the unspecialised determinant is essentially a character of the irreducible $\mathrm{SO}(2n+1,\mathbb{C})$ module of highest weight $m\omega_n$, the required determinant evaluation corresponds to the q-dimension of this module, and follows from the Weyl character formula [50]. To prove (1.1.2)—a $\mathrm{SO}(2n+1,\mathbb{C})$ to $\mathrm{GL}(n,\mathbb{C})$ branching formula—Macdonald developed a partial fraction method, resulting in a more general *t*-analogue for Hall–Littlewood polynomials.

Since the work of Littlewood and Macdonald, many additional Littlewood identities have been discovered and applied to problems in combinatorics, q-series and representation theory. Examples include the enumeration of plane partitions and related combinatorial objects such as tableaux, tilings, longest increasing subsequences and alternating-sign matrices [7, 10, 12, 13, 16, 17, 31, 32, 46, 66, 104, 105,107, 127, 145], the computation of characters and branching rules for classical groups and affine Lie algebras [9, 53, 54, 61, 62, 67, 101], and applications to Schubert calculus [70] Rogers–Ramanujan identities [47, 51, 56, 127, 139] and multiple elliptic hypergeometric series [71, 111]. Surprisingly, despite the interest in Littlewood identities, q, t-analogues of (1.1.2) and other bounded Littlewood identities for Schur and Hall–Littlewood polynomials have remained elusive. In this paper we present an approach to Littlewood identities based on the theory of Macdonald– Koornwinder polynomials. As a result we obtain the missing q, t-analogues, including the following generalisation of Macdonald's determinantal formula (1.1.2).¹

THEOREM 1.1. For $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ and m a nonnegative integer,

(1.1.6)
$$\sum_{\substack{\lambda\\\lambda_1 \leqslant m}} P_{\lambda}(x;q,t) \prod_{\substack{s \in \lambda\\l'(s) \text{ even}}} \frac{1 - q^{m-a'(s)}t^{l'(s)}}{1 - q^{m-a'(s)-1}t^{l'(s)+1}} \prod_{\substack{s \in \lambda\\l(s) \text{ even}}} \frac{1 - q^{a(s)}t^{l(s)+1}}{1 - q^{a(s)+1}t^{l(s)}} = (x_1 \cdots x_n)^{\frac{m}{2}} P_{(\frac{m}{2})^n}^{(\mathbf{B}_n,\mathbf{B}_n)}(x;q,t,t).$$

On the left, $P_{\lambda}(x;q,t)$ is a Macdonald polynomial and a(s), l(s), a'(s), l'(s) are the arm-length, leg-length, arm-colength and leg-colength of the square $s \in \lambda$. The (Laurent) polynomial $P_{(\frac{m}{2})^n}^{(\mathbf{B}_n,\mathbf{B}_n)}(x;q,t,t)$ on the right is a Macdonald polynomial attached to the pair of root systems $(\mathbf{B}_n,\mathbf{B}_n)$, indexed by the rectangular partition or 'half-partition' $(\frac{m}{2},\ldots,\frac{m}{2})$ of length n.

Our method also leads to alternative proofs, as well as further examples, of Littlewood identities for the characters of irreducible highest-weight modules of affine Lie algebras, first discovered in [9]. In particular we find that such characters arise by taking suitable limits of Hall–Littlewood polynomials of type R. For example, for the twisted affine Lie algebra $A_{2n}^{(2)}$ we obtain the following formula for the character of the highest-weight module $V(m\varpi_0)$ in terms of modified Hall–Littlewood polynomials $P'_{\lambda}(x;t)$ and the large-r limit of the Hall–Littlewood polynomial $P_{(\frac{m}{2})^n}^{(B_r)}(x;t,t_2)$.

THEOREM 1.2. Let $\alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_n$ and $\varpi_0, \ldots, \varpi_n$ be the simple roots and fundamental weights of $A_{2n}^{(2)}$, and $\delta = 2\alpha_0 + \cdots + 2\alpha_{n-1} + \alpha_n$ the null root. Set

$$t = e^{-\delta}$$
 and $x_i = e^{-\alpha_i - \cdots - \alpha_{n-1} - \alpha_n/2}$.

¹A second generalisation in terms of $P_{(\frac{m}{2})^n}^{(\mathbf{B}_n, \mathbf{C}_n)}$ is given in Theorem 4.6.

and let $\operatorname{ch} V(\Lambda)$ denote the character of the integrable highest-weight module $V(\Lambda)$ of highest weight Λ . Then, for m a positive integer,

(1.1.7)
$$e^{-m\varpi_{0}} \operatorname{ch} V(m\varpi_{0}) = \lim_{N \to \infty} t^{\frac{1}{2}mnN^{2}} P_{(\frac{m}{2})^{2nN}}^{(\mathrm{B}_{2nN})}(t^{1/2}X;t,0)$$
$$= \sum_{\substack{\lambda\\\lambda_{1} \leqslant m}} t^{|\lambda|/2} P_{\lambda}'(x_{1}^{\pm},\ldots,x_{n}^{\pm};t),$$

where $(..., ax_i^{\pm}, ...) := (..., ax_i, ax_i^{-1}, ...)$ and $X = X_N(x; t)$ is the alphabet (1.1.8) $X = (x_1^{\pm}, tx_1^{\pm}, ..., t^{N-1}x_1^{\pm}, ..., x_n^{\pm}, tx_n^{\pm}, ..., t^{N-1}x_n^{\pm})$ of cardinality 2nN.

As shown by Griffin et al. [47], character formulas such as (1.1.7) imply Rogers– Ramanujan identities through specialisation. Following their approach, we obtain several new examples of Rogers–Ramanujan identities labelled by affine Lie algebras. For example, from (1.1.7) we obtain the following new identity, where $P_{\lambda}(x;t)$ is a Hall–Littlewood polynomial, $\theta(x;q)$ a modified theta function and $(q;q)_{\infty}$ a qshifted factorial.

THEOREM 1.3 (A⁽²⁾_{2n} Rogers–Ramanujan identity). For m, n positive integers, let $\kappa = m + 2n + 1$. Then

$$\sum_{\substack{\lambda\\\lambda_1 \leqslant m}} q^{|\lambda|/2} P_{\lambda}(1,q,q^2,\ldots;q^{2n})$$
$$= \frac{(q^{\kappa};q^{\kappa})_{\infty}^{n-1}(q^{\kappa/2};q^{\kappa/2})_{\infty}}{(q;q)_{\infty}^{n-1}(q^{1/2};q^{1/2})_{\infty}} \prod_{i=1}^n \theta(q^i;q^{\kappa/2}) \prod_{1 \leqslant i < j \leqslant n} \theta(q^{j-i};q^{\kappa}) \theta(q^{i+j};q^{\kappa}).$$

1.2. Outline

The remainder of this paper is organised as follows. In the next chapter we review some standard material from Macdonald–Koornwinder theory. This includes a discussion of ordinary (or type A) Macdonald polynomials, Koornwinder polynomials and their lifted and virtual analogues, generalised Macdonald polynomials of type (R, S), Hall–Littlewood polynomials and Rogers–Szegő polynomials.

In Chapter 3 we consider two important functionals on the ring of symmetric functions known as virtual Koornwinder integrals. We review a number of earlier results for virtual Koornwinder integrals and prove several new integral evaluations.

In Chapter 4 we present our approach to bounded Littlewood identities. The key idea is to show that each bounded Littlewood identity is equivalent to the closed-form evaluation of a virtual Koornwinder integral. We apply our method to prove several new bounded Littlewood identities, including Theorem 1.1 and a q, t-analogue of the well-known Désarménien–Proctor–Stembridge determinant, see Theorem 4.1.

Chapter 5 contains applications of the main results of Chapter 4. First, in Section 5.1, we show that in the classical limit our approach to bounded Littlewood identities implies that MacMahon's formula (1.1.5) is a consequence of the wellknown fact that $(GL(n,\mathbb{R}), O(n))$ forms a Gelfand pair. Then, in Section 5.2, we show how our bounded Littlewood identities for Hall–Littlewood polynomials give rise to combinatorial formulas for characters of affine Lie algebras, such as Theorem 1.2. This provides an alternative to the recent approach of Bartlett and the second author based on the C_n Bailey lemma [9]. In Section 5.3 we follow recent ideas of Griffin et al. [47] and apply the combinatorial character identities to prove new Rogers–Ramanujan identities for the affine Lie algebras $B_n^{(1)}, A_{2n-1}^{(2)}, A_{2n}^{(2)}$ and $D_{n+1}^{(2)}$. The Rogers–Ramanujan identities for $B_n^{(1)}$, given in Theorem 5.15 and Remark 5.16, generalise Bressoud's well-known Rogers–Ramanujan identities for even moduli [14, 15] to arbitrary rank n. As a final application, in Section 5.4 we show that after principal specialisation our bounded q, t-Littlewood identities give rise to new transformation formulas for basic hypergeometric series of Kaneko– Macdonald-type [58, 94].

Finally, in Chapter 6, we discuss a number of open problems arising from our work, including several conjectures.

We conclude our paper with two appendices. Appendix A contains some technical lemmas related to the Weyl–Kac character formula, needed in Sections 5.2 and 5.3. In Appendix B we review the known connection between elliptic Selberg integrals and multiple basic hypergeometric series, and use this to prove a number of nonterminating quadratic transformation formulas for such series stated in Section 5.4.

CHAPTER 2

Macdonald–Koornwinder theory

2.1. Partitions

A partition $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \lambda_2, ...)$ is a weakly decreasing sequence of nonnegative integers such that only finitely many λ_i are positive. The positive λ_i are called the parts of λ , and the number of parts, denoted $l(\lambda)$, is called the length of λ . As is customary, we often ignore the tail of zeros of a partition. If $|\lambda| := \sum_i \lambda_i = n$ we say that λ is a partition of n. The unique partition of 0 is denoted by 0. As usual, we identify a partition with its Young diagram—a collection of left-aligned rows of squares such that the *i*th row contains λ_i squares. We use the English convention for drawing Young diagrams, with rows labelled from top to bottom and columns from left to right. For example, the partition (5, 3, 3, 1) corresponds to



and its top right-most square has coordinates (1,5). The conjugate partition λ' is obtained from λ by reflection in the main diagonal, so that the parts of λ' correspond to the columns of λ . For example, the conjugate of (5,3,3,1) is (4,3,3,1,1). Given a partition λ , the multiplicity $m_i(\lambda) = \lambda'_i - \lambda'_{i+1}$ counts the number of parts of size *i*. Clearly, $\sum_{i \ge 1} m_i(\lambda) = l(\lambda)$. If λ is a rectangular partition consisting of *m* rows and *n* columns we write $\lambda = m^n$. If λ is a partition of length at most *n* we also write $\lambda + m^n$ for $(\lambda_1 + m, \ldots, \lambda_n + m)$. The number of even and odd parts of λ will be denoted by even (λ) and odd (λ) respectively. If $odd(\lambda) = 0$ we say that λ is even. Given a partitions $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \ldots)$, we write 2λ for the even partition $(2\lambda_1, 2\lambda_2, \ldots)$. Similarly, if $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \ldots)$ is even, we write $\lambda/2$ for the partition $(\lambda_1/2, \lambda_2/2, \ldots)$.

For two partitions λ, μ we write $\mu \subset \lambda$ if μ is contained in λ , i.e., if $\mu_i \leq \lambda_i$ for all $i \geq 1$. For $\mu \subset \lambda$, the set-theoretic difference between λ and μ is called a skew shape. To avoid a notational clash with partition complementation to be defined shortly, we write this difference as λ/μ instead of the more common $\lambda - \mu$. For example, the skew shape (5, 3, 3, 1)/(3, 3, 1) is given by



As usual, we identify $\lambda/0$ and λ . A skew shape λ/μ containing at most one square in each column, as in the above example, is referred to as a horizontal strip. Analogously, a vertical strip is a skew diagram with at most one square in each row. If λ/μ is a horizontal strip then the partitions λ and μ are said to be interlacing, which we denote by $\lambda \succ \mu$. Note that $\lambda \succ \mu$ if and only if

$$\lambda_1 \geqslant \mu_1 \geqslant \lambda_2 \geqslant \mu_2 \geqslant \cdots$$
.

If $\lambda \subset m^n$ we write the complement of λ with respect to m^n as $m^n - \lambda$, that is, $m^n - \lambda = (m - \lambda_n, \dots, m - \lambda_2, m - \lambda_1)$. For example, the complement of (3,2) with respect to 4^3 is (4,2,1).

The dominance order on the set of partitions is defined as follows: $\lambda \ge \mu$ if $\lambda_1 + \cdots + \lambda_k \ge \mu_1 + \cdots + \mu_k$ for all $k \ge 1$. Note that unlike [91], we do not assume that $|\lambda| = |\mu|$. If $\lambda \ge \mu$ and $\lambda \ne \mu$ we write $\lambda > \mu$.

The arm-length, arm-colength, leg-length and leg-colength of the square $s = (i, j) \in \lambda$ are given by

$$\begin{aligned} &a(s) = a_{\lambda}(s) := \lambda_{i} - j, \\ &l(s) = l_{\lambda}(s) := \lambda'_{j} - i, \end{aligned} \qquad \begin{aligned} &a'(s) = a'_{\lambda}(s) := j - 1, \\ &l'(s) = l'_{\lambda}(s) := i - 1, \end{aligned}$$

and correspond to the number of squares in the same row or column of s immediately to the east, west, south and north of s respectively. For the square $s = (3,3) \in (8,7,7,6,4,3,1)$ we have (a(s), l(s), a'(s), l'(s)) = (4,3,2,2), as shown in the following diagram:



We also define the closely related ' C_n -type' analogues

$$\hat{a}(s) = \hat{a}_{\lambda}(s) := \lambda_i + j - 1,$$
 $\hat{l}(s) = \hat{l}_{\lambda}(s) := \lambda'_j + i - 1.$

Diagrammatically, $\hat{a}(s)$ corresponds to the arm-length of the mirror image, say \hat{s} , of $s \in \lambda$ upon reflection in the left boundary of λ . In the previous example, $\hat{s} = (3, -2)$ with arm-length $a(\hat{s}) = \hat{a}(s) = 9$.



In much the same way, $\hat{l}(s)$ is the leg-length of the reflection of s in the upper boundary of λ . Note that for all $(A, L) \in \{(a, l), (a', l'), (\hat{a}, \hat{l})\}, A_{\lambda}(i, j) = L_{\lambda'}(j, i)$. The usual hook-length of $s \in \lambda$ is given by h(s) = a(s) + l(s) + 1. The statistic $n(\lambda/\mu)$, which will be used repeatedly, is defined as [**73**, page 6]

$$n(\lambda/\mu) := \sum_{s \in \lambda/\mu} l(s) = \sum_{i \ge 1} \binom{\lambda'_i - \mu'_i}{2}.$$

For $\mu = 0$ this may also be expressed as the more familiar [91, page 3]

$$n(\lambda) = \sum_{s \in \lambda} l'(s) = \sum_{i \ge 1} (i-1)\lambda_i.$$

Finally, we say that $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n)$ is a half-partition if $\lambda_1 \ge \lambda_2 \ge \cdots \ge \lambda_n > 0$ and all λ_i are half-integers. We sometimes write this as $\lambda = \mu + (1/2)^n$ with μ a partition of length at most n. Conversely, if $\lambda = \mu + (1/2)^n$, we also write $\mu = \lambda - (1/2)^n$. The length of a half-partition $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n)$ is by definition n, and $m_i(\lambda)$ for i a positive half-integer is the multiplicity of parts of size i. We use half-partitions to generalise our earlier notion of complementation so that $m^n - \lambda$ makes sense for m an integer or half-integer and $\lambda \subset m^n$ a partition (of length at most n) or half-partition (of length n). For example, $4^3 - (5/2, 3/2, 3/2) = (5/2, 5/2, 3/2)$ and $(7/2)^3 - (5/2, 3/2, 3/2) = (2, 2, 1)$. We extend the dominance order to the set of half-partitions in the obvious manner. However, partitions and half-partitions are by definition incomparable.

2.2. Generalised q-shifted factorials

Let

$$(z;q)_{\infty} := \prod_{i \ge 0} (1 - zq^i) \text{ and } (z;q)_n := \frac{(z;q)_{\infty}}{(zq^n;q)_{\infty}}$$

be the standard q-shifted factorials [43]. In this paper we mostly view q-series as formal power series, but occasionally we require q to be a complex variable such that |q| < 1. The modified theta function is defined as

(2.2.1)
$$\theta(z;q) := (z;q)_{\infty} (q/z;q)_{\infty} = \frac{1}{(q;q)_{\infty}} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} (-z)^k q^{\binom{k}{2}} \quad \text{for } z \neq 0,$$

where the equality between the product and the sum is known as the Jacobi triple product identity [43, Equation (II.28)]. We also need more general q-shifted factorials indexed by partitions:

(2.2.2a)
$$(z;q,t)_{\lambda} := \prod_{s \in \lambda} \left(1 - zq^{a'(s)}t^{-l'(s)} \right) = \prod_{i=1}^{n} (zt^{1-i};q)_{\lambda_i},$$

(2.2.2b)
$$C_{\lambda}^{-}(z;q,t) := \prod_{s \in \lambda} \left(1 - zq^{a(s)}t^{l(s)} \right)$$
$$= \prod_{i=1}^{n} (zt^{n-i};q)_{\lambda_{i}} \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} \frac{(zt^{j-i-1};q)_{\lambda_{i}-\lambda_{j}}}{(zt^{j-i};q)_{\lambda_{i}-\lambda_{j}}},$$
$$(2.2.2c) \qquad C_{\lambda}^{+}(z;q,t) := \prod \left(1 - zq^{\hat{a}(s)}t^{1-\hat{l}(s)} \right)$$

$$(2.2.2c) \quad C_{\lambda}^{+}(z;q,t) := \prod_{s \in \lambda} \left(1 - zq^{u(s)}t^{1-i(s)} \right) \\ = \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{(zt^{2-2i};q)_{2\lambda_{i}}}{(zt^{2-i-n};q)_{\lambda_{i}}} \prod_{1 \le i < j \le n} \frac{(zt^{2-i-j};q)_{\lambda_{i}+\lambda_{j}}}{(zt^{3-i-j};q)_{\lambda_{i}+\lambda_{j}}}.$$

In all three cases, the choice of n on the right is irrelevant as long as $n \ge l(\lambda)$. We note that $(a;q,t)_{\lambda}$ is sometimes denoted as $C_{\lambda}^{0}(a;q,t)$, see e.g., [113], and that $C_{\lambda}^{-}(t;q,t) = c_{\lambda}(q,t)$ and $C_{\lambda}^{-}(q;q,t) = c'_{\lambda}(q,t)$, with c_{λ} and c'_{λ} the hook-length polynomials of Macdonald [91, page 352]. In particular, $C_{\lambda}^{-}(q;q,q) = c_{\lambda}(q,q) = c'_{\lambda}(q,q) = t_{\lambda}(q)$ with

(2.2.3)
$$H_{\lambda}(q) := \prod_{s \in \lambda} \left(1 - q^{h(s)} \right)$$

the classical hook-length polynomial. For $s \in \lambda$, let

(2.2.4)
$$b_{\lambda}(s;q,t) := \frac{1 - q^{a_{\lambda}(s)} t^{l_{\lambda}(s)+1}}{1 - q^{a_{\lambda}(s)+1} t^{l_{\lambda}(s)}}$$

Then

(2.2.5)
$$b_{\lambda}(q,t) := \frac{c_{\lambda}(q,t)}{c'_{\lambda}(q,t)} = \prod_{s \in \lambda} b_{\lambda}(s;q,t).$$

For both q-shifted factorials and theta functions, we use condensed notation such as

$$(z_1,\ldots,z_k;q,t)_{\lambda}=(z_1;q,t)_{\lambda}\cdots(z_k;q,t)_{\lambda}.$$

It is an elementary exercise to verify the following identities, which will be used repeatedly throughout this paper:

(2.2.6a)
$$(a;q,t)_{\lambda'} = (-a)^{|\lambda|} q^{n(\lambda)} t^{-n(\lambda')} (a^{-1};t,q)_{\lambda},$$

(2.2.6b)
$$C_{\lambda'}^{-}(a;q,t) = C_{\lambda}^{-}(a;t,q),$$

(2.2.6c)
$$C_{\lambda'}^+(a;q,t) = (-aq)^{|\lambda|} q^{3n(\lambda)} t^{-3n(\lambda')} C_{\lambda}^+((aqt)^{-1};t,q),$$

(2.2.7a)
$$(a;q,t)_{2\lambda} = (a,aq;q^2,t)_{\lambda},$$

(2.2.7b)
$$C_{2\lambda}^{-}(a;q,t) = C_{\lambda}^{-}(a,aq;q^{2},t),$$

and

(2.2.8a)
$$(a;q,t)_{m^n-\lambda} = (-q^{1-m}t^{n-1}/a)^{|\lambda|}q^{n(\lambda')}t^{-n(\lambda)}\frac{(a;q,t)_{m^n}}{(q^{1-m}t^{n-1}/a;q,t)_{\lambda}},$$

$$(2.2.8b) C^{-}_{m^n-\lambda}(a;q,t) = (-q^{1-m}/a)^{|\lambda|} q^{n(\lambda')} t^{-n(\lambda)} \frac{(at^{n-1};q,t)_{m^n} C^{-}_{\lambda}(a;q,t)}{(at^{n-1},q^{1-m}/a;q,t)_{\lambda}}$$

2.3. Rogers-Szegő polynomials

For integers k, n such that $0 \leq k \leq n$, let

$$\begin{bmatrix}n\\k\end{bmatrix}_q:=\frac{(q;q)_n}{(q;q)_k(q;q)_{n-k}}$$

be a q-binomial coefficient. Then the Rogers–Szegő polynomials $H_m(z;q)$ are defined as [132]

(2.3.1)
$$H_m(z;q) := \sum_{k=0}^m z^k \begin{bmatrix} m \\ k \end{bmatrix}_q,$$

for m a nonnegative integer. They have generating function [2, page 49]

(2.3.2)
$$\sum_{m \ge 0} \frac{H_m(z;q)t^m}{(q;q)_m} = \frac{1}{(t,tz;q)_{\infty}},$$

and satisfy the three-term recurrence relation

$$H_{m+1}(z;q) = (1+z)H_m(z;q) - (1-q^m)zH_{m-1}(z;q)$$

subject to the initial conditions $H_{-1} = 0$, $H_0 = 1$. For 0 < q < 1, the Rogers–Szegő polynomials satisfy the orthogonality relation

$$\frac{1}{2\pi \mathrm{i}} \int_{\mathbb{T}} H_m(zq^{-1/2};q) H_n(\bar{z}q^{-1/2};q) \left| (zq^{1/2};q)_\infty \right|^2 \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{z} = q^{-m}(q;q)_m \,\delta_{m,n},$$

where \mathbb{T} is the positively-oriented unit circle.

The Rogers–Szegő polynomials are closely related to symmetric functions and may, for example, be expressed in terms of Schur functions as

(2.3.3)
$$H_m(z;q) = (q)_m \sum_{\lambda \vdash m} \frac{q^{n(\lambda)}}{H_\lambda(q)} s_\lambda(1,z),$$

with $H_{\lambda}(q)$ the hook-length polynomial (2.2.3). Indeed, by (2.3.2) and the n = 2 case of [91, page 66]

$$\sum_{\lambda} \frac{q^{n(\lambda)}}{H_{\lambda}(q)} s_{\lambda}(x_1, \dots, x_n) = \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{1}{(x_i; q)_{\infty}},$$

the formula (2.3.3) immediately follows.

We require two generalisations of the Rogers–Szegő polynomials to polynomials indexed by partitions. First,

$$(2.3.4) h_{\lambda}^{(m)}(a,b;q) := \prod_{\substack{i=1\\i \text{ odd}}}^{m-1} (-a)^{m_i(\lambda)} H_{m_i(\lambda)}(b/a;q) \prod_{\substack{i=1\\i \text{ even}}}^{m-1} H_{m_i(\lambda)}(ab;q) = (-a)^{\text{odd}(\lambda)} \prod_{\substack{i=1\\i \text{ odd}}}^{m-1} H_{m_i(\lambda)}(b/a;q) \prod_{\substack{i=1\\i \text{ even}}}^{m-1} H_{m_i(\lambda)}(ab;q),$$

where *m* is a nonnegative integer. Compared to earlier definitions in [9, 139] the parameters *a* and *b* have been replaced by their negatives. Since H_m is a self-reciprocal polynomial, i.e., $z^m H_m(1/z;q) = H_m(z;q)$, it follows that $h_{\lambda}^{(m)}(a,b;q)$ is symmetric in *a* and *b*:

$$h_{\lambda}^{(m)}(a,b;q) = h_{\lambda}^{(m)}(b,a;q).$$

Since $m_i(\lambda) = 0$ for $i > \lambda_1$, the upper bound on the products over i in (2.3.4) may be dropped if $m \ge \lambda_1 + 1$. For such m we simply write $h_{\lambda}(a, b; q)$. That is,

(2.3.5)
$$h_{\lambda}(a,b;q) := \prod_{\substack{i \ge 1\\ i \text{ odd}}} (-a)^{m_i(\lambda)} H_{m_i(\lambda)}(b/a;q) \prod_{\substack{i \ge 1\\ i \text{ even}}} H_{m_i(\lambda)}(ab;q).$$

We further define

(2.3.6)
$$h_{\lambda}^{(m)}(a;t) := h_{\lambda}^{(m)}(a,-1;t) = \prod_{i=1}^{m-1} H_{m_i(\lambda)}(-a;t).$$

It follows from

(2.3.7a)
$$H_m(0;t) = 1.$$

(2.3.7b)
$$H_m(-1;t) = \begin{cases} (t;t^2)_{m/2} & m \text{ even} \\ 0 & m \text{ odd}, \end{cases}$$

(2.3.7c)
$$H_m(-t;t) = (t;t^2)_{\lceil m/2 \rceil},$$

(2.3.7d)
$$H_m(t^{1/2};t) = (-t^{1/2};t^{1/2})_m$$

(see [139, Equation (1.10)]) that for special values of a and b the polynomials (2.3.4)–(2.3.6) completely factor. This will be important in Section 5.2 in our discussion of character formulas for affine Lie algebras.

2.4. Plethystic notation

Let \mathfrak{S}_n be the symmetric group on n letters, $\Lambda_n = \mathbb{F}[x_1, \ldots, x_n]^{\mathfrak{S}_n}$ the ring of symmetric functions in the alphabet x_1, \ldots, x_n with coefficients in \mathbb{F} , and Λ the corresponding ring of symmetric functions in countably many variables, see e.g., [91,126]. We will mostly consider $\mathbb{F} = \mathbb{Q}(q, t)$ and $\mathbb{F} = \mathbb{Q}(q, t, t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3)$, or minor variations thereof.

To facilitate computations in Λ we frequently employ plethystic or λ -ring notation [49,72]. This is most easily described in terms of the Newton power sums

$$p_r(x) := x_1^r + x_2^r + \cdots, \qquad r \ge 1,$$

with generating function

$$\Psi_z(x) := \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} z^{r-1} p_r(x) = \sum_{i \ge 1} \frac{x_i}{1 - z x_i}.$$

The power sums form an algebraic basis of Λ , that is, $\Lambda = \mathbb{F}[p_1, p_2, \dots]$.

If $x = (x_1, x_2, ...)$, we additively write $x = x_1 + x_2 + ...$, and to indicate the latter notation, we use plethystic brackets:

$$f(x) = f(x_1, x_2, \dots) = f[x_1 + x_2 + \dots] = f[x], \qquad f \in \Lambda.$$

A power sum whose argument is the sum, difference or Cartesian product of two alphabets x and y is then defined as

(2.4.1a)
$$p_r[x+y] := p_r[x] + p_r[y],$$

(2.4.1b)
$$p_r[x-y] := p_r[x] - p_r[y],$$

(2.4.1c)
$$p_r[xy] := p_r[x]p_r[y],$$

respectively. In particular, if x is the empty alphabet then $p_r[-y] = -p_r[y]$, (which should not be confused with $p(-y) = p(-y_1, -y_2, ...) = (-1)^r p_r(y)$), so that

(2.4.2)
$$f[-(-x)] = f[x].$$

Occasionally we need to also use an ordinary minus sign in plethystic notation. To distinguish this from a plethystic minus sign, we denote by ε the alphabet consisting of the single letter -1, so that for $f \in \Lambda$

$$f(-x) = f(-x_1, -x_2, \dots) = f[\varepsilon x_1 + \varepsilon x_2 + \dots] = f[\varepsilon x]$$

Hence

$$p_r[\varepsilon x] = (-1)^r p_r[x], \qquad p_r[-\varepsilon x] = (-1)^{r-1} p_r[x]$$

and

$$f[x+\varepsilon] = f(-1, x_1, x_2, \dots).$$

For indeterminates a, b, t and $f \in \Lambda$, we further define f[(a-b)/(1-t)] by

(2.4.3)
$$p_r \left[\frac{a-b}{1-t} \right] = \frac{a^r - b^r}{1-t^r},$$

and note that (a-b)/(1-t) may be viewed as the difference between the alphabets $a(1+t+t^2+\cdots)$ and $b(1+t+t^2+\cdots)$, where $a(1+t+t^2+\cdots)$ is the Cartesian product of the single-letter alphabet a and the infinite alphabet $1+t+t^2+\cdots$. Alternatively, (a-b)/(1-t) may be interpreted as the Cartesian product of a-b and $1+t+t^2+\cdots$. We can of course combine (2.4.1) and (2.4.3), and for example

$$p_r\left[x + \frac{a-b}{1-t}\right] = p_r[x] + p_r\left[\frac{a-b}{1-t}\right].$$

For $r \ge 0$, the complete symmetric functions are defined by

$$h_r(x) := \sum_{1 \leqslant i_1 \leqslant i_2 \leqslant \dots \leqslant i_r} x_{i_1} x_{i_2} \cdots x_{i_r},$$

and admit the generating function

(2.4.4)
$$\sigma_z(x) := \sum_{r \ge 0} z^r h_r(x) = \prod_{i \ge 1} \frac{1}{1 - zx_i}$$

Since $\Psi_z(x) = \frac{d}{dz} \log \sigma_z(x)$, it follows that

(2.4.5a)
$$\sigma_1[x+y] = \sigma_1[x]\sigma_1[y] = \prod_{i \ge 1} \frac{1}{(1-x_i)(1-y_i)},$$

(2.4.5b)
$$\sigma_1[x-y] = \frac{\sigma_1[x]}{\sigma_1[y]} = \prod_{i \ge 1} \frac{1-y_i}{1-x_i},$$

(2.4.5c)
$$\sigma_1\left[\frac{a-b}{1-t}\right] = \prod_{k \ge 0} \frac{\sigma_1[at^k]}{\sigma_1[bt^k]} = \frac{(b;t)_\infty}{(a;t)_\infty}.$$

These three formulas allow various infinite products to be expressed in terms of symmetric functions. For example, it follows immediately from the generating function (2.3.2) that the Rogers–Szegő polynomials $H_m(z;q)$ may be identified as

$$H_m(z;q) = (q;q)_m h_m \Big[\frac{1+z}{1-q}\Big].$$

Finally, for $\mathbb{F} = \mathbb{Q}(q, t)$, $\omega_{q,t}$ is the \mathbb{F} -algebra endomorphism of Λ defined by [91, page 312]

$$\omega_{q,t} \, p_r = (-1)^{r-1} \frac{1-q^r}{1-t^r} \, p_r.$$

Note that $\omega_{t,q} = \omega_{q,t}^{-1}$ and, plethystically,

(2.4.6)
$$\omega_{q,t} f(x) = f\left(\left[-\varepsilon \frac{1-q}{1-t}x\right]\right), \qquad f \in \Lambda.$$

2.5. Macdonald polynomials

Let $\mathbb{F} = \mathbb{Q}(q, t)$. The power sums $p_{\lambda} := \prod_{i=1}^{l(\lambda)} p_{\lambda_i}$ may be used to define Macdonald's q, t-analogue of the Hall scalar product on Λ as [**91**]

$$\langle p_{\lambda}, p_{\mu} \rangle_{q,t} := \delta_{\lambda\mu} z_{\lambda} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1 - q^{\lambda_i}}{1 - t^{\lambda_i}},$$

where $z_{\lambda} = \prod_{i \ge 1} m_i(\lambda)! i^{m_i(\lambda)}$. The Macdonald polynomials $P_{\lambda}(q,t) = P_{\lambda}(x;q,t)$ are the unique family of symmetric functions such that [91]

(2.5.1)
$$P_{\lambda}(q,t) = m_{\lambda} + \sum_{\mu < \lambda} u_{\lambda\mu}(q,t)m_{\mu}$$

and

$$\langle P_{\lambda}(q,t), P_{\mu}(q,t) \rangle_{q,t} = 0$$
 if $\lambda \neq \mu$.

Here the m_{λ} are the monomial symmetric functions, defined by

$$m_{\lambda}(x) := \sum_{\alpha} x^{\alpha},$$

where α is summed over distinct permutations of $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \lambda_2, ...)$ and $x^{\alpha} := \prod_{i \ge 1} x_1^{\alpha_1} x_2^{\alpha_2} \cdots$. By the triangularity of (2.5.1) and the fact that the m_{λ} form a basis of Λ , it immediately follows that the Macdonald polynomials form a basis of Λ as well. When $l(\lambda) > n$, $P_{\lambda}(x_1, \ldots, x_n; q, t) = 0$ and the polynomials $P_{\lambda}(x_1, \ldots, x_n; q, t)$ indexed by partitions λ of length at most n form a basis of Λ_n . The skew Macdonald polynomials $P_{\lambda/\mu}(q, t)$ are defined by

$$P_{\lambda/\mu}(q,t), P_{\nu}(q,t)\rangle_{q,t} = \langle P_{\lambda}(q,t), P_{\mu}(q,t)P_{\nu}(q,t)\rangle_{q,t},$$

and vanish unless $\mu \subset \lambda$. For q = t the Macdonald polynomials simplify to the Schur functions: $P_{\lambda/\mu}(t,t) = s_{\lambda/\mu}$.

For later comparison with the Koornwinder and (R, S) Macdonald polynomials, we remark that an alternative description of the Macdonald polynomials in nvariables is as the unique family of polynomials (2.5.1) such that [91]

$$\langle P_{\lambda}, P_{\mu} \rangle_{q,t}' = 0 \quad \text{if } \lambda \neq \mu$$

where, for $|q|, |t| < 1, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle'_{q,t}$ is the scalar product on $\mathbb{F}[x] = \mathbb{F}[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$ defined by

$$\langle f,g\rangle_{q,t}' := \frac{1}{n!(2\pi i)^n} \int_{\mathbb{T}^n} f(x)g(x^{-1})\Delta(x;q,t) \frac{\mathrm{d}x_1}{x_1} \cdots \frac{\mathrm{d}x_n}{x_n}$$

Here $f(x^{-1}) := f(x_1^{-1}, \dots, x_n^{-1}), \Delta(x; q, t)$ is the Macdonald density

(2.5.2)
$$\Delta(x;q,t) := \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} \frac{(x_i/x_j, x_j/x_i; q)_{\infty}}{(tx_i/x_j, tx_j/x_i; q)_{\infty}}$$

and \mathbb{T}^n is the *n*-dimensional complex torus:

$$\mathbb{T}^n := \{ (x_1, \dots, x_n) \in \mathbb{C}^n : |x_1| = \dots = |x_n| = 1 \}.$$

Below we list a number of standard results from Macdonald polynomial theory needed later. First of all, defining a second family of Macdonald polynomials $Q_{\lambda/\mu}(q,t) = Q_{\lambda/\mu}(x;q,t)$ as

(2.5.3)
$$Q_{\lambda/\mu}(q,t) := \frac{b_{\lambda}(q,t)}{b_{\mu}(q,t)} P_{\lambda/\mu}(q,t),$$

with $b_{\lambda}(q,t)$ given by (2.2.5), we have the duality [91, page 327]

(2.5.4)
$$\omega_{q,t} P_{\lambda}(q,t) = Q_{\lambda'}(t,q),$$

as well as the orthogonality [91, page 324]

$$\langle P_{\lambda}(q,t), Q_{\mu}(q,t) \rangle_{q,t} = \delta_{\lambda\mu}.$$

This last equation is equivalent to the Cauchy identity [91, page 324]

$$\sum_{\lambda} P_{\lambda}(x;q,t) Q_{\lambda}(y;q,t) = \prod_{i,j \ge 1} \frac{(tx_i y_j;q)_{\infty}}{(x_i y_j;q)_{\infty}},$$

which we repeatedly require in the dual form [91, page 329]

(2.5.5)
$$\sum_{\lambda \subset m^n} (-1)^{|\lambda|} P_{\lambda}(x_1, \dots, x_n; q, t) P_{\lambda'}(y_1, \dots, y_m; t, q) = \prod_{i=1}^n \prod_{j=1}^m (1 - x_i y_j).$$

We also need the g- and e-Pieri rules for Macdonald polynomials [91, page 340], expressed in generating function form. First, in the g-Pieri case

(2.5.6)
$$P_{\mu}(x;q,t) \prod_{i \ge 1} \frac{(atx_i;q)_{\infty}}{(ax_i;q)_{\infty}} = \sum_{\lambda \succ \mu} a^{|\lambda/\mu|} \varphi_{\lambda/\mu}(q,t) P_{\lambda}(x;q,t),$$

where the Pieri coefficient $\varphi_{\lambda/\mu}(q,t)$ is given by [91, page 342]

$$(2.5.7) \quad \varphi_{\lambda/\mu}(q,t) = \prod_{1 \leqslant i \leqslant j \leqslant l(\lambda)} \frac{(qt^{j-i};q)_{\lambda_i - \lambda_j}}{(t^{j-i+1};q)_{\lambda_i - \lambda_j}} \cdot \frac{(qt^{j-i};q)_{\mu_i - \mu_{j+1}}}{(t^{j-i+1};q)_{\mu_i - \mu_j}} \times \frac{(t^{j-i+1};q)_{\lambda_i - \mu_j}}{(qt^{j-i};q)_{\lambda_i - \mu_j}} \cdot \frac{(t^{j-i+1};q)_{\mu_i - \lambda_{j+1}}}{(qt^{j-i};q)_{\mu_i - \lambda_{j+1}}}.$$

Similarly, the *e*-Pieri rule is given by

(2.5.8)
$$P_{\mu}(x;q,t)\prod_{i\geq 1}(1+ax_i) = \sum_{\lambda'\succ\mu'} a^{|\lambda/\mu|}\psi'_{\lambda/\mu}(q,t)P_{\lambda}(x;q,t),$$

where [91, page 336]

(2.5.9)
$$\psi_{\lambda/\mu}'(q,t) = \prod \frac{1 - q^{\mu_i - \mu_j} t^{j-i-1}}{1 - q^{\mu_i - \mu_j} t^{j-i}} \cdot \frac{1 - q^{\lambda_i - \lambda_j} t^{j-i+1}}{1 - q^{\lambda_i - \lambda_j} t^{j-i}}$$

The product in (2.5.9) is over all i < j such that $\lambda_i = \mu_i$ and $\lambda_j > \mu_j$. An alternative expression for $\psi'_{\lambda/\mu}(q,t)$ is given by [**91**, page 340]

(2.5.10)
$$\psi_{\lambda/\mu}'(q,t) = \prod \frac{b_{\lambda}(s;q,t)}{b_{\mu}(s;q,t)},$$

where $b_{\lambda}(s; q, t)$ is given by (2.2.4) and where the product is over all squares $s = (i, j) \in \mu \subset \lambda$ such that $i < j, \mu_i = \lambda_i$ and $\lambda'_j > \mu'_j$.

For λ a partition, define

(2.5.11)
$$b_{\lambda}^{\text{ea}}(q,t) := \prod_{\substack{s \in \lambda \\ a(s) \text{ even}}} b_{\lambda}(s;q,t) = \prod_{\substack{s \in \lambda \\ a(s) \text{ even}}} \frac{1 - q^{a(s)} t^{l(s)+1}}{1 - q^{a(s)+1} t^{l(s)}},$$

where 'ea' stands for 'even arm(-length)'.

LEMMA 2.1. For partitions $\lambda \succ \mu$ such that

$$\lambda = 2\lceil \mu/2 \rceil := (2\lceil \mu_1/2 \rceil, 2\lceil \mu_2/2 \rceil, \dots),$$

we have

$$\psi_{\lambda/\mu}'(q,t) = \frac{C_{\lambda/2}^{-}(t;q^{2},t)}{C_{\lambda/2}^{-}(q;q^{2},t)} \cdot \frac{1}{b_{\mu}^{ea}(q,t)}$$

PROOF. The product in (2.5.10) is over all squares s in μ for which λ and μ have the same row length but different column lengths. If $\lambda = 2\lceil \mu/2 \rceil$ then λ is obtained from μ by adding a square to each row of odd length. Hence the product is over all squares s = (i, j) such that μ_i and j are even and such that there exists a k > iwith $\mu_k = j - 1$. For example, if $\mu = (6, 4, 3, 3, 2, 1)$ then $\lambda = (6, 4, 4, 4, 2, 2)$. In the diagram on the left, shown below, the squares contributing to $\prod b_{\lambda}(s; q, t)/b_{\mu}(s; q, t)$ are marked with a blue cross. Because each marked square (i, j) occurs in a rows of even length and has even j-coordinate, each marked square must have even armlength. We can, however, include all other squares of λ and μ with even arm-length, since their respective contributions to $b_{\lambda}(s; q, t)$ and $b_{\mu}(s; q, t)$ trivially cancel, as indicated by the added red squares in the diagram on the right:



Hence

$$\begin{split} \psi_{\lambda/\mu}'(q,t) &= \prod_{\substack{s \in \lambda \\ a(s) \text{ even}}} b_{\lambda}(s;q,t) \prod_{\substack{s \in \mu \\ a(s) \text{ even}}} \frac{1}{b_{\mu}^{\text{ea}}(s;q,t)} \\ &= \left(\prod_{s \in \lambda/2} \frac{1 - q^{2a(s)}t^{l(s)+1}}{1 - q^{2a(s)+1}t^{l(s)}}\right) \cdot \frac{1}{b_{\mu}^{\text{ea}}(q,t)}, \end{split}$$

where the second equality uses the fact that λ is an even partition. By (2.2.2) we are done.

If in (2.5.8) we set $x_i = 0$ for i > n and equate terms of degree $|\mu| + n$, we obtain

$$P_{\mu}(x_1,\ldots,x_n;q,t)\,x_1\cdots x_n = \psi'_{(\mu+1^n)/\mu}(q,t)P_{\mu+1^n}(x_1,\ldots,x_n;q,t).$$

By (2.5.9), the Pieri coefficient on the right is 1, so that [91, page 325]

(2.5.12) $P_{\mu}(x_1, \dots, x_n; q, t) x_1 \cdots x_n = P_{\mu+1^n}(x_1, \dots, x_n; q, t).$

Closely related to the Pieri formulas is the branching rule [91, page 346]

(2.5.13)
$$P_{\lambda}(x_1, \dots, x_n; q, t) = \sum_{\mu \prec \lambda} x_n^{|\lambda/\mu|} \psi_{\lambda/\mu}(q, t) P_{\mu}(x_1, \dots, x_{n-1}; q, t),$$

where [91, page 341]

(2.5.14)
$$\psi_{\lambda/\mu}(q,t) = \psi'_{\lambda'/\mu'}(t,q)$$

14

Together with the initial condition $P_{\mu}(-;q,t) = \delta_{\mu,0}$, this uniquely determines the Macdonald polynomials.

We conclude our list of results for Macdonald polynomials with the principal specialisation formula [91, page 338]

(2.5.15)
$$P_{\lambda}(1,t,\ldots,t^{n-1};q,t) = P_{\lambda}\left(\left[\frac{1-t^{n}}{1-t}\right];q,t\right) = t^{n(\lambda)}\frac{(t^{n};q,t)_{\lambda}}{C_{\lambda}^{-}(t;q,t)}.$$

2.6. Koornwinder polynomials

2.6.1. Koornwinder polynomials. The Koornwinder polynomials [**65**] are a generalisation of the Macdonald polynomials to the root system BC_n . They depend on six parameters, except for n = 1 when they correspond to the 5-parameter Askey–Wilson polynomials [**6**].

Throughout this section $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$. Then the Koornwinder density is given by

$$(2.6.1) \qquad \Delta(x;q,t;t_0,t_1,t_2,t_3) := \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{(x_i^{\pm 2};q)_\infty}{\prod_{r=0}^3 (t_r x_i^{\pm};q)_\infty} \prod_{1 \le i < j \le n} \frac{(x_i^{\pm} x_j^{\pm};q)_\infty}{(t x_i^{\pm} x_j^{\pm};q)_\infty},$$

where

$$\begin{split} (x_i^{\pm};q)_{\infty} &:= (x_i, x_i^{-1};q)_{\infty}, \\ (x_i^{\pm} x_j^{\pm};q)_{\infty} &:= (x_i x_j, x_i x_j^{-1}, x_i^{-1} x_j, x_i^{-1} x_j^{-1};q)_{\infty}. \end{split}$$

For complex q, t, t_0, \ldots, t_3 such that $|q|, |t|, |t_0|, \ldots, |t_3| < 1$, this density may be used to define a scalar product on $\mathbb{C}[x^{\pm 1}]$ as

$$\langle f,g \rangle_{q,t;t_0,t_1,t_2,t_3}^{(n)} := \int_{\mathbb{T}^n} f(x)g(x^{-1})\Delta(x;q,t;t_0,t_1,t_2,t_3) \,\mathrm{d}T(x),$$

where

(2.6.2)
$$dT(x) := \frac{1}{2^n n! (2\pi i)^n} \frac{dx_1}{x_1} \cdots \frac{dx_n}{x_n}.$$

Let $W = \mathfrak{S}_n \ltimes (\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})^n$ be the hyperoctahedral group with natural action on $\mathbb{C}[x^{\pm}]$. For λ a partition of length at most n, let m_{λ}^W be the W-invariant monomial symmetric function indexed by λ :

$$m_{\lambda}^{W}(x) := \sum_{\alpha} x^{\alpha}.$$

Here the sum is over all α in the *W*-orbit of λ . In analogy with Macdonald polynomials, the Koornwinder polynomials $K_{\lambda} = K_{\lambda}(x; q, t; t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3)$ are defined as the unique family of polynomials in $\Lambda^{BC_n} := \mathbb{C}[x^{\pm}]^W$ such that [65]

$$K_{\lambda} = m_{\lambda}^{W} + \sum_{\mu < \lambda} c_{\lambda\mu} m_{\mu}^{W}$$

and

(2.6.3)
$$\langle K_{\lambda}, K_{\mu} \rangle_{q,t;t_0,t_1,t_2,t_3}^{(n)} = 0 \quad \text{if } \lambda \neq \mu.$$

From the definition it follows that the K_{λ} are symmetric under permutation of the t_r . The quadratic norm was first evaluated in [35] (self-dual case) and [120]

(general case). For our purposes we only need

(2.6.4)
$$\langle 1,1\rangle_{q,t;t_0,t_1,t_2,t_3}^{(n)} = \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{(t,t_0t_1t_2t_3t^{n+i-2};q)_\infty}{(q,t^i;q)_\infty \prod_{0 \le r < s \le 3} (t_rt_st^{i-1};q)_\infty}$$

known as Gustafson's integral [48].

The BC_n analogue of the Cauchy identity (2.5.5) is given by [98, Theorem 2.1]

$$(2.6.5) \qquad \sum_{\lambda \subset m^n} (-1)^{|\lambda|} K_{m^n - \lambda}(x; q, t; t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3) K_{\lambda'}(y; t, q; t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3) = \prod_{i=1}^n \prod_{j=1}^m \left(x_i + x_i^{-1} - y_j - y_j^{-1} \right) = \prod_{i=1}^n \prod_{j=1}^m x_i^{-1} \left(1 - x_i y_j^{\pm} \right),$$
where $x_i = (x_i - x_i)$ and $(1 - x_i y_j^{\pm}) \in (1 - x_i)(1 - x_i y_j^{\pm})$

where $y = (y_1, \dots, y_m)$ and $(1 - ab^{\pm}) := (1 - ab)(1 - ab^{-1}).$

2.6.2. Lifted and virtual Koornwinder polynomials. The lifted Koornwinder polynomials $\tilde{K}_{\lambda} = \tilde{K}_{\lambda}(q, t, T; t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3) = \tilde{K}_{\lambda}(x; q, t, T; t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3)$ are a 7-parameter family of inhomogeneous symmetric functions [108]. They are invariant under permutations of the t_r and form a $\mathbb{Q}(q, t, T, t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3)$ -basis of Λ . For example, $\tilde{K}_0 = 1$ and

$$\tilde{K}_1 = m_1 + \frac{1 - T}{(1 - t)(1 - t_0 t_1 t_2 t_3 T^2 / t^2)} \sum_{r=0}^3 \left(\frac{t_0 t_1 t_2 t_3 T}{t_r t} - t_r\right).$$

As a function of the t_r , the lifted Koornwinder polynomial \tilde{K}_{λ} has poles at

(2.6.6)
$$t_0 t_1 t_2 t_3 = q^{1-\hat{a}(s)} t^{\hat{l}(s)+1} T^{-2} = q^{2-\lambda_i - j} t^{i+\lambda'_j} T^{-2}$$

for all $s = (i, j) \in \lambda$. Importantly, according to [108, Theorem 7.1], for generic q, t, t_0, \ldots, t_3 (so as to avoid potential poles)

(2.6.7)
$$\tilde{K}_{\lambda}(x_{1}^{\pm}, \dots, x_{n}^{\pm}; q, t, t^{n}; t_{0}, t_{1}, t_{2}, t_{3})$$

=
$$\begin{cases} K_{\lambda}(x_{1}, \dots, x_{n}; q, t; t_{0}, t_{1}, t_{2}, t_{3}) & \text{if } l(\lambda) \leq n, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

where, for $f \in \Lambda$ (or $f \in \hat{\Lambda}$, see below), $f(x_1, \ldots, x_k) := f(x_1, \ldots, x_k, 0, 0, \ldots)$.

Let $\hat{\Lambda}$ be the completion of the ring of symmetric functions with respect to the natural grading by degree, i.e., $\hat{\Lambda}$ is the inverse limit of Λ_n relative to the homomorphism $\rho_{m,n}: \Lambda_m \to \Lambda_n \ (m \ge n)$ which sends $m_{\lambda}(x_1, \ldots, x_m)$ to $m_{\lambda}(x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ for $l(\lambda) \le n$ and to 0 otherwise. Then the virtual Koornwinder polynomials $\hat{K}_{\lambda} = \hat{K}_{\lambda}(q, t, Q; t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3) = \hat{K}_{\lambda}(x; q, t, Q; t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3)$ (which are again symmetric in the t_r) form a $\mathbb{Q}(q, t, Q, t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3)$ -basis of $\hat{\Lambda}$, such that for $\lambda \subset m^n$,

(2.6.8)
$$\tilde{K}_{\lambda}(x_1, \dots, x_n; q, t, q^m; t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3)$$

= $(x_1 \cdots x_n)^m K_{m^n - \lambda}(x_1, \dots, x_n; q, t; t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3).$

When Q = 0 the virtual Koornwinder polynomials can be expressed in terms of Macdonald polynomials as [108, Corollary 7.21]

$$\hat{K}_{\lambda}(x;q,t,0;t_0,t_1,t_2,t_3) = P_{\lambda}(x;q,t) \prod_{i \ge 1} \frac{\prod_{r=0}^3 (t_r x_i;q)_{\infty}}{(x_i^2;q)_{\infty}} \prod_{i < j} \frac{(t x_i x_j;q)_{\infty}}{(x_i x_j;q)_{\infty}},$$

from which it follows that

(2.6.9)
$$\lim_{m \to \infty} (x_1 \cdots x_n)^m K_{m^n - \lambda}(x_1, \dots, x_n; q, t; t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3) = P_{\lambda}(x_1, \dots, x_n; q, t) \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{\prod_{r=0}^3 (t_r x_i; q)_{\infty}}{(x_i^2; q)_{\infty}} \prod_{1 \le i < j \le n} \frac{(t x_i x_j; q)_{\infty}}{(x_i x_j; q)_{\infty}}.$$

The lifted and virtual Koornwinder polynomials admit a lift of the Cauchy identity (2.6.5) to $\hat{\Lambda}_x \otimes \Lambda_y$ as follows, see [108, Theorem 7.14]:

$$(2.6.10) \quad \sum_{\lambda} (-1)^{|\lambda|} \hat{K}_{\lambda}(x;t,q,T;t_0,t_1,t_2,t_3) \tilde{K}_{\lambda'}(y;q,t,T;t_0,t_1,t_2,t_3) \\ = \prod_{i,j \ge 1} (1-x_i y_j).$$

This may be used to derive the following symmetry relation for virtual Koornwinder polynomials.

PROPOSITION 2.2. The virtual Koornwinder polynomials satisfy

$$\begin{split} K_{\lambda}(x;q,t,Q;t_0,t_1,t_2,t_3) \\ &= \hat{K}_{\lambda}(x;q,t,Qt_0t_1/q;q/t_0,q/t_1,t_2,t_3) \prod_{i \ge 1} \frac{(t_0x_i,t_1x_i;q)_{\infty}}{(qx_i/t_0,qx_i/t_1;q)_{\infty}}. \end{split}$$

PROOF. We start with (2.6.10) and identify the double product on the right as $\sigma_1[-xy]$. Carrying out the plethystic substitution

$$y \mapsto y + \frac{t_0 - t/t_0}{1 - t} + \frac{t_1 - t/t_1}{1 - t} =: y',$$

and applying the symmetry [108, Equation (7.2)]

(2.6.11)
$$\tilde{K}_{\lambda}\left(\left[y + \frac{t_0 - t/t_0}{1 - t} + \frac{t_1 - t/t_1}{1 - t}\right]; q, t, T; t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3\right) = \tilde{K}_{\lambda}(y; q, t, Tt_0t_1/t; t/t_0, t/t_1, t_2, t_3),$$

we obtain

$$(2.6.12) \qquad \sum_{\lambda} (-1)^{|\lambda|} \hat{K}_{\lambda}(x;t,q,T;t_0,t_1,t_2,t_3) \tilde{K}_{\lambda'}(y;q,t,Tt_0t_1/t;t/t_0,t/t_1,t_2,t_3) = \prod_{i\geqslant 1} \frac{(t_0x_i,t_1x_i;t)_{\infty}}{(tx_i/t_0,tx_i/t_1;t)_{\infty}} \prod_{i,j\geqslant 1} (1-x_iy_j).$$

Here the right-hand side follows from (2.4.2) and (2.4.5):

$$\begin{aligned} \sigma_1[-xy'] &= \sigma_1 \left[-x \left(y + \frac{t_0 - t/t_0}{1 - t} + \frac{t_1 - t/t_1}{1 - t} \right) \right] \\ &= \sigma_1[-xy] \sigma_1 \left[x \, \frac{t/t_0 - t_0}{1 - t} \right] \sigma_1 \left[x \, \frac{t/t_1 - t_1}{1 - t} \right] \\ &= \prod_{i,j \ge 1} (1 - x_i y_j) \prod_{i \ge 1} \frac{(t_0 x_i, t_1 x_i; t)_\infty}{(t x_i/t_0, t x_i/t_1; t)_\infty}. \end{aligned}$$

After replacing $(t_0, t_1, T) \mapsto (t/t_0, t/t_1, Tt_0t_1/t)$, the identity (2.6.12) takes the equivalent form

$$\sum_{\lambda} (-1)^{|\lambda|} \hat{K}_{\lambda}(x;t,q,Tt_0t_1/t;t/t_0,t/t_1,t_2,t_3) \tilde{K}_{\lambda'}(y;q,t,T;t_0,t_1,t_2,t_3)$$
$$= \prod_{i\geqslant 1} \frac{(tx_i/t_0,tx_i/t_1;t)_{\infty}}{(t_0x_i,t_1x_i;t)_{\infty}} \prod_{i,j\geqslant 1} (1-x_iy_j)$$

Expanding the double product on the right by the Cauchy identity (2.6.10), and extracting coefficients of $K_{\lambda'}(y;q,t,T;t_0,t_1,t_2,t_3)$, yields

$$\begin{split} \hat{K}_{\lambda}(x;t,q,Tt_{0}t_{1}/t;t/t_{0},t/t_{1},t_{2},t_{3}) \\ &= \hat{K}_{\lambda}(x;t,q,T;t_{0},t_{1},t_{2},t_{3}) \prod_{i \geqslant 1} \frac{(tx_{i}/t_{0},tx_{i}/t_{1};t)_{\infty}}{(t_{0}x_{i},t_{1}x_{i};t)_{\infty}}. \end{split}$$
fter the substitution $(t,q,T) \mapsto (q,t,Q)$ we are done.

After the substitution $(t, q, T) \mapsto (q, t, Q)$ we are done.

2.7. Macdonald-Koornwinder polynomials

2.7.1. Macdonald polynomials on root systems. Below we closely follow Macdonald's exposition in [92]. For basic definitions and facts pertaining to root systems we refer the reader to [50, Chapter III].

Let E be a Euclidean space with positive-definite symmetric bilinear form $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ and R a root system spanning E. The rank of R is the dimension of E. All root systems will be assumed to be irreducible, but not necessarily reduced. The root system dual to R, denoted R^{\vee} , is given by

$$R^{\vee} = \{ \alpha^{\vee} : \ \alpha \in R \},\$$

where $v^{\vee} := 2v/\langle v, v \rangle = 2v/||v||^2$ for $v \in E$.

A pair of root systems (R, S) in E is called admissible if R and S share the same Weyl group, W, and S is reduced. Given such an admissible pair and $\alpha \in R$, there exists a unique $u_{\alpha} > 0$ such that $u_{\alpha}^{-1} \alpha \in S$. Moreover, the map $\alpha \mapsto u_{\alpha}^{-1} \alpha$ from R to S is surjective (injective if R is reduced) and commutes with the action of W. Hence u_{α} is fixed along Weyl orbits, and $u_{2\alpha} = 2u_{\alpha}$ if $\alpha, 2\alpha$ are both in R. Two admissible pairs (R, S) and (R', S') are said to be similar if there exist positive real numbers a, b such that R' = aR and S' = bS. Then $bu'_{\alpha'} = au_{\alpha}$ for $\alpha' \in R'$ and $\alpha \in R$ such that $\alpha' = a\alpha$. Since we only require the classification of admissible pairs of root systems up to similarity, and since roots of equal length are conjugate under the action of the Weyl group and hence in the same Weyl orbit, we may fix the value of u_{α} for roots of shortest length. The classification then breaks up into three cases.

- (1) R is reduced and S = R (and hence $u_{\alpha} = 1$).
- (2) R is reduced but not simply laced, and $S = R^{\vee}$. Unlike Macdonald, who normalises the length of short roots in non-simply-laced reduced root systems as $\sqrt{2}$, we take the length of the short roots to be 1 when $R = B_n$ and $\sqrt{2}$ in all other cases. In particular this implies that $B_n^{\vee} = C_n$. Writing u_{long} and u_{short} for u_{α} indexed by long and short roots respectively, we then have: (i) $u_{\text{long}} = 1$ and $u_{\text{short}} = 1/2$ for $(R, S) = (B_n, C_n)$, (ii) $u_{\text{short}} = 1$ and $u_{\text{long}} = 2$ for $(R, S) = (C_n, B_n)$ or $(R, S) = (F_4, F_4^{\vee})$, (iii) $u_{\text{short}} = 1$ and $u_{\text{long}} = 3$ for $(R, S) = (G_4, G_4^{\vee})$.

18

(3) R is the non-reduced root system BC_n and S is one of $\mathrm{B}_n, \mathrm{C}_n$. In both cases we fix $S \subset R$, so that $u_\alpha \in \{1, 2\}$ for $S = \mathrm{B}_n$ and $u_\alpha \in \{1/2, 1\}$ for $S = \mathrm{C}_n$.

For (R, S) an admissible pair of root systems of rank r, we fix a basis of simple roots $\Delta = \{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_r\}$ of R and write $\alpha > 0$ if $\alpha \in R$ is a positive root with respect to Δ . The fundamental weights $\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_r$ of R are given by $\langle \alpha_i^{\vee}, \omega_j \rangle = \delta_{ij}$. As usual, we denote the root, coroot and weight lattices of R by Q, Q^{\vee} and P respectively. We also write $Q_+ = \sum_{i=1}^r \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0} \alpha_i$ for the cone in Q spanned by the simple roots, and $P_+ = \sum_{i=1}^r \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0} \omega_i$ for the set of dominant (integral) weights.

Let A be the group algebra over \mathbb{R} of P, with elements e^{λ} , and A^{W} the algebra of W-invariant elements of A. A basis of A^{W} is given by the monomial symmetric functions

$$m_{\lambda}^{W} = \sum_{\mu} \mathrm{e}^{\mu}, \qquad \lambda \in P_{+},$$

with μ summed over the W-orbit of λ .

The (R, S) Macdonald polynomials defined below depend on the variables qand t_{α} , $\alpha \in R$, such that t_{α} is constant along Weyl orbits. Hence there is only one t_{α} in case (1), two in case (2), and three in case (3). In each case we write this set of t_{α} 's by \underline{t} . The generalised Macdonald density (compare with (2.5.2)) is then

(2.7.1)
$$\Delta(q,\underline{t}) := \prod_{\alpha \in R} \frac{(t_{2\alpha}^{1/2} e^{\alpha}; q^{u_{\alpha}})_{\infty}}{(t_{\alpha} t_{2\alpha}^{1/2} e^{\alpha}; q^{u_{\alpha}})_{\infty}}$$

where $t_{2\alpha} := 1$ if $2\alpha \notin R$. Assuming $|q|, |t_{\alpha}| < 1$, this defines the following scalar product on A:

$$\langle f,g\rangle_{q,\underline{t}}:=\frac{1}{|W|}\int_T f\,\bar{g}\,\Delta(q,\underline{t})\,\mathrm{d}T,$$

where integration is with respect to Haar measure on the torus $T = E/Q^{\vee}$ and, for $f = \sum_{\lambda \in P} f_{\lambda} e^{\lambda}$, $\bar{f} := \sum_{\lambda \in P} f_{\lambda} e^{-\lambda}$. The (R, S) Macdonald polynomials $P_{\lambda}(q, \underline{t})$, indexed by $\lambda \in P_+$, are the unique family of W-symmetric functions

(2.7.2)
$$P_{\lambda}(q,\underline{t}) = m_{\lambda}^{W} + \sum_{\mu < \lambda} u_{\lambda\mu}(q,\underline{t}) m_{\mu}^{W}$$

such that

$$\langle P_{\lambda}, P_{\mu} \rangle_{q,t} = 0$$
 if $\lambda \neq \mu$.

The sum in (2.7.2) is with respect to the dominance (partial) order on P_+ defined by $\lambda \ge \mu$ if $\lambda - \mu \in Q_+$. Of course, when dealing with the $P_{\lambda}(q, \underline{t})$ as polynomials, the restrictions $|q|, |t_{\alpha}| < 1$ imposed above may be dropped, and typically we view q and the t_{α} as indeterminates.

Below we are interested in the generalised Macdonald polynomials for (R, S)one of the four admissible pairs (B_n, B_n) , (B_n, C_n) , (C_n, B_n) and (D_n, D_n) . Moreover, in the Hall–Littlewood limit, $q \to 0$, (in which case the S-dependence drops out) we also consider $R = BC_n$. In the following we assume the standard realisation in \mathbb{R}^n of B_n , C_n and D_n , consistent with our normalisation of short roots in (2):

$$(2.7.3a) \quad \Delta = \{\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_n\} = \{\epsilon_1 - \epsilon_2, \dots, \epsilon_{n-1} - \epsilon_n, \epsilon_n\}, \qquad R = B_n = C_n^{\vee}, \\ (2.7.3b) \quad \Delta = \{\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_n\} = \{\epsilon_1 - \epsilon_2, \dots, \epsilon_{n-1} - \epsilon_n, \epsilon_{n-1} + \epsilon_n\}, \quad R = D_n.$$

We further parametrise the set of dominant weights P_{+} as (see e.g., [88, page 470])

(2.7.4)
$$\lambda_1 \epsilon_1 + \dots + \lambda_n \epsilon_n,$$

where $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n)$ is a partition in the case of C_n , and a partition or halfpartition in the case of B_n , D_n , with the exception that for D_n the part λ_n can be negative: $-\lambda_{n-1} \leq \lambda_n \leq \lambda_{n-1}$.¹ It is not difficult to check that (2.7.4) can be rewritten in terms of the fundamental weights as

(2.7.5a)
$$(\lambda_1 - \lambda_2)\omega_1 + \dots + (\lambda_{n-1} - \lambda_n)\omega_{n-1} + 2\lambda_n\omega_n, \qquad R = B_n,$$

(2.7.5b)
$$(\lambda_1 - \lambda_2)\omega_1 + \dots + (\lambda_{n-1} - \lambda_n)\omega_{n-1} + \lambda_n\omega_n, \qquad R = C_n,$$

(2.7.5c)
$$(\lambda_1 - \lambda_2)\omega_1 + \dots + (\lambda_{n-1} - \lambda_n)\omega_{n-1} + (\lambda_{n-1} + \lambda_n)\omega_n, \quad R = D_n.$$

Finally, writing $x_i = e^{-\epsilon_i}$ (for $1 \le i \le n$), we will denote the four families of interest by

$$P_{\lambda}^{(B_{n},B_{n})}(x;q,t,t_{2}), \qquad P_{\lambda}^{(B_{n},C_{n})}(x;q,t,t_{2}), \\ P_{\lambda}^{(C_{n},B_{n})}(x;q,t,t_{2}), \qquad P_{\lambda}^{(D_{n},D_{n})}(x;q,t),$$

where $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ and

(2.7.6)
$$t = t_{\alpha_1}, \quad t_2 = t_{\alpha_n}.$$

There are several relations between these polynomials. For example [34, Equation (5.60)],

(2.7.7a)
$$P_{\lambda}^{(D_n,D_n)}(x;q,t) = P_{\lambda}^{(B_n,B_n)}(x;q,t,1)$$

if $l(\lambda) < n$, and

(2.7.7b)
$$P_{\lambda}^{(\mathbf{D}_{n},\mathbf{D}_{n})}(x;q,t) + P_{\bar{\lambda}}^{(\mathbf{D}_{n},\mathbf{D}_{n})}(x;q,t) = P_{\lambda}^{(\mathbf{B}_{n},\mathbf{B}_{n})}(x;q,t,1),$$

(2.7.7c)
$$P_{\lambda}^{(D_n,D_n)}(x;q,t) - P_{\bar{\lambda}}^{(D_n,D_n)}(x;q,t) = P_{\lambda-(\frac{1}{2})^n}^{(B_n,C_n)}(x;q,t,q^{1/2}) \times \prod_{i=1}^n \left(x_i^{-1/2} - x_i^{1/2}\right)$$

if λ is a partition or half-partition of length n. Here $\overline{\lambda} := (\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_{n-1}, -\lambda_n)$. Hence

(2.7.8)
$$P_{\bar{\lambda}}^{(D_n,D_n)}(x;q,t) = P_{\lambda}^{(D_n,D_n)}(\bar{x};q,t), \quad \bar{x} := (x_1,\dots,x_{n-1},x_n^{-1}).$$

Similarly, comparing the Koornwinder density (2.6.1) with (2.7.1), it follows that

(2.7.9)
$$P_{\lambda}^{(C_n,B_n)}(x;q,t,t_2) = K_{\lambda}(x;q,t;\pm q^{1/2},\pm t_2^{1/2})$$

(see also [34]). Although the (B_n, B_n) and (B_n, C_n) Macdonald polynomials are indexed by partitions or half-partitions, they too can be related to Koornwinder polynomials [34]. Before describing this relation, we briefly discuss another family of polynomials incorporating both B_n families.

¹The map $\lambda_n \mapsto -\lambda_n$ corresponds to the Dynkin diagram automorphism interchanging ω_{n-1} and ω_n .

2.7.2. The Macdonald–Koornwinder polynomials $K_{\lambda}(x; q, t; t_2, t_3)$. Our description of Macdonald polynomials attached to root systems is by no means the most general and modern setup, see e.g., [**26**, **93**, **130**]. Beyond Macdonald's original approach we have already covered the Koornwinder polynomials, and in this section we discuss one further family of B_n -like polynomials, denoted by $K_{\lambda}(x; q, t; t_2, t_3)$. In the notation of [**130**, Definition 3.21] they correspond to the Macdonald–Koornwinder polynomials P_{λ}^+ with initial data given by the quintuple $D = (B_n, \Delta, t, P, Q)$. Here Δ is the basis of simple roots of B_n given in (2.7.3a), P and Q again denote the weight and root lattices of B_n , and t stands for 'twisted'.

The polynomials $K_{\lambda}(x; q, t; t_2, t_3)$, where $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ and $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n)$ is a partition or half-partition, are B_n -symmetric functions in the sense of (2.7.2) such that

(2.7.10)
$$\langle K_{\lambda}(x;q,t;t_2,t_3), K_{\mu}(x;q,t;t_2,t_3) \rangle_{q,t;t_2,t_3}^{(n)} = 0 \text{ for } \lambda \neq \mu.$$

Here, for $f, g \in \Lambda^{\mathrm{BC}_n}$,

(2.7.11)
$$\langle f, g \rangle_{q,t;t_2,t_3}^{(n)} := \int_{\mathbb{T}^n} f(x)g(x)\Delta(x;q,t;t_2,t_3) \,\mathrm{d}T(x)$$

with

$$\Delta(x;q,t;t_2,t_3) := \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{(x_i^{\pm};q^{1/2})_{\infty}}{(t_2 x_i^{\pm}, t_3 x_i^{\pm};q)_{\infty}} \prod_{1 \le i < j \le n} \frac{(x_i^{\pm} x_j^{\pm};q)_{\infty}}{(t x_i^{\pm} x_j^{\pm};q)_{\infty}}.$$

In the notation of the previous section this corresponds to $(R, S) = (B_n, B_n)$ and

$$\Delta(q,\underline{t}) = \prod_{\alpha \text{ short}} \frac{(\mathrm{e}^{\alpha}, q^{1/2} \,\mathrm{e}^{\alpha}; q)_{\infty}}{(t_{\alpha} \,\mathrm{e}^{\alpha}, \overline{t}_{\alpha} \,\mathrm{e}^{\alpha}; q)_{\infty}} \prod_{\alpha \text{ long}} \frac{(\mathrm{e}^{\alpha}; q)_{\infty}}{(t_{\alpha} \,\mathrm{e}^{\alpha}; q)_{\infty}}$$

where $\underline{t} = (t_{\alpha_1}, t_{\alpha_n}, \overline{t}_{\alpha_n}) = (t, t_2, t_3)$. It thus follows that

(2.7.12a)
$$P_{\lambda}^{(\mathbf{B}_n,\mathbf{B}_n)}(x;q,t,t_2) = K_{\lambda}(x;q,t;t_2,q^{1/2})$$

(2.7.12b)
$$P_{\lambda}^{(\mathbf{B}_n,\mathbf{C}_n)}(x;q,t,t_2) = K_{\lambda}(x;q,t;t_2,t_2q^{1/2})$$

The next lemma shows that the $K_{\lambda}(x; q, t; t_2, t_3)$ can be expressed in terms of Koornwinder polynomials, allowing us to prove results for the former using the latter.

LEMMA 2.3. For λ a partition or half-partition

$$\begin{split} K_{\lambda}(x;q,t;t_{2},t_{3}) &= \begin{cases} K_{\lambda}(x;q,t;-1,-q^{1/2},t_{2},t_{3}) & \lambda \ a \ partition \\ K_{\lambda-(\frac{1}{2})^{n}}(x;q,t;-q,-q^{1/2},t_{2},t_{3}) \prod_{i=1}^{n} \left(x_{i}^{1/2}+x_{i}^{-1/2}\right) & otherwise. \end{cases}$$

For $t_3 = q^{1/2}$ or $t_3 = t_2 q^{1/2}$ this is equivalent to [34, Equations (5.50) & (5.51)].

PROOF. The triangularity with respect to the monomial symmetric functions for B_n is clear, and in the following we show that $K_{\lambda}(x; q, t; t_2, t_3)$ as given by the lemma satisfies (2.7.10). Viewing the integral on the right of (2.7.11) as a constant term evaluation, it follows that (2.7.10) holds when λ is a partition and μ a halfpartition. By (2.6.3) with $\{t_0, t_1\} = \{-1, -q^{1/2}\}$ it is also clear that it holds when λ and μ are both partitions. In the case of two half-partitions

$$\langle K_{\lambda}(x;q,t;t_{2},t_{3}), K_{\mu}(x;q,t;t_{2},t_{3}) \rangle_{q,t;t_{2},t_{3}}^{(n)} = \int_{\mathbb{T}^{n}} K_{\nu}(x;q,t;-q,-q^{1/2},t_{2},t_{3}) K_{\omega}(x;q,t;-q,-q^{1/2},t_{2},t_{3}) \times \prod_{i=1}^{n} (x_{i}^{1/2} + x_{i}^{-1/2})^{2} \frac{(x_{i}^{\pm};q^{1/2})_{\infty}}{(t_{2}x_{i}^{\pm},t_{3}x_{i}^{\pm};q)_{\infty}} \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} \frac{(x_{i}^{\pm}x_{j}^{\pm};q)_{\infty}}{(tx_{i}^{\pm}x_{j}^{\pm};q)_{\infty}} \, \mathrm{d}T(x),$$

where $\nu := \lambda - (\frac{1}{2})^n$ and $\omega := \mu - (\frac{1}{2})^n$. Since

$$(x_i^{1/2} + x_i^{-1/2})^2 = \frac{(-x_i^{\pm}; q^{1/2})_{\infty}}{(-qx_i^{\pm}, -q^{1/2}x_i^{\pm}; q)_{\infty}}$$

and

$$(-x_i^{\pm}, x_i^{\pm}; q^{1/2})_{\infty} = (x_i^{\pm 2}; q)_{\infty},$$

the second line of the integrand is precisely the Koornwinder density

$$\Delta(x;q,t;-q,-q^{1/2},t_2,t_3).$$

Hence

$$\langle K_{\lambda}(x;q,t;t_{2},t_{3}), K_{\mu}(x;q,t;t_{2},t_{3}) \rangle_{q,t;t_{2},t_{3}}^{(n)} = \langle K_{\nu}(x;q,t;-q,-q^{1/2},t_{2},t_{3}), K_{\omega}(x;q,t;-q,-q^{1/2},t_{2},t_{3}) \rangle_{q,t;-q,-q^{1/2},t_{2},t_{3}}^{(n)}.$$

By (2.6.3) this vanishes unless $\nu = \omega$, i.e., unless $\lambda = \mu$.

That

$$K_{\lambda-(\frac{1}{2})^n}(x;q,t;-q,-q^{1/2},t_2,t_3)\prod_i \left(x_i^{1/2}+x_i^{-1/2}\right)$$

is the natural extension of $K_{\lambda}(x; q, t; -1, -q^{1/2}, t_2, t_3)$ to half-partitions λ may also be understood from the point of view of virtual Koornwinder polynomials. Taking

$$(x; Q, t_0, t_1) = (x_1, \dots, x_n; q^m, -1, -q^{1/2})$$

in Proposition (2.2) leads to

$$(2.7.13) \quad \hat{K}_{\lambda}(x;q,t,q^{m};-1,-q^{1/2},t_{2},t_{3}) \\ = \hat{K}_{\lambda}(x;q,t,q^{m-1/2};-q,-q^{1/2},t_{2},t_{3}) \prod_{i=1}^{n} (1+x_{i}).$$

Since the left-hand side of (2.6.8) is well-defined for λ a partition and m a halfinteger, we can use that equation to eliminate the virtual Koornwinder polynomials in (2.7.13). Also replacing $m^n - \lambda$ by λ , this results in

$$K_{\lambda}(x;q,t;-1,-q^{1/2},t_2,t_3) = K_{\lambda-(\frac{1}{2})^n}(x;q,t;-q,-q^{1/2},t_2,t_3) \prod_{i=1}^n \left(x_i^{1/2} + x_i^{-1/2}\right).$$

We conclude this section with the analogue of (2.6.9) for $K_{\lambda}(x;q,t;t_2,t_3)$.

LEMMA 2.4. For m a nonnegative integer or half-integer and λ a partition,

$$(2.7.14) \quad \lim_{m \to \infty} (x_1 \cdots x_n)^m K_{m^n - \lambda}(x; q, t; t_2, t_3) = P_{\lambda}(x; q, t) \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{(t_2 x_i, t_3 x_i; q)_{\infty}}{(x_i; q^{1/2})_{\infty}} \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} \frac{(t x_i x_j; q)_{\infty}}{(x_i x_j; q)_{\infty}}.$$

PROOF. For *m* an integer this is just (2.6.9) with $\{t_0, t_1\} = \{-1, -q^{1/2}\}$. For *m* a half-integer it follows from Lemma 2.3 that

$$x_1 \cdots x_n)^m K_{m^n - \lambda}(x; q, t; t_2, t_3)$$

= $(x_1 \cdots x_n)^{m - \frac{1}{2}} K_{(m - \frac{1}{2})^n - \lambda}(x; q, t; -q, -q^{1/2}, t_2, t_3) \prod_{i=1}^n (1 + x_i).$

Letting *m* tend to infinity using (2.6.9) with $\{t_0, t_1\} = \{-q, -q^{1/2}\}$ results in the right-hand side of (2.7.14).

2.8. Hall–Littlewood polynomials

2.8.1. Hall–Littlewood of type R. The ordinary (or A_{n-1}) Hall–Littlewood polynomials are defined as [91, page 208]

(2.8.1)
$$P_{\lambda}(x_1,\ldots,x_n;t) := \frac{1}{v_{\lambda}(t)} \sum_{w \in \mathfrak{S}_n} w \bigg(x_1^{\lambda_1} \cdots x_n^{\lambda_n} \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} \frac{x_i - tx_j}{x_i - x_j} \bigg),$$

where λ is a partition of length at most n, $v_{\lambda}(t) := \prod_{i \ge 0} (t; t)_{m_i(\lambda)} / (1-t)^{m_i(\lambda)}$ and $m_0(\lambda) := n - l(\lambda)$. They correspond to the Macdonald polynomials for q = 0, i.e., $P_{\lambda}(x; t) = P_{\lambda}(x; 0, t)$, and for t = 0 reduce to the Schur functions.

Taking q = 0 in the (R, S) Macdonald polynomials of Section 2.7.1 yields the more general Hall–Littlewood polynomials of type R. (The root system S no longer plays a role when q = 0.) More simply, however, the Hall–Littlewood polynomials of type R can be explicitly computed from

(2.8.2)
$$P_{\lambda}(t) = \frac{1}{W_{\lambda}(t)} \sum_{w \in W} w \left(e^{\lambda} \prod_{\alpha > 0} \frac{1 - t_{\alpha} t_{2\alpha}^{1/2} e^{-\alpha}}{1 - t_{2\alpha}^{1/2} e^{-\alpha}} \right), \qquad \lambda \in P_{+}.$$

The normalising factor $W_{\lambda}(t)$ is the Poincaré polynomial of the stabilizer of λ in W.

For our purposes we need to consider (2.8.2) for R one of $\mathrm{BC}_n, \mathrm{B}_n, \mathrm{C}_n, \mathrm{D}_n$. As in Section 2.7.1, we express these four families using variables x_1, \ldots, x_n and partitions or half-partitions λ , rather than roots and dominant weights. Accordingly we write $P_{\lambda}^{(R)}(x_1, \ldots, x_n; q, t, t_2, \ldots, t_r)$, where r = 3 in the case of BC_n , r = 2 for B_n and C_n and r = 1 for D_n . In each case we again assume (2.7.3) and (2.7.5), and identify $x_i = \exp(-\epsilon_i)$. As a basis of simple roots for the root system BC_n we take the B_n basis (2.7.3a) (as opposed to a C_n basis), and identify $(t_{\alpha_1}, t_{\alpha_n}, t_{2\alpha_n}^{1/2}) = (t, -t_2/t_3, -t_3)$. Then (2.8.2) takes the equivalent form

$$(2.8.3) \quad P_{\lambda}^{(\mathrm{BC}_{n})}(x;t,t_{2},t_{3}) = \frac{1}{(t_{2}t_{3};t)_{n-l(\lambda)}v_{\lambda}(t)} \\ \times \sum_{w \in W} w \left(x^{-\lambda} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{(1-t_{2}x_{i})(1-t_{3}x_{i})}{1-x_{i}^{2}} \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} \frac{(tx_{i}-x_{j})(1-tx_{i}x_{j})}{(x_{i}-x_{j})(1-x_{i}x_{j})} \right),$$

with W the hyperoctahedral group and λ a partition of length at most n. Alternatively (see e.g., [134]),

(2.8.4)
$$P_{\lambda}^{(\mathrm{BC}_n)}(x;t,t_2,t_3) = K_{\lambda}(x;0,t;0,0,t_2,t_3).$$

For t = 0 this admits the determinantal form

(2.8.5)
$$P_{\lambda}^{(\mathrm{BC}_{n})}(x;0,t_{2},t_{3}) = \frac{1}{\Delta_{\mathrm{C}}(x)} \times \det_{1 \leq i,j \leq n} \left(x_{i}^{-\lambda_{j}+j-1}(1-t_{2}x_{i})(1-t_{3}x_{i}) - x_{i}^{\lambda_{j}+2n-j-1}(x_{i}-t_{2})(x_{i}-t_{3}) \right),$$

where

$$(2.8.6) \ \Delta_{\mathcal{C}}(x) := \prod_{i=1}^{n} (1 - x_i^2) \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} (x_i - x_j)(x_i x_j - 1) = \det_{1 \leq i, j \leq n} \left(x_i^{j-1} - x_i^{2n-j+1} \right)$$

is the C_n Vandermonde product.

LEMMA 2.5. Let

(2.8.7)
$$\Phi(x; t, t_2, t_3) := \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{(1 - t_2 x_i)(1 - t_3 x_i)}{1 - x_i^2} \prod_{1 \le i < j \le n} \frac{1 - t x_i x_j}{1 - x_i x_j}$$

For m a positive integer,

(2.8.8)
$$P_{m^n}^{(\mathrm{BC}_n)}(x;t,t_2,t_3) = \sum_{\varepsilon \in \{\pm 1\}^n} \Phi(x^{\varepsilon};t,t_2,t_3) \prod_{i=1}^n x_i^{-\varepsilon_i m}$$

PROOF. By (2.8.1) and (2.8.7),

$$\sum_{w \in \mathfrak{S}_n} w \left(x^{-\lambda} \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{(1-t_2 x_i)(1-t_3 x_i)}{1-x_i^2} \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} \frac{(t x_i - x_j)(1-t x_i x_j)}{(x_i - x_j)(1-x_i x_j)} \right)$$

= $\Phi(x; t, t_2, t_3) \sum_{w \in \mathfrak{S}_n} w \left(x^{-\lambda} \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} \frac{t x_i - x_j}{x_i - x_j} \right)$
= $v_{\lambda}(t) \Phi(x; t, t_2, t_3) P_{\lambda}(x^{-1}; t).$

Hence

$$P_{\lambda}^{(\mathrm{BC}_{n})}(x;t,t_{2},t_{3}) = \frac{1}{(t_{2}t_{3};t)_{n-l(\lambda)}} \sum_{\varepsilon \in \{\pm 1\}^{n}} \Phi(x^{\varepsilon};t,t_{2},t_{3}) P_{\lambda}(x^{-\varepsilon};t).$$

The claim now follows from $P_{m^n}(x;t) = \prod_{i=1}^n x_i^m$, and the fact that $n - l(\lambda) = 0$ for $\lambda = m^n$ with $m \ge 1$.

In the case of C_n we can be brief. The identification of parameters (2.7.6) again applies, and from the q = 0 case of (2.7.12b),

(2.8.9)
$$P_{\lambda}^{(C_n)}(x;t,t_2) = P_{\lambda}^{(BC_n)}(x;t,\pm t_2^{1/2}) = P_{\lambda}^{(C_n,B_n)}(x;0,t,t_2) = K_{\lambda}(x;0,t;0,0,\pm t_2^{1/2}).$$

Accordingly, (2.8.5) for $t_3 = -t_2$ is a one-parameter deformation of the symplectic Schur function [85]

(2.8.10)
$$\operatorname{sp}_{2n,\lambda}(x) := \frac{1}{\Delta_{\mathcal{C}}} \det_{1 \le i,j \le n} \left(x_i^{-\lambda_j + j - 1} - x_i^{\lambda_j + 2n - j + 1} \right).$$

The Hall–Littlewood polynomials $P_{\lambda}^{(B_n)}(x; t, t_2)$ are given by the (2.8.3) for $t_3 = -1$, where now λ is a partition or half-partition. In the latter case $v_{\lambda}(t)$ is as defined on page 23 but with $\prod_{i \ge 0}$ a product over half-integers. By (2.7.12) we also have

(2.8.11)
$$P_{\lambda}^{(\mathbf{B}_n)}(x;t,t_2) = P_{\lambda}^{(\mathbf{B}_n,\mathbf{B}_n)}(x;0,t,t_2) = K_{\lambda}(x;0,t;t_2,0).$$

When $t = t_2 = 0$ the B_n Hall–Littlewood polynomials simplify to the odd orthogonal Schur functions [85]

(2.8.12)
$$\operatorname{so}_{2n+1,\lambda}(x) := \frac{1}{\Delta_{\mathrm{B}}(x)} \det_{1 \le i,j \le n} \left(x_i^{-\lambda_j + j - 1} - x_i^{\lambda_j + 2n - j} \right),$$

where

(2.8.13)
$$\Delta_{\mathcal{B}}(x) := \prod_{i=1}^{n} (1-x_i) \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} (x_i - x_j) (x_i x_j - 1) = \det_{1 \leq i, j \leq n} (x_i^{j-1} - x_i^{2n-j}).$$

The B_n analogue of Lemma 2.5 is given as follows.

LEMMA 2.6. For m a positive integer,

$$P_{(\frac{m}{2})^n}^{(\mathbf{B}_n)}(x;t,t_2) = \sum_{\varepsilon \in \{\pm 1\}^n} \Phi(x^{\varepsilon};t,t_2,-1) \prod_{i=1}^n x_i^{-\varepsilon_i m/2}.$$

Finally, the D_n Hall–Littlewood polynomials $P_{\lambda}^{(D_n)}(x;t)$ are given by (2.8.3) with $(t_2, t_3) = (-1, 1)$, provided we multiply the right-hand side by 2 when $l(\lambda) < n$, and W is taken to be the group of even signed-permutations, i.e., $W = \mathfrak{S}_n \ltimes (\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})^{n-1}$. As described on page 20, λ can be a partition or half-partition with λ_n an exceptional part that can take on negative integer or half-integer values as long as $|\lambda_n| \leq \lambda_{n-1}$. When t = 0 this yields the even orthogonal Schur functions [101]

$$so_{2n,\lambda}(x) := \frac{1}{2\Delta_{\mathrm{D}}(x)} \Big(\det_{1 \le i,j \le n} \left(x_i^{\lambda_j + 2n - j - 1} + x_i^{-\lambda_j + j - 1} \right) \\ - \det_{1 \le i,j \le n} \left(x_i^{\lambda_j + 2n - j - 1} - x_i^{-\lambda_j + j - 1} \right) \Big),$$

where

(2.8.14)
$$\Delta_{\mathrm{D}}(x) := \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} (x_i - x_j)(x_i x_j - 1) = \frac{1}{2} \det_{1 \leq i, j \leq n} (x_i^{j-1} + x_i^{2n-j-1}).$$

Again we have a simple analogue of Lemma 2.5.

LEMMA 2.7. Let $\varepsilon = (\varepsilon_1, \ldots, \varepsilon_n) \in \{-1, 1\}^n$ and $\operatorname{sgn}(\varepsilon) := \prod_{i=1}^n \varepsilon_i$. Then, for *m* a positive integer,

$$P_{(\frac{m}{2})^n}^{(\mathbf{D}_n)}(x;t) = \sum_{\substack{\varepsilon \in \{\pm 1\}^n \\ \operatorname{sgn}(\varepsilon) = 1}} \Phi(x^{\varepsilon};t,1,-1) \prod_{i=1}^n x_i^{-\varepsilon_i m/2}.$$

2.8.2. Modified Hall–Littlewood polynomials. The simplest definition of the modified Hall–Littlewood polynomials is as a plethystically substituted ordinary Hall–Littlewood polynomial (see e.g., [91, page 234]):

(2.8.15)
$$P'_{\lambda}(x;t) := P_{\lambda}\left(\left[\frac{x}{1-t}\right];t\right) \quad \text{and} \quad Q'_{\lambda}(x;t) := Q_{\lambda}\left(\left[\frac{x}{1-t}\right];t\right),$$

where $Q_{\lambda}(x;t) := b_{\lambda}(t)P_{\lambda}(x;t)$ and

$$b_{\lambda}(t) := \prod_{i \ge 1} (t; t)_{m_i(\lambda)}.$$

This definition obscures the important fact that the modified Hall–Littlewood polynomials, and hence sums such as

(2.8.16)
$$\sum_{\substack{\lambda\\\lambda_1 \leqslant m}} t^{|\lambda|/2} P'_{\lambda} \left(x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_n^{\pm}; t \right)$$

(see (1.1.7)), are Schur positive. To exhibit the combinatorial nature of (2.8.16) and similar such expressions for the characters of affine Lie algebras given in Section 5.2, we need the Lascoux–Schützenberger description of the modified Hall–Littlewood polynomials in terms of the charge statistic on tableaux [74].

A filling of the Young diagram of a partition λ with positive integers such that rows are weakly increasing from left to right and columns are strictly increasing from top to bottom is called a semistandard Young tableau of shape λ , see e.g., [40,91, 126]. The (weak) composition $\mu = (\mu_1, \mu_2, ...)$ such that μ_i counts the number of squares filled with the number *i* is called the weight (or filling/content/type) of the tableau. If we denote the set of semistandard Young tableaux of shape λ and weight μ by SSYT(λ, μ), then the Schur function s_{λ} may be expressed as

(2.8.17)
$$s_{\lambda}(x_1, x_2, \dots) = \sum_{T \in SSYT(\lambda, \cdot)} x^T$$

Here x^T is shorthand for $x^{\text{weight}(T)}$, so that $x^T = x^{\mu} = x_1^{\mu_1} x_2^{\mu_2} \cdots$ if $T \in \text{SSYT}(\cdot, \mu)$. Lascoux and Schützenberger equipped the set of semistandard Young tableaux with a statistic, called charge. For our purposes it suffices to consider tableaux in $\text{SSYT}(\cdot, \mu)$ such that μ is a partition. To compute the charge of such a tableau, we first form the reverse reading word, w = w(T), by consecutively reading the rows of T from right to left, starting with the top row and ending with the bottom row. For example, the reverse reading word of

is 432111322645. In a clockwise manner, wrap the letters of $w = w_1 \dots w_k$ around a circle, putting a marker between the first letter w_1 and last letter w_k . Repeatedly going round the circle in clockwise manner, read the letters of w starting with w_1 . Label a total of μ'_1 letters as follows. If a letter i has just been labelled k, then the first letter i + 1 read after that i is labelled k if it occurs before the marker and k + 1 if it occurs after the marker. To get started, label the first 1 that is read by 0. For the reading word in our example this gives



Keep repeating the above labelling procedure with the remaining unlabelled letters of w until all letter are labelled, in such a way that μ'_i letter are labelled in the *i*th step. The completed labelling of the word in our example is



or, in one-line, notation $4_23_12_11_01_01_03_12_02_06_24_15_1$. The charge, c(T), of T is the sum of the labels of its reverse reading word. For the tableau in the example, c(T) = 2 + 1 + 1 + 0 + 0 + 0 + 1 + 0 + 0 + 2 + 1 + 1 = 9.

Using the charge statistic, the modified Hall–Littlewood polynomial Q'_{μ} can be expressed as $[\mathbf{23}, \mathbf{33}, \mathbf{74}]$

$$Q'_{\mu}(x;t) = \sum_{T \in \text{SSYT}(\cdot,\mu)} t^{c(T)} s_{\text{shape}(T)}(x),$$

or, equivalently, as

$$Q'_{\mu}(x;t) = \sum_{\lambda} K_{\lambda\mu}(t) s_{\lambda}(x),$$

where $K_{\lambda\mu}(t)$ is the Kostka–Foulkes polynomial

$$K_{\lambda\mu}(t) := \sum_{T \in \text{SSYT}(\lambda,\mu)} t^{c(T)}.$$

The coefficients $K_{\lambda\mu}(t)/b_{\mu}(t)$ in the Schur expansion of the modified Hall–Littlewood polynomials $P'_{\mu}(x;t)$ are rational functions instead of polynomials, but, viewed as a formal power series in t,

$$\frac{K_{\lambda\mu}(t)}{b_{\mu}(t)} = \sum_{k \ge 0} a_k t^k, \quad a_k \in \mathbb{Z}_{\ge 0}.$$

Alternatively, we have the combinatorial expression [63,144]

(2.8.18)
$$Q'_{\lambda}(x_1, \dots, x_n; t) = \sum_{0=\mu^{(n)} \subset \dots \subset \mu^{(1)} \subset \mu^{(0)} = \lambda} \prod_{i=1}^n g_{\mu^{(i-1)}/\mu^{(i)}}(x_i; t),$$

where

(2.8.19)
$$g_{\lambda/\mu}(z;t) := Q_{\lambda/\mu}\left(\left[z \, \frac{1-q}{1-t}\right];t\right) = z^{|\lambda/\mu|} t^{n(\lambda/\mu)} \prod_{i \ge 1} \begin{bmatrix} \lambda'_i - \mu'_{i+1} \\ \lambda'_i - \mu'_i \end{bmatrix}_t$$

is the h-Pieri coefficient for Hall–Littlewood polynomials

$$P_{\mu}(x;t)\prod_{i\geqslant 1}\frac{1}{1-zx_i}=\sum_{\lambda\supset\mu}g_{\mu/\nu}(z;t)P_{\lambda}(x;t),$$

see [63, 64, 143]. Note that for n = 1 this trivialises to the principal specialisation formula [91, page 213]

(2.8.20)
$$Q'_{\lambda}(z;t) = z^{|\lambda|} Q_{\lambda}(1,q,q^2,\ldots;q) = z^{|\lambda|} t^{n(\lambda)}.$$

In Section 5.2 we will show how (2.8.18) can be used to simplify some of our character formulas when restricted to the basic representation.
CHAPTER 3

Virtual Koornwinder integrals

3.1. Basic definitions

For $\{f_{\lambda}\}$ a basis of Λ_n , Λ or Λ^{BC_n} and g an arbitrary element of one of these spaces, we write $[f_{\lambda}]g$ for the coefficient c_{λ} in $g = \sum_{\lambda} c_{\lambda} f_{\lambda}$. Although typically $f_0 = 1$ we will still write $[f_0]g$ to avoid ambiguity as to the choice of basis.

Our approach to bounded Littlewood identities relies crucially on properties of two linear functionals, denoted I_K and $I_K^{(n)}$ and referred to as virtual Koornwinder integrals, acting on Λ and Λ^{BC_n} respectively. Let $f \in \Lambda$. Then the virtual Koornwinder integral I_K is defined as [108, page 110]

$$(3.1.1) I_K(f;q,t,T;t_0,t_1,t_2,t_3) := [K_0(q,t,T;t_0,t_1,t_2,t_3)]f,$$

where \tilde{K}_{λ} is the lifted Koornwinder polynomial. Similarly, for $f \in \Lambda^{BC_n}$ and $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ [108, page 95]

$$(3.1.2) I_K^{(n)}(f;q,t;t_0,t_1,t_2,t_3) := [K_0(x;q,t;t_0,t_1,t_2,t_3)]f.$$

By (2.6.3) and $K_0 = 1$, it follows that

(3.1.3)
$$I_{K}^{(n)}(f;q,t;t_{0},t_{1},t_{2},t_{3}) = \frac{\langle 1,f(x)\rangle}{\langle 1,1\rangle} \\ = \frac{1}{\langle 1,1\rangle} \int_{\mathbb{T}^{n}} f(x)\Delta(x;q,t;t_{0},t_{1},t_{2},t_{3}) \,\mathrm{d}T(x).$$

Also, by (2.6.7), for $f \in \Lambda$ and generic q, t, t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3 ,

(3.1.4)
$$I_K^{(n)}(f(x_1^{\pm},\ldots,x_n^{\pm};q,t;t_0,t_1,t_2,t_3)) = I_K(f;q,t,t^n;t_0,t_1,t_2,t_3)$$

REMARK 3.1. Invoking the ring homomorphism $\varphi : \Lambda_{2n} \to \Lambda^{BC_n}$ given by

$$\varphi(m_{\lambda}(x_1,\ldots,x_{2n})) = m_{\lambda}(x_1^{\pm},\ldots,x_n^{\pm 1})$$

(so that $\ker(\varphi) = \langle e_i - e_{2n-i} : 0 \leq i < n \rangle$), it will be convenient to extend $I_K^{(n)}$ to also act on Λ_{2n} (or more simply $f \in \Lambda$). That is, we set

(3.1.5)
$$I_K^{(n)}(f;q,t;t_0,t_1,t_2,t_3) := [K_0(x;q,t;t_0,t_1,t_2,t_3)]f(x_1^{\pm},\ldots,x_n^{\pm}),$$

for $f \in \Lambda_{2n}$, or $f \in \Lambda$).

Since for such f

$$I_K^{(n)}(f(x_1,\ldots,x_{2n});q,t;t_0,t_1,t_2,t_3) = I_K^{(n)}(f(x_1^{\pm},\ldots,x_n^{\pm});q,t;t_0,t_1,t_2,t_3),$$

we will often not distinguish between (3.1.2) and (3.1.5) and simply write

$$I_K^{(n)}(f;q,t;t_0,t_1,t_2,t_3),$$

where f can be either a symmetric or BC_n-symmetric function.

The reader is warned that for specialisations that hit the poles (2.6.6) of the lifted Koornwinder polynomials¹, (3.1.4) should be treated with great caution as the right-hand side may not be well-defined. In such cases T needs to be specialised before the t_r (or at least before some of the t_r). For example, if $T = t^n$ and $\{t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3\} = \{1, -1, t^{1/2}, -t^{1/2}\} =: \{\pm 1, \pm t^{1/2}\}$, then the lifted Koornwinder polynomial \tilde{K}_{λ} is ill-defined if

$$l(\lambda) - \frac{1}{2}m_1(\lambda) \le n < l(\lambda).$$

Accordingly, for (3.1.4) to hold we must first specialise $T = t^n$ before specialising the t_r . For example, since

$$\tilde{K}_{1^2}(q,t,T;\pm 1,\pm t_2) = m_{1^2} - \frac{(1-T)(T/t+t)(t-t_2^2)}{(1-t)(1+t)(t-t_2^2(T/t)^2)}$$

(and $\tilde{K}_0 = 1$), we have

$$I_K(m_{1^2}; q, t, T; \pm 1, \pm t_2) = \frac{(1-T)(T/t+t)(t-t_2^2)}{(1-t)(1+t)(t-t_2^2(T/t)^2)}$$

This gives $I_K(m_{1^2}(q, t, t; \pm 1, \pm t_2) = 1$, which trivially agrees with

(3.1.6)
$$I_K^{(1)}(m_{1^2}; q, t; \pm 1, \pm t_2) = I_K^{(1)}(1; q, t; \pm 1, \pm t_2) = 1.$$

However,

(3.1.7)
$$I_K(m_{1^2}; q, t, T; \pm 1, \pm t^{1/2}) = 0.$$

For specialising in the 'wrong' order we can use [112, Lemma 5.10].

LEMMA 3.2. For fixed n, let $t_0 \cdots t_3 t^{n-2} = t^k$, where k is a nonnegative integer. Then

$$\begin{split} \lim_{T \to t^n} I_K(f; q, t, T; t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} I_K^{(n)}(f; q, t; t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} I_K^{(k)} \left(f \left[x_1^{\pm} + \dots + x_k^{\pm} + \sum_{r=0}^3 \frac{t_r - t/t_r}{1 - t} \right]; q, t; t/t_0, t/t_1, t/t_2, t/t_3 \right). \end{split}$$

REMARK 3.3. To be consistent with our convention that

$$f(x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_k^{\pm}) = f(x_1, x_1^{-1}, \dots, x_k, x_k^{-1})$$

and $f(x_1 + \dots + x_k) = f[x_1 + \dots + x_k]$, we interpret $f[x_1^{\pm} + \dots + x_k^{\pm}]$ as $f[x_1 + x_1^{-1} + \dots + x_k + x_k^{-1}]$.

Continuing our previous example, for

(3.1.8)
$$\{t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3\} = \{\pm 1, \pm t^{1/2}\} = \{1, \varepsilon, t^{1/2}, \varepsilon t^{1/2}\}$$

we plethystically have

(3.1.9)
$$\sum_{r=0}^{3} \frac{t_r - t/t_r}{1-t} = \frac{1-t}{1-t} + \frac{\varepsilon - \varepsilon t}{1-t} + \frac{t^{1/2} - t^{1/2}}{1-t} + \frac{\varepsilon t^{1/2} - \varepsilon t^{1/2}}{1-t} = 1 + \varepsilon,$$

¹Since $q^{2-\lambda_i-j}$ is a nonpositive integer power of q this can never happen when the product $t_0t_1t_2t_3$ contains a positive power of q.

so that

$$\begin{split} \lim_{T \to t} I_K(f;q,t,T;\pm 1,\pm t^{1/2}) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} I_K^{(1)}(f;q,t,\pm 1,\pm t^{1/2}) + \frac{1}{2} I_K^{(0)}(f[1+\varepsilon];q,t,\pm t,\pm t^{1/2}) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} I_K^{(1)}(f;q,t,\pm 1,\pm t^{1/2}) + \frac{1}{2} I_K^{(0)}(f(1,-1);q,t,\pm t,\pm t^{1/2}) \end{split}$$

1 /0)

If $f = m_{1^2}$ then f(1, -1) = -1. By $I_K^{(0)}(f; q, t, t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3) = f$ and (3.1.6), this yields

$$\lim_{T \to t} I_K(m_{1^2}; q, t, T; \pm 1, \pm t^{1/2}), = \frac{1}{2}(1-1) = 0,$$

in accordance with (3.1.7).

LEMMA 3.4. For μ a partition and generic q, t, t_2, t_3 ,

$$(3.1.10) \quad I_K(f[x+\varepsilon];q,t,T;-t,-t^{1/2},t_2,t_3) = I_K(f;q,t,t^{1/2}T;-1,-t^{1/2},t_2,t_3).$$

PROOF. Let $f \in \Lambda$. From definition (3.1.1) of the virtual Koornwinder integral and the symmetry (2.6.11) of the lifted Koornwinder polynomials, we infer that (see also [108, Equation (7.4)]²)

$$(3.1.11) \quad I_K \Big(f \Big[x + \frac{t_0 - t/t_0}{1 - t} + \frac{t_1 - t/t_1}{1 - t} \Big]; q, t, T; t/t_0, t/t_1, t_2, t_3 \Big) \\ = I_K \Big(f; q, t, tT/t_0 t_1; t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3 \Big).$$

If we specialise $\{t_0,t_1\}=\{-1,-t^{1/2}\}=\{\varepsilon,\varepsilon t^{1/2}\},$ so that

$$\frac{t_0 - t/t_0}{1 - t} + \frac{t_1 - t/t_1}{1 - t} = \frac{\varepsilon - \varepsilon t}{1 - t} + \frac{\varepsilon t^{1/2} - \varepsilon t^{1/2}}{1 - t} = \varepsilon,$$

equation (3.1.11) simplifies to (3.1.10).

3.2. Closed-form evaluations—the Macdonald case

In this section we consider several closed-form evaluations of virtual Koornwinder integrals over Macdonald polynomials.

THEOREM 3.5. For μ a partition,

(3.2.1)
$$I_K(P_\mu(q,t);q,t,T;\pm t^{1/2},\pm (qt)^{1/2})$$

= $\chi(\mu' even) \frac{(T^2;q,t^2)_\nu}{(qT^2/t;q,t^2)_\nu} \cdot \frac{C_\nu^-(qt;q,t^2)}{C_\nu^-(t^2;q,t^2)}$

where, for μ' an even partition, $\nu := (\mu'/2)' = (\mu_1, \mu_3, \dots)$.

As usual $(\pm t^{1/2}, \pm (qt)^{1/2})$ in the above is shorthand for

$$(t^{1/2}, -t^{1/2}, (qt)^{1/2}, -(qt)^{1/2}).$$

Theorem 3.5, which for $T = t^n$ is known as the U(2n)/Sp(2n) vanishing integral, was conjectured in [108, Conjecture 1] and proven in [113, Theorem 4.1].

²In [108, Equation (7.4)] the denominator term (1-t) should be corrected to $(1-t^k)$.

THEOREM 3.6. For μ a partition,

$$(3.2.2) \quad I_K \left(P_\mu(q,t); q, t, T; -1, -q^{1/2}, -t^{1/2}, -(qt)^{1/2} \right) \\ = (-1)^{|\mu|} \frac{(T; q^{1/2}, t^{1/2})_\mu}{(-q^{1/2}T/t^{1/2}; q^{1/2}, t^{1/2})_\mu} \cdot \frac{C_\mu^-(-q^{1/2}; q^{1/2}, t^{1/2})}{C_\mu^-(t^{1/2}; q^{1/2}, t^{1/2})}.$$

This theorem was first stated (up to a trivial sign-change) as the conjectural [111, Equation (5.79)]. By [112, Theorem 8.5], which implies [111, Conjecture Q6], it now also has been proven.

From a symmetry of the virtual Koornwinder polynomials, the virtual Koornwinder integral satisfies the duality $[108, \text{Corollary } 7.6]^3$

$$I_K(f;q,t,T;t_0,t_1,t_2,t_3) = I_K(f\Big[-\varepsilon\Big(\frac{t}{q}\Big)^{1/2}\frac{1-q}{1-t}x\Big];t,q,1/T;s_0,s_1,s_2,s_3\Big),$$

where $s_r = -(qt)^{1/2}/t_r$. Applying this to (3.2.1), and then replacing (q, t, T, μ) by $(t, q, 1/T, \mu')$ using (2.2.6), (2.2.7b), (2.4.6), (2.5.3) and (2.5.4), yields the following dual virtual Koornwinder integral.

COROLLARY 3.7 ([113, page 741]). For μ a partition,

$$(3.2.3) I_K(P_{\mu}(q,t);q,t,T;\pm 1,\pm t^{1/2}) = \chi(\mu \ even) \frac{(T^2;q^2,t)_{\mu/2}}{(qT^2/t;q^2,t)_{\mu/2}} \cdot \frac{C^-_{\mu/2}(q;q^2,t)}{C^-_{\mu/2}(t;q^2,t)}$$

We need two variants of this for $I_K^{(n)}$. For λ a partition of length at most n or a half-partition of length n, define

(3.2.4)
$$A_{\lambda}^{(n)}(q,t) := \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} \frac{(qt^{j-i-1}, t^{j-i+1}; q^2)_{\lambda_i - \lambda_j}}{(qt^{j-i}, t^{j-i}; q^2)_{\lambda_i - \lambda_j}}.$$

It is important to note that $A_{\lambda}^{(n)}(q,t)$ depends on the relative differences between the λ_i , and that for λ a partition

(3.2.5)
$$A_{\lambda}^{(n)}(q,t) = \frac{(t^n;q^2,t)_{\lambda}}{(qt^{n-1};q^2,t)_{\lambda}} \cdot \frac{C_{\lambda}^-(q;q^2,t)}{C_{\lambda}^-(t;q^2,t)}$$

THEOREM 3.8. For μ a partition of length at most 2n, let

$$\tilde{\mu} = (\mu_1 - \mu_{2n}, \dots, \mu_{2n-1} - \mu_{2n}, 0).$$

Then

$$\begin{split} I_{K}^{(n)} \big(P_{\mu}(x_{1}^{\pm}, \dots, x_{n}^{\pm}; q, t); q, t; \pm 1, \pm t^{1/2} \big) \\ &= (-1)^{\mu_{2n}} I_{K}^{(n-1)} \big(P_{\mu}(x_{1}^{\pm}, \dots, x_{n-1}^{\pm}, 1, -1; q, t); q, t; \pm t, \pm t^{1/2} \big) \\ &= \begin{cases} A_{\mu/2}^{(2n)}(q, t) & \text{if } \tilde{\mu} \text{ is even,} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases} \end{split}$$

where $\mu/2$ is a partition or half-partition given by $(\mu_1/2, \ldots, \mu_{2n}/2)$.

³In [108, Corollary 7.6] $\tilde{\omega}_{q,t}$ should be corrected to $\tilde{\omega}_{t,q}$.

THEOREM 3.9. For ν a partition of length at most 2n + 1, let

$$\tilde{\nu} = (\nu_1 - \nu_{2n+1}, \dots, \nu_{2n} - \nu_{2n+1}, 0).$$

Then

$$\begin{split} I_{K}^{(n)} \big(P_{\nu}(x_{1}^{\pm}, \dots, x_{n}^{\pm}, 1; q, t); q, t; -1, t, \pm t^{1/2} \big) \\ &= (-1)^{\nu_{2n+1}} I_{K}^{(n)} \big(P_{\nu}(x_{1}^{\pm}, \dots, x_{n}^{\pm}, -1; q, t); q, t; 1, -t, \pm t^{1/2} \big) \\ &= \begin{cases} A_{\nu/2}^{(2n+1)}(q, t) & \text{if } \tilde{\nu} \text{ is even,} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases} \end{split}$$

PROOF OF THEOREM 3.8. From (2.5.12) we have

$$P_{\mu}(x_{1}^{\pm},\ldots,x_{n}^{\pm};q,t) = P_{\tilde{\mu}}(x_{1}^{\pm},\ldots,x_{n}^{\pm};q,t)$$

and

$$P_{\mu}(x_1^{\pm},\ldots,x_{n-1}^{\pm},1,-1;q,t) = (-1)^{\mu_{2n}} P_{\tilde{\mu}}(x_1^{\pm},\ldots,x_{n-1}^{\pm},1,-1;q,t),$$

so that

(3.2.6a)
$$I_K^{(n)} \left(P_\mu(x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_n^{\pm}; q, t); q, t; t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3 \right)$$

= $I_K^{(n)} \left(P_{\tilde{\mu}}(x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_n^{\pm}; q, t); q, t; t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3 \right)$

and

(3.2.6b)
$$I_K^{(n-1)} \left(P_\mu(x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_{n-1}^{\pm}, 1, -1; q, t); q, t; t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3 \right)$$

= $(-1)^{\mu_{2n}} I_K^{(n-1)} \left(P_{\tilde{\mu}}(x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_{n-1}^{\pm}, 1, -1; q, t); q, t; t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3 \right).$

Since $A^{(2n)}_{\mu/2}(q,t) = A^{(2n)}_{\tilde{\mu}/2}(q,t)$, it thus suffices to prove that

(3.2.7)
$$I_{K}^{(n)} \left(P_{\omega}(x_{1}^{\pm}, \dots, x_{n}^{\pm}; q, t); q, t; \pm 1, \pm t^{1/2} \right) \\ = I_{K}^{(n-1)} \left(P_{\omega}(x_{1}^{\pm}, \dots, x_{n-1}^{\pm}, 1, -1; q, t); q, t; \pm 1, \pm t^{1/2} \right) \\ = \chi(\omega \text{ even}) A_{\omega/2}^{(2n)}(q, t),$$

for ω a partition such that $l(\omega) < 2n$.

We now apply Lemma 3.2 with $\{t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3\} = \{\pm 1, \pm t^{1/2}\}$ and $f = P_{\mu}(q, t)$ for μ a partition of length at most 2*n*. Using (3.1.8) and (3.1.9), this yields

$$\begin{split} \lim_{T \to t^n} &I_K \left(P_\mu(q,t), q, t, T; \pm 1, \pm t^{1/2} \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} I_K^{(n)} \left(P_\mu(x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_n^{\pm}; q, t); q, t; \pm 1, \pm t^{1/2} \right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} I_K^{(n-1)} \left(P_\mu(x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_{n-1}^{\pm}, 1, -1; q, t); q, t; \pm t, \pm t^{1/2} \right) \end{split}$$

By (3.2.3) and (3.2.5) the left-hand side is equal to $\chi(\mu \text{ even}) A_{\mu/2}^{(2n)}(q,t)$, resulting in

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{2} I_K^{(n)} \left(P_\mu(x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_n^{\pm}; q, t); q, t; \pm 1, \pm t^{1/2} \right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} I_K^{(n-1)} \left(P_\mu(x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_{n-1}^{\pm}, 1, -1; q, t); q, t; \pm t, \pm t^{1/2} \right) \\ &= \chi(\mu \text{ even}) A_{\mu/2}^{(2n)}(q, t). \end{split}$$

Again using (3.2.6) as well as

$$\chi(\mu \text{ even}) A_{\mu/2}^{(2n)}(q,t) = \chi(\mu_{2n} \text{ even}) \chi(\tilde{\mu} \text{ even}) A_{\tilde{\mu}/2}^{(2n)}(q,t),$$

and then renaming $\tilde{\mu}_i = \mu_i - \mu_{2n}$ as ω_i for $1 \leq i \leq 2n - 1$, and μ_{2n} as k, it follows that

$$\frac{1}{2} I_K^{(n)} \left(P_\omega(x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_n^{\pm}; q, t); q, t; \pm 1, \pm t^{1/2} \right)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} (-1)^k I_K^{(n-1)} \left(P_\omega(x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_{n-1}^{\pm}, 1, -1; q, t); q, t; \pm t, \pm t^{1/2} \right)$$

$$= \chi(k \text{ even}) \chi(\omega \text{ even}) A_{\omega/2}^{(2n)}(q, t),$$

for ω a partition of length at most 2n-1 and k an arbitrary integer. For odd k this implies the first equality in (3.2.7), so that the second equality follows from even k.

PROOF OF THEOREM 3.9. The proof if analogous to that of Theorem 3.8 except that we now need Lemma 3.4 on top of Lemma 3.2.

Let $z \in \{-1, 1\}$. Since

$$(3.2.8) \quad I_K^{(n)} \left(P_{\nu}(x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_n^{\pm}, z; q, t); q, t; t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3 \right) \\ = z^{\nu_{2n+1}} I_K^{(n)} \left(P_{\tilde{\nu}}(x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_n^{\pm}, z; q, t); q, t; t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3 \right),$$

and $A^{(2n+1)}_{\nu/2}(q,t)=A^{(2n+1)}_{\tilde{\nu}/2}(q,t),$ it is enough to show that

(3.2.9)
$$I_K^{(n)}(P_{\tau}(x_1^{\pm},\dots,x_n^{\pm},z;q,t);q,t;-z,zt,\pm t^{1/2}) = \chi(\tau \text{ even})A_{\tau/2}^{(2n+1)}(q,t),$$

for τ a partition such that $l(\tau) \leq 2n$. For $\{t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3\} = \{1, \varepsilon t, t^{1/2}, \varepsilon t^{1/2}\}$, we have $\sum_{r=0}^3 \frac{t_r - t/t_r}{1 - t} = 1 - \varepsilon$. Hence, by Lemma 3.2 with $f(x) = P_{\nu}([x + \varepsilon]; q, t)$ and ν a partition of length at most 2n + 1,

$$\begin{split} \lim_{T \to t^n} I_K \left(P_{\nu} \left([x + \varepsilon]; q, t \right), q, t, T; 1, -t, \pm t^{1/2} \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} I_K^{(n)} \left(P_{\nu} (x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_n^{\pm}, -1; q, t); q, t; 1, -t, \pm t^{1/2} \right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} I_K^{(n)} \left(P_{\nu} (x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_n^{\pm}, 1; q, t); q, t; -1, t, \pm t^{1/2} \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \sum_{z \in \{-1, 1\}} I_K^{(n)} \left(P_{\nu} (x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_n^{\pm}, z; q, t); q, t; -z, zt, \pm t^{1/2} \right) \end{split}$$

On the other hand, by Lemma 3.4,

$$\begin{split} \lim_{T \to t^n} I_K \big(P_\nu \big([x + \varepsilon]; q, t \big), q, t, T; 1, -t, \pm t^{1/2} \big) \\ &= \lim_{T \to t^n} I_K \big(P_\nu (q, t), q, t, t^{1/2}T; \pm 1, \pm t^{1/2} \big) \\ &= \chi(\nu \text{ even}) A_{\nu/2}^{(2n+1)}(q, t), \end{split}$$

where the second equality follows from (3.2.3) and (3.2.5). Therefore,

$$\frac{1}{2} \sum_{z \in \{-1,1\}} I_K^{(n)} \left(P_{\nu}(x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_n^{\pm}, z; q, t); q, t; -z, zt, \pm t^{1/2} \right) \\ = \chi(\nu \text{ even}) A_{\nu/2}^{(2n+1)}(q, t).$$

If we define $\tau_i := \nu_i - \nu_{2n+1}$ for $1 \leq i \leq 2n$ and $k := \nu_{2n+1}$, and then use (3.2.8), the above can also be written as

$$\frac{1}{2} \sum_{z \in \{-1,1\}} z^k I_K^{(n)} \left(P_\tau(x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_n^{\pm}, z; q, t); q, t; -z, zt, \pm t^{1/2} \right) \\ = \chi(k \text{ even}) \chi(\tau \text{ even}) A_{\tau/2}^{(2n+1)}(q, t).$$

As before, by considering odd values of k this yields

$$I_{K}^{(n)} \left(P_{\tau}(x_{1}^{\pm}, \dots, x_{n}^{\pm}, 1; q, t); q, t; -1, t, \pm t^{1/2} \right) = I_{K}^{(n)} \left(P_{\tau}(x_{1}^{\pm}, \dots, x_{n}^{\pm}, -1; q, t); q, t; 1, -t, \pm t^{1/2} \right).$$

Choosing k to be even completes the proof of (3.2.9).

As our final evaluation of this section we claim the following.

THEOREM 3.10. For μ a partition,

$$(3.2.10) \quad I_K \left(P_{\mu}(q,t); q, t, T; -1, q, \pm t^{1/2} \right) = (-1)^{|\mu|} \frac{(T^2; q^2, t)_{\lceil \mu/2 \rceil}}{(qT^2/t; q^2, t)_{\lceil \mu/2 \rceil}} \cdot \frac{1}{b_{\mu}^{\text{ea}}(q, t)}.$$

PROOF. From (3.1.3), definition (2.6.1) of the Koornwinder density and Gustafson's integral (2.6.4), it follows that

$$I_{K}^{(n)}(f;q,t;qt_{0},t_{1},t_{2},t_{3})$$

= $I_{K}^{(n)}(f(x_{1}^{\pm},\ldots,x_{n}^{\pm})\prod_{i=1}^{n}(1-t_{0}x_{i}^{\pm});q,t;t_{0},t_{1},t_{2},t_{3})\prod_{i=1}^{n}\frac{1-t_{0}t_{1}t_{2}t_{3}t^{n+i-2}}{\prod_{r=1}^{3}(1-t_{0}t_{r}t^{i-1})}.$

For $f = P_{\mu}(q, t)$ we can use the *e*-Pieri rule (2.5.8) to expand the integrand. Hence

$$\begin{split} I_{K}^{(n)}\big(P_{\mu}(q,t);q,t;qt_{0},t_{1},t_{2},t_{3}\big) &= \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1-t_{0}t_{1}t_{2}t_{3}t^{n+i-2}}{\prod_{r=1}^{3}(1-t_{0}t_{r}t^{i-1})} \\ &\times \sum_{\lambda \supset \mu} (-t_{0})^{|\lambda/\mu|} \psi_{\lambda/\mu}'(q,t) I_{K}^{(n)}\big(P_{\lambda}(q,t);q,t;t_{0},t_{1},t_{2},t_{3}\big). \end{split}$$

For $(t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3) = (1, -1, t^{1/2}, -t^{1/2})$ this yields

$$I_{K}^{(n)}(P_{\mu}(q,t);q,t;q,-1,\pm t^{1/2}) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\lambda \supset \mu} (-1)^{|\lambda/\mu|} \psi_{\lambda/\mu}'(q,t) I_{K}^{(n)}(P_{\lambda}(q,t);q,t;\pm 1,\pm t^{1/2}).$$

The integral in the summand evaluates in closed form by Theorem 3.8. In particular it vanishes unless (i) λ is even or (ii) λ is odd and $l(\lambda) = 2n$. Since $\psi'_{\lambda/\mu}(q,t)$ is zero unless λ/μ is a vertical strip, this fixes λ as $\lambda = 2\lceil \mu/2 \rceil =: \nu$ in case (i) and $\lambda = 2\lfloor \mu/2 \rfloor + 1^{2n} =: \omega$ in case (ii). Noting the three congruences

$$|\nu| \equiv |\omega| \equiv 0 \pmod{2}, \quad |\nu/\mu| = \operatorname{odd}(\mu) \equiv |\mu| \pmod{2},$$

and

$$|\omega/\mu| = 2n - \text{odd}(\mu) \equiv |\mu| \pmod{2},$$

we obtain

$$\begin{split} I_{K}^{(n)}\big(P_{\mu}(q,t);q,t;q,-1,\pm t^{1/2}\big) \\ &= \frac{1}{2}(-1)^{|\mu|}\Big(\psi_{\nu/\mu}'(q,t)A_{\nu/2}^{(2n)}(q,t) + \psi_{\omega/\mu}'(q,t)A_{\omega/2}^{(2n)}(q,t)\Big). \end{split}$$

We will now show that the two terms on the right are equal, resulting in

(3.2.11)
$$I_{K}^{(n)}(P_{\mu}(q,t);q,t;q,-1,\pm t^{1/2}) = (-1)^{|\mu|}\psi_{\nu/\mu}'(q,t)A_{\nu/2}^{(2n)}(q,t).$$

First we note that since $\omega/2 = \lfloor \mu/2 \rfloor + (\frac{1}{2})^{2n}$ and $A^{(n)}_{\mu}(q,t)$ depends on the relative differences of the μ_i , we have

$$A^{(2n)}_{\omega/2}(q,t) = A^{(2n)}_{\lfloor \mu/2 \rfloor}(q,t).$$

Moreover, by (3.2.4) and $\nu/2 = \lceil \mu/2 \rceil$,

$$\begin{split} A^{(2n)}_{\lfloor \mu/2 \rfloor}(q,t) &= A^{(2n)}_{\nu/2}(q,t) \prod_{\substack{1 \leqslant i < j \leqslant 2n \\ \mu_i \text{ odd, } \mu_j \text{ even}}} \frac{1 - q^{\mu_i - \mu_j} t^{j-i}}{1 - q^{\mu_i - \mu_j} t^{j-i-1}} \cdot \frac{1 - q^{\mu_i - \mu_j - 1} t^{j-i}}{1 - q^{\mu_i - \mu_j - 1} t^{j-i+1}} \\ &\times \prod_{\substack{1 \leqslant i < j \leqslant 2n \\ \mu_i \text{ even, } \mu_j \text{ odd}}} \frac{1 - q^{\mu_i - \mu_j} t^{j-i-1}}{1 - q^{\mu_i - \mu_j} t^{j-i}} \cdot \frac{1 - q^{\mu_i - \mu_j - 1} t^{j-i+1}}{1 - q^{\mu_i - \mu_j - 1} t^{j-i+1}}. \end{split}$$

But from (2.5.9) it follows that

$$\psi_{\nu/\mu}'(q,t) = \prod_{\substack{1 \leqslant i < j \leqslant 2n \\ \mu_i \text{ even, } \mu_j \text{ odd}}} \frac{1 - q^{\mu_i - \mu_j} t^{j-i-1}}{1 - q^{\mu_i - \mu_j} t^{j-i}} \cdot \frac{1 - q^{\mu_i - \mu_j - 1} t^{j-i+1}}{1 - q^{\mu_i - \mu_j - 1} t^{j-i}}$$

and

$$\psi'_{\omega/\mu}(q,t) = \prod_{\substack{1 \leqslant i < j \leqslant 2n \\ \mu_i \text{ odd, } \mu_j \text{ even}}} \frac{1 - q^{\mu_i - \mu_j} t^{j-i-1}}{1 - q^{\mu_i - \mu_j} t^{j-i}} \cdot \frac{1 - q^{\mu_i - \mu_j - 1} t^{j-i+1}}{1 - q^{\mu_i - \mu_j - 1} t^{j-i}},$$

so that

$$\psi'_{\omega/\mu}(q,t)A^{(2n)}_{\omega/2}(q,t) = \psi'_{\nu/\mu}(q,t)A^{(2n)}_{\nu/2}(q,t),$$

establishing (3.2.11).

Since $\nu = 2\lceil \mu/2 \rceil$ is even, we can use (3.2.5) to write the right side of (3.2.11) as

$$(-1)^{|\mu|}\psi_{\nu/\mu}'(q,t) \frac{(t^{2n};q^2,t)_{\nu/2}}{(qt^{2n-1};q^2,t)_{\nu/2}} \cdot \frac{C_{\nu/2}^{-}(q;q^2,t)}{C_{\nu/2}^{-}(t;q^2,t)}.$$

By Lemma 2.1 this is also

$$(-1)^{|\mu|} \frac{(t^{2n};q^2,t)_{\nu/2}}{(qt^{2n-1};q^2,t)_{\nu/2}} \cdot \frac{1}{b_{\mu}^{\mathrm{ea}}(q,t)}$$

Hence

$$(3.2.12) \quad I_K^{(n)} \left(P_\mu(q,t); q,t; -1, q, \pm t^{1/2} \right) = (-1)^{|\mu|} \frac{(t^{2n}; q^2, t)_{\lceil \mu/2 \rceil}}{(qt^{2n-1}; q^2, t)_{\lceil \mu/2 \rceil}} \cdot \frac{1}{b_\mu^{\text{ea}}(q,t)}.$$

Since both sides vanish if $l(\mu) > 2n$ this holds for all partitions μ .

For fixed μ

$$I_K(P_\mu(q,t);q,t,T;t_0,t_1,t_2,t_3)$$

is a rational function in T. By (3.1.4) and (3.2.12), equation (3.2.10) holds for $T = t^n$ for all nonnegative integers n. Hence it holds for arbitrary T.

3.3. Closed-form evaluations—the Hall–Littlewood case

We present one final virtual Koornwinder integral with Hall–Littlewood polynomial argument. It evaluates in terms of the generalised Rogers–Szegő polynomials (2.3.4), and does not appear to have a simple *t*-analogue for Macdonald polynomials.

Let

$$I_{K}^{(n)}(P_{\mu}(q,0);q,0;t_{0},t_{1},t_{2},t_{3}):=\lim_{t\to 0}I_{K}^{(n)}(P_{\mu}(q,t);q,t;t_{0},t_{1},t_{2},t_{3}).$$

THEOREM 3.11. For μ a partition of length at most 2n,

(3.3.1)
$$I_K^{(n)}(P_{\mu}(q,0);q,0;0,0,t_2,t_3) = h_{\mu'}^{(2n)}(-t_2,-t_3;q).$$

PROOF. Let $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$. By (3.1.2), equation (3.3.1) may also be stated as the rational function identity

$$K_0(x;q,0;0,0,t_2,t_3)]P_{\mu}(x^{\pm},q,0) = h_{\mu'}^{(2n)}(-t_2,-t_3;q)$$

Without loss of generality we may thus assume that $|t_2|, |t_3| < 1$ in the following. Noting that

$$h_{\lambda}^{(2n)}(0,0;q) = \chi(\lambda \text{ even}),$$

the $t_2 = t_3 = 0$ case of (3.3.1), viz.

(3.3.2)
$$I_K^{(n)}(P_\mu(q,0);q,0;0,0,0,0) = \chi(\mu' \text{ even}),$$

follows from (3.2.1) (with $T = t^n$) in the $t \to 0$ limit.

To include the parameter t_2 we use that

$$\langle 1,1 \rangle_{q,0;0,0,t_2,0}^{(n)} = \langle 1,1 \rangle_{q,0;0,0,0,0}^{(n)}$$

(see (2.6.4)) and

$$\Delta(x;q,0;0,0,t_2,0) = \Delta(x;q,0;0,0,0,0) \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{1}{(t_2 x_i^{\pm};q)_{\infty}}.$$

From (3.1.3) it thus follows that

$$(3.3.3) f_{\mu}(t_2;q) := I_K^{(n)} \left(P_{\mu}(q,0);q,0;0,0,t_2,0 \right) \\ = I_K^{(n)} \left(P_{\mu}(x_1^{\pm},\dots,x_n^{\pm};q,0) \prod_{i=1}^{2n} \frac{1}{(t_2 x_i^{\pm};q)_{\infty}};q,0;0,0,0,0 \right).$$

By the g-Pieri rule (2.5.6) for t = 0, this yields

$$f_{\mu}(t_{2};q) = \sum_{\nu \succ \mu} t_{2}^{|\nu/\mu|} \varphi_{\nu/\mu}(q,0) I_{K}^{(n)} \left(P_{\nu}(q,0);q,0;0,0,0,0 \right)$$
$$= \sum_{\substack{\nu \succ \mu \\ \nu' \text{ even} \\ l(\nu) \leq 2n}} t_{2}^{|\nu/\mu|} \varphi_{\nu/\mu}(q,0),$$

where the second equality follows from (3.3.2). Since $\varphi_{\nu/\mu}(q,0)$ is zero unless ν/μ is a horizontal strip and since ν' must be even, this fixes ν as $\nu_{2i-1} = \nu_{2i} = \mu_{2i-1}$

for $1 \leq i \leq n$. This is equivalent to $\nu'_i = \mu'_i + \chi(\mu'_i \text{ odd})$, so that $|\nu/\mu|$ is given by the number of odd parts of μ' , i.e., by $\text{odd}(\mu')$. Hence

$$f_{\mu}(t_2;q) = t_2^{\text{odd}(\mu')} \varphi_{\nu/\mu}(q,0),$$

with ν fixed as above. From the expression for $\varphi_{\lambda/\mu}(q,t)$ as given in (2.5.7) it follows that 4

$$(3.3.4) \quad \varphi_{\nu/\mu}(q,0) = \prod_{i \ge 1} \frac{(q;q)_{\mu_i - \mu_{i+1}}}{(q;q)_{\nu_i - \mu_i}(q;q)_{\mu_i - \nu_{i+1}}} = \frac{1}{(q;q)_{\nu_1 - \mu_1}} \prod_{i \ge 1} \begin{bmatrix} \mu_i - \mu_{i+1} \\ \mu_i - \nu_{i+1} \end{bmatrix}_q$$

When $\nu_{2i-1} = \nu_{2i} = \mu_{2i-1}$ this simplifies to $\varphi_{\nu/\mu}(q,0) = 1$, since either $\nu_{i+1} = \mu_i$ or $\nu_{i+1} = \mu_{i+1}$. Hence

(3.3.5)
$$f_{\mu}(t_2;q) = t_2^{\text{odd}(\mu')}$$

To also include the parameter t_3 we proceed in almost identical fashion. By

$$\langle 1,1 \rangle_{q,0;0,0,t_2,t_3}^{(n)} = \frac{1}{(t_2 t_3;q)_{\infty}} \langle 1,1 \rangle_{q,0;0,0,t_2,0}^{(n)}$$

and

$$\Delta(x; 0, 0, t_2, t_3; q, 0) = \Delta(x; 0, 0, t_2, 0; q, 0) \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{1}{(t_2 x_i^{\pm}; q)_{\infty}},$$

and following the previous steps, we obtain

$$\begin{split} f_{\mu}(t_2, t_3; q) &:= I_K^{(n)} \left(P_{\mu}(q, 0); q, 0; 0, 0, t_2, t_3 \right) \\ &= (t_2 t_3; q)_{\infty} \sum_{\nu \succ \mu} t_2^{|\nu/\mu|} f_{\nu}(t_2; q) \varphi_{\nu/\mu}(q, 0) \\ &= (t_2 t_3; q)_{\infty} \sum_{\substack{\nu \succ \mu \\ l(\nu) \leqslant 2n}} t_2^{\text{odd}(\nu')} t_3^{|\nu/\mu|} \varphi_{\nu/\mu}(q, 0). \end{split}$$

Here the second line uses the definition of $f_{\nu}(t_2; q)$ as given in (3.3.3), and the third line uses the evaluation (3.3.5). To complete the proof we write $\nu_i = \mu_i + k_i$ for $1 \leq i \leq 2n$, and note that (see [139, page 822])

(3.3.6)
$$\operatorname{odd}(\nu') = \operatorname{odd}(\mu') + \sum_{i=1}^{2n} (-1)^{i+1} k_i.$$

Once again using (3.3.4), we get

$$f_{\mu}(t_2, t_3; q) = (t_2 t_3; q)_{\infty} t_2^{\text{odd}(\mu')} \sum_{k_1, \dots, k_{2n} \ge 0} \frac{1}{(q; q)_{k_1}} \prod_{i \ge 1} t_2^{(-1)^{i+1} k_i} t_3^{k_i} \begin{bmatrix} \mu_i - \mu_{i+1} \\ k_{i+1} \end{bmatrix}_q.$$

Summing over k_1 by [43, Equation (II.1)]

$$\sum_{k \ge 0} \frac{z^k}{(q;q)_k} = \frac{1}{(z;q)_{\infty}} \quad \text{for } |z| < 1,$$

⁴Alternatively, this follows from the Pieri coefficient $\varphi'_{\lambda/\mu}(t)$ for Hall–Littlewood polynomials, thanks to $\varphi_{\nu/\mu}(q,0) = \varphi'_{\nu'/\mu'}(0,q) = \varphi'_{\nu'/\mu'}(q)$.

and recalling definition (2.3.1), we finally obtain

$$f_{\mu}(t_{2}, t_{3}; q) = t_{2}^{\text{odd}(\mu')} \prod_{\substack{i=1\\i \text{ odd}}}^{2n-1} H_{m_{i}(\mu')}(t_{3}/t_{2}; q) \prod_{\substack{i=1\\i \text{ even}}}^{2n-1} H_{m_{i}(\mu')}(t_{2}t_{3}; q)$$
$$= h_{\mu'}^{(2n)}(-t_{2}, -t_{3}; q).$$

CHAPTER 4

Bounded Littlewood identities

In this section, which is at the heart of the paper, we use Macdonald–Koornwinder theory and virtual Koornwinder integrals in particular to prove bounded Littlewood identities for Macdonald and Hall–Littlewood polynomials.

4.1. Statement of results

4.1.1. q, t-**Identities.** There are five known Littlewood identities for Macdonald polynomials. By introducing an additional parameter a, the first four of these may easily be combined to form the pair of identities [139, Proposition 1.3] (4.1.1)

$$\sum_{\lambda} a^{\mathrm{odd}(\lambda)} b_{\lambda}^{\mathrm{oa}}(q,t) P_{\lambda}(x;q,t) = \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{(1+ax_i)(qtx_i^2;q^2)_{\infty}}{(x_i^2;q^2)_{\infty}} \prod_{1 \leqslant i < j \leqslant n} \frac{(tx_ix_j;q)_{\infty}}{(x_ix_j;q)_{\infty}}$$

and

(4.1.2)
$$\sum_{\lambda} a^{\mathrm{odd}(\lambda')} b^{\mathrm{el}}_{\lambda}(q,t) P_{\lambda}(x;q,t) = \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{(atx_i;q)_{\infty}}{(ax_i;q)_{\infty}} \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} \frac{(tx_ix_j;q)_{\infty}}{(x_ix_j;q)_{\infty}}$$

Here

$$b_{\lambda}^{\mathrm{oa}}(q,t) := \prod_{\substack{s \in \lambda \\ a(s) \text{ odd}}} b_{\lambda}(s;q,t) \quad \text{and} \quad b_{\lambda}^{\mathrm{el}}(q,t) := \prod_{\substack{s \in \lambda \\ l(s) \text{ even}}} b_{\lambda}(s;q,t),$$

to be compared with (2.2.5) and (2.5.11). The cases a = 0 and a = 1 of (4.1.1) and (4.1.2) correspond to Macdonald's original four results, see [**91**, page 349]. The fifth identity was first conjectured by Kawanaka [**62**] and subsequently proven in [**71**] (see also [**111**]):

(4.1.3)
$$\sum_{\lambda} b_{\lambda}^{-}(q,t) P_{\lambda}(x;q^{2},t^{2}) = \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{(-tx_{i};q)_{\infty}}{(x_{i};q)_{\infty}} \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} \frac{(t^{2}x_{i}x_{j};q^{2})_{\infty}}{(x_{i}x_{j};q^{2})_{\infty}},$$

where

$$b_{\lambda}^{-}(q,t) := \prod_{s \in \lambda} \frac{1 + q^{a(s)} t^{l(s)+1}}{1 - q^{a(s)+1} t^{l(s)}}.$$

In the following we generalise all of (4.1.1)-(4.1.3).

For m a nonnegative integer and λ a partition, let

$$b^{\mathrm{oa}}_{\lambda;m}(q,t) := b^{\mathrm{oa}}_{\lambda}(q,t) \prod_{\substack{s \in \lambda \\ a'(s) \text{ odd}}} \frac{1 - q^{2m - a'(s) + 1} t^{l'(s)}}{1 - q^{2m - a'(s)} t^{l'(s) + 1}}.$$

Note that $b_{\lambda;m}^{oa}(q,t) = 0$ if $\lambda_1 > 2m+1$ and that for λ an even partition

(4.1.4)
$$b_{\lambda;m}^{\mathrm{oa}}(q,t) = b_{\lambda}^{\mathrm{oa}}(q,t) \prod_{\substack{s \in \lambda \\ a'(s) \text{ even}}} \frac{1 - q^{2m - a'(s)} t^{l'(s)}}{1 - q^{2m - a'(s) - 1} t^{l'(s) + 1}}.$$

Our first bounded Littlewood identity generalises (4.1.1).

THEOREM 4.1. For $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ and m a nonnegative integer,

$$\sum_{\lambda} a^{\mathrm{odd}(\lambda)} b^{\mathrm{oa}}_{\lambda;m}(q,t) P_{\lambda}(x;q,t) = \left(\prod_{i=1}^{n} x_i^m (1+ax_i)\right) P_{m^n}^{(\mathrm{C}_n,\mathrm{B}_n)}(x;q,t,qt).$$

Using (2.7.9) to identify $P_{m^n}^{(C_n, B_n)}(x; q, t, qt)$ as a Koornwinder polynomial, and then using (2.6.9) for $\lambda = 0$, it follows that the large-*m* limit of the right-hand side simplifies to the right-hand side of (4.1.1).

When a = 0 the summand on the left vanishes unless λ is even, so that¹

(4.1.5)
$$\sum_{\lambda \text{ even}} b_{\lambda;m}^{\text{oa}}(q,t) P_{\lambda}(x;q,t) = (x_1 \cdots x_n)^m P_{m^n}^{(\mathcal{C}_n,\mathcal{B}_n)}(x;q,t,qt).$$

This is a q, t-analogue of the Désarménien–Proctor–Stembridge determinant formula [31, 107, 127]

(4.1.6)
$$\sum_{\substack{\lambda \text{ even}\\\lambda_1 \leqslant 2m}} s_{\lambda}(x) = \frac{\det_{1 \leqslant i, j \leqslant n} \left(x_i^{j-1} - x_i^{2m+2n-j+1} \right)}{\prod_{i=1}^n (1-x_i^2) \prod_{1 \leqslant i < j \leqslant n} (x_i - x_j) (x_i x_j - 1)},$$

which expresses the symplectic Schur function $\operatorname{sp}_{2n,m^n}(x)$ (times $(x_1 \cdots x_n)^m$) in terms of Schur functions. Equivalently, (4.1.6) is a branching formula for the character of the symplectic group $\operatorname{Sp}(n, \mathbb{C})$ indexed by $m\omega_n$ in terms of characters of the general linear group $\operatorname{GL}(n, \mathbb{C})$. As will be discussed in Section 5.1, like Macdonald's formula (1.1.2), the determinant (4.1.6) is important in the theory of plane partitions.

Another notable special case follows when q = 0. For $s \in \lambda \subset (2m)^n$ such that a'(s) is even we must have $2m - a'(s) \ge 2$, which implies that $b_{\lambda;m}^{\text{oa}}(0,t) = 1$. By (2.8.9) the q = 0 specialisation of (4.1.5) is thus

(4.1.7)
$$\sum_{\substack{\lambda \text{ even}\\\lambda_1 \leq 2m}} P_{\lambda}(x;t) = (x_1 \cdots x_n)^m P_{m^n}^{(\mathbf{C}_n)}(x;t,0).$$

For positive *m* the right-hand side can be expressed in terms of the function $\Phi(x; t, 0, 0)$ by Lemma 2.5. The resulting *t*-analogue of the Désarménien–Proctor–Stembridge determinant is due to Stembridge [**127**, Theorem 1.2] who used it to give new proofs of the Rogers–Ramanujan identities. We will see in Section 5.3 that Stembridge's method can be extended so that identities such as (4.1.7) yield Rogers–Ramanujan identities for certain affine Lie algebras $X_N^{(r)}$ for arbitrary N.

For m a nonnegative integer and λ a partition, let

$$b^{\rm ol}_{\lambda;m}(q,t) := \prod_{\substack{s \in \lambda \\ l'(s) \text{ odd}}} \frac{1 - q^{m-a'(s)}t^{l'(s)-1}}{1 - q^{m-a'(s)-1}t^{l'(s)}} \prod_{\substack{s \in \lambda \\ l(s) \text{ odd}}} \frac{1 - q^{a(s)}t^{l(s)}}{1 - q^{a(s)+1}t^{l(s)-1}}.$$

¹By (2.5.12), the same result may be obtained in the $a \to \infty$ limit.

Note that $b_{\lambda;m}^{\text{ol}}(q,t) = 0$ if $\lambda_2 > m$, which implies vanishing for $\lambda_1 > m$ when λ' is even. Our next theorem contains the first of two bounded analogues of the a = 0 case of (4.1.2).

THEOREM 4.2. For $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ and m a nonnegative integer,

(4.1.8)
$$\sum b_{\lambda;m}^{\text{ol}}(q,t)P_{\lambda}(x;q,t) = (x_1\cdots x_n)^{\frac{m}{2}}P_{(\frac{m}{2})^n}^{(\mathbf{B}_n,\mathbf{B}_n)}(x;q,t,1),$$

where the sum is over partitions $\lambda \subset m^n$ such that $m_i(\lambda)$ is even for all $1 \leq i \leq m-1$.

To see that this generalises (4.1.2) for a = 0, we first note that in the large-m limit the right-hand side simplifies to the right-hand side of (4.1.2) for a = 0 by (2.7.12a) and the $\lambda = 0$ case of Lemma 2.4. Next, to simplify the left-hand side we note that there are two types of partitions contributing to the sum.

Type 1: Partitions λ such that $m_i(\lambda)$ is even for all $1 \leq i \leq m$, i.e., λ' is even.

Type 2: Partitions λ such that $m_i(\lambda)$ is odd for i = m and even for $1 \leq i < m$, i.e., λ' is odd and $\lambda_1 = m$.

Macdonald polynomials indexed by partitions of Type 2 have degree at least m, so that their contribution vanishes in the large-m limit. Hence we are left with a sum over partitions of Type 1, for which

$$\prod_{\substack{s \in \lambda \\ l(s) \text{ odd}}} \frac{1 - q^{a(s)} t^{l(s)}}{1 - q^{a(s) + 1} t^{l(s) - 1}} = \prod_{\substack{s \in \lambda \\ l(s) \text{ even}}} \frac{1 - q^{a(s)} t^{l(s) + 1}}{1 - q^{a(s) + 1} t^{l(s)}} = b_{\lambda}^{\text{el}}(q, t),$$

resulting in the a = 0 case of (4.1.2). In fact, (2.7.7) can be used to dissect (4.1.8), resulting in two bounded Littlewood identities for D_n , the first of which is our second bounded analogue of (4.1.2) for a = 0.

THEOREM 4.3. For $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$, $\overline{x} = (x_1, \ldots, x_{n-1}, x_n^{-1})$ and m a nonnegative integer,

(4.1.9a)
$$\sum_{\lambda' \text{ even}} b^{\text{ol}}_{\lambda;m}(q,t) P_{\lambda}(x;q,t) = (x_1 \cdots x_n)^{\frac{m}{2}} P^{(D_n,D_n)}_{(\frac{m}{2})^n}(x;q,t)$$

(4.1.9b)
$$\sum_{\substack{\lambda' \text{ odd} \\ \lambda_1 = m}} b_{\lambda;m}^{\text{ol}}(q,t) P_{\lambda}(x;q,t) = (x_1 \cdots x_n)^{\frac{m}{2}} P_{(\frac{m}{2})^n}^{(\mathbf{D}_n,\mathbf{D}_n)}(\bar{x};q,t).$$

Taking q = 0 in (4.1.9a) yields

(4.1.10)
$$\sum_{\substack{\lambda' \text{ even} \\ \lambda_1 \leqslant m}} P_{\lambda}(x;t) \prod_{i=1}^{m-1} (t;t^2)_{m_i(\lambda)/2} = (x_1 \cdots x_n)^{\frac{m}{2}} P_{(\frac{m}{2})^n}^{(D_n)}(x;t).$$

By Lemma 2.7 this is equivalent to [56, Theorem 1; Eq. (7)] of Jouhet and Zeng, which itself is a *t*-analogue of Okada's determinant [101, Theorem 2.3 (3)]

$$\sum_{\substack{\lambda' \text{ even} \\ \lambda_1 \leqslant m}} s_\lambda(x) = \frac{\sum_{\varepsilon \in \{\pm 1\}} \det_{1 \leqslant i, j \leqslant n} \left(x_i^{j-1} + \varepsilon \, x_i^{m+2n-j-1} \right)}{2 \prod_{i < j} (x_i - x_j) (x_i x_j - 1)}.$$

For m a nonnegative integer and λ a partition, let

(4.1.11)
$$b_{\lambda;m}^{\text{el}}(q,t) := b_{\lambda}^{\text{el}}(q,t) \prod_{\substack{s \in \lambda \\ l'(s) \text{ even}}} \frac{1 - q^{m-a'(s)} t^{l'(s)}}{1 - q^{m-a'(s)-1} t^{l'(s)+1}}.$$

We note that $b_{\lambda;m}^{\text{el}}(q,t)$ vanishes unless $\lambda_1 \leq m$. The next result is (1.1.6) from the introduction, which bounds (4.1.2) for a = 1.

THEOREM 4.4. For $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ and m a nonnegative integer,

(4.1.12)
$$\sum_{\lambda} b_{\lambda;m}^{\text{el}}(q,t) P_{\lambda}(x;q,t) = (x_1 \cdots x_n)^{\frac{m}{2}} P_{(\frac{m}{2})^n}^{(\mathbf{B}_n,\mathbf{B}_n)}(x;q,t,t)$$

The q = 0 and t = q specialisations of (4.1.12) correspond to (4.1.17) below for $t_2 = t$, i.e.,

$$\sum_{\substack{\lambda\\\Lambda_{1}\leqslant m}}\prod_{i=1}^{m-1} \left((t;t^{2})_{\lceil m_{i}(\lambda)/2\rceil} \right) P_{\lambda}(x;t) = (x_{1}\cdots x_{n})^{\frac{m}{2}} P_{(\frac{m}{2})^{n}}^{(\mathbf{B}_{n})}(x;t,t),$$

and Macdonald's determinant (1.1.2) respectively.

REMARK 4.5. Using (4.1.9a) it is not hard to prove an identity that generalises (4.1.2) in full:

$$\sum_{\lambda} a^{\mathrm{odd}(\lambda')} \hat{b}^{\mathrm{el}}_{\lambda;m}(q,t) P_{\lambda}(x;q,t) = \left(\prod_{i=1}^{n} x_i^{m/2} \frac{(atx_i;q)_{\infty}}{(ax_i;q)_{\infty}}\right) P_{(\frac{m}{2})^n}^{(\mathrm{D}_n,\mathrm{D}_n)}(x;q,t),$$

where

$$\hat{b}_{\lambda;m}^{\rm el}(q,t) := b_{\lambda}^{\rm el}(q,t) \prod_{\substack{s \in \lambda \\ l'(s) \text{ odd}}} \frac{1 - q^{m-a'(s)} t^{l'(s)-1}}{1 - q^{m-a'(s)-1} t^{l'(s)}}.$$

The largest part of λ in the sum on the left is not bounded, and unlike (4.1.8), (4.1.9a) or (4.1.12), this is not a polynomial identity.

For m a nonnegative integer and λ a partition such that $\lambda_1 \leq m$, let

$$b_{\lambda;m}^{-}(q,t) := b_{\lambda}^{-}(q,t) \prod_{s \in \lambda} \frac{1 - q^{m-a'(s)} t^{l'(s)}}{1 + q^{m-a'(s)-1} t^{l'(s)+1}}.$$

Our final result for Macdonald polynomials is a bounded analogue of Kawanaka's conjecture (4.1.3).

THEOREM 4.6. For $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ and m a nonnegative integer,

(4.1.13)
$$\sum_{\lambda} b_{\lambda;m}^{-}(q,t) P_{\lambda}(x;q^{2},t^{2}) = (x_{1}\cdots x_{n})^{\frac{m}{2}} P_{(\frac{m}{2})^{n}}^{(B_{n},C_{n})}(x;q^{2},t^{2},-t).$$

For t = -q this simplifies to (1.1.2) and for q = 0 it is (4.1.17) below with $(t, t_2) \mapsto (t^2, -t)$, viz.

(4.1.14)
$$\sum_{\substack{\lambda\\\lambda_1 \leqslant m}} \prod_{i=1}^{m-1} \left((-t;t)_{m_i(\lambda)} \right) P_{\lambda}(x;t^2) = (x_1 \cdots x_n)^{\frac{m}{2}} P_{(\frac{m}{2})^n}^{(\mathbf{B}_n)}(x;t^2,-t).$$

Assuming m is positive and rewriting the right-hand side using Lemma 2.6 yields [51, Theorem 1] of Ishikawa et al.

4.1.2. *t***-Identities.** Our final two theorems do not appear to have simple analogues for Macdonald polynomials.

Recall the generalised Rogers–Szegő polynomials (2.3.4).

THEOREM 4.7. For
$$x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$$
 and m a nonnegative integer,

(4.1.15)
$$\sum_{\substack{\lambda\\\lambda_1 \leqslant 2m}} h_{\lambda}^{(2m)}(t_2, t_3; t) P_{\lambda}(x; t) = (x_1 \cdots x_n)^m P_{m^n}^{(\mathrm{BC}_n)}(x; t, t_2, t_3)$$

This bounds [139, Theorem 1.1]

(4.1.16)
$$\sum_{\lambda} h_{\lambda}(t_2, t_3; t) P_{\lambda}(x; t) = \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{(1 - t_2 x_i)(1 - t_3 x_i)}{1 - x_i^2} \prod_{1 \le i < j \le n} \frac{1 - t x_i x_j}{1 - x_i x_j},$$

where $h_{\lambda}(t_2, t_3; t)$ is the Rogers–Szegő polynomial (2.3.5). Moreover, if we replace $(t, t_2, t_3) \mapsto (0, -a, -b)$ and use (2.8.5) and $H_m(z; 0) = 1 + z + \cdots + z^m$, we obtain the following two-parameter generalisation of the Désarménien–Proctor–Stembridge determinant (4.1.6):

$$\sum_{\substack{\lambda\\\lambda_1 \leqslant 2m}} s_{\lambda}(x) \prod_{\substack{i=1\\i \text{ odd}}}^{2m-1} \frac{a^{m_i(\lambda)+1} - b^{m_i(\lambda)+1}}{a-b} \prod_{\substack{i=1\\i \text{ even}}}^{2m-1} \frac{1 - (ab)^{m_i(\lambda)+1}}{1 - ab}$$
$$= \frac{\det_{1\leqslant i,j\leqslant n} \left(x_i^{j-1}(1+ax_i)(1+bx_i) - x_i^{2m+2n-j-1}(x_i+a)(x_i+b) \right)}{\prod_{i=1}^n (1-x_i^2) \prod_{1\leqslant i< j\leqslant n} (x_i - x_j)(x_ix_j - 1)}.$$

Recall (2.3.6). The $t_3 = -1$ case of Theorem 4.7 extends as follows.

THEOREM 4.8. For $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ and m a nonnegative integer,

(4.1.17)
$$\sum_{\substack{\lambda \\ \lambda_1 \leqslant m}} h_{\lambda}^{(m)}(t_2;t) P_{\lambda}(x;t) = (x_1 \cdots x_n)^{\frac{m}{2}} P_{(\frac{m}{2})^n}^{(B_n)}(x;t,t_2).$$

This is stated without proof in [139]. For $(t, t_2) \mapsto (0, -a)$ it simplifies to a oneparameter generalisation of Macdonald's determinant (1.1.2) from the introduction:

$$\sum_{\substack{\lambda\\\lambda_1 \leqslant m}} s_{\lambda}(x) \prod_{i=1}^{m-1} \frac{1 - a^{m_i(\lambda)+1}}{1 - a} = \frac{\det_{1 \leqslant i, j \leqslant n} \left(x_i^{j-1} (1 + ax_i) - x_i^{m+2n-j-1} (x_i + a) \right)}{\prod_{i=1}^n (1 - x_i) \prod_{1 \leqslant i < j \leqslant n} (x_i - x_j) (x_i x_j - 1)}.$$

4.2. Proofs of Theorems 4.1–4.8

We begin by outlining the general strategy, which is to transform the problem of proving bounded Littlewood identities into that of evaluating virtual Koornwinder integrals.

Recall that if $g \in \Lambda_n$ and $\{f_\lambda\}$ is a basis of Λ_n , then $[f_\lambda]g$ is the coefficient of f_λ in the expansion of g. Working in full generality, we would like to find a closed-form expression for

(4.2.1)
$$f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(q,t;t_0,t_1,t_2,t_3) := [P_{\lambda}(x;q,t)](x_1\cdots x_n)^m K_{m^n}(x;q,t;t_0,t_1,t_2,t_3),$$

where *m* is a nonnegative integer. Since

$$(x_1 \cdots x_n)^m K_{m^n}(x; q, t; t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3) = \sum_{\lambda \subset (2m)^n} u_\lambda m_\lambda(x),$$

it follows that $f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(q,t;t_0,t_1,t_2,t_3)$ vanishes unless $\lambda \subset (2m)^n$.

PROPOSITION 4.9. For m a nonnegative integer and $\lambda \subset (2m)^n$,

(4.2.2)
$$f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(q,t;t_0,t_1,t_2,t_3) = (-1)^{|\lambda|} I_K^{(m)} \big(P_{\lambda'}(t,q);t,q;t_0,t_1,t_2,t_3 \big).$$

PROOF. Let $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ and $y = (y_1, \ldots, y_m)$. According to the Cauchy identity for Koornwinder polynomials (2.6.5)

(4.2.3)
$$\sum_{\lambda \subset m^n} (-1)^{|\lambda|} (x_1 \cdots x_n)^m K_{m^n - \lambda}(x; q, t; t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3) K_{\lambda'}(y; t, q; t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3) = \sigma_1 [-xy^{\pm}].$$

If we expand the right-hand side in terms of Macdonald polynomials using the Cauchy identity (2.5.5), this yields

$$\sum_{\lambda \subset m^n} (-1)^{|\lambda|} (x_1 \cdots x_n)^m K_{m^n - \lambda}(x; q, t; t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3) K_{\lambda'}(y; t, q; t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3)$$
$$= \sum_{\lambda \subset (2m)^n} (-1)^{|\lambda|} P_{\lambda}(x; q, t) P_{\lambda'}(y^{\pm}; t, q).$$

Equating coefficients of $P_{\lambda}(x;q,t)K_0(y;t,q;t_0,t_1,t_2,t_3)$, we find

$$[P_{\lambda}(x;q,t)](x_1\cdots x_n)^m K_{m^n}(x;q,t;t_0,t_1,t_2,t_3)$$

= $(-1)^{|\lambda|} [K_0(y;t,q;t_0,t_1,t_2,t_3)] P_{\lambda'}(y^{\pm};t,q),$

for $\lambda \subset (2m)^n$. Recalling (3.1.2) and (4.2.1) completes the proof.

Next we consider the problem of computing

(4.2.4)
$$f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(q,t;t_2,t_3) := \left[P_{\lambda}(x;q,t) \right] (x_1 \cdots x_n)^m K_{m^n}(x;q,t;t_2,t_3),$$

where m is a nonnegative integer or half-integer and $K_{\lambda}(x;q,t;t_2,t_3)$ is the Macdonald–Koornwinder polynomial of Section 2.7.2.

PROPOSITION 4.10. For m a nonnegative integer or half-integer, $\lambda \subset (2m)^n$ and generic q, t, t_2, t_3

(4.2.5)
$$f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(q,t;t_2,t_3) = (-1)^{|\lambda|} I_K (P_{\lambda'}(t,q);t,q,q^m;-1,-q^{1/2},t_2,t_3).$$

PROOF. When m is an integer we simply have

$$f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(q,t;t_2,t_3) = f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(q,t;-1,-q^{1/2},t_2,t_3).$$

By (4.2.2) this gives

$$f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(q,t;t_2,t_3) = (-1)^{|\lambda|} I_K^{(m)} \big(P_{\lambda'}(t,q);t,q;-1,-q^{1/2},t_2,t_3 \big),$$

which may also be written as (4.2.5).

To deal with the half-integer case we set k = m - 1/2 and replace m by k in (4.2.3), so that now $y = (y_1, \ldots, y_k)$. Multiplying both sides by $\prod_{i=1}^n (1 + x_i) = \sigma_1[-\varepsilon x]$, using that

$$\sigma_1[-\varepsilon x]\sigma_1[-xy^{\pm}] = \sigma_1[-\varepsilon x - xy^{\pm}] = \sigma_1[-x(y^{\pm} + \varepsilon)],$$

and finally expanding this by the Cauchy identity (2.5.5), we obtain

$$\prod_{i=1}^{n} (1+x_i) \times \sum_{\lambda \subset k^n} (-1)^{|\lambda|} (x_1 \cdots x_n)^k K_{k^n - \lambda}(x; q, t; t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3) K_{\lambda'}(y; t, q; t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3) = \sum_{\lambda \subset (2m)^n} (-1)^{|\lambda|} P_{\lambda}(x; q, t) P_{\lambda'}([y^{\pm} + \varepsilon]; t, q).$$

After specialising $\{t_0,t_1\}=\{-q,-q^{1/2}\}$ we can apply Lemma 2.3 to rewrite this as

$$\sum_{\lambda \subset k^n} (-1)^{|\lambda|} (x_1 \cdots x_n)^m K_{m^n - \lambda}(x; q, t; t_2, t_3) K_{\lambda'}(y; t, q; -q, -q^{1/2}, t_2, t_3)$$

=
$$\sum_{\lambda \subset (2m)^n} (-1)^{|\lambda|} P_{\lambda}(x; q, t) P_{\lambda'}([y^{\pm} + \varepsilon]; t, q).$$

Equating coefficients of $P_{\lambda}(x;q,t)K_0(y;t,q;-q,-q^{1/2},t_2,t_3)$ yields

(4.2.6)
$$f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(q,t;t_2,t_3) = (-1)^{|\lambda|} I_K^{(k)} \left(P_{\lambda'}([y+\varepsilon];t,q);t,q;-q,-q^{1/2},t_2,t_3) \right)$$

for $\lambda \subset (2m)^n$. For generic q, t, t_2, t_3 we can write the integral on the right as

$$I_K (P_{\lambda'}([y^{\pm} + \varepsilon]; t, q); t, q, q^k; -q, -q^{1/2}, t_2, t_3),$$

where now $y = (y_1, y_2, ...)$. By Lemma 3.4 this is also

$$I_K(P_{\lambda'}(t,q);t,q,q^m;-1,-q^{1/2},t_2,t_3).$$

We are now ready to prove Theorems 4.1–4.8.

PROOF OF THEOREM 4.1. We first prove the a = 0 case, given in (4.1.5). By definition (4.2.1) and equation (2.7.9), this is equivalent to proving that for $\lambda \subset (2m)^n$

$$f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(q,t;\pm q^{1/2},\pm (qt)^{1/2}) = \begin{cases} b_{\lambda;m}^{\mathrm{oa}}(q,t) & \lambda \text{ is even,} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

From (4.2.2) we have

$$f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(q,t;\pm q^{1/2},\pm (qt)^{1/2}) = (-1)^{|\lambda|} I_{K}^{(m)}(P_{\lambda'}(t,q);t,q;\pm q^{1/2},\pm (qt)^{1/2}).$$

Taking $(T, \mu) = (t^m, \lambda')$ in (3.2.1) and then interchanging q and t, it follows that the virtual Koornwinder integral on the right vanishes unless λ is even. Moreover, for even λ it evaluates in closed form to

$$\frac{(q^{2m};t,q^2)_{(\lambda/2)'}}{(q^{2m-1}t;t,q^2)_{(\lambda/2)'}} \cdot \frac{C^-_{(\lambda/2)'}(qt;t,q^2)}{C^-_{(\lambda/2)'}(q^2;t,q^2)}.$$

Using (2.2.6), we thus find

$$f_{\lambda}^{(m)}\left(q,t;\pm q^{1/2},\pm (qt)^{1/2}\right) = \left(\frac{q}{t}\right)^{|\lambda|/2} \frac{(q^{-2m};q^2,t)_{\lambda/2}}{(q^{1-2m}/t;q^2,t)_{\lambda/2}} \cdot \frac{C_{\lambda/2}^{-}(qt;q^2,t)}{C_{\lambda/2}^{-}(q^2;q^2,t)},$$

for λ even and zero otherwise. By (2.2.2) this can be also be written as

(....) .

$$(4.2.7) f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(q,t;\pm q^{1/2},\pm (qt)^{1/2}) = \prod_{s\in\lambda/2} \left(\frac{1-q^{2m-2a'(s)}t^{l'(s)}}{1-q^{2m-2a'(s)-1}t^{l'(s)+1}}\cdot\frac{1-q^{2a(s)+1}t^{l(s)+1}}{1-q^{2a(s)+2}t^{l(s)}}\right) = \prod_{\substack{s\in\lambda\\a(s) \text{ odd}}} \left(\frac{1-q^{2m-a'(s)}t^{l'(s)}}{1-q^{2m-a'(s)-1}t^{l'(s)+1}}\cdot\frac{1-q^{a(s)}t^{l(s)+1}}{1-q^{a(s)+1}t^{l(s)}}\right).$$

Since λ is even, odd arms-lengths correspond to even arm-colengths. The product on the right is thus $b_{\lambda:m}^{oa}(q,t)$ in the representation given by (4.1.4), completing the proof of (4.1.5).

To obtain the full theorem we multiply both sides of (4.1.5) by $\prod_{i=1}^{n} (1 + ax_i)$. By the e-Pieri rule (2.5.8) we must then show that

(4.2.8)
$$b_{\lambda;m}^{\text{oa}}(q,t) = \sum_{\mu \text{ even}} a^{|\lambda/\mu|} \psi_{\lambda/\mu}'(q,t) \, b_{\mu;m}^{\text{oa}}(q,t).$$

Because μ is even and $\psi'_{\lambda/\mu}(q,t)$ vanishes unless λ/μ is a vertical strip, μ is fixed as

(4.2.9)
$$\mu = 2\lfloor \lambda/2 \rfloor := (2\lfloor \lambda_1/2 \rfloor, 2\lfloor \lambda_2/2 \rfloor, \ldots),$$

which implies that $|\lambda/\mu| = \text{odd}(\lambda)$. We thus obtain

$$b_{\lambda;m}^{\mathrm{oa}}(q,t) = \psi_{\lambda/\mu}'(q,t) \, b_{\mu;m}^{\mathrm{oa}}(q,t)$$

with μ fixed as above. The *m*-dependent parts on both sides trivially agree since

$$\prod_{\substack{s\in\lambda\\a'(s)\;\mathrm{odd}}}f_{a'(s),l'(s)}=\prod_{\substack{s\in\mu\\a'(s)\;\mathrm{odd}}}f_{a'(s),l'(s)}.$$

It thus remains to show that

$$b_{\lambda}^{\mathrm{oa}}(q,t) = \psi_{\lambda/\mu}'(q,t) \, b_{\mu}^{\mathrm{oa}}(q,t).$$

Replacing (λ, μ, q, t) by (λ', μ', t, q) , using

$$b_{\nu'}^{\mathrm{oa}}(t,q) = \frac{b_{\nu}^{\mathrm{el}}(q,t)}{b_{\nu}(q,t)}$$

on both sides, and finally appealing to [91, page 341]

$$\psi_{\lambda'/\mu'}'(t,q) = \varphi_{\lambda/\mu}(q,t) \, \frac{b_{\mu}(q,t)}{b_{\lambda}(q,t)},$$

we are left with

$$b_{\lambda}^{\mathrm{el}}(q,t) = \varphi_{\lambda/\mu}(q,t) b_{\mu}^{\mathrm{el}}(q,t)$$

for $\mu' = 2|\lambda'/2|$. Since this is [91, p. 351], we are done.

Because they are simpler to prove than Theorems 4.2 and 4.3, we consider Theorems 4.4 and 4.6 first.

$$\square$$

PROOF OF THEOREM 4.4. It will be convenient to prove the claim with m replaced by 2m. After this change m is a nonnegative integer or half-integer. It then follows from (4.2.4) and (2.7.12a) that we must prove for $\lambda \subset (2m)^n$ that

$$f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(q,t;t,q^{1/2}) = b_{\lambda;2m}^{\mathrm{el}}(q,t).$$

By Proposition 4.10,

$$f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(q,t;t,q^{1/2}) = (-1)^{|\lambda|} I_K (P_{\lambda'}(t,q);t,q,q^m;-1,t,\pm q^{1/2})$$

The integral on the right can be computed by Theorem 3.10 with $(q, t, T, \mu) \mapsto (t, q, q^m, \lambda')$, resulting in

$$f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(q,t;t,q^{1/2}) = \frac{(q^{2m};t^2,q)_{\lceil \lambda'/2\rceil}}{(q^{2m-1}t;t^2,q)_{\lceil \lambda'/2\rceil}} \cdot \frac{1}{b_{\lambda'}^{\text{ea}}(t,q)}$$

Let $\nu := \lceil \lambda'/2 \rceil' = (\lambda_1, \lambda_3, \dots)$. By (2.2.6a) we can write the first factor on the right as

$$\left(\frac{q}{t}\right)^{|\nu|} \frac{(q^{-2m};q,t^2)_{\nu}}{(q^{1-2m}/t;q,t^2)_{\nu}}$$

By (2.2.2) this is also

$$\prod_{s\in\nu} \frac{1-q^{2m-a'(s)}t^{2l'(s)}}{1-q^{2m-a'(s)-1}t^{2l'(s)+1}} = \prod_{\substack{s\in\lambda\\l'(s) \text{ even}}} \frac{1-q^{2m-a'(s)}t^{l'(s)}}{1-q^{2m-a'(s)-1}t^{l'(s)+1}}.$$

Since under conjugation legs become arms and arms become legs, we further have

$$b_{\lambda'}^{\mathrm{ea}}(t,q)b_{\lambda}^{\mathrm{el}}(q,t) = 1$$

Hence

$$f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(q,t;t,q^{1/2}) = b_{\lambda}^{\mathrm{el}}(q,t) \prod_{\substack{s \in \lambda \\ l'(s) \text{ even}}} \frac{1 - q^{2m-a'(s)} t^{l'(s)}}{1 - q^{2m-a'(s)-1} t^{l'(s)+1}} = b_{\lambda;2m}^{\mathrm{el}}(q,t)$$

as claimed.

PROOF OF THEOREM 4.6. We closely follow the previous proof and again replace m by 2m. This time it follows from (4.2.4) and (2.7.12b) that we must prove

(4.2.10)
$$f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(q^2, t^2; -t, -qt) = b_{\lambda;2m}^{-}(q, t)$$

for $\lambda \subset (2m)^n$. By Proposition 4.10,

$$f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(q^2, t^2; -t, -qt) = (-1)^{|\lambda|} I_K(P_{\lambda'}(t^2, q^2); t^2, q^2, q^{2m}; -1, -q, -t, -qt).$$

The integral on the right evaluates to

$$(-1)^{|\lambda|} \frac{(q^{2m}; t, q)_{\lambda'}}{(-q^{2m-1}t; t, q)_{\lambda'}} \cdot \frac{C^-_{\lambda'}(-t; t, q)}{C^-_{\lambda'}(q; t, q)}.$$

by (3.2.2) with $(q, t, T, \mu) \mapsto (t^2, q^2, t^{2m}, \lambda')$. Also using (2.2.6), we find

$$f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(q^2, t^2; -t, -qt) = \left(-\frac{q}{t}\right)^{|\lambda|} \frac{(q^{-2m}; q, t)_{\lambda}}{(-q^{1-2m}/t; q, t)_{\lambda}} \cdot \frac{C_{\lambda}^-(-t; q, t)}{C_{\lambda}^-(q; q, t)}.$$

Equation (4.2.10) now follows by (2.2.2).

PROOF OF THEOREM 4.2. Again we prove the theorem with m replaced by 2m. It then follows from (4.2.4) and (2.7.12a) that we must prove for $\lambda \subset (2m)^n$ that $f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(q,t;1,q^{1/2})$ vanishes unless $m_i(\lambda)$ is even for all $1 \leq i \leq 2m-1$, in which case

(4.2.11)
$$f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(q,t;1,q^{1/2}) = b_{\lambda;2m}^{\text{ol}}(q,t).$$

The problem with using Proposition 4.10 as in the proof of Theorem 4.6 is that the specialisation $\{t_2, t_3\} = \{1, q^{1/2}\}$ corresponds to one of the non-generic cases discussed on page 30. It would lead to

(4.2.12)
$$f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(q,t;1,q^{1/2}) = (-1)^{|\lambda|} I_K(P_{\lambda'}(t,q);t,q,q^m;\pm 1,\pm q^{1/2}),$$

where the integral on the right is not well-defined. It is still possible to use (4.2.12) by interpreting the right in an appropriate limiting sense, but instead we proceed slightly differently.

First, when m is an integer (4.2.5) simply says that

$$f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(q,t;t_2,t_3) = (-1)^{|\lambda|} I_K^{(m)} \big(P_{\lambda'}(t,q);t,q;-1,-q^{1/2},t_2,t_3 \big).$$

In this equation there is no problem specialising $\{t_2, t_3\} = \{1, q^{1/2}\}$ so that

$$f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(q,t;1,q^{1/2}) = (-1)^{|\lambda|} I_K^{(m)} (P_{\lambda'}(t,q);t,q;\pm 1,\pm q^{1/2}).$$

The right-hand side can be computed by Theorem 3.8 with $(\mu,q,t,n)\mapsto (\lambda',t,q,m)$ so that

(4.2.13)
$$f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(q,t;1,q^{1/2}) = \begin{cases} A_{\lambda'/2}^{(2m)}(t,q) & \text{if } \tilde{\lambda'} \text{ is even,} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

where we have also used that $|\lambda|$ is even if $\tilde{\lambda'} = (\lambda'_1 - \lambda'_{2m}, \dots, \lambda'_{2m-1} - \lambda'_{2m}, 0)$ is even.

When m = k + 1/2 is a half-integer, we use (4.2.6) written as (4.2.14)

$$f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(q,t;t_2,t_3) = (-1)^{|\lambda|} I_K^{(k)} \left(P_{\lambda'}(x_1,\ldots,x_k,-1;t,q);t,q;-q,-q^{1/2},t_2,t_3 \right)$$

instead of (4.2.5). Specialising $\{t_2, t_3\} = \{1, q^{1/2}\}$ this gives

$$f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(q,t;1,q^{1/2}) = (-1)^{|\lambda|} I_{K}^{(k)} \big(P_{\lambda'}(x_{1},\ldots,x_{k},-1;t,q);t,q;1,-q,\pm q^{1/2} \big).$$

Now the right can be computed by Theorem 3.9 with $(\nu, q, t, n) \mapsto (\lambda', t, q, k)$. Since 2k + 1 = 2m and $|\lambda| + \lambda_{2m}$ is even if $\tilde{\lambda'}$ is even, this once again results in (4.2.13).

To complete the proof we first note that

$$A_{\lambda'/2}^{(2m)}(t,q) = A_{|\lambda'/2|}^{(2m)}(t,q).$$

Indeed, either λ' is even, in which case $\lfloor \lambda'/2 \rfloor = \lambda'/2$ or λ' is odd and $\lambda_1 = 2m$, in which case $\lfloor \lambda'/2 \rfloor = \lambda'/2 - (1/2)^{2m}$. Since $A_{\lambda'/2}^{(2m)}(t,q)$ only depends on the relative differences between the parts of $\lambda'/2$ the change is justified. Denoting $\lfloor \lambda'/2 \rfloor$ by ν' we find that in the non-vanishing case, that is, when $m_i(\lambda)$ is even for all $1 \leq i \leq 2m - 1$,

$$\begin{split} f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(q,t;1,q^{1/2}) &= A_{\nu'}^{(2m)}(t,q) \\ &= \frac{(q^{2m};t^2,q)_{\nu'}}{(q^{2m-1}t;t^2,q)_{\nu'}} \cdot \frac{C_{\nu'}^-(t;t^2,q)}{C_{\nu'}^-(q;t^2,q)} \\ &= \left(\frac{q}{t}\right)^{|\nu|} \frac{(q^{-2m};q,t^2)_{\nu}}{(q^{1-2m}/t;q,t^2)_{\nu}} \cdot \frac{C_{\nu}^-(t;q,t^2)}{C_{\nu}^-(q;q,t^2)}, \end{split}$$

where the second equality follows from (3.2.5) and the last equality from (2.2.6). Since $\nu' = \lfloor \lambda'/2 \rfloor$ we also have $\nu = \lfloor \lambda'/2 \rfloor'$, which can be simplified to $\nu = (\lambda_2, \lambda_4, \lambda_6, \ldots)$. Recalling (2.2.2), we obtain

$$f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(q,t;1,q^{1/2}) = \prod_{s \in \nu} \left(\frac{1 - q^{2m - a'(s)} t^{2l'(s)}}{1 - q^{2m - a'(s) - 1} t^{2l'(s) + 1}} \cdot \frac{1 - q^{a(s)} t^{2l(s) + 1}}{1 - q^{a(s) + 1} t^{2l(s)}} \right).$$

To write this without reference to the partition ν we consider both factors in the product separately. The first factor is trivial:

(4.2.15)
$$\prod_{s \in \nu} \frac{1 - q^{2m - a'(s)} t^{2l'(s)}}{1 - q^{2m - a'(s) - 1} t^{2l'(s) + 1}} = \prod_{\substack{s \in \lambda \\ l'(s) \text{ odd}}} \frac{1 - q^{2m - a'(s)} t^{l'(s) - 1}}{1 - q^{2m - a'(s) - 1} t^{l'(s)}}.$$

For the second factor we use that for λ' even we must have $\lambda_{2i} = \lambda_{2i-1}$ for all *i*. We can therefore redefine ν as

$$\nu := \begin{cases} (\lambda_1, \lambda_3, \dots) & \text{if } \lambda' \text{ is even} \\ (\lambda_2, \lambda_4, \dots) & \text{if } \lambda' \text{ is odd.} \end{cases}$$

For such ν ,

(4.2.16)
$$\prod_{s \in \nu} \frac{1 - q^{a(s)} t^{2l(s)+1}}{1 - q^{a(s)+1} t^{2l(s)}} = \prod_{s \in \lambda} \frac{1 - q^{a(s)} t^{l(s)}}{1 - q^{a(s)+1} t^{l(s)}}$$

in both cases. Combining (4.2.15) and (4.2.16) we obtain (4.2.11).

PROOF OF THEOREM 4.3. When m is odd the result is completely elementary. By (2.7.7b) and (2.7.8) we can write the right-hand side of (4.1.8) as

$$(x_1\cdots x_n)^{\frac{m}{2}} P_{(\frac{m}{2})^n}^{(\mathbf{D}_n,\mathbf{D}_n)}(x;q,t) + (x_1\cdots x_n)^{\frac{m}{2}} P_{(\frac{m}{2})^n}^{(\mathbf{D}_n,\mathbf{D}_n)}(\bar{x};q,t).$$

When m is odd the first term is a polynomial of even degree whereas the second term is a polynomial of odd degree. Since partitions λ of Type 1 have even size and partitions of Type 2 have size congruent to m modulo 2, it follows that for odd m we may dissect (4.1.8) as in Corollary 4.3.

To prove the theorem for even m we closely follow the proof of Proposition 4.10. In (4.2.3) we replace m by m - 1 =: k (we do not at this point assume that m is even) and multiply both sides by $\prod_{i=1}^{n} (1 - x_i^2) = \sigma_1 [-x(1 + \varepsilon)]$. Then expanding

the right-hand side in terms of Macdonald polynomials using (2.5.5) gives

$$\begin{split} \prod_{i=1}^{n} (1-x_i^2) \\ \times \sum_{\lambda \subset k^n} (-1)^{|\lambda|} (x_1 \cdots x_n)^k K_{k^n - \lambda}(x; q, t; t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3) K_{\lambda'}(y; t, q; t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3) \\ = \sum_{\lambda \subset (2m)^n} (-1)^{|\lambda|} P_{\lambda}(x; q, t) P_{\lambda'}([y^{\pm} + 1 + \varepsilon]; t, q) \end{split}$$

where $y = (y_1, \ldots, y_k)$. If we specialise $\{t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3\} = \{\pm q, \pm q^{1/2}\}$ and apply Lemma 2.3 followed by (2.7.12b), this leads to

$$\prod_{i=1}^{n} \left(x_i^{-1/2} - x_i^{1/2} \right) \\ \times \sum_{\lambda \subset k^n} (-1)^{|\lambda|} (x_1 \cdots x_n)^m P_{(m-\frac{1}{2})^n - \lambda}^{(B_n, C_n)}(x; q, t, q^{1/2}) K_{\lambda'}(y; t, q; \pm q, \pm q^{1/2}) \\ = \sum_{\lambda \subset (2m)^n} (-1)^{|\lambda|} P_{\lambda}(x; q, t) P_{\lambda'}([y^{\pm} + 1 + \varepsilon]; t, q).$$

Equating coefficients of $P_{\lambda}(x;q,t)K_0(y;t,q;\pm q,\pm q^{1/2})$ and then replacing y by x on the right yields

$$(4.2.17) \quad \left[P_{\lambda}(x;q,t) \right] (x_1 \cdots x_n)^m P_{(m-\frac{1}{2})^n}^{(\mathbf{B}_n,\mathbf{C}_n)}(x;q,t,q^{1/2}) \prod_{i=1}^n \left(x_i^{-1/2} - x_i^{1/2} \right) \\ = (-1)^{|\lambda|} I_K^{(m-1)} \left(P_{\lambda'}(x_1^{\pm},\dots,x_{m-1}^{\pm},\pm 1;t,q);t,q;\pm q,\pm q^{1/2} \right).$$

By the integer-m case of Proposition 4.10,

$$[P_{\lambda}(x;q,t)](x_1\cdots x_n)^m K_{m^n}(x;q,t;t_2,t_3) = (-1)^{|\lambda|} I_K^{(m)} (P_{\lambda'}(t,q);t,q;-1,-q^{1/2},t_2,t_3).$$

For $\{t_2, t_3\} = \{1, q^{1/2}\}$ this can also be written as

(4.2.18)
$$[P_{\lambda}(x;q,t)](x_1 \cdots x_n)^m P_{m^n}^{(\mathbf{B}_n,\mathbf{B}_n)}(x;q,t,1)$$
$$= (-1)^{|\lambda|} I_K^{(m)} (P_{\lambda'}(t,q);t,q;\pm 1,\pm q^{1/2})$$

thanks to (2.7.12a). Taking half the sum of (4.2.17) and (4.2.18) and recalling (2.7.7), it follows that

$$(4.2.19) \quad \left[P_{\lambda}(x;q,t) \right] (x_1 \cdots x_n)^m P_{m^n}^{(D_n,D_n)}(x;q,t) \\ = \frac{1}{2} (-1)^{|\lambda|} I_K^{(m)} \left(P_{\lambda'}(x_1^{\pm},\dots,x_m^{\pm};t,q);t,q;\pm 1,\pm q^{1/2} \right) \\ + \frac{1}{2} (-1)^{|\lambda|} I_K^{(m-1)} \left(P_{\lambda'}(x_1^{\pm},\dots,x_{m-1}^{\pm},\pm 1;t,q);t,q;\pm q,\pm q^{1/2} \right).$$

Both virtual Koornwinder integrals on the right can be computed by Theorem 3.8. Since $(\widetilde{V}, \operatorname{supp})(1 + 1 - 1)\delta_{\operatorname{cm}}^{2} = c(V, \operatorname{supp})$

$$\chi(\lambda' \text{ even})\left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2}(-1)^{\lambda_{2m}}\right) = \chi(\lambda' \text{ even})$$

for $\widetilde{\lambda'} = (\lambda'_1 - \lambda'_{2m}, \dots, \lambda'_{2m-1} - \lambda'_{2m}, 0)$, we find
 $[P_{\lambda}(x;q,t)](x_1 \cdots x_n)^m P_{m^n}^{(D_n,D_n)}(x;q,t) = \chi(\lambda' \text{ even})A_{\lambda'/2}(t,q).$

In the proof of Theorem 4.2 we have already shown that

$$A_{\lambda'/2}(t,q) = b_{\lambda;2m}^{\text{ol}}(q,t)$$

for λ' even (or λ' odd and $\lambda_1 = 2m$). Hence

$$\left[P_{\lambda}(x;q,t)\right](x_1\cdots x_n)^m P_{m^n}^{(\mathbf{D}_n,\mathbf{D}_n)}(x;q,t) = \chi(\lambda' \text{ even})b_{\lambda;2m}^{\mathrm{ol}}(q,t).$$

Replacing m by m/2, this proves (4.1.9a) for even m.

For completeness we remark that the analogue of (4.2.19) for half-integer m is easily shown to be

$$\begin{split} \big[P_{\lambda}(x;q,t) \big] (x_1 \cdots x_n)^m P_{m^n}^{(\mathbb{D}_n,\mathbb{D}_n)}(x;q,t) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} (-1)^{|\lambda|} I_K^{(k)} \big(P_{\lambda'}(x_1^{\pm},\dots,x_k^{\pm},-1;t,q);t,q;1,-q,\pm q^{1/2} \big) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} (-1)^{|\lambda|} I_K^{(k)} \big(P_{\lambda'}(x_1^{\pm},\dots,x_k^{\pm},1;t,q);t,q;-1,q,\pm q^{1/2} \big), \end{split}$$

where k = m - 1/2. By Theorem 3.9 this again implies that

$$\left[P_{\lambda}(x;q,t)\right](x_1\cdots x_n)^m P_{m^n}^{(D_n,D_n)}(x;q,t) = \chi(\lambda' \operatorname{even})b_{\lambda;2m}^{\mathrm{ol}}(q,t)$$

Of course, as noted above, this result follows more simply by a degree argument. \Box

PROOF OF THEOREM 4.7. By (2.8.4) and (4.2.1) we must prove that

(4.2.20)
$$f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(0,t;0,0,t_2,t_3) = h_{\lambda}^{(2m)}(t_2,t_3;t)$$

for $\lambda \subset (2m)^n$. By (4.2.2),

(4.2.21)
$$f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(0,t;0,0,t_2,t_3) = (-1)^{|\lambda|} I_K^{(m)} (P_{\lambda'}(t,0);t,0;0,0,t_2,t_3).$$

The integral on the right can be evaluated thanks to Theorem 3.11 with (n, q, μ) replaced by (m, t, λ') . Hence

$$f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(0,t;0,0,t_2,t_3) = (-1)^{|\lambda|} h_{\lambda}(-t_2,-t_3;t) = h_{\lambda}^{(2m)}(t_2,t_3;t),$$

where the second equality follows from definition (2.3.4) and

$$(-1)^{|\lambda|} = \prod_{\substack{i \ge 1\\ i \text{ odd}}} (-1)^{m_i(\lambda)}.$$

A proof of (4.1.16) (the large-*m* limit of Theorem 4.7) using virtual Koornwinder integrals is due to Venkateswaran [**133**]. Her approach, however, is not a limiting version of ours. Crucial difference is that Venkateswaran stays within the *t*-world, whereas we have applied the virtual Koornwinder integral (3.3.1) over $P_{\lambda}(0, q)$.

PROOF OF THEOREM 4.8. As in earlier proofs we replace m by 2m. From (2.8.11) and (4.2.4) it follows that we must prove

(4.2.22)
$$f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(0,t;t_2,0) = h_{\lambda}^{(2m)}(t_2;t)$$

for $\lambda \subset (2m)^n$ and m a nonnegative integer or half-integer. For m an integer, (4.2.22) is the $t_3 = -1$ case of (4.2.20), and in the remainder we assume m is a half-integer.

We will not apply Proposition 4.10 as it is not suitable for taking the $q \rightarrow 0$ limit. Instead we take that limit in (4.2.14). Then

$$f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(0,t;t_2,t_3) = (-1)^{|\lambda|} I_K^{(k)} \left(P_{\lambda'}(x_1^{\pm},\ldots,x_k^{\pm},-1;t,0);t,0;0,0,t_2,t_3) \right),$$

where k = m - 1/2. By the branching rule (2.5.13) and relation (2.5.14) this becomes

$$f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(0,t;t_2,t_3) = \sum_{\mu \subset \lambda} (-1)^{|\mu|} \psi_{\lambda/\mu}'(0,t) I_K^{(k)} \left(P_{\mu'}(t,0);t,0;0,0,t_2,t_3 \right) + \sum_{\mu \subset \lambda} (-1)^{|\mu|} \psi_{\lambda/\mu}'(0,t) I_K^{(k)} \left(P_{\mu'}(t,0);t,0;0,0,t_2,t_3 \right) + \sum_{\mu \subset \lambda} (-1)^{|\mu|} \psi_{\lambda/\mu}'(0,t) I_K^{(k)} \left(P_{\mu'}(t,0);t,0;0,0,t_2,t_3 \right) + \sum_{\mu \subset \lambda} (-1)^{|\mu|} \psi_{\lambda/\mu}'(0,t) I_K^{(k)} \left(P_{\mu'}(t,0);t,0;0,0,t_2,t_3 \right) + \sum_{\mu \subset \lambda} (-1)^{|\mu|} \psi_{\lambda/\mu}'(0,t) I_K^{(k)} \left(P_{\mu'}(t,0);t,0;0,0,t_2,t_3 \right) + \sum_{\mu \subset \lambda} (-1)^{|\mu|} \psi_{\lambda/\mu}'(0,t) I_K^{(k)} \left(P_{\mu'}(t,0);t,0;0,0,t_2,t_3 \right) + \sum_{\mu \subset \lambda} (-1)^{|\mu|} \psi_{\lambda/\mu}'(0,t) I_K^{(k)} \left(P_{\mu'}(t,0);t,0;0,0,t_2,t_3 \right) + \sum_{\mu \subset \lambda} (-1)^{|\mu|} \psi_{\lambda/\mu}'(0,t) I_K^{(k)} \left(P_{\mu'}(t,0);t,0;0,0,t_2,t_3 \right) + \sum_{\mu \subset \lambda} (-1)^{|\mu|} \psi_{\lambda/\mu}'(0,t) I_K^{(k)} \left(P_{\mu'}(t,0);t,0;0,0,t_2,t_3 \right) + \sum_{\mu \subset \lambda} (-1)^{|\mu|} \psi_{\lambda/\mu}'(0,t) I_K^{(k)} \left(P_{\mu'}(t,0);t,0;0,0,t_2,t_3 \right) + \sum_{\mu \subset \lambda} (-1)^{|\mu|} \psi_{\lambda/\mu}'(0,t) I_K^{(k)} \left(P_{\mu'}(t,0);t,0;0,0,t_2,t_3 \right) + \sum_{\mu \subset \lambda} (-1)^{|\mu|} \psi_{\lambda/\mu}'(0,t) I_K^{(k)} \left(P_{\mu'}(t,0);t,0;0,0,t_2,t_3 \right) + \sum_{\mu \subset \lambda} (-1)^{|\mu|} \psi_{\lambda/\mu}'(0,t) I_K^{(k)} \left(P_{\mu'}(t,0);t,0;0,0,t_2,t_3 \right) + \sum_{\mu \subset \lambda} (-1)^{|\mu|} \psi_{\lambda/\mu}'(0,t) I_K^{(k)} \left(P_{\mu'}(t,0);t,0;0,0,t_2,t_3 \right) + \sum_{\mu \subset \lambda} (-1)^{|\mu|} \psi_{\lambda/\mu}'(0,t) I_K^{(k)} \left(P_{\mu'}(t,0);t,0;0,0,t_2,t_3 \right) + \sum_{\mu \subset \lambda} (-1)^{|\mu|} \psi_{\lambda/\mu}'(0,t) I_K^{(k)} \left(P_{\mu'}(t,0);t,0;0,0,t_2,t_3 \right) + \sum_{\mu \subset \lambda} (-1)^{|\mu|} \psi_{\lambda/\mu}'(t,0) + \sum_{\mu \subset \lambda} (-1)^{|\mu$$

The virtual Koornwinder integral on the right can be computed by Theorem 3.11 with (n, q, μ) replaced by (k, t, μ') . Hence

$$f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(0,t;t_2,t_3) = \sum_{\substack{\mu \subset \lambda \\ \mu_1 \leqslant 2k}} (-1)^{|\mu|} \psi_{\lambda/\mu}'(0,t) \, h_{\mu}^{(2k)}(-t_2,-t_3;t).$$

We do not know how to evaluate this in closed form for arbitrary t_3 , but for $t_3 = 0$ it follows from (2.3.4) that

$$h_{\mu}^{(2k)}(-t_2,0;t) = t_2^{\text{odd}(\mu)}$$

Also using that $(-1)^{|\mu|} = (-1)^{\operatorname{odd}(\mu)}$, we find

$$f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(0,t;t_2,0) = \sum_{\substack{\mu \subset \lambda \\ \mu_1 \leqslant 2m-1}} (-t_2)^{\mathrm{odd}(\mu)} \psi_{\lambda/\mu}'(0,t).$$

Since $\psi'_{\lambda/\mu}(0,t)$ is the *e*-Pieri coefficient for ordinary Hall–Littlewood polynomials, we have [**91**, page 215]

$$\psi_{\lambda/\mu}'(0,t) = \prod_{i \ge 1} \begin{bmatrix} \lambda_i' - \lambda_{i+1}' \\ \lambda_i' - \mu_i' \end{bmatrix}_t.$$

Therefore

$$f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(0,t;t_2,0) = \sum_{\substack{\mu \subset \lambda \\ \mu_1 \leqslant 2m-1}} (-t_2)^{\mathrm{odd}(\mu)} \prod_{i=1}^{2m-1} \begin{bmatrix} \lambda'_i - \lambda'_{i+1} \\ \lambda'_i - \mu'_i \end{bmatrix}_t.$$

Writing $\mu'_i = \lambda'_i - k_i$ and using (3.3.6) with $(\mu, \nu, n) \mapsto (\mu', \lambda', m)$, we finally obtain

$$\begin{split} f_{\lambda}^{(m)}(0,t;t_{2},0) &= (-t_{2})^{\mathrm{odd}(\lambda)} \prod_{i=1}^{2m-1} \sum_{k_{i}=0}^{m_{i}(\lambda)} (-t_{2})^{(-1)^{i}k_{i}} \begin{bmatrix} m_{i}(\lambda) \\ k_{i} \end{bmatrix}_{t} \\ &= (-t_{2})^{\mathrm{odd}(\lambda)} \prod_{\substack{i=1\\i \text{ odd}}}^{2m-1} H_{m_{i}(\lambda)}(-1/t_{2};t) \prod_{\substack{i=1\\i \text{ even}}}^{2m-1} H_{m_{i}(\lambda)}(-t_{2};t) \\ &= h_{\lambda}^{(2m)}(t_{2},-1;t) = h_{\lambda}^{(2m)}(t_{2};t). \end{split}$$

CHAPTER 5

Applications

5.1. Plane partitions

In this section we will show that our approach to bounded Littlewood identities provides an intimate connection between symmetric plane partitions and the theory of Gelfand pairs.

A plane partition π of shape λ is a filling of the Young diagram of λ with positive integers, called the parts of π , such that the resulting tableau is weakly decreasing along rows and columns, see e.g., [16,68,124,125] and references therein. The size of the plane partition π , denoted $|\pi|$, is the sum of the parts, that is

$$|\pi| = \sum_{(i,j)\in\lambda} \pi_{ij},$$

where the part π_{ij} is the filling of the square $(i, j) \in \lambda$. For example,

(5.1.1a)

is a plane partition of shape (5, 3, 2, 1, 1) and size 26.

A part of size r may be thought of as the stacking of r unit cubes, providing a geometric interpretation of plane partitions. Thus, the plane partition (5.1.1a) corresponds to

(5.1.1b)



A plane partition π of shape λ is symmetric if $\lambda = \lambda'$ and $\pi_{ij} = \pi_{ji}$ for all $(i, j) \in \lambda$. Clearly, the plane partition (5.1.1) is symmetric.

We write $\pi \subset B(n, p, m)$ if the plane partition π fits in a box B(n, p, m) of size $n \times p \times m$, i.e., if the shape of π is contained in p^n and no part of π exceeds m. For symmetric plane partitions we may without loss of generality assume that p = n.

MacMahon's famous conjecture [95, 96] for the generating function of symmetric plane partitions in B(n, n, m) is given by equation (1.1.5) of the introduction. The conjecture was proven, independently and almost simultaneously, by Andrews [3,4] and Macdonald [90], almost 80 years after it was first posed in 1898. Andrew's proof relied on earlier work of Bender and Knuth [10], who obtained two

expressions for the generating function (1.1.3) as a determinant over q-binomial coefficients, one for even m and one for odd m. Using basic hypergeometric series and clever manipulations of determinants, Andrews evaluated both determinants, thereby confirming the conjecture. As already mentioned in the introduction, Macdonald's proof [90] (see also [106] by Proctor for similar ideas) relied first of all on the fact that the generating function for symmetric plane partitions can be expressed as a sum over specialised Schur functions as in (1.1.4). This was first noted by Gordon [45], who observed the equivalent fact that the generating function for symmetric plane partitions contained in B(n, n, m) is equal to the generating function for column-strict plane partitions contained in $B(\infty, m, 2n - 1)$, all of whose parts are odd. By the description (2.8.17) of the Schur function in terms of semistandard Young tableaux, this immediately implies (1.1.4). As shown by Okounkov and Reshetikhin, Gordon's observation is a simple consequence of the bijective correspondence between symmetric plane partitions of size k contained in B(n, n, m) and sequences of interlacing partitions

$$\mu^{(n-1)} \prec \cdots \prec \mu^{(1)} \prec \mu^{(0)} =: \lambda$$

such that $\lambda_1 \leq m$ and $|\lambda| + 2|\mu^{(1)}| + \cdots + 2|\mu^{(n-1)}| = k$. Here the 'ith diagonal slice', $\mu^{(i)}$, is simply given by $\mu^{(i)} = (\pi_{1,i+1}, \pi_{2,i+2}, \pi_{3,i+3}, \dots)$. Stacking the slices with λ as base, and all other slices repeated once, results in a column-strict plane partition of shape λ all of whose parts are odd and at most 2n - 1, see [103] for details. The next step in Macdonald's proof was to recognise that

$$\sum_{\substack{\lambda\\\lambda_1 \leqslant m}} s_\lambda(q, q^3, \dots, q^{2n-1}) = \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{1 - q^{m+2i-1}}{1 - q^{2i-1}} \prod_{1 \leqslant i < j \leqslant n} \frac{1 - q^{2(m+i+j-1)}}{1 - q^{2(i+j-1)}}$$

is a specialisation of the bounded Littlewood identity (1.1.2). To prove the latter, he developed a method based on partial fraction expansions [91, pages 232–234], which he used to prove the more general¹

(5.1.2)
$$\sum_{\substack{\lambda\\\lambda_1\leqslant m}} P_{\lambda}(x;t) = \sum_{\varepsilon\in\{\pm 1\}^n} \Phi(x^{\varepsilon};t,0,-1) \prod_{i=1}^n x_i^{(1-\varepsilon_i)m/2}.$$

What we will show in the remainder of this section is that the method developed in Section 4.2 implies that (1.1.2) and hence MacMahon's formula for symmetric plane partitions in a box is a consequence of the fact that $(GL(n, \mathbb{R}), O(n))$ is a Gelfand pair. Because it is somewhat simpler to handle, we will first discuss a closely related theorem for symmetric plane partitions, due to Proctor [107, Theorem 1, (CYH)] and Stembridge [127, Corollary 4.3, (b)].

THEOREM 5.1. The generating function for symmetric plane partitions $\pi \subset B(n, n, 2m)$ such that the parts π_{ii} $(i \ge 1)$ along the main diagonal are even is given by

(5.1.3)
$$\sum_{\substack{\pi \subset B(n,n,2m)\\ \pi \text{ symmetric}\\ \pi_{ii} \text{ even}}} q^{|\pi|} = \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1 - q^{2m+2i}}{1 - q^{2i}} \prod_{1 \leqslant i < j \leqslant n} \frac{1 - q^{2(2m+i+j)}}{1 - q^{2(i+j)}}.$$

¹By Lemma 2.6, this is equivalent to the $t_2 = 0$ case of Theorem 4.8.

The correspondence between symmetric plane partitions and interlacing partitions still holds, but now the parts of the zeroth slice, λ , must be even. Also, because *m* has been replaced by 2m, $\lambda_1 \leq 2m$. It thus follows that the generating function on the left-hand side of (5.1.3) is given by

$$\sum_{\substack{\lambda \text{ even}\\\lambda_1 \leqslant 2m}} s_\lambda(q, q^3, \dots, q^{2n-1}),$$

so that it remains to prove that

$$\sum_{\substack{\lambda \text{ even} \\ \lambda_1 \leqslant 2m}} s_\lambda(q, q^3, \dots, q^{2n-1}) = \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{1 - q^{2m+2i}}{1 - q^{2i}} \prod_{1 \leqslant i < j \leqslant n} \frac{1 - q^{2(2m+i+j)}}{1 - q^{2(i+j)}}.$$

Again there is a lift to a Littlewood identity, which in this case is the Désarménien– Proctor–Stembridge determinant formula (4.1.6). For our purposes we write this in terms of symplectic Schur functions as

(5.1.4)
$$\sum_{\substack{\lambda \text{ even}\\\lambda_1 \leqslant 2m}} s_\lambda(x) = (x_1 \cdots x_n)^m \operatorname{sp}_{2n,m^n}(x).$$

If G is a Lie group and K a compact subgroup such that, for all (continuous and locally convex) irreducible representation ρ of G, the K-invariant subspace ρ^{K} has dimension at most 1, then (G, K) is called a Gelfand pair [**22**, **91**]. Hence, for (G, K) a Gelfand pair and χ a character of an irreducible representation of G,

(5.1.5)
$$\int_{K} \chi(g) \,\mathrm{d}g = 0 \text{ or } 1.$$

where the integration is with respect to normalised Haar measure on K. The Gelfand pair relevant to Theorem 5.1 is $G = \operatorname{GL}(n, \mathbb{H})$ and $K = U(n, \mathbb{H})$, the group of invertible $n \times n$ matrices over the division ring of quaternions and the quaternionic unitary group respectively, see [**91**, pages 446–456]. The group $U(n, \mathbb{H})$ is isomorphic to the compact symplectic group, $\operatorname{Sp}(n)$, and (5.1.5) becomes [**91**, page 451]

(5.1.6)
$$\int_{\mathrm{Sp}(n)} s_{\lambda}(g) \,\mathrm{d}g = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \lambda' \text{ is even,} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

where λ is a partition of length at most 2*n*. By Weyl's integration formula [41, page 443], for *G* a compact Lie group and *f* a class function,

(5.1.7)
$$\int_{G} f(g) \, \mathrm{d}g = \frac{1}{|W|} \int_{T} f(t) \, |\Delta(t)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}t,$$

where T is a maximal torus in G, the integration on the right is with respect to normalised Haar measure on T and $\Delta(t)$ is the G-Vandermonde determinant

$$\Delta(\mathbf{e}^h) = \prod_{\alpha>0} \left(e^{\frac{1}{2}\alpha(h)} - e^{-\frac{1}{2}\alpha(h)} \right).$$

Applying this to (5.1.6) yields (see e.g., [113])

(5.1.8)
$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^n} s_{\lambda}(x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_n^{\pm}) \prod_{i=1}^n |x_i - x_i^{-1}|^2 \times \prod_{1 \le i < j \le n} |x_i + x_i^{-1} - x_j - x_j^{-1}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}T(x) = \chi(\lambda' \text{ even}),$$

with dT(x) as (2.6.2). This may also be written as

(5.1.9)
$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^n} s_{\lambda}(x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_n^{\pm}) \prod_{i=1}^n (1 - x_i^{\pm 2}) \prod_{1 \le i < j \le n} (1 - x_i^{\pm} x_j^{\pm}) \, \mathrm{d}T(x) = \chi(\lambda' \text{ even}),$$

which is precisely the q = t case of (3.2.1) for T^n , i.e., the q = t case of the U(2n)/Sp(2n) vanishing integral.² Since (5.1.4) is the q = t case of Theorem 4.1 for a = 0, and since we showed in Section 4.2 that the latter is a consequence of the full U(2n)/Sp(2n) vanishing integral, it follows that (5.1.9) implies (5.1.4).

To use Gelfand pairs to prove (1.1.2), and hence MacMahon's conjecture, is slightly more involved. This time the prerequisite pair is $(GL(n, \mathbb{R}), O(n))$, for which (5.1.5) takes the form

(5.1.10)
$$\int_{\mathcal{O}(n)} s_{\lambda}(g) \, \mathrm{d}g = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \lambda \text{ is even,} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

where $l(\lambda) \leq n$, see [91, pages 414–424]. Again one can use (5.1.7) to integrate over a torus and obtain explicit integrals à la (5.1.9). Because of the distinction between O(2n) and O(2n + 1), this leads to four integrals, see [113, Equations (1.1)–(1.4)]. Of these four we require

(5.1.11)
$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^n} s_{\lambda}(x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_n^{\pm}, 1) \prod_{i=1}^n |1 - x_i|^2 \\ \times \prod_{1 \le i < j \le n} |x_i + x_i^{-1} - x_j - x_j^{-1}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}T(x) = \chi(\tilde{\lambda} \text{ even}).$$

where $l(\lambda) \leq 2n+1$ and $\tilde{\lambda} := (\lambda_1 - \lambda_{2n+1}, \dots, \lambda_{2n} - \lambda_{2n+1}, 0)$, as well as

(5.1.12)
$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^{n-1}} s_{\mu}(x_{1}^{\pm}, \dots, x_{n-1}^{\pm}, \pm 1) \prod_{i=1}^{n-1} |x_{i} - x_{i}^{-1}|^{2} \times \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq n-1} |x_{i} + x_{i}^{-1} - x_{j} - x_{j}^{-1}|^{2} dT(x) = \chi(\tilde{\mu} \text{ even}),$$

where $l(\mu) \leq 2n$ and $\tilde{\mu} := (\mu_1 - \mu_{2n}, \dots, \mu_{2n} - \mu_{2n}, 0).$

It is not difficult to show that (5.1.11) and (5.1.12) imply the following closely related integrals.

LEMMA 5.2. For μ a partition of length at most 2n,

(5.1.13)
$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^n} s_{\mu}(x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_n^{\pm}) \prod_{i=1}^n (1 - x_i^{\pm}) \prod_{1 \le i < j \le n} (1 - x_i^{\pm} x_j^{\pm}) \, \mathrm{d}T(x) = (-1)^{|\mu|},$$

²The Sp(n) appearing in (5.1.6) versus the Sp(2n) used in the naming of the vanishing integral is due to a difference in conventions between [91] and [108, 113].

and for μ a partition of length at most 2n-1,

(5.1.14)
$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^{n-1}} s_{\mu}(x_{1}^{\pm}, \dots, x_{n-1}^{\pm}, -1) \prod_{i=1}^{n-1} (1 - x_{i}^{\pm 2}) \times \prod_{1 \le i < j \le n-1} (1 - x_{i}^{\pm} x_{j}^{\pm}) \, \mathrm{d}T(x) = (-1)^{|\mu|}.$$

PROOF. Because the proofs are identical we only consider (5.1.13), and leave (5.1.14) to the reader.

Denote the integral in (5.1.13) by $I_{\mu}^{(n)}$. From specialising $x_{n+1} = 1$ in the inverse of the branching rule for Schur functions (see e.g., [7, Equation (5.49)])

$$s_{\mu}(x_1,\ldots,x_n) = \sum_{\nu' \prec \mu'} (-x_{n+1})^{|\mu/\nu|} s_{\nu}(x_1,\ldots,x_{n+1}),$$

it follows that

$$I_{\mu}(n) = \sum_{\nu' \prec \mu'} (-1)^{|\mu/\nu|} \int_{\mathbb{T}^n} s_{\nu}(x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_n^{\pm}, 1) \prod_{i=1}^n (1 - x_i^{\pm}) \times \prod_{1 \le i < j \le n} (1 - x_i^{\pm} x_j^{\pm}) \, \mathrm{d}T(x)$$

The left-hand side of (5.1.11) can be written as

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^n} s_{\lambda}(x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_n^{\pm}, 1) \prod_{i=1}^n (1 - x_i^{\pm}) \prod_{1 \le i < j \le n} (1 - x_i^{\pm} x_j^{\pm}) \, \mathrm{d}T(x),$$

so that we can compute each of the integrals in the sum. Thus

$$I_{\mu}(n) = \sum_{\nu' \prec \mu'} (-1)^{|\mu/\nu|} \chi(\tilde{\nu} \text{ even})$$

Since $\nu \subset \mu$ and $l(\mu) \leq 2n$, we have $\nu_{2n+1} = 0$, resulting in

$$I_{\mu}(n) = \sum_{\nu' \prec \mu'} (-1)^{|\mu/\nu|} \chi(\nu \text{ even})$$

By a repeat of the argument following (4.2.8), it follows that ν is completely fixed as $\nu_i = 2|\mu_i/2|$ (compare with (4.2.9)), completing the proof.

To finally show that this implies the bounded Littlewood identity (1.1.2), and hence MacMahon's conjecture, we note that (1.1.2) is the q = t specialisation of Theorem 4.4. This theorem was proved in Section 4.2 using the virtual Koornwinder integral (3.2.10) with $T = t^m$, where m is an integer or half-integer. Setting q = tand assuming that m is an integer, say n, this is the integral

$$I_K^{(n)}(s_{\mu};q,q;-1,q,\pm q^{1/2}) = (-1)^{|\mu|},$$

which is nothing but (5.1.13) in disguise. On the other hand, setting q = t and assuming that m = n - 1/2 is a half-integer, we may use Lemma 3.4 to write this as the integral

$$I_K^{(n-1)}(s_{\mu}[x+\varepsilon];q,q;\pm q^{1/2},\pm q) = (-1)^{|\mu|}.$$

This time this may be may be recognised as (5.1.14).

5. APPLICATIONS



FIGURE 1. The Dynkin diagrams of the "BC_n-type" affine Lie algebras with labelling of vertices by simple roots $\alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_n$ and marks a_0, \ldots, a_n .

REMARK 5.3. There are many parallels between the material presented in this section and the work of Baik and the first author on algebraic aspects of increasing subsequences [7]. In particular, [7, Theorem 5.2] contains the two Littlewood-type identities

$$\sum_{\substack{\lambda \text{ even}\\l(\lambda) \leqslant n}} s_{\lambda}(x) = \int_{\mathcal{O}(n)} \det\left(\sigma_g(x)\right) dg$$
$$\sum_{\substack{\lambda' \text{ even}\\l(\lambda) \leqslant 2n}} s_{\lambda}(x) = \int_{\mathcal{Sp}(n)} \det\left(\sigma_g(x)\right) dg,$$

where $x = (x_1, x_2, ...)$ and $\sigma_z(x)$ is defined in (2.4.4), so that

$$\det\left(\sigma_g(x)\right) = \exp\left(\sum_{r \ge 1} \frac{p_r(x)}{r} \operatorname{Tr}(g^r)\right).$$

5.2. Character identities for affine Lie algebras

5.2.1. Main results. We will only define a minimum of notation needed to state our results, and for a more comprehensive introduction to the representation theory of affine Lie algebras we refer the reader to [25, 87].

We will be concerned with affine Lie algebras \mathfrak{g} of "BC_n type", that is, $\mathfrak{g} = X_N^{(r)}$ with $X_N^{(r)}$ one of $\mathcal{B}_n^{(1)}$, $\mathcal{C}_n^{(1)}$, $\mathcal{A}_{2n-1}^{(2)}$, $\mathcal{A}_{2n}^{(2)}$ and $\mathcal{D}_{n+1}^{(2)}$. Using standard labelling, for these affine Lie algebras the classical part is either \mathcal{B}_n or \mathcal{C}_n . The relevant Dynkin diagrams are shown in Figure 5.2.1. For $\mathcal{B}_n^{(1)}$, $\mathcal{A}_{2n-1}^{(2)}$ and $\mathcal{A}_{2n}^{(2)}$ we also use the nonstandard labelling of simple roots, indicated by the customary \dagger , obtained by mapping $\alpha_i \mapsto \alpha_{n-i}$ for $0 \leq i \leq n$. Apart from the simple roots $\alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_n$ and fundamental weights $\varpi_0, \ldots, \varpi_n$ we need the null root δ given by $\delta = \sum_{i=0}^n a_i \alpha_i$, with the a_i the marks of \mathfrak{g} , see Figure 5.2.1. We are interested in representations of \mathfrak{g} known as integrable highest-weight modules. If P_+ is the set of dominant integral weights $P_+ = \sum_{i=0}^n \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0} \varpi_i$ then these modules are indexed by $\Lambda \in P_+$, and will be denoted by $V(\Lambda)$ in the following. The character of $V(\Lambda)$ can be computed in closed form by the Weyl–Kac formula:

(5.2.1)
$$\operatorname{ch} V(\Lambda) = \frac{\sum_{w \in W} \operatorname{sgn}(w) \operatorname{e}^{w(\Lambda+\rho)-\rho}}{\prod_{\alpha>0} (1 - \operatorname{e}^{-\alpha})^{\operatorname{mult}(\alpha)}}.$$

Here W is the Weyl group of \mathfrak{g} , $\operatorname{sgn}(w)$ the signature of $w \in W$, $\rho = \varpi_0 + \cdots + \varpi_n$ the Weyl vector, and $\operatorname{mult}(\alpha)$ the multiplicity of α . In the denominator, the product runs over the positive roots of \mathfrak{g} .

Below we prove combinatorial character formulas for

(5.2.2)
$$\chi_m(\mathfrak{g}) := \mathrm{e}^{-m\varpi_0} \mathrm{ch} \, V(m\varpi_0)$$

for \mathfrak{g} one of $\mathbf{B}_n^{(1)}, \mathbf{B}_n^{(1)\dagger}, \mathbf{C}_n^{(1)}, \mathbf{A}_{2n-1}^{(2)}, \mathbf{A}_{2n-1}^{(2)\dagger}, \mathbf{A}_{2n}^{(2)}, \mathbf{A}_{2n}^{(2)\dagger}, \mathbf{D}_{n+1}^{(2)}$. Since the diagrams of $\mathbf{C}_n^{(1)}$ and $\mathbf{D}_{n+1}^{(2)}$ are the same when read from left to right as from right to left, these two algebras occur only once in the above list. For $\mathbf{A}_{2n-1}^{(2)\dagger}, \mathbf{A}_{2n}^{(2)\dagger}$ and $\mathbf{D}_{n+1}^{(2)}$, however, we obtain two distinct formulas, making a total of eleven character formulas.

Recall that $P_{\lambda}^{(R)}$ denotes a Hall–Littlewood polynomial of type R. Also recall the definition of X in (1.1.8), which may be written plethystically as

$$X = (x_1 + x_1^{-1} + \dots + x_n + x_n^{-1}) \frac{1 - t^N}{1 - t}$$

We complement this with

(5.2.3)

$$\bar{X} := (x_1^{\pm}, tx_1^{\pm}, \dots, t^{N-1}x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_{n-1}^{\pm}, tx_{n-1}^{\pm}, \dots, t^{N-1}x_{n-1}^{\pm}, 1, t, \dots, t^{N-1})$$
$$= (x_1 + x_1^{-1} + \dots + x_{n-1} + x_{n-1}^{-1} + 1) \frac{1 - t^N}{1 - t}.$$

Finally, in each of the formulas below $m_0(\lambda) := \infty$.

THEOREM 5.4. Let

(5.2.4)
$$x_i := e^{-\alpha_i - \dots - \alpha_{n-1} - \alpha_n/2} \quad (1 \le i \le n), \qquad t := e^{-\delta},$$

and let m and n be positive integers. Then

(5.2.5)
$$\chi_m(\mathbf{C}_n^{(1)}) = \lim_{N \to \infty} t^{mnN^2} P_{m^{2nN}}^{(\mathbf{C}_{2nN})}(t^{1/2}X;t,0) \\ = \sum_{\substack{\lambda \text{ even} \\ \lambda_1 \leqslant 2m}} t^{|\lambda|/2} P_{\lambda}'(x_1^{\pm},\dots,x_n^{\pm};t)$$

(5.2.6)
$$\chi_m \left(\mathbf{A}_{2n-1}^{(2)} \right) = (t; t^2)_{\infty} \lim_{N \to \infty} t^{\frac{1}{2}mnN^2} P_{\left(\frac{m}{2}\right)^{2nN}}^{(\mathbf{D}_{2nN})}(t^{1/2}X; t) \\ = \sum_{\substack{\lambda' \text{ even} \\ \lambda_1 \leqslant m}} t^{|\lambda|/2} P_{\lambda}'(x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_n^{\pm}; t) \prod_{i=0}^{m-1} (t; t^2)_{m_i(\lambda)/2}$$

and

62

(5.2.7)
$$\chi_m(\mathbf{A}_{2n}^{(2)}) = \lim_{N \to \infty} t^{\frac{1}{2}mnN^2} P_{(\frac{m}{2})^{2nN}}^{(\mathbf{B}_{2nN})}(t^{1/2}X;t,0)$$
$$= \sum_{\substack{\lambda\\\lambda_1 \leqslant m}} t^{|\lambda|/2} P_{\lambda}'(x_1^{\pm},\dots,x_n^{\pm};t).$$

THEOREM 5.5. Let

$$x_i := e^{-\alpha_i - \dots - \alpha_{n-1} + (\alpha_{n-1} - \alpha_n)/2} \quad (1 \le i \le n), \qquad t := e^{-\delta},$$

and let m and n be positive integers. Then

(5.2.8)
$$\chi_m \left(\mathbf{A}_{2n-1}^{(2)\dagger} \right) = (t; t^2)_{\infty} \lim_{N \to \infty} t^{mnN^2} P_{m^{2nN}}^{(\mathbf{C}_{2nN})}(t^{1/2}X; t, t) \\ = \sum_{\substack{\lambda \\ \lambda_1 \leqslant 2m}}' t^{(|\lambda| + \operatorname{odd}(\lambda))/2} P_{\lambda}'(x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_n^{\pm}; t) \prod_{i=0}^{2m-1} (t; t^2)_{\lceil m_i(\lambda)/2 \rceil},$$

where the prime in the sum over λ denotes the restriction that parts of odd size must have even multiplicity.

THEOREM 5.6. Let

(5.2.9)
$$x_i := e^{-\alpha_i - \dots - \alpha_n} \quad (1 \le i \le n),$$

and let m and n be positive integers. Then

(5.2.10)
$$\chi_m(\mathbf{A}_{2n}^{(2)\dagger}) = \lim_{N \to \infty} t^{mnN^2} P_{m^{2nN}}^{(\mathrm{BC}_{2nN})}(t^{1/2}X; t, 0, -t^{1/2})$$
$$= \sum_{\substack{\lambda \\ \lambda_1 \leqslant 2m}} t^{(|\lambda| + \mathrm{odd}(\lambda))/2} P_{\lambda}'(x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_n^{\pm}; t),$$

where $t := e^{-\delta}$, and

(5.2.11)
$$\chi_m \left(\mathbf{D}_{n+1}^{(2)} \right) = (-t^{1/2}; t^{1/2})_{\infty} \lim_{N \to \infty} t^{\frac{1}{2}mnN^2} P_{(\frac{m}{2})^{2nN}}^{(\mathbf{B}_{2nN})}(t^{1/2}X; t, -t^{1/2})$$
$$= \sum_{\substack{\lambda \\ \lambda_1 \leqslant m}} t^{|\lambda|/2} P_{\lambda}'(x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_n^{\pm}; t) \prod_{i=0}^{m-1} (-t^{1/2}; t^{1/2})_{m_i(\lambda)},$$

where $t^{1/2} := e^{-\delta}$.

The identity (5.2.5), without the limiting expression in the middle, was first obtained in [9, Theorem 1.1; (1.4a)]. Equation (5.2.7), which is (1.1.7) from the introduction, extends [9, Theorem 1.1; (1.4b)] from integer to half-integer values of m. In the same manner, (5.2.11) extends [9, Theorem 5.4]. The identity 5.2.10, again without the limiting expression on the right, is [9, Theorem 5.3].

In each of the remaining formulas $e^{-\alpha_n}$ is specialised.

THEOREM 5.7. Let

(5.2.12)
$$x_i := -e^{-\alpha_i - \dots - \alpha_n} \quad (1 \le i \le n), \qquad t := e^{-\delta},$$

and specialise $e^{-\alpha_n} \mapsto -1$. Then, for m and n positive integers,

(5.2.13)
$$\chi_m(\mathbf{A}_{2n}^{(2)\dagger}) = \lim_{N \to \infty} t^{\frac{1}{2}m(2n-1)N^2} P_{m^{(2n-1)N}}^{(\mathbf{C}_{(2n-1)N})}(t^{1/2}\bar{X};t,0)$$
$$= \sum_{\substack{\lambda \text{ even}\\\lambda_1 \leqslant 2m}} t^{|\lambda|/2} P_{\lambda}'(x_1^{\pm},\dots,x_{n-1}^{\pm},1;t)$$

and

(5.2.14)
$$\chi_m(\mathbf{B}_n^{(1)}) = (t; t^2)_{\infty} \lim_{N \to \infty} t^{\frac{1}{4}m(2n-1)N^2} P_{(\frac{m}{2})^{(2n-1)N}}^{(\mathbf{D}_{(2n-1)N})}(t^{1/2}\bar{X}; t)$$

$$= \sum_{\substack{\lambda' \text{ even} \\ \lambda_1 \leqslant m}} t^{|\lambda|/2} P'_{\lambda}(x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_{n-1}^{\pm}, 1; t) \prod_{i=0}^{m-1} (t; t^2)_{m_i(\lambda)/2}.$$

THEOREM 5.8. Let

(5.2.15)
$$x_i := -e^{-\alpha_i - \dots - \alpha_n}$$
 $(1 \le i \le n), \quad t^{1/2} := -e^{-\delta},$
and specialise $e^{-\alpha_n} \mapsto -1$. Then, for m and n positive integers,

(5.2.16)
$$\chi_m (\mathbf{D}_{n+1}^{(2)}) = \lim_{N \to \infty} t^{\frac{1}{4}m(2n-1)N^2} P_{(\frac{m}{2})^{(2n-1)N}}^{(\mathbf{B}_{(2n-1)N})}(t^{1/2}\bar{X};t,0)$$
$$= \sum_{\substack{\lambda \\ \lambda_1 \leqslant m}} t^{|\lambda|/2} P_{\lambda}'(x_1^{\pm},\dots,x_{n-1}^{\pm},1;t).$$

THEOREM 5.9. Let

(5.2.17) $x_i := e^{-\alpha_i - \dots - \alpha_{n-1} + (\alpha_{n-1} - \alpha_n)/2}$ $(1 \le i \le n), \quad t := e^{-\delta},$ and specialise $e^{-\alpha_n} \mapsto e^{-\alpha_{n-1}}$. Then, for m and n positive integers, (5.2.18)

$$\chi_m \left(\mathbf{B}_n^{(1)\dagger} \right) = (-t^{1/2}; t^{1/2})_{\infty} \lim_{N \to \infty} t^{\frac{1}{4}m(2n-1)N^2} P_{\left(\frac{m}{2}\right)^{(2n-1)N}}^{\left(\mathbf{B}_{(2n-1)N}\right)}(t^{1/2}\bar{X}; t, -t^{1/2})$$
$$= \sum_{\substack{\lambda \\ \lambda_1 \leqslant m}} t^{|\lambda|/2} P_{\lambda}'(x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_{n-1}^{\pm}, 1; t) \prod_{i=0}^{m-1} (-t^{1/2}; t^{1/2})_{m_i(\lambda)}$$

and

(5.2.19)
$$\chi_m \left(\mathbf{A}_{2n-1}^{(2)\dagger} \right) = \lim_{N \to \infty} t^{m(n-1/2)N^2} P_{m^{(2n-1)N}}^{(\mathrm{BC}_{(2n-1)N})}(t^{1/2}\bar{X}; t, 0, -t^{1/2}) \\ = \sum_{\substack{\lambda \\ \lambda_1 \leqslant 2m}} t^{(|\lambda| + \mathrm{odd}(\lambda))/2} P_{\lambda}'(x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_{n-1}^{\pm}, 1; t).$$

Thanks to the Macdonald identities, the characters of certain one-parameter subfamilies of representations admit product forms. For example, by Corollary A.4 of Appendix A, it follows that for $\mathfrak{g} = \mathbf{B}_n^{(1)\dagger}$ and weights

(5.2.20)
$$\Lambda = (k-1)\rho + k\omega_0, \qquad k \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 1},$$

we have

$$e^{-\Lambda} \operatorname{ch} V(\Lambda) = \frac{(t^k; t^k)_{\infty}^{n-1}(t^{2k}; t^{2k})_{\infty}}{(t; t)_{\infty}^n} \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{\theta(t^k x_i^{2k}; t^{2k})}{\theta(t^{1/2} x_i; t)} \prod_{1 \leqslant i < j \leqslant n} \frac{\theta(x_i^k x_j^{\pm k}; t^k)}{\theta(x_i x_j^{\pm}; t)},$$

where x_1, \ldots, x_n and t are as in (5.2.17). In much the same way, it follows from the Macdonald identity for $C_n^{(1)}$ that for $A_{2n}^{(2)}$ and weights (5.2.20),

$$\mathrm{e}^{-\Lambda} \operatorname{ch} V(\Lambda) = \frac{(t^k; t^k)_{\infty}^n}{(t; t)_{\infty}^n} \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{\theta(x_i^{2k}; t^k)}{\theta(t^{1/2}x_i; t)\theta(x_i^2; t^2)} \prod_{1 \leqslant i < j \leqslant n} \frac{\theta(x_i^k x_j^{\pm k}; t^k)}{\theta(x_i x_j^{\pm}; t)},$$

where x_1, \ldots, x_n and t are given by (5.2.4). Similarly, by the Macdonald identity for $A_{2n}^{(2)\dagger}$ we have the $D_{n+1}^{(2)}$ identity

$$e^{-\Lambda} \operatorname{ch} V(\Lambda) = \frac{(t^k; t^k)_{\infty}^n}{(t; t)_{\infty}^{n-1} (t^{1/2}; t^{1/2})_{\infty}} \times \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{\theta(x_i^k; t^k) \theta(t^k x_i^{2k}; t^{2k})}{\theta(x_i; t^{1/2})} \prod_{1 \le i < j \le n} \frac{\theta(x_i^k x_j^{\pm k}; t^k)}{\theta(x_i x_j^{\pm}; t)}$$

where Λ is again given by (5.2.20), and x_1, \ldots, x_n and t are as in (5.2.9).

All three families include the basic representation, $V(\varpi_0)$, obtained by taking k = 1:

(5.2.21)
$$e^{-\varpi_0} \operatorname{ch} V(\varpi_0) = \kappa_{\mathfrak{g}}(t) \prod_{i=1}^n \theta(-t^{1/2} x_i; t),$$

where

$$\kappa_{\mathfrak{g}}(t) := \begin{cases} (-t;t)_{\infty} & \text{for } \mathfrak{g} = \mathbf{B}_{n}^{(1)\dagger}, \\ 1 & \text{for } \mathfrak{g} = \mathbf{A}_{2n}^{(2)}, \\ (-t^{1/2};t^{1/2})_{\infty} & \text{for } \mathfrak{g} = \mathbf{D}_{n+1}^{(2)}. \end{cases}$$

Using the representation (2.8.18) for the modified Hall–Littlewood polynomials, each of the character formulas in Theorems 5.4–5.6 can be written as a multiple basic hypergeometric series. For $B_n^{(1)\dagger}$, $A_{2n}^{(2)}$ and $D_{n+1}^{(2)}$ we can then restrict to the basic representation and, as a consistency check, compare with (5.2.21). To this end we define f by

$$f(x_1, \dots, x_n; t) := \sum_{\substack{\lambda \\ \lambda_1 \leqslant 1}} t^{|\lambda|/2} P'_{\lambda}(x_1, \dots, x_n; t)$$
$$= \sum_{r=0}^{\infty} \frac{t^{r/2}}{(t; t)_r} Q'_{1r}(x_1, \dots, x_n; t)$$

Replacing r by r_1 , and using (2.8.18) and (2.8.19), this yields

$$f(x_1, \dots, x_n; t) = \sum_{r_1 \ge \dots \ge r_n \ge 0} \frac{t^{r_1/2}}{(t; t)_{r_1}} \prod_{i=1}^n x_i^{r_i - r_{i+1}} t^{\binom{r_i - r_{i+1}}{2}} {r_i \brack r_{i+1}}_t,$$

where $r_{n+1} := 0$. Introducing new summation indices k_1, \ldots, k_n by $k_i = r_i - r_{i+1}$, the *n*-fold sum factors as³

(5.2.22)
$$f(x_1, \dots, x_n; t) = \prod_{i=1}^n \left(\sum_{k_i=0}^\infty \frac{(t^{1/2} x_i)^{k_i} t^{\binom{k_i}{2}}}{(t; t)_{k_i}} \right) = \prod_{i=1}^n (-t^{1/2} x_i; t)_\infty,$$

³This may also be proved by taking m = 1 and q = 0 in (2.5.5), and by carrying out the plethystic substitution $x \mapsto x/(1-t)$.
where the second equality follows from [43, Equation (II.2)]

$$\sum_{k \ge 0} \frac{z^k q^{\binom{k}{2}}}{(q;q)_k} = (-z;q)_{\infty}.$$

We now observe that for m = 1 the identities (5.2.7), (5.2.11) and (5.2.18) simplify to

$$e^{-\varpi_0} \operatorname{ch} V(\varpi_0) = \begin{cases} (-t^{1/2}; t^{1/2})_{\infty} f(x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_{n-1}^{\pm}, 1; t) & \text{for } \mathfrak{g} = \mathcal{B}_n^{(1)\dagger} \\ f(x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_n^{\pm}; t) & \text{for } \mathfrak{g} = \mathcal{A}_{2n}^{(2)}, \\ (-t^{1/2}; t^{1/2})_{\infty} f(x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_n^{\pm}; t) & \text{for } \mathfrak{g} = \mathcal{D}_{n+1}^{(2)}. \end{cases}$$

By (5.2.22) this indeed gives (5.2.21) for $A_{2n}^{(2)}$ and $D_{n+1}^{(2)}$. For $B_n^{(1)\dagger}$ it leads to

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{e}^{-\varpi_0} \operatorname{ch} V(\varpi_0)|_{\mathbf{e}^{-\alpha_{n}} \mapsto \mathbf{e}^{-\alpha_{n-1}}} &= (-t^{1/2}; t^{1/2})_{\infty} (-t^{1/2}; t)_{\infty} \prod_{i=1}^{n-1} \theta(-t^{1/2} x_i; t) \\ &= (-t; t)_{\infty} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \theta(-t^{1/2} x_i; t)|_{x_n = 1}, \end{aligned}$$

again in agreement with (5.2.21). To show that the m = 1 case of the second $D_{n+1}^{(2)}$ identity (5.2.16) is also in accordance with (5.2.21), we replace $x_i \mapsto -x_i$ and $t^{1/2} \mapsto -t^{1/2}$ on the right-hand side of (5.2.21) and then specialise $x_n = 1$. This yields the expression

$$(-t^{1/2};t)_{\infty} \prod_{i=1}^{n-1} \theta(-t^{1/2}x_i;t) = f(x_1^{\pm},\dots,x_{n-1}^{\pm},1;t)$$
$$= \sum_{\substack{\lambda\\\lambda_1 \leqslant 1}} t^{|\lambda|/2} P'_{\lambda}(x_1^{\pm},\dots,x_{n-1}^{\pm},1;t),$$

as required.

5.2.2. Proof of Theorems 5.4–5.9. Below we present proofs of the eleven character formulas of the previous section.

Recall the Vandermonde determinants of type B_n, C_n and D_n given in (2.8.6), (2.8.13) and (2.8.14).

PROPOSITION 5.10. For $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$, m a positive integer and N a nonnegative integer,

$$(5.2.23) \sum_{\substack{\lambda \\ \lambda_1 \leqslant 2m}} t^{|\lambda|/2} h_{\lambda}^{(2m)}(t_2, t_3; t) P_{\lambda} \left(\left[x \frac{1 - t^N}{1 - t} \right]; t \right)$$

$$= (x_1 \cdots x_n)^{mN} t^{mnN^2/2} P_{m^{nN}}^{(\mathrm{BC}_{nN})} \left(\left[t^{1/2} x \frac{1 - t^N}{1 - t} \right]; t, t_2, t_3 \right)$$

$$= \frac{\prod_{i=1}^n (t^{1/2} t_2 x_i, t^{1/2} t_3 x_i; t)_N}{\prod_{i,j=1}^n (t x_i x_j; t)_N} \prod_{1 \leqslant i < j \leqslant n} (t x_i x_j; t)_{2N}$$

$$\times \sum_{r_1, \dots, r_n \geqslant 0} \frac{\Delta_{\mathrm{C}}(xt^r)}{\Delta_{\mathrm{C}}(x)} \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{(t^{1/2} t_2^{-1} x_i, t^{1/2} t_3^{-1} x_i; t)_{r_i}}{(t^{1/2} t_2 x_i, t^{1/2} t_3 x_i; t)_{r_i}} (t_2 t_3)^{r_i} (x_i^2 t^{r_i})^{mr_i}$$

$$\times \prod_{i,j=1}^{n} \frac{(t^{-N}x_i/x_j, x_ix_j; t)_{r_i}}{(tx_i/x_j, t^{N+1}x_ix_j; t)_{r_i}} t^{Nr_i}.$$

REMARK 5.11. A more general hypergeometric identity than (5.2.23) holds, obtained by replacing

$$x \mapsto t^{1/2} \left(x_1 \frac{1 - t^{N_1}}{1 - t} + x_2 \frac{1 - t^{N_2}}{1 - t} + \dots + x_n \frac{1 - t^{N_n}}{1 - t} \right)$$

in (4.1.15). From a hypergeometric point of view this more general identity, which on the right features the C_n hypergeometric series

$$\sum_{r_1,\dots,r_n \ge 0} \frac{\Delta_{\mathcal{C}}(xt^r)}{\Delta_{\mathcal{C}}(x)} \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{(t^{1/2}t_2^{-1}x_i, t^{1/2}t_3^{-1}x_i; t)_{r_i}}{(t^{1/2}t_2x_i, t^{1/2}t_3x_i; t)_{r_i}} (t_2t_3)^{r_i} (x_i^2t^{r_i})^{mr_i} \times \prod_{i,j=1}^n \frac{(t^{-N_j}x_i/x_j, x_ix_j; t)_{r_i}}{(tx_i/x_j, t^{N_j+1}x_ix_j; t)_{r_i}} t^{N_jr_i}$$

is more natural. For our purposes, however, we do not require this greater degree of generality.

PROOF. Identity (5.2.23) follows from (4.1.15) by the substitution

(5.2.24)
$$x \mapsto t^{1/2}(x_1, x_1 t, \dots, x_1 t^{N-1}, \dots, x_n, x_n t, \dots, x_n t^{N-1})$$
$$= t^{1/2} x \frac{1 - t^N}{1 - t}$$

(so that, implicitly, $n \mapsto nN$). The two left-most expressions immediately follow from (5.2.23), but to show equality with the hypergeometric sum on the right some work is required.

First we use Lemma 2.5 to trade the right-hand side of (4.1.15) for

$$\sum_{\varepsilon \in \{\pm 1\}^n} \Phi(x^{\varepsilon}; t_2, t_3; t) \prod_{i=1}^n x_i^{(1-\varepsilon_i)m}.$$

Next we observe that $\Phi(x^{\varepsilon}; t_2, t_3; t)$ contains the factor

$$\prod_{1 \leqslant i < j \leqslant n} (1 - t x_i^{\varepsilon_i} x_j^{\varepsilon_j})$$

which vanishes if there exists an $i \ (1 \leq i \leq n-1)$ such that

$$tx_i^{\varepsilon_i}x_{i+1}^{\varepsilon_{i+1}} = 1$$

Therefore, by the substitution (5.2.24), the summand vanishes if for some i, u, p,

$$(\varepsilon_i, \varepsilon_{i+1}) = (1, -1)$$
 and $(x_i, x_{i+1}) \mapsto (x_u t^p, x_u t^{p+1})$.

Consequently, the only sequences ε that yield a non-vanishing summand are of the form

$$\varepsilon = \left(\underbrace{-1, \dots, -1}_{r_1 \text{ times}}, \underbrace{1, \dots, 1}_{N-r_1 \text{ times}}, \underbrace{-1, \dots, -1}_{r_2 \text{ times}}, \underbrace{1, \dots, 1}_{N-r_2 \text{ times}}, \dots, \underbrace{-1, \dots, -1}_{r_n \text{ times}}, \underbrace{1, \dots, 1}_{N-r_n \text{ times}}\right).$$

The r_i are exactly the summation indices of (5.2.23). The rest of the proof is tedious but elementary and left to the reader.

Replacing

$$(5.2.25) x \mapsto (x_1, y_1, \dots, x_n, y_n)$$

in (5.2.23) (so that $n \mapsto 2n$), and then using [9, Proposition 5.1] to take the limit $y_i \mapsto x_i^{-1}$ for all $1 \leq i \leq n$, we obtain the following corollary of Proposition 5.10.

COROLLARY 5.12. Let m a positive integer, N a nonnegative integer and X the alphabet (1.1.8). Then

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\substack{\lambda\\\lambda_1\leqslant 2m}} t^{|\lambda|/2} h_{\lambda}^{(2m)}(t_2, t_3; t) P_{\lambda}(X; t) \\ &= t^{mnN^2} P_{m^{2nN}}^{(\mathrm{BC}_{2nN})}(t^{1/2}X; t, t_2, t_3) \\ &= \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{(t^{1/2} t_2 x_i^{\pm}, t^{1/2} t_3 x_i^{\pm}; t)_N}{(t x_i^{\pm 2}; t)_N} \begin{bmatrix} 2N\\N \end{bmatrix}_t \prod_{1\leqslant i < j\leqslant n} \frac{(t x_i^{\pm} x_j^{\pm}; t)_{2N}}{(t x_i^{\pm} x_j^{\pm}; t)_N^2} \\ &\times \sum_{r\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{\Delta_{\mathrm{C}}(xt^r)}{\Delta_{\mathrm{C}}(x)} \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{(t^{1/2} t_2^{-1} x_i, t^{1/2} t_3^{-1} x_i; t)_{r_i}}{(t^{1/2} t_2 x_i, t^{1/2} t_3 x_i; t)_{r_i}} (t_2 t_3)^{r_i} (x_i^2 t^{r_i})^{mr_i} \\ &\times \prod_{i,j=1}^n \frac{(t^{-N} x_i x_j^{\pm}; t)_{r_i}}{(t^{N+1} x_i x_j^{\pm}; t)_{r_i}} t^{2Nr_i}. \end{split}$$

Since

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} P_{\lambda}(X;t) = P_{\lambda}\left(\left[\frac{x_1^{\pm} + \dots + x_n^{\pm}}{1-t}\right];t\right) = P_{\lambda}'(x_1^{\pm}, \dots x_n^{\pm};t),$$

the above corollary is a bounded analogue of [9,Theorem 5.2; (5.6a)], which states (without the second line) that

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\substack{\lambda\\\lambda_1 \leqslant 2m}} t^{|\lambda|/2} h_{\lambda}^{(2m)}(t_2, t_3; t) P_{\lambda}'(x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_n^{\pm}; t) \\ &= \lim_{N \to \infty} t^{mnN^2} P_{m^{2nN}}^{(\mathrm{BC}_{2nN})}(t^{1/2}X; t, t_2, t_3) \\ &= \frac{1}{(t; t)_{\infty}^n} \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{(t^{1/2} t_2 x_i^{\pm}, t^{1/2} t_3 x_i^{\pm}; t)_{\infty}}{(tx_i^{\pm 2}; t)_{\infty}} \prod_{1 \leqslant i < j \leqslant n} \frac{1}{(tx_i^{\pm} x_j^{\pm}; t)_{\infty}} \\ &\times \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{\Delta_{\mathrm{C}}(xt^r)}{\Delta_{\mathrm{C}}(x)} \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{(t^{1/2} t_2^{-1} x_i, t^{1/2} t_3^{-1} x_i; t)_{r_i}}{(t^{1/2} t_2 x_i, t^{1/2} t_3 x_i; t)_{r_i}} (t_2 t_3 t^{-n})^{r_i} (x_i^2 t^{r_i})^{(m+n)r_i}, \end{split}$$

for m a positive integer.

If instead of (5.2.25) we make the substitution

$$(5.2.27) x \mapsto (x_1, y_1, \dots, x_{n-1}, y_{n-1}, x_n)$$

in (5.2.23) (so that $n \mapsto 2n-1$) and then take the limit $y_i \mapsto x_i^{-1}$ for all $1 \leq i \leq n-1$ and $x_n \to 1$ using [9, Proposition 5.1], we obtain a bounded version of [9, Theorem

$$5.2; (5.6b)]^{4}$$

$$(5.2.28)$$

$$\sum_{\substack{\lambda \\ \lambda_{1} \leq 2m}} t^{|\lambda|/2} h_{\lambda}^{(2m)}(t_{2}, t_{3}; t) P_{\lambda}'(x_{1}^{\pm}, \dots, x_{n-1}^{\pm}, 1; t)$$

$$= \lim_{N \to \infty} t^{m(n-1/2)N^{2}} P_{m^{(2n-1)N}}^{(BC_{(2n-1)N})}(t^{1/2}\bar{X}; t, t_{2}, t_{3})$$

$$= \frac{1}{(t; t)_{\infty}^{n}(t^{1/2}t_{2}, t^{1/2}t_{3}; t)_{\infty}} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{(t^{1/2}t_{2}x_{i}^{\pm}, t^{1/2}t_{3}x_{i}^{\pm}; t)_{\infty}}{(-tx_{i}^{\pm}; t)_{\infty}(tx_{i}^{\pm 2}; t^{2})_{\infty}}$$

$$\times \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} \frac{1}{(tx_{i}^{\pm}x_{j}^{\pm}; t)_{\infty}} \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \left(\frac{\Delta_{B}(-xt^{r})}{\Delta_{B}(-x)} \right)$$

$$\times \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{(t^{1/2}t_{2}^{-1}x_{i}, t^{1/2}t_{3}^{-1}x_{i}; t)_{r_{i}}}{(t^{1/2}t_{2}x_{i}, t^{1/2}t_{3}x_{i}; t)_{r_{i}}} (-t_{2}t_{3}t^{1/2-n})^{r_{i}}(x_{i}^{2}t^{r_{i}})^{(m+n-1/2)r_{i}} \right),$$

where m is a positive integer and $x_n := 1$.

We are now ready to prove Theorems 5.4–5.9. Our first two character formulas follow from (5.2.26) and (5.2.28) by letting t_2 and t_3 tend to zero. The hypergeometric sums on the right can then be identified with $\chi_m(C_n^{(1)})$ and $\chi_m(A_{2n}^{(2)\dagger})$ respectively, by [9, Lemmas 2.1 & 2.3] and [9, Lemma 2.3] (which are simple rewritings of the Weyl–Kac formula for $C_n^{(1)}$ and $A_{2n}^{(2)\dagger}$). In the latter case this identification requires the specialisation $e^{-\alpha_n} \mapsto -1$, corresponding to the condition $x_n := 1$ in (5.2.28). In the $t_2, t_3 \to 0$ limit the left-hand sides simplify since $h_{\lambda}^{(2m)}(0,0;t) = \chi(\lambda \text{ even}).$ We thus obtain (5.2.5) and (5.2.13). Next we specialise $t_3 = -t^{1/2}$ in (5.2.26) and (5.2.28). Using

(5.2.29a)
$$\frac{\Delta_{\mathcal{C}}(xt^r)}{\Delta_{\mathcal{C}}(x)} \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{(-x_i;t)_{r_i}}{(-tx_i;t)_{r_i}} = \frac{\Delta_{\mathcal{B}}(xt^r)}{\Delta_{\mathcal{B}}(x)}$$

(5.2.29b)
$$\frac{\Delta_{\mathrm{B}}(-xt^{r})}{\Delta_{\mathrm{B}}(-x)}\prod_{i=1}^{n}\frac{(-x_{i};t)_{r_{i}}}{(-tx_{i};t)_{r_{i}}} = \frac{\Delta_{\mathrm{D}}(xt^{r})}{\Delta_{\mathrm{D}}(x)}$$

respectively, this yields

$$(5.2.30) \qquad \sum_{\substack{\lambda \\ \lambda_1 \leqslant 2m}} t^{|\lambda|/2} h_{\lambda}^{(2m)}(t_2, -t^{1/2}; t) P_{\lambda}'(x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_n^{\pm}; t) \\ = \lim_{N \to \infty} t^{mnN^2} P_{m^{2nN}}^{(\mathrm{BC}_{2nN})}(t^{1/2}X; t, t_2, -t^{1/2}) \\ = \frac{1}{(t; t)_{\infty}^n} \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{(t^{1/2} t_2 x_i^{\pm}; t)_{\infty}}{(tx_i^{\pm}; t)_{\infty}(tx_i^{\pm2}; t^2)_{\infty}} \prod_{1 \leqslant i < j \leqslant n} \frac{1}{(tx_i^{\pm} x_j^{\pm}; t)_{\infty}} \\ \times \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{\Delta_{\mathrm{B}}(xt^r)}{\Delta_{\mathrm{B}}(x)} \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{(t^{1/2} t_2^{-1} x_i; t)_{r_i}}{(t^{1/2} t_2 x_i; t)_{r_i}} (-t_2 t^{1/2-n})^{r_i} (x_i^2 t^{r_i})^{(m+n)r_i}$$

 $^{{}^4\}mathrm{Taking}\ x_n\ \rightarrow\ t^{1/2}$ instead of $x_n\ \rightarrow\ 1$ yields additional character identities to those of Theorems 5.4 and 5.9.

and

$$(5.2.31) \\ \sum_{\substack{\lambda_{1} \leq 2m \\ \lambda_{1} \leq 2m}} t^{|\lambda|/2} h_{\lambda}^{(2m)}(t_{2}, -t^{1/2}; t) P_{\lambda}'(x_{1}^{\pm}, \dots, x_{n-1}^{\pm}, 1; t) \\ = \lim_{N \to \infty} t^{m(n-1/2)N^{2}} P_{m^{(2n-1)N}}^{(\mathrm{BC}_{(2n-1)N})}(t^{1/2}\bar{X}; t, t_{2}, -t^{1/2}) \\ = \frac{1}{(t; t)_{\infty}^{n-1}(t^{2}; t^{2})_{\infty}(t^{1/2}t_{2}; t)_{\infty}} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{(t^{1/2}t_{2}x_{i}^{\pm}; t)_{\infty}}{(tx_{i}^{\pm 2}; t^{2})_{\infty}} \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} \frac{1}{(tx_{i}^{\pm}x_{j}^{\pm}; t)_{\infty}} \\ \times \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \left(\frac{\Delta_{\mathrm{D}}(xt^{r})}{\Delta_{\mathrm{D}}(x)} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{(t^{1/2}t_{2}^{-1}x_{i}; t)_{r_{i}}}{(t^{1/2}t_{2}x_{i}; t)_{r_{i}}} (t_{2}t^{1-n})^{r_{i}} (x_{i}^{2}t^{r_{i}})^{(m+n-1/2)r_{i}} \right),$$

where $x_n := 1$ in the second identity. Taking the $t_2 \to 0$ limit using

$$h_{\lambda}^{(m)}(0,b;t) = (-b)^{\mathrm{odd}(\lambda)},$$

and identifying the respective right-hand sides as $\chi_m(\mathbf{A}_{2n}^{(2)\dagger})$ and $\chi_m(\mathbf{A}_{2n-1}^{(2)\dagger})$ by [9, Lemma 2.3] and Lemma A.3, results in (5.2.10) and (5.2.19). In particular we note that x_n being equal to 1 in (5.2.31) implies the specialisation $e^{-\alpha_n} \mapsto e^{-\alpha_{n-1}}$, see (A.1.6). In similar manner we specialise $t_2 = t^{1/2}$ in (5.2.30) (considering (5.2.31) does not lead to a character identity). Using (5.2.29b) with $x \mapsto -x$, it follows from Lemma A.3 that the right-hand side simplifies to

$$(-t;t)_{\infty}\chi_m(\mathbf{A}_{2n-1}^{(2)\dagger}).$$

By (2.3.4), the Rogers–Szegő polynomial in the summand on the left becomes

$$h_{\lambda}^{(2m)}(-t^{1/2},t^{1/2};t) = t^{\operatorname{odd}(\lambda)/2} \prod_{\substack{i=1\\i \text{ odd}}}^{m-1} H_{m_i(\lambda)}(-1;t) \prod_{\substack{i=1\\i \text{ even}}}^{m-1} H_{m_i(\lambda)}(-t;t).$$

Using (2.3.7b) and (2.3.7c) this yields

$$h_{\lambda}^{(2m)}(-t^{1/2},t^{1/2};t) = \prod_{i=1}^{2m-1} (t;t^2)_{\lceil m/2 \rceil}$$

if $m_i(\lambda)$ is even for all $i = 1, 3, \ldots, 2m - 1$, and zero otherwise. Finally noting that $(-t;t)_{\infty}(t;t^2)_{\infty} = 1$, Theorem 5.5 follows. There is one further specialisation of (5.2.30) and (5.2.31) that leads to character identities, namely $t_2 = -1$. We will consider this case as part of a more general treatment of (5.2.26) and (5.2.28) for $t_3 = -1$.

Recalling that Theorem 4.8 extends the $t_3 = -1$ case of Theorem 4.7 to halfinteger values of m, the $t_3 = -1$ specialisations of (5.2.26) and (5.2.28) lead to

$$(5.2.32) \qquad \sum_{\substack{\lambda \\ \lambda_1 \leqslant m}} t^{|\lambda|/2} h_{\lambda}^{(m)}(t_2;t) P_{\lambda}'(x_1^{\pm}, \dots, x_n^{\pm};t) \\ = \lim_{N \to \infty} t^{mnN^2/2} P_{(m/2)^{2nN}}^{(\mathsf{B}_{2nN})}(t^{1/2}X;t,t_2) \\ = \frac{1}{(t;t)_{\infty}^n} \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{(t^{1/2}t_2x_i^{\pm};t)_{\infty}}{(t^{1/2}t_2x_i^{\pm};t)_{\infty}(t^2x_i^{\pm2};t^2)_{\infty}} \prod_{1 \leqslant i < j \leqslant n} \frac{1}{(tx_i^{\pm}x_j^{\pm};t)_{\infty}} \\ \times \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{\Delta_{\mathsf{C}}(xt^r)}{\Delta_{\mathsf{C}}(x)} \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{(t^{1/2}t_2^{-1}x_i;t)_{r_i}}{(t^{1/2}t_2x_i;t)_{r_i}} (-t_2t^{-n})^{r_i} (x_i^2t^{r_i})^{(m+2n)r_i/2} \\ \end{array}$$

and

(5.2.33)

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{\substack{\lambda\\\lambda_1\leqslant m}} t^{|\lambda|/2} h_{\lambda}^{(m)}(t_2;t) P_{\lambda}'(x_1^{\pm},\dots,x_{n-1}^{\pm},1;t) \\ &= \lim_{N\to\infty} t^{m(2n-1)N^2/4} P_{(m/2)^{(2n-1)N}}^{(\mathbb{B}_{(2n-1)N})}(t^{1/2}\bar{X};t,t_2) \\ &= \frac{1}{(t;t)_{\infty}^n(t^{1/2}t_2,-t^{1/2};t)_{\infty}} \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{(t^{1/2}t_2x_i^{\pm};t)_{\infty}}{(t^{1/2}x_i^{\pm},-tx_i^{\pm};t)_{\infty}} \prod_{1\leqslant i< j\leqslant n} \frac{1}{(tx_i^{\pm}x_j^{\pm};t)_{\infty}} \\ &\times \sum_{r\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{\Delta_{\mathcal{B}}(-xt^r)}{\Delta_{\mathcal{B}}(-x)} \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{(t^{1/2}t_2^{-1}x_i;t)_{r_i}}{(t^{1/2}t_2x_i;t)_{r_i}} (t_2t^{1/2-n})^{r_i} (x_i^2t^{r_i})^{(m+2n-1)r_i/2}, \end{split}$$

where $x_n := 1$. If we now let t_2 tend to zero, use that $h_{\lambda}^{(m)}(0;t) = 1$, and further use [9, Lemmas 2.2 & 2.4] (see also (5.3.4) for the former) to identify the right-hand sides as $\chi_m(A_{2n}^{(2)})$ and $\chi_m(D_{n+1}^{(2)})$, we obtain (5.2.7) and (5.2.16). We again note that the condition $x_n := 1$ in (5.2.33) implies that in the $D_{n+1}^{(2)}$ case we must specialise $e^{-\alpha_n} \mapsto -1$. Two further cases, already mentioned in relation with (5.2.30) and (5.2.31), arise from (5.2.32) and (5.2.33) by specialising $t_2 = -t^{1/2}$. On the right we can once again use (5.2.29) as well as [9, Lemma 2.4] and Lemma A.3 to recognise the hypergeometric sums as

$$(-t^{1/2};t^{1/2})_{\infty}\chi_m(\mathfrak{g})$$

for $\mathfrak{g} = \mathcal{D}_{n+1}^{(2)}$ and $\mathcal{B}_n^{(1)\dagger}$ respectively. In the latter case we must assume the specialisation $e^{-\alpha_n} \mapsto e^{-\alpha_{n-1}}$. On the left we use (2.3.6) and (2.3.7d) to find

$$h_{\lambda}^{(m)}(t^{1/2};t) = \prod_{i=1}^{m-1} (-t^{1/2};t^{1/2})_{m_i(\lambda)},$$

completing the proofs of (5.2.11) and (5.2.18). To prove our final two results we consider (5.2.32) and (5.2.33) for $t_2 = 1$. Then, by (4.1.10), we can add the additional restriction " λ' is even" to the sum on the left and $|r| \equiv 0 \pmod{2}$ to the sum on the right. Using Lemmas A.2 and A.1 this proves (5.2.6) and (5.2.14).

5.3. Rogers–Ramanujan identities

Starting with the pioneering series of papers [79–84], the link between affine Lie algebras and vertex operator algebras on the one hand and Rogers–Ramanujan identities on the other is by now well established, see also [5,18,24,27,30,38,39,57, 99,144]. Nonetheless, examples of q-series identities (as opposed to combinatorial identities) that lift classical Rogers–Ramanujan-type identities to affine Lie algebra at arbitrary rank and level while still permitting a product form, are rare. Recently Griffin et al. [47] showed how to use combinatorial character formulas of the type proven in Section 5.2 to obtain doubly-infinite families of Rogers–Ramanujan identities, including a generalisation of the Rogers–Ramanujan [114] and Andrews– Gordon [1, 44] identities to the affine Lie algebra $A_{2n}^{(2)}$. Following the approach of [47], we prove several new doubly-infinite families of Rogers–Ramanujan identities, including a $B_n^{(1)}$ generalisation of Bressoud's Rogers–Ramanujan identities for even moduli [14, 15].

THEOREM 5.13 ($A_{2n}^{(2)}$ Rogers–Ramanujan identities). Let m, n be positive integers. Then

(5.3.1)
$$\sum_{\substack{\lambda_1 \leq m \\ (q;q)_{\infty}^{n-1}(q^{1/2};q^{1/2})_{\infty}}} q^{|\lambda|/2} P_{\lambda}(1,q,q^2,\ldots;q^{2n})$$
$$= \frac{(q^{\kappa};q^{\kappa})_{\infty}^{n-1}(q^{\kappa/2};q^{\kappa/2})_{\infty}}{(q;q)_{\infty}^{n-1}(q^{1/2};q^{1/2})_{\infty}} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \theta(q^i;q^{\kappa/2}) \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} \theta(q^{j-i},q^{i+j};q^{\kappa})$$

for $\kappa := m + 2n + 1$, and

(5.3.2)
$$\sum_{\substack{\lambda \\ \lambda_1 \leqslant 2m}} t^{|\lambda|/2+n \operatorname{odd}(\lambda)} P_{\lambda}(1,q,q^2,\ldots;q^{2n}) \\ = \frac{(q^{\kappa};q^{\kappa})_{\infty}^{n-1}(q^{\kappa/2};q^{\kappa/2})_{\infty}}{(q;q)_{\infty}^{n-1}(q^{1/2};q^{1/2})_{\infty}} \prod_{i=1}^n \theta(q^{i+m};q^{\kappa/2}) \prod_{1 \leqslant i < j \leqslant n} \theta(q^{j-i},q^{i+j-1};q^{\kappa})$$

for $\kappa := 2m + 2n + 1$.

PROOF. To prove (5.3.1) we apply the specialisation

$$F: \mathbb{C}[[\mathrm{e}^{-\alpha_0}, \dots, \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha_n}]] \to \mathbb{C}[[q^{1/2}]]$$

given by

(5.3.3)
$$F(e^{-\alpha_0}) = q^{1/2} \text{ and } F(e^{-\alpha_i}) = q \text{ for } 1 \leq i \leq n$$

to the $A_{2n}^{(2)}$ character identity (5.2.7). Since the null root for $A_{2n}^{(2)}$ is given by $\delta = 2\alpha_0 + \cdots + 2\alpha_{n-1} + \alpha_n$, it follows from (5.2.4) that

$$F(x_i) = q^{n-i+1/2}$$
 $(1 \le i \le n)$ and $F(t) = q^{2n}$.

Hence

$$F\left(\sum_{\substack{\lambda\\\lambda_{1}\leqslant m}}t^{|\lambda|/2}P_{\lambda}'(x_{1}^{\pm},\ldots,x_{n}^{\pm};t)\right)$$
$$=\sum_{\substack{\lambda\\\lambda_{1}\leqslant m}}q^{n|\lambda|}P_{\lambda}'(q^{-n+1/2},q^{-n+3/2},\ldots,q^{n-1/2};q^{2n})$$
$$=\sum_{\substack{\lambda\\\lambda_{1}\leqslant m}}q^{|\lambda|/2}P_{\lambda}'(1,q,\ldots,q^{2n-1};q^{2n})$$
$$=\sum_{\substack{\lambda\\\lambda_{1}\leqslant m}}q^{|\lambda|/2}P_{\lambda}(1,q,q^{2},\ldots;q^{2n}).$$

Here the second equality uses the homogeneity of the modified Hall–Littlewood polynomial and the the third equality follows from (2.8.15) and

$$f\left[\frac{1+q+\dots+q^{2n-1}}{1-q^{2n}}\right] = f\left[\frac{1}{1-q}\right] = f[1+q+q^2+\dots] \quad \text{for } f \in \Lambda.$$

To apply F to the left-hand side of (5.2.7) we use that for arbitrary $\Lambda \in P_+$ parametrised as (compare with (2.7.5b))

$$\Lambda = c_0 \varpi_0 + (\lambda_1 - \lambda_2) \varpi_1 + \dots + (\lambda_{n-1} - \lambda_n) \varpi_{n-1} + \lambda_n \varpi_n$$

with $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n)$ a partition and c_0 a nonnegative integer, we can rewrite the Weyl–Kac formula for $A_{2n}^{(2)}$ as [9, Lemma 2.2],

$$(5.3.4)$$

$$e^{-\Lambda} \operatorname{ch} V(\Lambda) = \frac{1}{(t;t)_{\infty}^{n} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \theta(t^{1/2}x_{i};t)\theta(x_{i}^{2};t^{2}) \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} x_{j}\theta(x_{i}/x_{j},x_{i}x_{j};t)}$$

$$\times \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \widetilde{\operatorname{sp}}_{2n,\lambda}(xt^{r}) \prod_{i=1}^{n} x_{i}^{\kappa r_{i}+\lambda_{i}} t^{\kappa r_{i}^{2}/2-nr_{i}}.$$

Here $\kappa := 2n + c_0 + 2\lambda_1 + 1$, $\tilde{\text{sp}}_{2n,\lambda}$ is the normalised symplectic Schur function (A.1.1) and x_1, \ldots, x_n and t are defined by (5.2.4). Using

$$\begin{split} F\bigg((t;t)_{\infty}^{n}\prod_{i=1}^{n}\theta(t^{1/2}x_{i};t)\theta(x_{i}^{2};t^{2})\prod_{1\leqslant i< j\leqslant n}x_{j}\theta(x_{i}/x_{j},x_{i}x_{j};t)\bigg) \\ &=(q;q)_{\infty}^{n-1}(q^{1/2};q^{1/2})_{\infty}\,q^{\sum_{i< j}(n-j+1/2)} \end{split}$$

as well as the equations (2.8.10), (A.1.1), and appealing to multilinearity, yields

$$F\left(e^{-\Lambda}\operatorname{ch} V(\Lambda)\right) = \frac{q^{-\sum_{i < j}(n-j+1/2)}}{(q;q)_{\infty}^{n-1}(q^{1/2};q^{1/2})_{\infty}}$$

$$\times \det_{1 \leq i,j \leq n} \left(\sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}} q^{(\kappa r+\lambda_i-\lambda_j+j-1)(n-i+1/2)+n\kappa r^2-2nr(\lambda_j+n-j+1)}\right)$$

$$-\sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}} q^{(\kappa r+\lambda_i+\lambda_j+2n-j+1)(n-i+1/2)+n\kappa r^2+2nr(\lambda_j+n-j+1)}\right).$$

Replacing $(i, j) \mapsto (n - j + 1, n - i + 1)$ in the determinant and then changing $r \mapsto -r - 1$ in the second sum, we get

(5.3.5)
$$F\left(e^{-\Lambda} \operatorname{ch} V(\Lambda)\right) = \frac{1}{(q;q)_{\infty}^{n-1}(q^{1/2};q^{1/2})_{\infty}} \times \det_{1 \leq i,j \leq n} \left(\sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}} x_i^{2nr-i+1} q^{2n\kappa\binom{r}{2} + \kappa r/2} \left((x_i q^{\kappa r})^{j-1} - (x_i q^{\kappa r})^{2n-j} \right) \right),$$

where $x_i := q^{\kappa/2-i-\lambda_{n-i+1}}$. Again using multilinearity and recalling the B_n Vandermonde determinant (2.8.13), this may be written as

$$F(e^{-\Lambda} \operatorname{ch} V(\Lambda)) = \frac{1}{(q;q)_{\infty}^{n-1}(q^{1/2};q^{1/2})_{\infty}} \times \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \Delta_{\mathrm{B}}(xq^{\kappa r}) \prod_{i=1}^n x_i^{2nr_i - i + 1} q^{2n\kappa\binom{r_i}{2} + \kappa r_i/2}.$$

By the $D_{n+1}^{(2)}$ Macdonald identity [89] in the form given by [117, Corollary 6.2], i.e.,

$$\sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \Delta_{\mathcal{B}}(xq^r) \prod_{i=1}^n x_i^{2nr_i - i + 1} q^{2n\binom{r_i}{2} + r_i/2} = (q; q)_{\infty}^{n-1} (q^{1/2}; q^{1/2})_{\infty} \prod_{i=1}^n \theta(x_i; q^{1/2}) \prod_{1 \le i < j \le n} \theta(x_i x_j^{\pm}; q),$$

we obtain the product formula

$$F\left(e^{-\Lambda}\operatorname{ch} V(\Lambda)\right) = \frac{(q^{\kappa}; q^{\kappa})_{\infty}^{n-1}(q^{\kappa/2}; q^{\kappa/2})_{\infty}}{(q; q)_{\infty}^{n-1}(q^{1/2}; q^{1/2})_{\infty}} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \theta(q^{\kappa/2-i-\lambda_{n-i+1}}; q^{\kappa/2})$$
$$\times \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} \theta(q^{\lambda_{n-j+1}-\lambda_{n-i+1}+j-i}, q^{\kappa-i-j-\lambda_{n-i+1}-\lambda_{n-j+1}}; q^{\kappa}).$$

By $\theta(x;q) = \theta(q/x;q)$ and a reversal of the products, this simplifies to

(5.3.6)
$$F(e^{-\Lambda} \operatorname{ch} V(\Lambda)) = \frac{(q^{\kappa}; q^{\kappa})_{\infty}^{n-1} (q^{\kappa/2}; q^{\kappa/2})_{\infty}}{(q; q)_{\infty}^{n-1} (q^{1/2}; q^{1/2})_{\infty}} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \theta(q^{\lambda_{i}+n-i+1}; q^{\kappa/2}) \\ \times \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} \theta(q^{\lambda_{i}-\lambda_{j}-i+j}, q^{\lambda_{i}+\lambda_{j}+2n-i-j+2}; q^{\kappa}).$$

For $\lambda = 0$ and $c_0 = m$ this gives the claimed right-hand side of (5.3.1).

To prove (5.3.2) we apply the specialisation

$$F^{\dagger}: \mathbb{C}[[\mathrm{e}^{-\alpha_0}, \dots, \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha_n}]] \to \mathbb{C}[[q^{1/2}]]$$

given by

(5.3.7)
$$F^{\dagger}(e^{-\alpha_n}) = q^{1/2}$$
 and $F^{\dagger}(e^{-\alpha_i}) = q$ for $0 \le i \le n-1$

to the $A_{2n}^{(2)\dagger}$ character identity (5.2.10). This implies the same specialisation of x_1, \ldots, x_n and q as before, i.e.,

$$F^{\dagger}(x_i) = q^{n-i+1/2}$$
 $(1 \leq i \leq n)$ and $F^{\dagger}(t) = q^{2n}$,

so that

$$F^{\dagger}\left(\sum_{\substack{\lambda\\\lambda_{1}\leqslant 2m}}t^{(|\lambda|+\mathrm{odd}(\lambda))/2}P_{\lambda}'(x_{1}^{\pm},\ldots,x_{n}^{\pm};t)\right)$$
$$=\sum_{\substack{\lambda\\\lambda_{1}\leqslant 2m}}q^{|\lambda|/2+n\operatorname{odd}(\lambda)}P_{\lambda}(1,q,q^{2},\ldots;q^{2n}).$$

Moreover, since (5.3.3) and (5.3.7) are compatible with the map from $A_{2n}^{(2)}$ to $A_{2n}^{(2)\dagger}$ (corresponding to a reversal of the labelling of simple roots) we can again use (5.3.6):

$$\begin{aligned} F^{\dagger} \left(e^{-m\varpi_{0}} \operatorname{ch} V(m\varpi_{0}) \right) \Big|_{\mathfrak{g}=\mathcal{A}_{2n}^{(2)\dagger}} \\ &= F \left(e^{-m\varpi_{n}} \operatorname{ch} V(m\varpi_{n}) \right) \Big|_{\mathfrak{g}=\mathcal{A}_{2n}^{(2)}} \\ &= \frac{(q^{\kappa}; q^{\kappa})_{\infty}^{n-1} (q^{\kappa/2}; q^{\kappa/2})_{\infty}}{(q; q)_{\infty}^{n-1} (q^{1/2}; q^{1/2})_{\infty}} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \theta(q^{i+m}; q^{\kappa/2}) \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} \theta(q^{j-i}, q^{i+j-1}; q^{\kappa}), \end{aligned}$$

where $\kappa = 2m + 2n + 1$.

THEOREM 5.14 (D⁽²⁾_{n+1} Rogers–Ramanujan identities). For m, n positive integers and $\kappa := m + 2n$,

(5.3.8)
$$\sum_{\substack{\lambda_1 \leq m \\ (q;q)_{\infty}^{n-1}(q^{1/2};q)_{\infty}(q^2;q^2)_{\infty}}} q^{|\lambda|/2} P_{\lambda}(1,q,q^2,\dots;q^{2n-1}) = \frac{(q^{\kappa};q^{\kappa})_{\infty}^n}{(q;q)_{\infty}^{n-1}(q^{1/2};q)_{\infty}(q^2;q^2)_{\infty}} \prod_{i=1}^n \theta(q^{i+(m-1)/2};q^{\kappa}) \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} \theta(q^{j-i},q^{i+j-1};q^{\kappa}),$$

and

$$(5.3.9) \sum_{\substack{\lambda \\ \lambda_1 \leqslant m}} q^{|\lambda|/2} \left(\prod_{i=1}^{m-1} (-q^n; q^n)_{m_i(\lambda)} \right) P_{\lambda}(1, q, q^2, \dots; q^{2n}) \\ = \frac{(q^{\kappa}; q^{\kappa})_{\infty}^{n-1} (q^{\kappa/2}; q^{\kappa/2})_{\infty}}{(q; q)_{\infty}^{n-1} (q^{1/2}; q)_{\infty}^2 (q^2; q^2)_{\infty}} \prod_{i=1}^n \theta(q^{i-1/2}; q^{\kappa/2}) \prod_{1 \leqslant i < j \leqslant n} \theta(q^{j-i}, q^{i+j-1}; q^{\kappa}).$$

For n = 1 the first of these identities is the second equation on page 235 of [137].

Sketch of the proof. In the character identity (5.2.16) we carry out the specialisation

$$F: \mathbb{C}[[\mathrm{e}^{-\alpha_0}, \dots, \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha_n}]] \to \mathbb{C}[[q^{1/2}]]$$

given by

 $F(e^{-\alpha_0}) = q^{1/2}, \quad F(e^{-\alpha_n}) = -1 \text{ and } F(e^{-\alpha_i}) = q \text{ for } 1 \le i \le n-1.$

Noting that F applied to (5.2.15) yields

$$F(x_i) = q^{n-i}$$
 $(1 \le i \le n-1),$ $F(t^{1/2}) = q^{n-1/2},$

and following the proof of (5.3.1), it follows that the right-hand side of (5.2.16) maps to the left-hand side of (5.3.8). If we parametrise $\Lambda \in P_+$ as (compare with (2.7.5a))

(5.3.10)
$$\Lambda = c_0 \overline{\omega}_0 + (\lambda_1 - \lambda_2) \overline{\omega}_1 + \dots + (\lambda_{n-1} - \lambda_n) \overline{\omega}_{n-1} + 2\lambda_n \overline{\omega}_n,$$

with $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n)$ a partition or half-partition and c_0 a nonnegative, and again follow the previous proof, we find

$$F\left(e^{-\Lambda}\operatorname{ch} V(\Lambda)\right) = \frac{(q^{\kappa}; q^{\kappa})_{\infty}^{n}}{(q; q)_{\infty}^{n-1}(q^{1/2}; q)_{\infty}(q^{2}; q^{2})_{\infty}} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \theta(q^{\lambda_{i}+n-i+(\kappa+1)/2}; q^{\kappa}) \\ \times \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} \theta(q^{\lambda_{i}-\lambda_{j}-i+j}, q^{\lambda_{i}+\lambda_{j}+2n-i-j+1}; q^{\kappa}),$$

where $\kappa := 2n + c_0 + 2\lambda_1$. The only change compared to the proof of (5.3.1) is that we have used the $B_n^{(1)}$ instead of $D_{n+1}^{(2)}$ Macdonald identity. For $\Lambda = m\varpi_0$, i.e., $\lambda = 0$ and $c_0 = m$ the above product gives the right-hand side of (5.3.8), completing the proof.

Similarly, to prove (5.3.9) we apply the specialisation F to (5.2.11), where this time

$$F: \mathbb{C}[[\mathrm{e}^{-\alpha_0}, \dots, \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha_n}]] \to \mathbb{C}[[q^{1/2}]]$$
$$F(\mathrm{e}^{-\alpha_0}) = F(\mathrm{e}^{-\alpha_n}) = q^{1/2} \quad \text{and} \quad F(\mathrm{e}^{-\alpha_i}) = q \quad \text{for } 1 \leq i \leq n-1.$$

Applied to (5.2.9) this gives

$$F(x_i) = q^{n-i+1/2}$$
 $(1 \le i \le n),$ $F(t^{1/2}) = q^n,$

so that the left side of (5.2.11) specialises to the the right side of (5.3.9). With the same parametrisation of Λ as in (5.3.10) and once more using the $D_{n+1}^{(2)}$ Macdonald identity, it follows that

$$F\left(e^{-\Lambda}\operatorname{ch} V(\Lambda)\right) = \frac{(q^{\kappa}; q^{\kappa})_{\infty}^{n-1}(q^{\kappa/2}; q^{\kappa/2})_{\infty}(-q^{n}; q^{n})_{\infty}}{(q; q)_{\infty}^{n-1}(q^{1/2}; q)_{\infty}^{2}(q^{2}; q^{2})_{\infty}} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \theta(q^{\lambda_{i}+n-i+1/2}; q^{\kappa/2})$$
$$\times \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} \theta(q^{\lambda_{i}-\lambda_{j}-i+j}, q^{\lambda_{i}+\lambda_{j}+2n-i-j+1}; q^{\kappa})$$

with κ as before. For $\Lambda = m \varpi_0$, i.e., $\lambda = 0$ and $c_0 = m$ this gives the right-hand side of (5.3.9).

THEOREM 5.15 ($\mathbf{B}_n^{(1)}$ Rogers-Ramanujan identity). Let m, n be a positive integers and $\kappa := m + 2n - 1$. Then

(5.3.11)
$$\sum_{\substack{\lambda_1 \leqslant m \\ (q;q)_{\infty}^{n-1}(q^{1/2};q^{1/2})_{\infty}}} q^{|\lambda|/2} \left(\prod_{i=1}^{m-1} (-q^{n-1/2};q^{n-1/2})_{m_i(\lambda)}\right) P_{\lambda}(1,q,q^2,\dots;q^{2n-1})$$
$$= \frac{(q^{\kappa};q^{\kappa})_{\infty}^n}{(q;q)_{\infty}^{n-1}(q^{1/2};q^{1/2})_{\infty}} \prod_{i=1}^n \theta(q^{i+m/2-1/2};q^{\kappa}) \prod_{1\leqslant i < j\leqslant n} \theta(q^{j-i},q^{i+j-2};q^{\kappa}).$$

By (2.8.20),

$$P_{\lambda}(1,q,q^2,\ldots;q) = \frac{q^{n(\lambda)}}{b_{\lambda}(q)} \stackrel{\lambda_1 \leq m}{=} \prod_{i=1}^m \frac{q^{\binom{\lambda_i}{2}}}{(q;q)_{m_i(\lambda)}}$$

This shows that if we replace $q \mapsto q^2$, $\lambda'_i \mapsto N_i$ and $m_i(\lambda) \mapsto n_i$ (so that $N_i = n_i + \cdots + n_m$) in the n = 1 case of Theorem 5.15 we obtain Bressoud's even modulus identity $[\mathbf{14}, \mathbf{15}]$

$$\sum_{\substack{n_1,\cdots,n_m \ge 0}} \frac{q^{N_1^2 + \cdots + N_m^2}}{(q;q)_{n_1} \cdots (q;q)_{n_{m-1}} (q^2;q^2)_{n_m}} = \frac{(q^{m+1},q^{m+1},q^{2m+2};q^{2m+2})_{\infty}}{(q;q)_{\infty}}.$$

REMARK 5.16. If after the substitution (5.2.27) we let x_n tend to $t^{1/2}$ instead of 1, and then specialise $(a, b) = (-t^{1/2}, -1)$, we obtain an identity for $\chi_m(\mathbf{B}_n^{(1)})$ not included in Section 5.2. Upon specialisation this yields a companion to (5.3.11) as follows:

$$\sum_{\substack{\lambda\\\lambda_1 \leqslant m}} q^{|\lambda|} \left(\prod_{i=1}^{m-1} (-q^{n-1/2}; q^{n-1/2})_{m_i(\lambda)} \right) P_{\lambda}(1, q, q^2, \dots; q^{2n-1}) \\ = \frac{(q^{\kappa}; q^{\kappa})_{\infty}^n}{(q; q)_{\infty}^{n-1} (q^{1/2}; q^{1/2})_{\infty}} \prod_{i=1}^n \theta(q^{i-1/2}; q^{\kappa}) \prod_{1 \leqslant i < j \leqslant n} \theta(q^{j-i}, q^{i+j-1}; q^{\kappa}).$$

For n = 1 this corresponds to

$$\sum_{n_1,\cdots,n_m \ge 0} \frac{q^{N_1^2 + \cdots + N_m^2 + N_1 + \cdots + N_m}}{(q;q)_{n_1} \cdots (q;q)_{n_{m-1}} (q^2;q^2)_{n_m}} = \frac{(q,q^{2m+1},q^{2m+2};q^{2m+2})_{\infty}}{(q;q)_{\infty}},$$

again due to Bressoud [14, 15].

SKETCH OF THE PROOF OF THEOREM 5.15. We start with the $B_n^{(1)\dagger}$ formula (5.2.18) and make the specialisation

(5.3.12a)
$$F^{\dagger}: \mathbb{C}[[\mathrm{e}^{-\alpha_0}, \dots, \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha_n}]] \to \mathbb{C}[[q^{1/2}]]$$

(5.3.12b)
$$F^{\dagger}(e^{-\alpha_0}) = q^{1/2} \text{ and } F^{\dagger}(e^{-\alpha_i}) = q \text{ for } 1 \leq i \leq n.$$

Applied to (5.2.17) this yields

$$F^{\dagger}(x_i) = q^{n-i} \quad (1 \le i \le n-1), \qquad F^{\dagger}(t) = q^{2n-1},$$

so that, up to a factor $(-q^{n-1/2}; q^{n-1/2})_{\infty}$, the left-hand side of (5.3.11) follows by application of F^{\dagger} .

To obtain the product-form on the right we first consider the more general $\mathbf{B}_n^{(1)}$ specialisation formula

$$F\left(\mathrm{e}^{-\Lambda} \operatorname{ch} V(\Lambda)\right) = \frac{(q^{\kappa}; q^{\kappa})_{\infty}^{n} (-q^{n-1/2}; q^{n-1/2})_{\infty}}{(q; q)_{\infty}^{n-1} (q^{1/2}; q^{1/2})_{\infty}} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \theta(q^{\lambda_{i}+n-i+1/2}; q^{\kappa})$$
$$\times \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} \theta(q^{\lambda_{i}-\lambda_{j}-i+j}, q^{\lambda_{i}+\lambda_{j}+2n-i-j+1}; q^{\kappa}),$$

where Λ and κ are as in Lemma A.1, and where F is the specialisation

$$F(e^{-\alpha_n}) = q^{1/2}$$
 and $F(e^{-\alpha_i}) = q$ for $0 \le i \le n-1$

of $B_n^{(1)}$. Proof of this result follows from the $B_n^{(1)}$ Macdonald identity. Again F^{\dagger} and F are compatible so that

$$\begin{split} F^{\dagger} \big(e^{-m\varpi_{0}} \operatorname{ch} V(m\varpi_{0}) \big) \big|_{\mathfrak{g}=\mathbf{B}_{n}^{(1)\dagger}} \\ &= F \big(e^{-m\varpi_{n}} \operatorname{ch} V(m\varpi_{n}) \big) \big|_{\mathfrak{g}=\mathbf{B}_{n}^{(1)}} \\ &= \frac{(q^{\kappa}; q^{\kappa})_{\infty}^{n} (-q^{n-1/2}; q^{n-1/2})_{\infty}}{(q; q)_{\infty}^{n} (q^{1/2}; q)_{\infty}} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \theta(q^{i+m/2-1/2}; q^{\kappa}) \\ &\times \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} \theta(q^{j-i}, q^{i+j-2}; q^{\kappa}), \end{split}$$

where $\kappa = m + 2n - 1$. Up to the factor $(-q^{n-1/2}; q^{n-1/2})_{\infty}$ this is the right-hand side of (5.3.11).

THEOREM 5.17 (A⁽²⁾_{2n-1} Rogers-Ramanujan identities). Let m, n be a positive integers and $\kappa := 2m + 2n$. Then

(5.3.13)
$$\sum_{\substack{\lambda \\ \lambda_1 \leqslant 2m}} q^{|\lambda|/2 + (n-1/2) \operatorname{odd}(\lambda)} P_{\lambda}(1, q, q^2, \dots; q^{2n-1}) \\ = \frac{(q^{\kappa}; q^{\kappa})_{\infty}^n}{(q; q)_{\infty}^n (q; q^2)_{\infty}} \prod_{i=1}^n \theta(q^{i+\kappa/2-1}; q^{\kappa}) \prod_{1 \leqslant i < j \leqslant n} \theta(q^{j-i}, q^{i+j-2}; q^{\kappa})$$

and

(5.3.14)
$$\sum_{\substack{\lambda \\ \lambda_1 \leqslant 2m}}' q^{|\lambda|/2 + n \operatorname{odd}(\lambda)} \left(\prod_{i=1}^{2m-1} (q^{2n}; q^{4n})_{\lceil m_i(\lambda)/2 \rceil} \right) P_{\lambda}(1, q, q^2, \dots; q^{2n})$$
$$= \frac{(q^{\kappa}; q^{\kappa})_{\infty}^n (-q^{\kappa/2}; q^{\kappa})_{\infty}}{2(q; q)_{\infty}^n}$$
$$\times \prod_{i=1}^n \theta(-q^{i-1}, q^{i+\kappa/2-1}; q^{\kappa}) \prod_{1 \leqslant i < j \leqslant n} \theta(q^{j-i}, q^{i+j-2}; q^{\kappa}),$$

where the prime denotes the restriction $m_i(\lambda) \equiv 0 \pmod{2}$ for $i = 1, 3, \ldots, 2m-1$.

In the rank-1 case (5.3.13) can also be written as

$$\sum_{n_1 \geqslant \dots \geqslant n_{2m} \geqslant 0} \frac{q^{\frac{1}{2}(N_1^2 + \dots + N_{2m}^2 + n_1 + n_3 + \dots + n_{2m-1})}}{(q;q)_{n_1} \cdots (q;q)_{n_{2m}}} = \frac{(q^{m+1}, q^{m+1}, q^{2m+2}; q^{2m+2})_{\infty}}{(q;q)_{\infty}(q;q^2)_{\infty}},$$

where $N_i = n_i + \cdots + n_{2m}$. Since [139, Lemma A.1]

$$\sum_{\substack{n_1,\dots,n_{2m}\geqslant 0}} \frac{a_1^{n_1}a_2^{n_2}\cdots a_{2m}^{n_{2m}}q^{\frac{1}{2}(N_1^2+\dots+N_{2m}^2)}}{(q;q)_{n_1}\cdots (q;q)_{n_{2m}}} = \sum_{\substack{n_1,\dots,n_m\geqslant 0}} \frac{a_2^{n_1}a_4^{n_2}\cdots a_{2m}^{n_m}q^{N_1^2+\dots+N_m^2}(-q^{1/2-N_1}a_1/a_2;q)_{N_1}}{(q;q)_{n_1}\cdots (q;q)_{n_m}},$$

provided that $a_{2i}/a_{2i-1} = a_2/a_1$ for all $2 \leq i \leq m$, this may also be written as

$$\sum_{\substack{n_1,\dots,n_m \ge 0}} \frac{q^{N_1^2 + \dots + N_m^2} (-q^{1-N_1};q)_{N_1}}{(q;q)_{n_1} \cdots (q;q)_{n_m}} = \frac{(q^{m+1}, q^{m+1}, q^{2m+2}; q^{2m+2})_{\infty}}{(q;q)_{\infty} (q;q^2)_{\infty}}$$

For m = 1 this is identity (12) in Slater's list of Rogers–Ramanujan-type identities [122].

SKETCH OF THE PROOF. The first result follows from the principal specialisation $\left[77,78,86\right]$

$$F: \mathbb{C}[[\mathrm{e}^{-\alpha_0}, \dots, \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha_n}]] \to \mathbb{C}[[q]]$$
$$F(\mathrm{e}^{-\alpha_i}) = q \quad \text{for } 0 \leq i \leq n$$

applied to the $A_{2n-1}^{(2)\dagger}$ formula (5.2.19). Since this specialisation does not distinguish between $A_{2n-1}^{(2)\dagger}$ and $A_{2n-1}^{(2)}$, we can use the general $A_{2n-1}^{(2)}$ principal specialisation formula [**78**, **86**]

$$F\left(e^{-\Lambda}\operatorname{ch} V(\Lambda)\right) = \frac{(q^{\kappa}; q^{\kappa})_{\infty}^{n}}{(q; q)_{\infty}^{n}(q; q^{2})_{\infty}} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \theta(q^{\lambda_{i}+n-i+1}; q^{\kappa}) \\ \times \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} \theta(q^{\lambda_{i}-\lambda_{j}-i+j}, q^{\lambda_{i}+\lambda_{j}+2n-i-j+2}; q^{\kappa}),$$

where $\kappa = 2n + c_0 + \lambda_1 + \lambda_2$ and

$$\Lambda = c_0 \varpi_0 + (\lambda_1 - \lambda_2) \varpi_1 + \dots + (\lambda_{n-1} - \lambda_n) \varpi_{n-1} + \lambda_n \varpi_n$$

for c_0 a nonnegative integer and $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n)$ a partition. Taking $c_0 = 0$ and $\lambda = m^n$ gives the right-hand side of (5.3.13). The left-hand side follows in the usual way, noting that

$$F(x_i) = q^{n-i+1}$$
 $(1 \le i \le n-1)$ and $F(t) = q^{2n-1}$.

The identity (5.3.14) follows from the specialisation F applied to the $A_{2n-1}^{(2)\dagger}$ formula (5.2.8), where now F stands for

(5.3.15a)
$$F: \mathbb{C}[[e^{-\alpha_0}, \dots, e^{-\alpha_n}]] \to \mathbb{C}[[q]]$$

(5.3.15b)
$$F(e^{-\alpha_i}) = q \quad \text{for } 0 \leq i \leq n-1 \quad \text{and} \quad F(e^{-\alpha_n}) = q^2.$$

According to (A.1.6) this yields

(5.3.16)
$$F(x_i) = q^{n-i+1/2} \quad (1 \le i \le n) \text{ and } F(t) = q^{2n},$$

which we should apply to the $A_{2n-1}^{(2)\dagger}$ character given in (A.1.8). Unlike the previous cases, the steps required to obtain the product form are slightly different to those in the proof of (5.3.1), and below we outline the key steps in the derivation.

From (5.3.16), the D_n Vandermonde determinant and multilinearity, it follows that

$$F\left(2\sum_{r\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}}\Delta_{\mathrm{D}}(xt^{r})\prod_{i=1}^{n}(-1)^{r_{i}}x_{i}^{\kappa r_{i}-i+1}t^{\frac{1}{2}\kappa r_{i}^{2}-(n-1)r_{i}}\right)$$

=
$$\det_{1\leqslant i,j\leqslant n}\left(\sum_{r\in\mathbb{Z}}(-1)^{r}q^{(\kappa r-i+j)(n-i+1/2)+n\kappa r^{2}-2nr(n-j)}\right)$$

+
$$\sum_{r\in\mathbb{Z}}(-1)^{r}q^{(\kappa r-i-j+2n)(n-i+1/2)+n\kappa r^{2}+2nr(n-j)}\right)$$

After interchanging i and j and negating r in the first sum, the right-hand side becomes

$$\begin{aligned} \det_{1\leqslant i,j\leqslant n} \left(\sum_{r\in\mathbb{Z}} (-1)^r q^{2n\kappa\binom{r}{2} + \kappa r/2 + (2nr-i+1)(n-i)} \\ & \times \left(q^{(\kappa r+n-i)(j-1)} + q^{(\kappa r+n-i)(2n-j)} \right) \right) \\ &= \det_{1\leqslant i,j\leqslant n} \left(\sum_{r\in\mathbb{Z}} (-1)^r x_i^{2nr-i+1} q^{2n\kappa\binom{r}{2} + \kappa r/2} \Big((x_i q^{\kappa r})^{j-1} - (x_i q^{\kappa r})^{2n-j} \Big) \Big), \end{aligned}$$

where $x_i := -q^{n-i}$. Up to the change $q^{\kappa/2} \mapsto q^{-\kappa/2}$, the above determinant is the same as the one on the right of (5.3.5). From here on we can thus follow the previous computations to find

We conclude this section with two remarks. First of all, we have not considered the specialisations of (5.2.5) and (5.2.13) as the resulting $C_n^{(1)}$ and $A_{2n}^{(2)}$ identities were already obtained in [47], the $A_{2n}^{(2)}$ case corresponding to a generalisation of the Rogers–Ramanujan and Andrews–Gordon identities for odd moduli. We have also omitted the specialisation of (5.2.6) and (5.2.14), but for different reasons. The most natural substitutions on the combinatorial sides would be $x_i \mapsto q^{n-i+1/2}$, $(1 \leq i \leq n), t \mapsto t^{2n}$ and $x_i \mapsto q^{n-i+1}$ $(1 \leq i \leq n-1), t \mapsto t^{2n-1}$ respectively. This corresponds to the specialisations

$$F(e^{-\alpha_0}) = q^2$$
 and $F(e^{-\alpha_i}) = q$ for $1 \le i \le n$

for $A_{2n-1}^{(2)}$, and

 $F(e^{-\alpha_i}) = q$ for $1 \le i \le n-1$ and $F(e^{-\alpha_0}) = q^2$, $F(e^{-\alpha_n}) = -1$

for $B_n^{(2)}$. However, $F(e^{-m\varpi_0} \operatorname{ch} V(m\varpi_0))$ does not factor for such F.

5.4. Quadratic transformations for Kaneko–Macdonald-type basic hypergeometric series

5.4.1. Kaneko–Macdonald-type basic hypergeometric series. Basic hypergeometric series of Kaneko–Macdonald type, which were first introduced in [58, 94], are an important generalisation of ordinary basic hypergeometric series to multiple series with Macdonald polynomial argument. They have been extensively studied in [8, 58, 60, 75, 76, 94, 108, 109] and applied to problems in enumerative and algebraic combinatorics, such as the enumeration of Lozenge tilings [116], the computation of the major index generating function of standard Young tableaux [69] and the evaluation of Selberg integrals and Dyson-like constant terms identities [58–60, 138, 140–142].

For $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$, the Kaneko–Macdonald basic hypergeometric series ${}_r\Phi_s$ is defined as

$${}_{r}\Phi_{s}\begin{bmatrix}a_{1},\ldots,a_{r}\\b_{1},\ldots,b_{s};q,t;x\end{bmatrix}$$
$$:=\sum_{\lambda}\frac{(a_{1},\ldots,a_{r};q,t)_{\lambda}}{(b_{1},\ldots,b_{s};q,t)_{\lambda}}\Big((-1)^{|\lambda|}q^{n(\lambda')}t^{-n(\lambda)}\Big)^{s-r+1}\frac{t^{n(\lambda)}P_{\lambda}(x;q,t)}{C_{\lambda}^{-}(q;q,t)}$$

For our purposes it suffices to consider the principal specialisation

$$(5.4.1) \quad {}_{r} \Phi_{s}^{(n)} \begin{bmatrix} a_{1}, \dots, a_{r} \\ b_{1}, \dots, b_{s} \end{bmatrix} \\ := {}_{r} \Phi_{s} \begin{bmatrix} a_{1}, \dots, a_{r} \\ b_{1}, \dots, b_{s} \end{bmatrix} \\ = \sum_{\substack{\lambda \\ l(\lambda) \leq n}} \frac{(t^{n}, a_{1}, \dots, a_{r}; q, t)_{\lambda}}{(b_{1}, \dots, b_{s}; q, t)_{\lambda}} \Big((-1)^{|\lambda|} q^{n(\lambda')} t^{-n(\lambda)} \Big)^{s-r+1} \frac{z^{|\lambda|} t^{2n(\lambda)}}{C_{\lambda}^{-}(q, t; q, t)}.$$

Since $C_r^-(q,t;q,t) = (q,t;q)_r$ we have ${}_r\Phi_s^{(1)} = {}_r\phi_s$, with on the right an ordinary basic hypergeometric series, see [43]. Due to the factor $(t^n;q,t)_{\lambda}$, the summand vanishes unless $l(\lambda) \leq n$. For generic b_1, \ldots, b_r the restriction in the sum over λ may thus be dropped. If $a_r = q^{-m}$ the series terminates, with support given by $\lambda \subset m^n$. A ${}_{r+1}\Phi_r^{(n)}$ series is said to be balanced if

$$t^{n-1}a_1\cdots a_{r+1} = b_1\cdots b_r \quad \text{and} \quad z = q.$$

Assume that $r \ge s$. Replacing λ by its complement with respect to m^n , and using (2.2.8) as well as

(5.4.2)
$$(a;q,t)_{m^n} = (-a)^{mn} q^{n\binom{m}{2}} t^{-m\binom{n}{2}} (q^{1-m} t^{n-1}/a;q,t)_{m^n},$$

gives (5.4.3)

$$\begin{array}{l} & (n) \\ & (n) \\ & (n+1) \\ & (n+1) \\ & (n+1) \\ & = \left(\frac{z}{q}\right)^{mn} \left((-1)^{mn} q^{n\binom{m}{2}} t^{-m\binom{n}{2}}\right)^{s-r-1} \frac{(a_1, \dots, a_r; q, t)_{m^n}}{(b_1, \dots, b_s; q, t)_{m^n}} \\ & \times \\ & \times \\ & (n+1) \\ &$$

Here 0^{r-s} represents r-s numerator parameters equal to 0. Similarly, replacing λ by its conjugate and applying (2.2.6) yields the duality relation

$$(5.4.4) \quad {}_{r+1}\Phi_s^{(n)} \begin{bmatrix} a_1, \dots, a_r, q^{-m} \\ b_1, \dots, b_s \end{bmatrix} \\ = {}_{r+1}\Phi_r^{(m)} \begin{bmatrix} 1/a_1, \dots, 1/a_r, t^{-n} \\ 0^{r-s}, 1/b_1, \dots, 1/b_s ; t, q; \frac{a_1 \cdots a_r z t^n}{b_1 \cdots b_s q^m} \end{bmatrix},$$

where it is again assumed that $r \ge s$.

The expression of the (monic) Askey–Wilson polynomials as a balanced $_4\phi_3$ series [6] has an analogue for principally specialised Koornwinder polynomials indexed by the rectangular partition m^n .

LEMMA 5.18. For m a nonnegative integer,

(5.4.5)
$$K_{m^{n}}\left(z(1,t,\ldots,t^{n-1});q,t;t_{0},t_{1},t_{2},t_{3}\right)$$
$$= t_{0}^{-mn}t^{-m\binom{n}{2}}\frac{(t_{0}t_{1}t^{n-1},t_{0}t_{2}t^{n-1},t_{0}t_{3}t^{n-1};q,t)_{m^{n}}}{(t_{0}t_{1}t_{2}t_{3}q^{m-1}t^{n-1};q,t)_{m^{n}}}$$
$$\times {}_{4}\Phi_{3}^{(n)}\left[\frac{zt_{0}t^{n-1},t_{0}/z,t_{0}t_{1}t_{2}t_{3}q^{m-1}t^{n-1},q^{-m}}{t_{0}t_{1}t^{n-1},t_{0}t_{2}t^{n-1},t_{0}t_{3}t^{n-1}};q,t;q\right].$$

For later use we note that by (5.4.2) and (5.4.3) we may rewrite this as

(5.4.6)
$$K_{m^{n}}(z(1,t,\ldots,t^{n-1});q,t;t_{0},t_{1},t_{2},t_{3}) = z^{-mn}t^{-m\binom{n}{2}}(zt_{0}t^{n-1},zq^{1-m}t^{n-1}/t_{0};q,t)_{m^{n}} \times {}_{4}\Phi_{3}^{(n)} \begin{bmatrix} q^{1-m}/t_{0}t_{1},q^{1-m}/t_{0}t_{2},q^{1-m}/t_{0}t_{3},q^{-m}\\ zq^{1-m}t^{n-1}/t_{0},q^{1-m}/zt_{0},q^{2-2m}/t_{0}t_{1}t_{2}t_{3}^{2};q,t;q \end{bmatrix}.$$

We further note that the symmetry of the left-hand side of (5.4.5) under permutation of the t_i implies the multiple Sears transformation [8, Eq. (5.10)]

$$(5.4.7) \quad {}_{4}\Phi_{3}^{(n)} \begin{bmatrix} a, b, c, q^{-m} \\ d, e, f \end{bmatrix} = \frac{(e/a, f/a; q, t)_{m^{n}}}{(e, f; q, t)_{m^{n}}} a^{mn} {}_{4}\Phi_{3}^{(n)} \begin{bmatrix} a, d/b, d/c, q^{-m} \\ d, de/bc, df/bc \end{bmatrix}; q, t; q \end{bmatrix},$$

where $t^{n-1}abc = q^{m-1}def$.

PROOF OF LEMMA 5.18. In [102, Theorem 7.10] Okounkov gives an expansion of the Koornwinder polynomials in terms of BC_n interpolation polynomials $\bar{P}^*_{\mu}(x;q,t,s)$ [102, 108]. The coefficients in this expansion are BC_n *q*-binomial coefficients $\begin{bmatrix} \lambda \\ \mu \end{bmatrix}_{q,t,s}$ (see e.g., [108, page 64]) times a ratio of principally specialised Koornwinder polynomials:

(5.4.8)
$$K_{\lambda}(x;q,t;t_{0},t_{1},t_{2},t_{3}) = \sum_{\mu \subset \lambda} \begin{bmatrix} \lambda \\ \mu \end{bmatrix}_{q,t,s} \frac{K_{\lambda}(t_{0}(1,t,\ldots,t^{n-1});q,t;t_{0},t_{1},t_{2},t_{3})}{K_{\mu}(t_{0}(1,t,\ldots,t^{n-1});q,t;t_{0},t_{1},t_{2},t_{3})} \bar{P}_{\mu}^{*}(x;q,t,t_{0}),$$
where $a = t^{n-1} \sqrt{t,t,t,t_{n-1}/q}$

where $s = t^{n-1} \sqrt{t_0 t_1 t_2 t_3/q}$.

Specialising $x = z(1, t, \dots, t^{n-1})$ and $\lambda = m^n$ in (5.4.8), and using [108, Proposition 4.1]

$$\begin{bmatrix} m^{n} \\ \mu \end{bmatrix}_{q,t,s} = (-q)^{|\mu|} t^{n(\mu)} q^{n(\mu')} \frac{(t^{n}, q^{-m}, s^{2}q^{m}t^{1-n}; q, t)_{\mu}}{C_{\mu}^{-}(q, t; q, t)C_{\mu}^{+}(s^{2}; q, t)}$$

as well as [35, Theorem 3], [120]

$$K_{\lambda}(t_0(1,t,\ldots,t^{n-1});q,t;t_0,t_1,t_2,t_3) = \frac{t^{n(\lambda)}}{(t_0t^{n-1})^{|\lambda|}} \cdot \frac{(t^n,t_0t_1t^{n-1},t_0t_2t^{n-1},t_0t_3t^{n-1};q,t)_{\lambda}}{C_{\lambda}^-(t;q,t)C_{\lambda}^+(t_0t_1t_2t_3t^{2n-2}/q;q,t)}$$

and [108, Corollary 3.11]

$$\bar{P}^*_{\mu}\big(z(1,t,\ldots,t^{n-1});q,t,s\big) = \frac{t^{2n(\mu)}q^{-n(\mu')}}{(-st^{n-1})^{|\mu|}} \cdot \frac{(t^n,s/z,szt^{n-1};q,t)_{\mu}}{C^-_{\mu}(t;q,t)},$$
ain (5.4.6).

we obtain (5.4.6).

Lemma 2.3 implies an analogue of (5.4.6) for the Macdonald–Koornwinder polynomial $K_{m^n}(q, t; t_2, t_3)$.

LEMMA 5.19. For m a nonnegative integer or half-integer,

(5.4.9)
$$K_{m^{n}}(z(1,t,\ldots,t^{n-1});q,t;t_{2},t_{3}) = z^{-mn}t^{-m\binom{n}{2}}(-zq^{1/2-m}t^{n-1};q,t)_{(2m)^{n}} \times {}_{4}\Phi_{3}^{(n)} \begin{bmatrix} -q^{1/2-m}/t_{2},-q^{1/2-m}/t_{3},q^{1/2-m},q^{-m}\\ -zq^{1/2-m}t^{n-1},-q^{1/2-m}/z,q^{3/2-2m}/t_{2}t_{3};q,t;q \end{bmatrix}.$$

PROOF. When m is an integer the claim follows from (5.4.6) by specialising $\{t_0,t_1\}=\{-q^{1/2},-1\}$ and applying

(5.4.10)
$$(a, aq^{-m}; q, t)_{m^n} = (aq^{-m}; q, t)_{(2m)^n}.$$

When m is a half-integer we set m = k + 1/2, where k a nonnegative integer. By Lemma 2.3, we then need to show that

(5.4.11)
$$K_{k^{n}}(z(1,t,\ldots,t^{n-1});q,t;-q,-q^{1/2},t_{2},t_{3}) = z^{-kn}t^{-k\binom{n}{2}}(-zq^{-k}t^{n-1},-zqt^{n-1};q,t)_{k^{n}} \times {}_{4}\Phi_{3}^{(n)} \begin{bmatrix} -q^{-k}/t_{2},q^{-k}/t_{3},q^{-k-1/2},q^{-k} \\ -zq^{-k}t^{n-1},-q^{-k}/z,q^{1/2-2k}/t_{2}t_{3};q,t;q \end{bmatrix}.$$

Here we have also used

$$\prod_{i=1}^{n} \left(x_i^{1/2} + x_i^{-1/2} \right) \Big|_{x_i = zt^{i-1}} = z^{-n/2} t^{-\binom{n}{2}/2} (-z; t)_n$$

and

$$\frac{(-zq^{-k}t^{n-1};q,t)_{(2k+1)^n}}{(-z;t)_n} = (-zq^{-k}t^{n-1},zqt^{n-1};q,t)_{k^n}.$$

Since (5.4.11) is (5.4.6) with $(t_0,t_1,m) \mapsto (-q,-q^{1/2},k)$ we are done.

Equipped with the above lemmas we can specialise Theorems 4.1 and 4.6 to obtain quadratic transformation formulas for Kaneko–Macdonald-type basic hypergeometric series.

5.4.2. The specialisation of Theorem 4.1. Our first result arises by specialising $x \mapsto z(1, t, \ldots, t^{n-1})$ in the bounded Littlewood identity (4.1.5).

PROPOSITION 5.20. For m a nonnegative integer,

$$(5.4.12) \quad {}_{4}\Phi_{3}^{(n)} \begin{bmatrix} a, -a, -t^{n}, q^{-m} \\ aq^{1/2}t^{n}, -aq^{1/2}t^{n}, -q^{-m}/t; q, t; q \end{bmatrix}$$

$$= \frac{(a^{2}t)^{mn}q^{m^{2}n}(qt^{2n}; q, t)_{m^{n}}}{(a^{2}qt^{2n}; q^{2}, t^{2})_{m^{n}}(-qt^{n}; q, t)_{m^{n}}} \, {}_{2}\Phi_{1}^{(n)} \begin{bmatrix} q^{-m}/t, q^{-m} \\ qt^{2n-1} \end{bmatrix}; q, t^{2}; \frac{q}{a^{2}} \end{bmatrix}.$$

Before giving the details of the proof, we first present two equivalent identities which allow us to connect with quadratic transformation formulas of Cohl et al. [28] and Gasper and Rahman [42]. To this end we need the very-well poised multiple basic hypergeometric series [29,108,136]

$$(5.4.13) \quad {}_{r+1}W_r^{(n)}(a_1; a_4, \dots, a_{r+1}; q, t; z) \\ \coloneqq \sum_{\substack{\lambda \\ l(\lambda) \leqslant n}} \left(\frac{(a_1q, a_1q^2, a_1q/t, a_1q^2/t; q^2, t^2)_{\lambda}}{C_{\lambda}^+(a_1, a_1q/t; q, t)} \right. \\ \times \frac{(t^n, a_4, \dots, a_{r+1}; q, t)_{\lambda}}{(a_1q/t^n, a_1q/a_4, \dots, a_1q/a_{r+1}; q, t)_{\lambda}} \cdot \frac{z^{|\lambda|}t^{2n(\lambda)}}{C_{\lambda}^-(q, t; q, t)} \right),$$

where |q|, |z| < 1 if the series does not terminate. For n = 1 this definition simplifies to that of the very-well poised basic hypergeometric series

$${}_{r+1}W_r(a_1;a_4,\ldots,a_{r+1};q,z) := \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1-a_1q^{2k}}{1-a_1} \cdot \frac{(a_1,a_4,\ldots,a_{r+1};q)_k z^k}{(q,a_1q/a_4,\ldots,a_1q/a_{r+1};q)_k},$$

see [43]. For nonnegative integers n and m it follows from (2.2.6) that

$$(5.4.14) \quad {}_{r+1}W_r^{(n)}(a_1; a_4, \dots, a_r, q^{-m}; q, t; z) \\ = {}_{r+1}W_r^{(m)}\bigg((a_1qt)^{-1}; a_4^{-1}, \dots, a_r^{-1}, t^{-n}; t, q; \frac{(a_4 \cdots a_r)^2 z q^{1-2m} t^{2n-1}}{(a_1q)^{r-3}}\bigg).$$

Watson's transformation between a very-well poised $_8W_7$ series and a balanced $_4\phi_3$ series (see [43, Equation (III.18)]) has the following multiple analogue [29,108, 136]:

$$(5.4.15) \quad {}_{8}W_{7}^{(n)}(a;b,c,d,e,q^{-m};q,t;a^{2}q^{m+2}t^{1-n}/bcde) = \frac{(aq,aq/de;q,t)_{m^{n}}}{(aq/d,aq/e;q,t)_{m^{n}}} {}_{4}\Phi_{3}^{(n)} \begin{bmatrix} aq/bc,d,e,q^{-m} \\ aq/b,aq/c,deq^{-m}t^{n-1}/a;q,t;q \end{bmatrix}.$$

Transforming the right-hand side using the multiple Sears transformation (5.4.7) with

$$(a, b, c, d, e, f) \mapsto (e, aq/bc, d, deq^{-m}t^{n-1}/a, aq/b, aq/c)$$

yields the iterated Watson transformation

$$(5.4.16) \quad {}_{8}W_{7}^{(n)}(a;b,c,d,e,q^{-m};q,t;a^{2}q^{m+2}t^{1-n}/bcde) \\ = \frac{(aq,aq/be,aq/ce,aq/de;q,t)_{m^{n}}}{(aq/b,aq/c,aq/d,aq/e;q,t)_{m^{n}}} e^{mn} \\ \times {}_{4}\Phi_{3}^{(n)} \bigg[\frac{eq^{-m}t^{n-1}/a,bcdeq^{-1-m}t^{n-1}/a^{2},e,q^{-m}}{beq^{-m}t^{n-1}/a,ceq^{-m}t^{n-1}/a,deq^{-m}t^{n-1}/a};q,t;q \bigg].$$

Applying (5.4.16) with

$$(a, b, c, d, e) \mapsto \left(q^{-m}t^{2n-1}/a, -q^{1/2}t^n, q^{-m}/at, q^{1/2}t^n, -t^n\right)$$

to the $_{4}\Phi_{3}^{(n)}$ series in (5.4.12), then replacing *a* by 1/c, and finally simplifying some of the *q*, *t*-shifted factorials using (5.4.2),

$$(a, -a, aq^{1/2}, -aq^{1/2}; q, t)_{m^n} = (a; q, t^2)_{(2m)^n}$$

and

$$(a, at^n; q, t)_{m^n} = (at^n; q, t)_{m^{2n}},$$

we obtain the following quadratic transformation formula.

COROLLARY 5.21. For m a nonnegative integer,

$$(5.4.17) \quad {}_{2}\Phi_{1}^{(n)} \begin{bmatrix} q^{-m}/t, q^{-m} \\ qt^{2n-1} \end{bmatrix}; q, t^{2}; c^{2}q \end{bmatrix} = \frac{(c^{2}q^{1-2m}t^{2n-2}; q, t^{2})_{(2m)^{n}}}{(cq^{1-m}t^{2n-1}; q, t)_{m^{2n}}} \\ \times {}_{8}W_{7}^{(n)} (cq^{-m}t^{2n-1}; cq^{-m}/t, -t^{n}, q^{1/2}t^{n}, -q^{1/2}t^{n}, q^{-m}; q, t; cq)$$

For n = 1 this is a terminating version of [28, Theorem 9] by Cohl et al., suggesting the following nonterminating analogue.

Let

$$(a;q,t)_{\infty^n} := \prod_{i=1}^n (at^{1-i};q)_{\infty}.$$

THEOREM 5.22. For $|q|, |cq|, |c^2q| < 1$,

$$(5.4.18) \quad _{2}\Phi_{1}^{(n)} \begin{bmatrix} a, a/t \\ qt^{2n-1}; q, t^{2}; c^{2}q \end{bmatrix} = \frac{(a^{2}c^{2}qt^{2n-2}; q, t^{2})_{\infty^{n}}}{(c^{2}qt^{2n-2}; q, t^{2})_{\infty^{n}}} \cdot \frac{(cqt^{2n-1}; q, t)_{\infty^{2n}}}{(acqt^{2n-1}; q, t)_{\infty^{2n}}} \times _{8}W_{7}^{(n)} (act^{2n-1}; ac/t, a, -t^{n}, q^{1/2}t^{n}, -q^{1/2}t^{n}; q, t; cq).$$

An easy consistency check is provided by the ac = t case. Then the ${}_{8}W_{7}^{(n)}$ series trivialises to 1 and the ${}_{2}\Phi_{1}^{(n)}$ series can be summed by the multiple Gauss sum [58, Proposition 5.4]

(5.4.19)
$${}_{2}\Phi_{1}^{(n)}\left[{a,b \atop c};q,t;{ct^{1-n} \atop ab}\right] = {(c/a,c/b;q,t)_{\infty^{n}} \over (c,c/ab;q,t)_{\infty^{n}}},$$

for $|q|, |ct^{1-n}/ab| < 1$. A full proof of Theorem 5.22 based on a quadratic transformation formula for elliptic Selberg integrals is given in Appendix B.

Applying the dualities (5.4.4) and (5.4.14) to a terminating summation or transformation formula for Kaneko–Macdonald-type basic hypergeometric series, interchanges the roles of m and n (and q and t). Since, by lack of a parameter m, no analogues of these dualities exist in the nonterminating setting, a second inequivalent nonterminating analogue of (5.4.17) can be obtain by first dualising, then interchanging m and n as well as q and t, and finally, after writing the resulting transformation in a suitable form, by replacing q^{-m} by a. To be more precise, the dual of (5.4.17) (after making the substitutions $m \leftrightarrow n$ and $q \leftrightarrow t$) is

$$\label{eq:2.1} \begin{split} _{2}\Phi_{1}^{(n)} \begin{bmatrix} qt^{n}, q^{-2m} \\ q^{1-2m}/t \end{bmatrix}; q^{2}, t; c^{2}t^{-2n} \end{bmatrix} &= \frac{(c^{2}; q^{2}, t)_{m^{2n}}}{(c; q, t)_{(2m)^{n}}} \\ &\times _{8}W_{7}^{(n)} \left(q^{-2m}t^{n-1}/c; qt^{n}/c, q^{-m}t^{-1/2}, -q^{-m}t^{-1/2}, q^{-m}, -q^{-m}; q, t; q/c \right). \end{split}$$

Using the generalised Watson and Sears transformations (5.4.15) and (5.4.7), we can transform the ${}_8W_7^{(n)}$ on the right. Also replacing $c \mapsto ct^{1/2}$ this gives our second corollary.⁵

COROLLARY 5.23. For m a nonnegative integer,

$$(5.4.20) \quad {}_{2}\Phi_{1}^{(n)} \begin{bmatrix} qt^{n}, q^{-2m} \\ q^{1-2m}/t \end{bmatrix}; q^{2}, t; c^{2}t^{1-2n} \end{bmatrix} = \frac{(c^{2}q^{-2m}; q^{2}, t)_{m^{2n}}}{(c^{2}q^{-m}, q^{-2m}/t; q, t)_{m^{n}}} \\ \times {}_{8}W_{7}^{(n)} \left(c^{2}q^{-m-1}; c, -c, ct^{1/2}, -ct^{1/2}, q^{-m}; q, t; q^{-m}t^{-n}\right)$$

For n = 1 this is a terminating analogue of a transformation formula of Gasper and Rahman [42, Equation (1.4)] (see also [43, Equation (3.5.4)]). This suggests a second nonterminating transformation formula.

Theorem 5.24. For $|q|, |c^2t^{1-2n}|, |at^{-n}| < 1$,

$$(5.4.21) \quad _{2}\Phi_{1}^{(n)} \left[\begin{matrix} a^{2}, qt^{n} \\ a^{2}q/t \end{matrix}; q^{2}, t; c^{2}t^{1-2n} \end{matrix} \right] = \frac{(a^{2}c^{2}; q^{2}, t)_{\infty^{2n}}}{(c^{2}; q^{2}, t)_{\infty^{2n}}} \cdot \frac{(a/t, c^{2}; q, t)_{\infty^{n}}}{(a^{2}/t, ac^{2}; q, t)_{\infty^{n}}} \\ \times {}_{8}W_{7}^{(n)} \left(ac^{2}/q; a, c, -c, ct^{1/2}, -ct^{1/2}; q, t; at^{-n} \right).$$

For a proof of this result we again refer to Appendix B.

PROOF OF PROPOSITION 5.20. In (4.1.5) we specialise $x \mapsto z(1, t, \ldots, t^{n-1})$ and replace the summation index λ by 2λ . On the left side we then use

$$b_{2\lambda;m}^{\mathrm{oa}}(q,t) = \left(\frac{q}{t}\right)^{|\lambda|} \frac{(q^{-2m};q^2,t)_\lambda}{(q^{1-2m}/t;q^2,t)_\lambda} \cdot \frac{C_\lambda^-(qt;q^2,t)}{C_\lambda^-(q^2;q^2,t)}$$

(see the proof of Theorem 4.1 on page 47) and

$$P_{2\lambda}(z(1,t,\ldots,t^{n-1});q,t) \stackrel{(2.5.15)}{=} z^{2|\lambda|} t^{2n(\lambda)} \frac{(t^n;q,t)_{2\lambda}}{C_{2\lambda}^-(t;q,t)}$$
$$= z^{2|\lambda|} t^{2n(\lambda)} \frac{(t^n,qt^n;q^2,t)_{\lambda}}{C_{\lambda}^-(t,qt;q^2,t)}$$

As a result we obtain the $_2\Phi_1^{(n)}$ series

(5.4.22)
$${}_{2}\Phi_{1}^{(n)} \begin{bmatrix} qt^{n}, q^{-2m} \\ q^{1-2m}/t \end{bmatrix} ; q^{2}, t; \frac{z^{2}q}{t} \end{bmatrix}$$

 $^{^{5}}$ Alternatively, (5.4.20) may be obtained by equating (5.4.22) and (5.4.23) below, and using (5.4.7) and (5.4.15).

On the right we use (5.4.6) with

$$t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3) = \left(q^{1/2}, -q^{1/2}, (qt)^{1/2}, -(qt)^{1/2}\right)$$

and the elementary relation (5.4.10) to find (5.4.23)

$$(zq^{1/2-m}t^{n-1};q,t)_{(2m)^{n}} \, {}_{4}\Phi_{3}^{(n)} \begin{bmatrix} q^{-m}t^{-1/2}, -q^{-m}t^{-1/2}, -q^{-m}, q^{-m} \\ zq^{1/2-m}t^{n-1}, q^{1/2-m}/z, q^{-2m}t^{-1} ; q, t; q \end{bmatrix}.$$

Next we equate (5.4.22) and $(5.4.23)^6$, apply the duality (5.4.4) to both sides, and interchange m and n as well as q and t. By

$$(a;t,q)_{n^m} = (aq^{1-m}t^{n-1};q,t)_{m^m}$$

(which follows from (2.2.6a) and (2.2.8a) for $\lambda = m^n$) this yields

$$(5.4.24) \quad {}_{2}\Phi_{1}^{(n)} \begin{bmatrix} q^{-m}/t, q^{-m} \\ qt^{2n-1} \end{bmatrix}; q, t^{2}; z^{2}q^{2m}t \\ = (zt^{n-1/2}; q, t)_{m^{2n}} {}_{4}\Phi_{3}^{(n)} \begin{bmatrix} q^{1/2}t^{n}, -q^{1/2}t^{n}, -t^{n}, q^{-m} \\ zt^{n-1/2}, q^{1-m}t^{n-1/2}/z, qt^{2n}; q, t; q \end{bmatrix}.$$

We finally rewrite the right-hand side using the multiple Sears transformation (5.4.7) with

$$(a, b, c, d, e) \mapsto \left(-t^n, q^{1/2}t^n, -q^{1/2}t^n, zt^{n-1/2}, q^{1-m}t^{n-1/2}/z\right),$$

and use

$$(zt^{n-1/2};q,t)_{m^{2n}} \frac{(-zt^{-1/2},-q^{-m}/t;q,t)_{m^n}}{(zt^{n-1/2},q^{-m}t^{-1-n};q,t)_{m^n}} = \frac{(z^2t^{-1};q^2,t^2)_{m^n}(-q^{-m}t^{-1};q,t)_{m^n}}{(q^{-m}t^{-1-n};q,t)_{m^n}}$$

to clean up the prefactor. By the substitution $z \mapsto q^{1/2-m}t^{-1/2}/a$ and application of (5.4.2) the claim follows.

5.4.3. The specialisation of Theorem 4.6. In this section we consider the principal specialisation of the bounded Littlewood identity (4.1.13).

PROPOSITION 5.25. For m a nonnegative integer,

For n = 1, and up to the change $t \mapsto b$, this is a transformation stated on page 2310 of [11].

Again we derive some related results before giving a proof. If we let $c, f \to 0$ and $b, d \to \infty$ in the multiple Sears transformation (5.4.7), such that b/d and f/care fixed as z/q and $azq^{-m}t^{n-1}/e$ respectively, we find

$$_{2}\Phi_{1}^{(n)} \begin{bmatrix} a, q^{-m} \\ e \end{bmatrix}; q, t; z \end{bmatrix} = \frac{(e/a; q, t)_{m^{n}}}{(e; q, t)_{m^{n}}} a^{mn} \ _{3}\Phi_{1}^{(n)} \begin{bmatrix} a, q/z, q^{-m} \\ aq^{1-m}t^{n-1}/e \end{bmatrix}; q, t; \frac{z}{e} \end{bmatrix}$$

 $^{^{6}}$ The transformation obtained by equating (5.4.22) and (5.4.23) generalises Verma's quadratic transformation [135, Equation (2.5)].

This can be used to transform the right-hand side of (5.4.25), so that an equivalent form of that identity is given by

$${}_{4}\Phi_{3}^{(n)} \begin{bmatrix} a, aq, q^{-m}, q^{1-m} \\ aq^{1-m}/t, aq^{2-m}/t, qt^{2n}; q^{2}, t^{2}; q^{2} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$= \frac{(q^{1-m}/t; q, t^{2})_{m^{n}}}{(aq^{1-m}/t; q, t^{2})_{m^{n}}} a^{mn} {}_{3}\Phi_{1}^{(n)} \begin{bmatrix} a, -t^{n}, q^{-m} \\ t^{2n}; q, t; -\frac{q^{m}t}{a} \end{bmatrix}.$$

This generalises the $c = aq^{1-m}/t$ case of Jain's quadratic transformation [55, Equation (3.6)]:

$${}_{4}\phi_{3}\left[{}^{a,aq,q^{-m},q^{1-m}}_{c,cq,qt^{2}};q^{2},q^{2}\right] = \frac{(c/a;q)_{m}}{(c;q)_{m}} a^{n} {}_{4}\phi_{2}\left[{}^{a,t,-t,q^{-m}}_{t^{2},aq^{1-m}/c};q,-\frac{q}{c}\right].$$

Unfortunately, the obvious guess

$${}_{4}\Phi_{3}^{(n)} \begin{bmatrix} a, aq, q^{-m}, q^{1-m} \\ c, cq, qt^{2n} \end{bmatrix} = \frac{(c/a; q, t^{2})_{m^{n}}}{(c; q, t^{2})_{m^{n}}} a^{mn} {}_{4}\Phi_{2}^{(n)} \begin{bmatrix} a, t^{n}, -t^{n}, q^{-m} \\ t^{2n}, aq^{1-m}t^{n-1}/c \end{bmatrix},$$

is false for all $n \ge 2$.

Another rewriting of (5.4.25) arises by expressing the left-hand side as a very well-poised series. First we note that if we make the simultaneous substitutions

$$(m, e, q, t) \mapsto \left(\lfloor m/2 \rfloor, q^{1-2|m/2|}, q^2, t^2 \right)$$

in (5.4.16), and use

$$\frac{(aq^2;q^2,t^2)_{\lfloor m/2 \rfloor^n}}{(aq^{1+2\lceil m/2 \rceil};q^2,t^2)_{\lfloor m/2 \rfloor^n}} = \frac{(aq;q,t^2)_{m^n}}{(aq;q^2t^2)_{m^n}},$$

it follows that

$${}_{8}W_{7}^{(n)}(a;b,c,d,q^{-m},q^{1-m};q^{2},t^{2};a^{2}q^{2m+3}t^{2-2n}/bcd) = \frac{(aq/b,aq/c,aq/d;q^{2},t^{2})_{m^{n}}(aq;q,t^{2})_{m^{n}}}{(aq/b,aq/c,aq/d;q,t^{2})_{m^{n}}(aq;q^{2},t^{2})_{m^{n}}}q^{-n\binom{m}{2}} \times {}_{4}\Phi_{3}^{(n)} \bigg[\frac{q^{1-2m}t^{2n-2}/a,bcdq^{-1-2m}t^{2n-2}/a^{2},q^{-m},q^{1-m}}{bq^{1-2m}t^{2n-2}/a,cq^{1-2m}t^{2n-2}/a,dq^{1-2m}t^{2n-2}/a};q^{2},t^{2};q^{2} \bigg].$$

Taking

$$(a, b, c, d) \mapsto \left(q^{1-2m}t^{2n-2}/a, qt^{2n}/a, q^{1-m}/t, q^{2-m}/t\right),$$

this can be applied to transform the left-hand side of (5.4.25). Then replacing $a \mapsto q/c$ and simplifying the generalised q-shifted factorials using (5.4.2), (5.4.10) and

$$(a, aq; q^2, t)_{\lambda} = (a; q, t)_{2\lambda}$$

we obtain the following companion to Corollaries 5.21 and 5.23.

COROLLARY 5.26. For m a nonnegative integer,

$${}_{2}\Phi_{1}^{(n)} \begin{bmatrix} -t^{n}, q^{-m} \\ -q^{1-m}/t \end{bmatrix} = \frac{(cq^{-m}t^{2n-1}; q, t^{2})_{m^{n}}(cq^{1-2m}t^{2n-2}; q^{2}, t^{2})_{m^{n}}}{(cq^{1-2m}t^{2n-2}; q, t^{2})_{m^{n}}} \times {}_{8}W_{7}^{(n)} \left(cq^{-2m}t^{2n-2}; ct^{2n}, q^{1-m}/t, q^{2-m}/t, q^{-m}, q^{1-m}; q^{2}, t^{2}; c\right)$$

.

Again this permits a nonterminating analogue.

THEOREM 5.27. For |q|, |c| < 1,

$$(5.4.26) {}_{2}\Phi_{1}^{(n)} \begin{bmatrix} a, -t^{n} \\ -aq/t \end{bmatrix} = \frac{(act^{2n-1}, acqt^{2n-2}; q, t^{2})_{\infty^{n}}}{(ct^{2n-1}; q, t^{2})_{\infty^{n}} (cqt^{2n-2}, a^{2}cq^{2}t^{2n-2}; q^{2}, t^{2})_{\infty^{n}}} \times {}_{8}W_{7}^{(n)} \left(a^{2}ct^{2n-2}; ct^{2n}, a, aq, aq/t, aq^{2}/t; q^{2}, t^{2}; c\right).$$

This time $c = qt^{-2n}$ provides a consistency check. Assuming $|q|, |q/t^{2n}| < 1$ for convergence, the left-hand side can be summed by (5.4.19) and the right-hand side, which simplifies to a ${}_{6}W_{5}^{(n)}$ series, can be summed by

$${}_{6}W_{5}^{(n)}(a;b,c,d;q,t;aqt^{1-n}/bcd) = \frac{(aq,aq/bc,aq/bd,aq/cd;q,t)_{\infty^{n}}}{(aq/b,aq/c,aq/d,aq/bcd;q,t)_{\infty^{n}}},$$

see e.g., [29, 36, 108, 115, 136]. We also note that for $c = t^{-2n}$ the ${}_8W_7^{(n)}$ series trivialises to 1. For such c the left-hand side is, however, not summable by the multiple Gauss sum (5.4.19), and we obtain the curious summation

$$(5.4.27) \qquad {}_{2}\Phi_{1}^{(n)} \begin{bmatrix} a, -t^{n} \\ -aq/t \end{bmatrix}, q, t; t^{-2n} \end{bmatrix} = \frac{(a/t, aq/t^{2}; q, t^{2})_{\infty^{n}}}{(1/t; q, t^{2})_{\infty^{n}} (q/t^{2}, a^{2}q^{2}/t^{2}; q^{2}, t^{2})_{\infty^{n}}}$$

where |q|, |1/t| < 1. For n = 1 this is a consequence of the n = 1 case of (5.4.19), together with Heine's contiguous relation [43, page 26]

$${}_{2}\phi_{1}\left[a,b \atop cq;q,z\right] = {}_{2}\phi_{1}\left[a,b \atop c;q,z\right] - cz\frac{(1-a)(1-b)}{(1-c)(1-cq)} {}_{2}\phi_{1}\left[aq,bq \atop cq^{2};q,z\right]$$

For n > 1 there does not appear to be a simple analogue of this relation which, combined with (5.4.19), would imply (5.4.27).

PROOF OF PROPOSITION 5.25. This time we specialise $x = z(1, t^2, \dots, t^{2n-2})$ in (4.1.13). On the left we use (2.5.15) and

$$b^-_{\lambda;m}(q,t) = \left(-\frac{q}{t}\right)^{|\lambda|} \frac{(q^{-m};q,t)_\lambda}{(-q^{1-m}/t;q,t)_\lambda} \cdot \frac{C^-_\lambda(-t;q,t)}{C^-_\lambda(q;q,t)},$$

(see the proof of Theorem 4.6 on page 49), as well as

$$(a^2; q^2, t^2)_{\lambda} = (a, -a; q, t)_{\lambda}$$
 and $C_{\lambda}(a^2; q^2, t^2) = C_{\lambda}(a, -a; q, t).$

On the right we first write

$$P_{(\frac{m}{2})^n}^{(\mathcal{B}_n,\mathcal{C}_n)}(x;q^2,t^2,-t) = K_{(\frac{m}{2})^n}(x;q^2,t^2;-t,-qt)$$

using (2.7.12b), then specialise x, and finally apply (5.4.9). As a result,

$${}_{2}\Phi_{1}^{(n)} \begin{bmatrix} -t^{n}, q^{-m} \\ -q^{1-m}/t; q, t; -\frac{zq}{t} \end{bmatrix} = (-zq^{1-m}t^{2n-2}; q^{2}, t^{2})_{m^{n}} \\ \times {}_{4}\Phi_{3}^{(n)} \begin{bmatrix} q^{-m}/t, q^{1-m}/t, q^{-m}, q^{1-m} \\ -zq^{1-m}t^{2n-2}, -q^{1-m}/z, q^{2-m}/t^{2}; q^{2}, t^{2}; q^{2} \end{bmatrix}.$$

Again we apply the Sears transformation (5.4.7), this time with

$$(a, b, c, d, e, m, q, t) \mapsto (q^{1-2\lceil m/2 \rceil}, q^{-m}/t, q^{1-m}/t, -q^{1-m}/z, -zq^{1-m}t^{2n-2}, \lfloor m/2 \rfloor, q^2, t^2).$$

Noting that

$$\begin{aligned} (-zq^{1-m}t^{2n-2};q^2,t^2)_{m^n} &= \frac{(-zq^{-m+2\lceil m/2\rceil}t^{2n-2},qt^{2n};q^2,t^2)_{\lfloor m/2\rfloor^n}}{(-zq^{1-m}t^{2n-2},q^{2\lceil m/2\rceil}t^{2n};q^2,t^2)_{\lfloor m/2\rfloor^n}} \\ &= \frac{(t^{2n},-zt^{2n-2};q,t^2)_{m^n}}{(t^{2n};q^2,t^2)_{m^n}} \end{aligned}$$

and replacing $z\mapsto -t/a$ completes the proof.

CHAPTER 6

Open problems

We conclude this paper with a list of open problems.

6.1. Missing *q*-analogues

If we specialise $\{t_2, t_3\} = \{\pm t^{1/2}\}$ or $\{t_2, t_3\} = \{\pm i t^{1/4}\}$ in Theorem 4.7 then the Rogers–Szegő polynomials in the summand factorise by (2.3.7).

OPEN PROBLEM 1. Find q-analogues of

$$\sum t^{\operatorname{odd}(\lambda)/2} \left(\prod_{i=1}^{2m-1} (t;t^2)_{\lceil m_i(\lambda)/2\rceil}\right) P_{\lambda}(x;t) = (x_1 \cdots x_n)^m P_{m^n}^{(\mathcal{C}_n)}(x;t,t)$$

and

$$\sum t^{\operatorname{odd}(\lambda)/4} \left(\prod_{\substack{i=1\\i \text{ even}}}^{2m-1} (t^{1/2}; t)_{\lceil m_i(\lambda)/2 \rceil} (-t; t)_{\lfloor m_i(\lambda)/2 \rfloor} \right) \times \left(\prod_{\substack{i=1\\i \text{ odd}}}^{2m-1} (t; t^2)_{m_i(\lambda)/2} \right) P_{\lambda}(x; t) = (x_1 \cdots x_n)^m P_{m^n}^{(\mathcal{C}_n)}(x; t, t^{1/2}).$$

In both cases the sum is over partitions λ such that $\lambda_1 \leq 2m$ and such that parts of odd size have even multiplicity.

Similarly, if we specialise $t_2 = 0$ in Theorem 4.8 then the Rogers–Szegő polynomial in the summand trivialises to 1.

OPEN PROBLEM 2. Find a q-analogue of

$$\sum_{\substack{\lambda\\\lambda_1\leqslant m}} P_{\lambda}(x;t) = (x_1\cdots x_n)^{\frac{m}{2}} P_{(\frac{m}{2})^n}^{(\mathbf{B}_n)}(x;t,0).$$

As remarked previously, the above is equivalent to (5.1.2), which was key in Macdonald's proof of the MacMahon conjecture. This makes finding a q-analogue particularly desirable.

6.2. Littlewood identities for near-rectangular partitions

The bounded Littlewood identities proven in this paper correspond to decompositions of (R, S) Macdonald polynomials (or R Hall–Littlewood polynomials) indexed by rectangular partitions or half-partitions of maximal length. In the Schur case more general shapes have been considered in the literature. For example, Goulden and Krattenthaler [46, 66, 67] proved the following result for the character of the irreducible $\operatorname{Sp}(2n, \mathbb{C})$ -module of highest weight $\omega_r + (m-1)\omega_n$, generalising the Désarménien–Proctor–Stembridge formula (4.1.6):

$$\sum_{\substack{\lambda\\\lambda_1 \leqslant 2m\\ \text{odd}(\lambda) = r}} s_\lambda(x) = (x_1 \cdots x_n)^m \operatorname{sp}_{2n, m^{n-r}(m-1)^r}(x).$$

Here $0 \leq r \leq n$ ($\omega_0 := 0$) and $m^{n-r}(m-1)^r$ is shorthand for the near-rectangular partition

$$m^{n-r}(m-1)^r = (\underbrace{m,\ldots,m}_{n-r \text{ times}},\underbrace{m-1,\ldots,m-1}_{r \text{ times}}).$$

OPEN PROBLEM 3. (i) For positive integers m, n and r an integer such that $0 \leq r \leq n$, prove that¹

(6.2.1)
$$\sum_{\substack{\lambda \\ \text{odd}(\lambda) = r}} b_{\lambda;m,r}^{\text{oa}}(q,t) P_{\lambda}(x;q,t) = (x_1 \cdots x_n)^m P_{m^{n-r}(m-1)^r}^{(C_n,B_n)}(x;q,t,qt),$$

where

$$b^{\mathrm{oa}}_{\lambda;m,r}(q,t) = b^{\mathrm{oa}}_{\lambda}(q,t) \prod_{\substack{s \in \lambda/1^r \\ a'_{\lambda}(s) \text{ even}}} \frac{1 - q^{2m - a'_{\lambda}(s)} t^{l'_{\lambda}(s)}}{1 - q^{2m - a'_{\lambda}(s) - 1} t^{l'_{\lambda}(s) + 1}}.$$

(ii) Prove similar such near-rectangular identities for other admissible pairs (R, S).

6.3. Littlewood identities of Pfaffian type

In Chapter 4 we obtained bounded analogues of most of the known Littlewood identities in the literature. There are however a number of extensions of the (unbounded) Littlewood identities discussed in that section where the product forms on the right are replaced by Pfaffians. Two characteristic examples are [52, Theorem 4.1]²

(6.3.1)
$$\sum_{\lambda} a^{\mathrm{odd}(\lambda)} b^{\mathrm{odd}(\lambda')} s_{\lambda}(x) = \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} \frac{1}{x_i - x_j} \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{1}{1 - b^2 x_i^2} \times \Pr_{1 \leq i, j \leq n} \left(\frac{(x_i - x_j) \left((1 + b^2 x_i x_j) (1 + a^2 x_i x_j) + ab(1 + x_i x_j) (x_i + x_j) \right)}{1 - x_i^2 x_j^2} \right)$$

$$s^{\sum_{i \geqslant 1} \lambda_{2i} - |\lambda|/2} t^{\sum_{i \geqslant 1} \lambda_{2i-1} - |\lambda|/2} = (t/s)^{\mathrm{odd}(\lambda')/2},$$

equation (6.3.1) follows after replacing $u/v^{1/2}$ by a and $(t/s)^{1/2}$ by b.

¹The identity (6.2.1) has recently been proved by Nguyen [100].

²There is an unfortunate error in the right-hand side of [52, Theorem 4.1], in that the factor $(1 + stx_ix_j)$ should have been $(1 + stvx_ix_j)$. With this correction, it readily follows that the theorem in question only depends on two variables instead of four. Scaling $x_i \mapsto x_i/(stv)^{1/2}$ and using that

and [112, Corollary 6.26] (see also [13, Conjecture 1] and [145, Theorem 5])

(6.3.2)
$$\sum_{\lambda' \text{ even}} b_{\lambda}^{\text{el}}(q,t) P_{\lambda}(x;q,t) \prod_{\substack{i=1\\i \text{ even}}}^{n} \left(1 - uq^{\lambda_{i}}t^{n-i}\right) \\ = \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} \frac{(tx_{i}x_{j};q)_{\infty}}{(x_{i} - x_{j})(qx_{i}x_{j};q)_{\infty}} \Pr_{1 \leq i,j \leq n} \left(\frac{(x_{i} - x_{j})(1 - u + (u - t)x_{i}x_{j})}{(1 - x_{i}x_{j})(1 - tx_{i}x_{j})}\right),$$

where in both cases n is assumed to be even. By [70, 128]

$$\Pr_{1 \leqslant i,j \leqslant n} \left(\frac{x_i - x_j}{1 - x_i x_j} \right) = \prod_{1 \leqslant i < j \leqslant n} \frac{x_i - x_j}{1 - x_i x_j}, \qquad n \text{ even},$$

and $Pf(a_i a_j A_{ij}) = Pf(A_{ij}) \prod_i a_i$, the b = 1 and a = 1 specialisations of (6.3.1) simplify to the q = t cases of (4.1.1) and (4.1.2) respectively. Similarly, for u = 0 the identity (6.3.2) yields the a = 0 case of (4.1.2).

OPEN PROBLEM 4. Find bounded analogues of (6.3.1) and (6.3.2).

6.4. Elliptic Littlewood identities

Most of the virtual Koornwinder integrals of Section 3.2 have elliptic analogues, see [111,112].

OPEN PROBLEM 5. Prove elliptic analogues of the bounded Littlewood identities of Theorems 4.1–4.6.

For elliptic analogues of (4.1.1)–(4.1.3) we refer the reader to [111].

6.5. q,t-Littlewood–Richardson coefficients

Let \mathfrak{g} be a complex semisimple Lie algebra and $V(\lambda)$ an irreducible \mathfrak{g} -module of highest weight $\lambda \in P_+$. The Littlewood–Richardson coefficient $c_{\mu\nu}^{\lambda}$ of type \mathfrak{g} is defined as the multiplicity of $V(\lambda)$ in the tensor product $V(\mu) \otimes V(\mu)$:

$$c_{\mu\nu}^{\lambda} = \dim \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{g}} (V(\lambda), V(\mu) \otimes V(\nu)).$$

If $\chi_{\lambda} = \sum_{\mu \in P} K_{\lambda\mu} e^{\mu}$ (with $K_{\lambda\mu}$ the multiplicity of μ in $V(\lambda)$) denotes the formal character of $V(\lambda)$, then

$$\chi_{\mu}\chi_{\nu} = \sum_{\lambda \in P_+} c_{\mu\nu}^{\lambda}\chi_{\lambda}.$$

In [129], Stembridge gave a classification of all multiplicity-free tensor products, i.e., of all pairs of dominant weight μ, ν such that $c_{\mu\nu}^{\lambda} \leq 1$ for all $\lambda \in P_+$. For such a pair it is not generally known for which λ the Littlewood–Richardson coefficient is actually non-vanishing, except for a number of classical Lie algebras and specially chosen weights (typically, for μ and ν multiples of miniscule weights). For example, using his minor summation formula, Okada proved that for $\mathfrak{g} = B_n$ and

(6.5.1)
$$(\mu,\nu) = (r\omega_n, s\omega_n)$$

with r, s nonnegative integers, $c_{\mu\nu}^{\lambda} = 1$ for all dominant weights λ of the form (2.7.5a), where $(\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n)$ is a partition/half-partition if r + s is even/odd, and $\lambda_1 \leq (r+s)/2$, $\lambda_n \geq |r-s|/2$. For weights λ not of this form $c_{\mu\nu}^{\lambda} = 0$. In terms of

odd-orthogonal Schur functions, this result may be expressed as the identity [101, Theorem 2.5 (1)]

$$\operatorname{so}_{2n+1,(\frac{r}{2})^n}(x)\operatorname{so}_{2n+1,(\frac{s}{2})^n}(x) = \sum \operatorname{so}_{2n+1,(\frac{r+s}{2})^n-\lambda}(x).$$

where the sum is over partitions (as opposed to half-partitions) λ of such that $\lambda_1 \leq \min\{r, s\}$.

For r, s nonnegative integers and λ a partition, let

$$\begin{split} b^{\mathrm{el}}_{\lambda;m_1,m_2}(q,t) &:= b^{\mathrm{el}}_{\lambda}(q,t) \prod_{\substack{s \in \lambda \\ l'(s) \text{ even}}} \frac{1 - q^{m_1 - a'(s)} t^{l'(s)}}{1 - q^{m_1 - a'(s) - 1} t^{l'(s) + 1}} \cdot \frac{1 - q^{m_2 - a'(s)} t^{l'(s)}}{1 - q^{m_2 - a'(s) - 1} t^{l'(s) + 1}} \\ & \times \prod_{\substack{s \in \lambda \\ l(s) \text{ even}}} \frac{1 - q^{m_1 + m_2 - \hat{a}(s) - 1} t^{\hat{l}(s) + 1}}{1 - q^{m_1 + m_2 - \hat{a}(s)} t^{\hat{l}(s)}}. \end{split}$$

We note that $b_{\lambda;m_1,m_2}^{\text{el}}(q,t) = 0$ unless $\lambda_1 \leq \min\{m_1,m_2\}$, and

(6.5.2)
$$\lim_{m_2 \to \infty} b^{\mathrm{el}}_{\lambda;m,m_2}(q,t) = b^{\mathrm{el}}_{\lambda;m}(q,t),$$

where $b^{\rm el}_{\lambda;m}(q,t)$ is defined in (4.1.11).

OPEN PROBLEM 6. For $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ and r, s nonnegative integers, prove that

(6.5.3)
$$P_{(\frac{r}{2})^{n}}^{(\mathbf{B}_{n},\mathbf{B}_{n})}(x;q,t,t)P_{(\frac{s}{2})^{n}}^{(\mathbf{B}_{n},\mathbf{B}_{n})}(x;q,t,t) = \sum_{\lambda} b_{\lambda;r,s}^{\mathrm{el}}(q,t)P_{(\frac{r+s}{2})^{n}-\lambda}^{(\mathbf{B}_{n},\mathbf{B}_{n})}(x;q,t,t).$$

Dividing both sides by

$$(x_1\cdots x_n)^{-\frac{1}{2}r} P^{(\mathbf{B}_n,\mathbf{B}_n)}_{(\frac{s}{2})^n}(x;q,t,t),$$

and then using that

$$(x_{1}\cdots x_{n})^{\frac{1}{2}r} \lim_{s \to \infty} \frac{P_{(\frac{r+s}{2})^{n}-\lambda}^{(B_{n},B_{n})}(x;q,t,t)}{P_{(\frac{s}{2})^{n}}^{(B_{n},B_{n})}(x;q,t,t)}$$

= $\frac{\lim_{s \to \infty} (x_{1}\cdots x_{n})^{\frac{1}{2}(r+s)} P_{(\frac{r+s}{2})^{n}-\lambda}^{(B_{n},B_{n})}(x;q,t,t)}{\lim_{s \to \infty} (x_{1}\cdots x_{n})^{\frac{1}{2}s} P_{(\frac{s}{2})^{n}}^{(B_{n},B_{n})}(x;q,t,t)}$
= $P_{\lambda}(x;q,t),$

by (2.7.12a) and (2.7.14), it follows that in the large-s limit we recover the bounded Littlewood identity of Theorem 1.1 with m replaced by r.

There is an analogous result for (C_n, B_n) . For m_1, m_2 nonnegative integers and λ an even partition, let

$$\begin{split} b^{\mathrm{oa}}_{\lambda;m_1,m_2}(q,t) &:= b^{\mathrm{oa}}_{\lambda}(q,t) \prod_{\substack{s \in \lambda \\ a'(s) \text{ even}}} \frac{1 - q^{2m_1 - a'(s)} t^{l'(s)}}{1 - q^{2m_1 - a'(s) - 1} t^{l'(s) + 1}} \cdot \frac{1 - q^{2m_2 - a'(s)} t^{l'(s)}}{1 - q^{2m_2 - a'(s) - 1} t^{l'(s) + 1}} \\ &\times \prod_{\substack{s \in \lambda \\ a(s) \text{ even}}} \frac{1 - q^{2m_1 + 2m_2 - \hat{a}(s) - 1} t^{\hat{l}(s) + 1}}{1 - q^{2m_1 + 2m_2 - \hat{a}(s)} t^{\hat{l}(s)}}. \end{split}$$

This time $b_{\lambda:m_1,m_2}^{\text{oa}}(q,t) = 0$ unless $\lambda_1 \leq \min\{2m_1, 2m_2\}$, and

$$\lim_{m_2 \to \infty} b_{\lambda;m,m_2}^{\mathrm{oa}}(q,t) = b_{\lambda;m}^{\mathrm{oa}}(q,t),$$

where $b_{\lambda:m}^{oa}(q,t)$ for even partitions λ is given by (4.1.11).

OPEN PROBLEM 7. For $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ and r, s nonnegative integers, prove that

$$\begin{split} P_{r^n}^{(\mathbf{C}_n,\mathbf{B}_n)}(x;q,t,qt) P_{s^n}^{(\mathbf{C}_n,\mathbf{B}_n)}(x;q,t,qt) \\ &= \sum_{\lambda \text{ even}} b_{\lambda;r,s}^{\mathbf{oa}}(q,t) P_{(r+s)^n-\lambda}^{(\mathbf{C}_n,\mathbf{B}_n)}(x;q,t,t). \end{split}$$

Let $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ and r, s integers such that $-r \leq s \leq r$.

Taking the large-*s* limit using (2.6.9) and (2.7.9) yields the Littlewood identity (4.1.5). Moreover, in the classical limit we recover Okada's formula for the C_n Littlewood–Richardson coefficient $c_{\mu\nu}^{\lambda}$ with μ and ν given by (6.5.1), see [101, Theorem 2.5 (1)]. For such $\mu, \nu, c_{\mu\nu}^{\lambda} = 1$ if λ is a weight of the form (2.7.5b), where $(\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n)$ is a partition such that and $\lambda_1 \leq r + s$, $\lambda_n \geq |r - s|$ and $\lambda_1 + r + s$ is even. For all other $\lambda, c_{\mu\nu}^{\lambda} = 0$.

6.6. Dyson-Macdonald-type identities

Let \mathfrak{g} be an affine Lie algebra with simple roots $\{\alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_n\}$. The map $e^{-\alpha_1}, \ldots, e^{-\alpha_n} \mapsto 1$ (so that $e^{-\delta} \mapsto e^{-a_0\alpha_0}$) is known as the basic specialisation [87]. When applied to character formulas for affine Lie algebras, the basic specialisation results in (generalised) Dyson–Macdonald type expansions for powers of the Dedekind eta-function, see e.g., [9, 37, 87, 97, 131, 144]. For example, taking the basic specialisation of the $B_n^{(1)\dagger}$ identity (5.2.18) (and replacing t by q) yields the following generalisation of [89, p. 135, (6c)]:

$$(6.6.1) \quad \frac{1}{\eta(\tau/2)^{2n}\eta(\tau)^{2n^2-3n}} \sum_{\lambda_{1} \leq m} (-1)^{\frac{|v|-|\rho|}{m+2n-1}} \chi_{\mathrm{D}}(v/\rho) q^{\frac{||v||^2 - ||\rho||^2}{2(m+2n-1)} + \frac{||\rho||^2}{2(2n-1)}} = \sum_{\lambda_{1} \leq m} q^{|\lambda|/2} P_{\lambda}'(\underbrace{1,\ldots,1}_{2n-1 \text{ times}};q) \prod_{i=0}^{m-1} (-q^{1/2};q^{1/2})_{m_{i}(\lambda)}$$

Here $q = \exp(2\pi i \tau), \ \rho = (n - 1, \dots, 1, 0),$

$$\chi_{\rm D}(v/w) := \prod_{i < j} (v_i^2 - v_j^2) / (w_i^2 - w_j^2),$$

and the sum is over $v \in \mathbb{Z}^n$ such that $v_i \equiv \rho_i \pmod{m+2n-1}$.

Let $C = C_n$ be the Cartan matrix of the Lie algebra A_n , i.e., $(C^{-1})_{ab} = \min\{a,b\} - ab/(n+1)$, and for $\{r_i^{(a)}\}_{1 \leq a \leq n; 1 \leq i \leq k}$ a set of nonnegative integers, let $R_i^{(a)} := r_i^{(a)} + \cdots + r_k^{(a)}$.

Following [9, 144] we define

$$F_{k,n}(q) := \begin{cases} (-q^{1/2};q)_{\infty}^{2n-1} & \text{for } k = 0\\ (-q^{1/2};q^{1/2})_{\infty}^{2n-1} \sum_{\{r_i^{(a)}\}} \frac{q^{\frac{1}{2}\sum_{a,b=1}^n \sum_{i=1}^k C_{ab}R_i^{(a)}R_i^{(b)}}}{\prod_{a=1}^n \prod_{i=1}^{k-1} \left((q;q)_{r_i^{(a)}}\right)(q^2;q^2)_{r_k^{(a)}}} & \text{for } k \ge 1 \end{cases}$$
and

and

$$G_{k,n}(q) := (-q;q)_{\infty}^{n} \sum_{\{r_{i}^{(a)}\}} \frac{q^{\frac{1}{2}\sum_{a,b=1}^{n}\sum_{i=1}^{k}C_{ab}R_{i}^{(a)}R_{i}^{(b)}}(-q^{1/2-R_{1}^{(1)}};q)_{R_{1}^{(1)}}}{\prod_{a=1}^{n}\prod_{i=1}^{k-1}\left((q;q)_{r_{i}^{(a)}}\right)(q^{2};q^{2})_{r_{k}^{(a)}}}$$

for $k \ge 1$.

OPEN PROBLEM 8. For m, n positive integers, prove that

$$\sum_{\substack{\lambda\\\lambda_1 \leqslant m}} q^{|\lambda|/2} P'_{\lambda}(\underbrace{1,\dots,1}_{2n-1 \text{ times}};q) \prod_{i=1}^{m-1} (-q^{1/2};q^{1/2})_{m_i(\lambda)} = \begin{cases} F_{k,2n-1}(q) & \text{if } m = 2k+1\\ G_{k,2n-1}(q) & \text{if } m = 2k. \end{cases}$$

For n = 1 this follows from a minor modification of [139, Lemma A.1], for m = 1 it follows from $P'_{(1r)}(x;t) = e_r(x)$ and

$$\sum_{r=0}^{\infty} z^r e_r \left[\frac{n}{1-q} \right] = (-z;q)_{\infty}^n,$$

and for m = 2 a proof is given in [9, Theorem 3.7]. By (6.6.1), the above problem for even m is equivalent to [144, Conjecture 2.4; (2.6a)].

APPENDIX A

The Weyl–Kac formula

In this first of two appendices we state some simple consequences of the Weyl-Kac formula, needed in the proofs of our combinatorial character formulas in Section 5.2.

Recall the symplectic and odd-orthogonal Schur functions (2.8.10) and (2.8.12). It will be convenient to also define the normalised functions

(A.1.1)
$$\widetilde{\operatorname{so}}_{2n+1,\lambda}(x) = \Delta_{\mathrm{B}}(x) \operatorname{so}_{2n+1,\lambda}(x)$$
 and $\widetilde{\operatorname{sp}}_{2n,\lambda}(x) = \Delta_{\mathrm{C}}(x) \operatorname{so}_{2n+1,\lambda}(x)$,

so that $\tilde{so}_{2n+1,0}(x) = \Delta_B(x)$ and $\tilde{sp}_{2n,0}(x) = \Delta_C(x)$. Mimicking the proofs of [9, Lemmas 2.1–2.4] yields expressions for the characters of $B_n^{(1)}$ and $A_{2n-1}^{(2)}$ in terms of the symplectic and odd orthogonal Schur functions as follows.

LEMMA A.1 ($\mathbf{B}_n^{(1)}$ character formula). Let

(A.1.2)
$$x_i := e^{-\alpha_i - \dots - \alpha_n} \quad (1 \le i \le n), \qquad t := e^{-\delta_i}$$

and parametrise $\Lambda \in P_+$, as

$$\Lambda = c_0 \varpi_0 + (\lambda_1 - \lambda_2) \varpi_1 + \dots + (\lambda_{n-1} - \lambda_n) \varpi_{n-1} + 2\lambda_n \varpi_n$$

where c_0 is a nonnegative integer and $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_n)$ a partition or half-partition. Then

(A.1.3)
$$e^{-\Lambda} \operatorname{ch} V(\Lambda) = \frac{1}{(t;t)_{\infty}^{n} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \theta(x_{i};t) \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} x_{j} \theta(x_{i}x_{j}^{\pm};t)} \\ \times \sum_{\substack{r \in \mathbb{Z}^{n} \\ |r| \equiv 0 \ (2)}} \widetilde{\operatorname{so}}_{2n+1,\lambda}(xt^{r}) \prod_{i=1}^{n} x_{i}^{\kappa r_{i}+\lambda_{i}} t^{\frac{1}{2}\kappa r_{i}^{2}-(n-\frac{1}{2})r_{i}}$$

where $\kappa = 2n - 1 + c_0 + \lambda_1 + \lambda_2$.

LEMMA A.2 ($A_{2n-1}^{(2)}$ character formula). Let

(A.1.4)
$$x_i := e^{-\alpha_i - \dots - \alpha_{n-1} - \alpha_n/2} \quad (1 \le i \le n), \qquad t := e^{-\delta},$$

and parametrise $\Lambda \in P_+$, as

$$\Lambda = c_0 \varpi_0 + (\lambda_1 - \lambda_2) \varpi_1 + \dots + (\lambda_{n-1} - \lambda_n) \varpi_{n-1} + \lambda_n \varpi_n,$$

where c_0 is a nonnegative integer and $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n)$ a partition. Then

(A.1.5)
$$e^{-\Lambda} \operatorname{ch} V(\Lambda) = \frac{1}{(t;t)_{\infty}^{n-1}(t^2;t^2)_{\infty} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \theta(x_i^2;t^2) \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} x_j \theta(x_i x_j^{\pm};t)} \times \sum_{\substack{r \in \mathbb{Z}^n \\ |r| \equiv 0}} \widetilde{\operatorname{sp}}_{2n,\lambda}(xt^r) \prod_{i=1}^{n} x_i^{\kappa r_i + \lambda_i} t^{\frac{1}{2}\kappa r_i^2 - nr_i}$$

where $\kappa = 2n + c_0 + \lambda_1 + \lambda_2$.

For a two-parameter subset of weights, the above two formulas may be rewritten as a pair of character formulas for $\mathbf{B}_n^{(1)\dagger}$ and $\mathbf{A}_{2n-1}^{(2)\dagger}$ where the sum is over the full \mathbb{Z}^n -lattice. For κ, k positive integers and $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$, define

$$\mathscr{N}_{\kappa,k}(x;t) := \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \Delta_{\mathrm{D}}(x^k t^{kr}) \prod_{i=1}^n (-1)^{r_i} x_i^{\kappa r_i - (k-1)(i-1)} t^{\frac{1}{2}\kappa r_i^2 - k(n-1)r_i},$$

where $\Delta_{D}(x)$ is the D_n Vandermonde product (2.8.14) and $x^k := (x_1^k, \ldots, x_n^k)$. Further set

$$\mathscr{D}_{\mathfrak{g}}(x;t) := \begin{cases} (t;t)_{\infty}^{n} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \theta(t^{1/2}x_{i};t) \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} x_{j}\theta(x_{i}x_{j}^{\pm};t) & \text{for } \mathfrak{g} = \mathbf{B}_{n}^{(1)\dagger}, \\ (t;t)_{\infty}^{n-1}(t^{2};t^{2})_{\infty} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \theta(tx_{i}^{2};t^{2}) \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} x_{j}\theta(x_{i}x_{j}^{\pm};t) & \text{for } \mathfrak{g} = \mathbf{A}_{2n-1}^{(2)\dagger}. \end{cases}$$

LEMMA A.3 ($B_n^{(1)\dagger}$ and $A_{2n-1}^{(2)\dagger}$ character formulas). Let

(A.1.6)
$$x_i := e^{-\alpha_i - \dots - \alpha_{n-1} + (\alpha_{n-1} - \alpha_n)/2} \quad (1 \le i \le n), \qquad t := e^{-\delta}$$

and, for k a positive integer and m a nonnegative integer,

(A.1.7)
$$\Lambda = (k-1)\rho + m\varpi_0 \in P_+.$$

Then

(A.1.8)
$$e^{-\Lambda} \operatorname{ch} V(\Lambda) = \frac{1}{\mathscr{D}_{\mathfrak{g}}(x;t)} \times \begin{cases} \mathscr{N}_{m+k(2n-1),k}(x;t) & \text{for } \mathfrak{g} = \mathcal{B}_{n}^{(1)\dagger}, \\ \mathscr{N}_{m+2kn,k}(x;t) & \text{for } \mathfrak{g} = \mathcal{A}_{2n-1}^{(2)\dagger}. \end{cases}$$

For m = 0 and k = 1 this gives what may be viewed as $B_n^{(1)\dagger}$ and $A_{2n-1}^{(2)\dagger}$ Macdonald identities:

$$\mathscr{N}_{2n-1,1}(x;t) = \mathscr{D}_{\mathbf{B}_n^{(1)\dagger}}(x;t)$$

and

(A.1.9)
$$\mathscr{N}_{2n,1}(x;t) = \mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{A}^{(2)\dagger}_{2n-1}}(x;t).$$

COROLLARY A.4 ($\mathbf{B}_n^{(1)\dagger}$ product formula). Let k be a positive integer and (A.1.10) $\Lambda = (k-1)\rho + k\overline{\omega}_0 \in P_+.$

Then

$$e^{-\Lambda} \operatorname{ch} V(\Lambda) = \frac{\mathscr{D}_{\mathbf{A}_{2n-1}^{(2)\dagger}}(x;t)}{\mathscr{D}_{\mathbf{B}_{n}^{(1)\dagger}}(x;t)} \prod_{i=1}^{n} x_{i}^{-(k-1)(i-1)}.$$

PROOF. If we set m = k in the $B_n^{(1)\dagger}$ case of (A.1.8) then

$$\mathrm{e}^{-\Lambda} \operatorname{ch} V(\Lambda) = \frac{\mathscr{N}_{2kn,k}(x;t)}{\mathscr{D}_{\mathrm{B}_{n}^{(1)\dagger}}(x;t)}$$

with Λ as in (A.1.10). By

$$\mathcal{N}_{2kn,k}(x;t) = \mathcal{N}_{2n,1}(x^k;t^k) \prod_{i=1}^n x_i^{-(k-1)(i-1)}$$

and (A.1.9) the result follows.

We still need to prove Lemma A.3. For this we first prepare a determinantal identity. For $\sigma = 0, 1$ and κ, k positive integers, let

$$\mathcal{N}_{\kappa,k;\sigma}(x;t) := (-1)^{\sigma} \sum_{\substack{r \in \mathbb{Z}^n \\ |r| \equiv \sigma}} \det_{\substack{1 \leqslant i, j \leqslant n}} \left(x_i^{-\kappa r_i - k(i-j) + i - 1} t^{\frac{1}{2}\kappa r_i^2 + k(n-j)r_i} - x_i^{-\kappa(r_i+1) + k(2n-i-j) + i - 1} t^{\frac{1}{2}\kappa(r_i+1)^2 - k(n-j)(r_i+1)} \right).$$

LEMMA A.5. We have

(A.1.11)
$$\mathscr{N}_{\kappa,k;\sigma}(x;t) = \mathscr{N}_{\kappa,k}(x;t).$$

PROOF. Let $\varepsilon \in \{-1, 1\}$. Then

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{N}_{\kappa,k;0}(x;t) &+ \varepsilon \mathcal{N}_{\kappa,k;1}(x;t) \\ &= \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \det_{1 \leq i,j \leq n} \left((-1)^{\frac{1}{2}(1+\varepsilon)r_i} x_i^{-\kappa r_i - k(i-j) + i - 1} t^{\frac{1}{2}\kappa r_i^2 + k(n-j)r_i} \right. \\ &- (-1)^{\frac{1}{2}(1+\varepsilon)r_i} x_i^{-\kappa(r_i+1) + k(2n-i-j) + i - 1} t^{\frac{1}{2}\kappa(r_i+1)^2 - k(n-j)(r_i+1)} \right) \\ &= \det_{1 \leq i,j \leq n} \left(\sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}} (-1)^{\frac{1}{2}(1+\varepsilon)r} x_i^{-\kappa r - k(i-j) + i - 1} t^{\frac{1}{2}\kappa r^2 + k(n-j)r} \right. \\ &- \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}} (-1)^{\frac{1}{2}(1+\varepsilon)r} x_i^{-\kappa(r+1) + k(2n-i-j) + i - 1} t^{\frac{1}{2}\kappa(r+1)^2 - k(n-j)(r+1)} \right) \\ &= \det_{1 \leq i,j \leq n} \left(\sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}} (-1)^{\frac{1}{2}(1+\varepsilon)r} x_i^{\kappa r - k(i-j) + i - 1} t^{\frac{1}{2}\kappa r^2 - k(n-j)r} \right. \\ &+ \varepsilon \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}} (-1)^{\frac{1}{2}(1+\varepsilon)r} x_i^{\kappa r - k(i-j) + i - 1} t^{\frac{1}{2}\kappa r^2 - k(n-j)r} \right) \\ &= \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \prod_{i=1}^n (-1)^{\frac{1}{2}(1+\varepsilon)r_i} x_i^{\kappa r_i - (k-1)(i-1)} t^{\frac{1}{2}\kappa r_i^2 - k(n-1)r_i} \\ &\quad \times \det_{1 \leq i,j \leq n} \left((x_i t^{r_i})^{k(j-1)} + \varepsilon (x_i t^{r_i})^{k(2n-j-1)} \right). \end{split}$$

Here the second and last equality use multilinearity and the third equality follows from a shift of $r \mapsto r-1$ in the second sum over r. When j = n the final line reads $(1 + \varepsilon) (x_i t^{r_i})^{k(n-1)}$, so that

(A.1.12)
$$\mathscr{N}_{\kappa,k;0}(x;t) - \mathscr{N}_{\kappa,k;1}(x;t) = 0.$$

99

Also, by the D_n Vandermonde determinant (2.8.14),

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{N}_{\kappa,k;0}(x;t) &+ \mathscr{N}_{\kappa,k;1}(x;t) \\ &= 2\sum_{r\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \Delta_{\mathrm{D}}(x^k t^{kr}) \prod_{i=1}^n (-1)^{r_i} x_i^{\kappa r_i - (k-1)(i-1)} t^{\frac{1}{2}\kappa r_i^2 - k(n-1)r_i} \\ &= 2\mathscr{N}_{\kappa,k}(x;t). \end{aligned}$$

Together with (A.1.12) this implies (A.1.11).

PROOF OF LEMMA A.3. For κ, k positive integers, define

$$\mathcal{M}_{\kappa,k}(x;t) := \sum_{\substack{r \in \mathbb{Z}^n \\ |r| \equiv 0 \ (2)}} \det_{\substack{1 \leqslant i, j \leqslant n}} \left(x_i^{\kappa r_i + k(j-1) - (k-1)(i-1)} q^{\kappa \binom{r_i}{2} + k(j-1)r_i} - x_i^{\kappa (r_i+1) - k(j-1) - (k-1)(i-1)} q^{\kappa \binom{r_i+1}{2} - k(j-1)r_i} \right).$$

Taking $c_0 = k - 1$, $\lambda_i = \frac{1}{2}m + (k - 1)(n - i + \frac{1}{2})$ $(1 \le i \le n)$ in A.1.3, and using (2.8.12) and (A.1.1), we obtain

(A.1.13)
$$e^{-(k-1)\rho - m\varpi_n} \operatorname{ch} V\left((k-1)\rho + m\varpi_n\right)$$
$$= \frac{\mathscr{M}_{m+k(2n-1),k}(x;t)}{(t;t)_{\infty} \prod_{i=1}^n \theta(x_i;t) \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq n} x_j \theta(x_i x_j^{\pm};t)},$$

where $\mathfrak{g} = B_n^{(1)}$ and x_1, \ldots, x_n are given by A.1.2. Similarly, taking $c_0 = k - 1$, $\lambda_i = \frac{1}{2}m + (k-1)(n-i+1)$ $(1 \le i \le n)$ in A.1.5, and using (2.8.10) and (A.1.1), we get

(A.1.14)
$$e^{-(k-1)\rho - m\varpi_n} \operatorname{ch} V((k-1)\rho + m\varpi_n)$$

= $\frac{\mathscr{M}_{m+2kn,k}(x)}{(t;t)_{\infty}^{n-1}(t^2;t^2)_{\infty}\prod_{i=1}^n \theta(x_i^2;t^2)\prod_{1\leqslant i < j\leqslant n} x_j\theta(x_ix_j^{\pm};t)},$

where $\mathfrak{g} = \mathcal{A}_{2n-1}^{(2)}$ and x_1, \ldots, x_n are given by A.1.4. Next we replace $\alpha_i \mapsto \alpha_{n-i}$ for $0 \leq i \leq n$. This maps maps ϖ_n to ϖ_0 but leaves the Weyl vector ρ unchanged. On the right it has the effect of replacing (A.1.2) by

$$x_{n-i+1} = e^{-\alpha_0 - \dots - \alpha_{i-1}} \quad (1 \le i \le n)$$

in the case of (A.1.13), and by

$$x_{n-i+1} = e^{-\alpha_0/2 - \alpha_1 - \dots - \alpha_{i-1}} \quad (1 \le i \le n).$$

in the case of $A_{2n-1}^{(2)}$. Moreover, in the first case t is now given by

$$t = e^{-2\alpha_0 - \dots - 2\alpha_{n-2} - \alpha_{n-1} - \alpha_n}$$

in accordance with the interpretation of δ as the null root of $B_n^{(1)\dagger}$, and in the second case by

$$t = e^{-\alpha_0 - 2\alpha_1 - \dots - 2\alpha_{n-2} - \alpha_{n-1} - \alpha_n}$$

in accordance with $A_{2n-1}^{(2)\dagger}$. We now replace $x_i \mapsto t^{1/2}/x_{n-i+1}$ —so that the transformed x_i is given by (A.1.6) in both cases—and $r_i \mapsto r_{n-i+1}$ for $1 \leq i \leq n$.
Also reversing the order of the rows and columns in the determinant and using $\theta(x;t) = \theta(t/x;t)$, we get

$$e^{-(k-1)\rho - m\varpi_0} \operatorname{ch} V((k-1)\rho + m\varpi_0) = \frac{1}{\mathscr{D}_{\mathfrak{g}}(x;t)} \times \begin{cases} \mathscr{N}_{m+k(2n-1),k;0}(x) & \text{for } \mathbf{B}_n^{(1)\dagger}, \\ \\ \mathscr{N}_{m+2kn,k;0}(x) & \text{for } \mathbf{A}_{2n-1}^{(2)\dagger}. \end{cases}$$
By Lemma A.5 the claim follows. \Box

APPENDIX B

Limits of elliptic hypergeometric integrals

We review some results of van de Bult and the first author [20, 21] regarding limits of elliptic beta integrals. We then prove the quadratic transformation formulas of Theorems 5.22, 5.24 and 5.27 by taking limits in three quadratic transformation formulas for elliptic beta integrals, originally conjectured in [111] in the context of elliptic Littlewood identities, and subsequently proved in [19, 112].

For complex p, q such that |p|, |q| < 1 and $z \in \mathbb{C}^*$, let $\Gamma(z; p, q)$ be the elliptic gamma function [119]

$$\Gamma(z;p,q):=\prod_{i,j=0}^{\infty}\frac{1-z^{-1}p^{i+1}q^{j+1}}{1-zp^iq^j},$$

which satisfies the functional equation

(B.1.1)
$$\Gamma(z; p, q)\Gamma(pq/z; p, q) = 1$$

For $z = (z_1, \ldots, z_n) \in (\mathbb{C}^*)^n$ and $t, t_0, \ldots, t_{2m+5} \in \mathbb{C}^*$ (*m* a nonnegative integer) such that

$$t^{2n-2}t_0\cdots t_{2m+5} = (pq)^{m+1},$$

define the density

$$\Delta(z;t_0,\ldots,t_{2m+5};t;p,q) := \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{\prod_{r=0}^{2m+5} \Gamma(t_r z_i^{\pm};p,q)}{\Gamma(z_i^{\pm 2};p,q)} \prod_{1 \le i < j \le n} \frac{\Gamma(t z_i^{\pm} z_j^{\pm};p,q)}{\Gamma(z_i^{\pm} z_j^{\pm};p,q)}.$$

Note that for $0 < \alpha < 1$,

$$\lim_{p \to 0} \Delta(z; t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3, p^{\alpha} t_4, p^{1-\alpha} q/t_0 t_1 t_2 t_3 t_4; t; p, q) = \Delta(z; q, t; t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3),$$

with on the right the Koornwinder density (2.6.1). The elliptic density may be used to define the higher-order elliptic Selberg integral (also known as a type-II C_n beta integral) as [110, 118, 123]

(B.1.2)
$$\Pi_m^{(n)}(t_0, \dots, t_{2m+5}; t; p, q)$$

:= $\kappa_n \int_{C^n} \Delta(z; t_0, \dots, t_{2m+5}; t; p, q) \frac{\mathrm{d}z_1}{z_1} \cdots \frac{\mathrm{d}z_n}{z_n},$

where

$$\kappa_n := \frac{1}{2^n n!} \left(\frac{(p;p)_{\infty}(q;q)_{\infty} \Gamma(t;p,q)}{2\pi \mathrm{i}} \right)^n$$

and C is positively oriented, star-shaped Jordan curve around the origin such that $C = C^{-1}$ and such that the points $\{t_r p^i q^j\}_{0 \leq r \leq 2m+5; i,j \geq 0}$ all lie in the interior of C.

For
$$\alpha = (\alpha_0, ..., \alpha_7) \in \mathbb{R}^7$$
 and $u = (u_0, ..., u_7) \in (\mathbb{C}^*)^7$ such that
(B.1.3) $t^{2n-2}u_0 \cdots u_7 = q^2$,

let

$$B_{\alpha}^{(n)}(u;t;p,q) := II_1^{(n)}(u_0p^{\alpha_0},\ldots,u_7p^{\alpha_7};t;p,q).$$

From [20, Proposition 4.3] and [21, Proposition 6.5] we may infer the following $p \to 0$ limit of $B_{\alpha}^{(n)}(u;t;p,q)$.

PROPOSITION B.1. Let $q, t, u_0, \ldots, u_7 \in \mathbb{C}^*$ such that $|q|, |u_1u_2| < 1$ and such that (B.1.3) holds, and let

$$\alpha = (-\gamma, -\beta, \beta, \gamma, \gamma, \delta, 1 - \delta, 1 - \gamma)$$

for $0 \leq \beta < \gamma < \delta \leq 1/2$. Then

$$\lim_{p \to 0} (u_0 u_1 p^{-\gamma - \beta} t^{n-1}, u_0 u_2 p^{-\gamma + \beta} t^{n-1}; q, t)_{\infty^n} B_{\alpha}^{(n)}(u; t, p, q)$$
$$= \frac{(q t^{n-1} u_0 / u_7; q, t)_{\infty^n}}{(t^n, t^{n-1} u_0 u_3, t^{n-1} u_0 u_4; q, t)_{\infty^n}} {}_2 \Phi_1^{(n)} \begin{bmatrix} t^{n-1} u_0 u_3, t^{n-1} u_0 u_4 \\ q t^{n-1} u_0 / u_7 \end{bmatrix}; q, t; u_1 u_2 \end{bmatrix}.$$

To shorten some of our subsequent calculations we restate this in a form that hides the symmetry in u_3 and u_4 , and which is obtained by applying the multiple analogue of Heine transformation [8, Equation (2.2)]

(B.1.4)
$$_{2}\Phi_{1}^{(n)}\begin{bmatrix}a,b\\c;q,t;z\end{bmatrix} = \frac{(b,azt^{n-1};q,t)_{\infty^{n}}}{(c,zt^{n-1};q,t)_{\infty^{n}}} _{2}\Phi_{1}^{(n)}\begin{bmatrix}c/b,zt^{n-1}\\azt^{n-1};q,t;bt^{1-n}\end{bmatrix},$$

for $|z|, |bt^{1-n}| < 1$.

COROLLARY B.2. Let $q, t, u_0, \ldots, u_7 \in \mathbb{C}^*$ such that $|q|, |u_0u_4| < 1$ and such that (B.1.3) holds, and let

$$\alpha = (-\gamma, -\beta, \beta, \gamma, \gamma, \delta, 1 - \delta, 1 - \gamma)$$

for $0 \leq \beta < \gamma < \delta \leq 1/2$. Then

$$\begin{split} \lim_{p \to 0} &(u_0 u_1 p^{-\gamma -\beta} t^{n-1}, u_0 u_2 p^{-\gamma +\beta} t^{n-1}; q, t)_{\infty^n} \, B^{(n)}_{\alpha}(u; t, p, q) \\ &= \frac{(q^2/u_4 u_5 u_6 u_7; q, t)_{\infty^n}}{(t^n, t^{n-1} u_1 u_2, t^{n-1} u_0 u_3; q, t)_{\infty^n}} \, {}_2 \Phi^{(n)}_1 \bigg[\frac{t^{n-1} u_1 u_2, q/u_4 u_7}{q^2/u_4 u_5 u_6 u_7}; q, t; u_0 u_4 \bigg]. \end{split}$$

The second $p \to 0$ limit of $B_{\alpha}^{(n)}(u;t;p,q)$ we need is as follows.

PROPOSITION B.3. Let $q, t, u_0, \ldots, u_7 \in \mathbb{C}^*$ such that $|q|, |u_1u_5| < 1$ and such that (B.1.3) holds, and let

(B.1.5)
$$\alpha = (-\gamma, -\gamma, \gamma, \gamma, \gamma, \gamma, \gamma, 1 - \gamma, 1 - \gamma)$$

for $0 < \gamma < 1/2$. Then

$$(B.1.6) \quad \lim_{p \to 0} (u_0 u_1 p^{-2\gamma} t^{n-1}; q, t)_{\infty^n} B_{\alpha}^{(n)}(u; t; p, q) \\ = \frac{(qt^{n-1} u_0/u_6, qt^{n-1} u_0/u_7; q, t)_{\infty^n}}{(t^n, t^{n-1} u_0 u_5, q^2 t^{n-1} u_0/u_5 u_6 u_7; q, t)_{\infty^n}} \prod_{r=2}^4 \frac{(q^2/u_r u_5 u_6 u_7; q, t)_{\infty^n}}{(t^{n-1} u_0 u_r, t^{n-1} u_1 u_r; q, t)_{\infty^n}} \\ \times {}_8 W_7^{(n)} \Big(\frac{qt^{n-1} u_0}{u_5 u_6 u_7}; t^{n-1} u_0 u_2, t^{n-1} u_0 u_3, t^{n-1} u_0 u_4, \frac{q}{u_5 u_6}, \frac{q}{u_5 u_7}; q, t; u_1 u_5 \Big).$$

This result follows from a special case $(m = 1 \text{ and } (\alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_7)$ given by the sequence (B.1.5)) of [**21**, Proposition 6.3]. After some symmetrisation, this expresses the left-hand side of (B.1.6) as a virtual Koornwinder integral. By [**108**, Theorem 5.15] this integral can be expressed as the ${}_8W_7^{(n)}$ series on given on the right of (B.1.6).

REMARK B.4. There is some redundancy in the expression on the right, and by the substitution

$$(u_1, u_2, \dots, u_7) \mapsto (u_0 u_1, u_2/u_0, u_3/u_0, u_4/u_0, u_5/u_0, u_0 u_6, u_0 u_7),$$

so that the constraint (B.1.3) simplifies to $t^{2n-2}u_1 \cdots u_7 = q^2$, the u_0 -dependence drops out.

We now have the tools to prove the nonterminating quadratic transformation formulas of Section 5.4. Because it is much simpler than Theorem 5.22, we first consider Theorem 5.24.

PROOF OF THEOREM 5.24. Our starting point is the following quadratic transformation formula for elliptic Selberg integrals.

THEOREM B.5. For $p, q, t, t_0, ..., t_4 \in \mathbb{C}^*$ such that |p|, |q| < 1 and (B.1.7) $t^{n-1}t_0t_1t_2t_3 = pq$,

we have

(B.1.8)
$$\begin{split} II_{1}^{(n)} \big(t^{-1/2}t_{0}^{2}, t^{-1/2}t_{1}^{2}, t^{-1/2}t_{2}^{2}, t^{-1/2}t_{3}^{2}, t^{1/2}, pt^{1/2}, qt^{1/2}, pqt^{1/2}; t; p^{2}, q^{2}\big) \\ &= \prod_{i=1}^{2n} \prod_{0 \leqslant r < s \leqslant 2} \frac{\Gamma(-t^{i/2-1}t_{r}t_{s}; p, q)}{\Gamma(t^{i/2-1/2}t_{r}t_{s}; p, q)} \\ &\times II_{1}^{(n)} \big(t^{\pm 1/4}t_{0}, t^{\pm 1/4}t_{1}, t^{\pm 1/4}t_{2}, -t^{\pm 1/4}t_{3}; t; p, q\big). \end{split}$$

This theorem is the special case

 $\lambda = 0$ and $(n, t, t_0, t_1, t_2, u_0) \mapsto (2n, t^{1/2}, t^{-1/4}t_0, t^{-1/4}t_1, t^{-1/4}t_2, -t^{-1/4}t_3)$ of [111, Conjecture Q1], which was proved in [19, Corollary 7.6] and [112, Section 8].

If we make the substitutions

$$(t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3) \mapsto (p^{-1/4}, ap^{1/4}t^{1/2-n}, cp^{1/4}t^{1-n}, p^{3/4}qt^{n-1/2}/ac),$$

consistent with the constraint (B.1.7), the transformation (B.1.8) takes the form

$$\begin{split} B^{(n)}_{\alpha} & \left(t^{-1/2}, t^{1/2}, qt^{1/2}, a^2t^{1/2-2n}, c^2t^{3/2-2n}, t^{1/2}, qt^{1/2}, \frac{q^2t^{2n-3/2}}{a^2c^2}; t; p^2, q^2\right) \\ &= \prod_{i=1}^{2n} \frac{\Gamma(-ct^{(1-i)/2}, -at^{-i/2}, -acp^{1/2}t^{i/2+1/2-2n}; p, q)}{\Gamma(ct^{1-i/2}, at^{(1-i)/2}, acp^{1/2}t^{i/2+1-2n}; p, q)} \\ &\times B^{(n)}_{\alpha'} \left(t^{1/4}, t^{-1/4}, ct^{5/4-n}, ct^{3/4-n}, at^{3/4-n}, at^{1/4-n}, -\frac{qt^{n-1/4}}{ac}, -\frac{qt^{n-3/4}}{ac}; t; p, q\right) \\ & \text{where} \end{split}$$

(B.1.9) $\alpha = \left(-\frac{1}{4}, 0, 0, \frac{1}{4}, \frac{1}{4}, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{3}{4}\right) \text{ and } \alpha' = \left(-\frac{1}{4}, -\frac{1}{4}, \frac{1}{4}, \frac{1}{4}, \frac{1}{4}, \frac{1}{4}, \frac{1}{4}, \frac{3}{4}, \frac{3}{4}, \frac{3}{4}\right).$

Multiplying both sides by

$$(p^{-1/2}t^{n-1};q,t)_{\infty^n} = (p^{-1/2}t^{n-1},p^{-1/2}qt^{n-1};q^2,t)_{\infty^n},$$

we can take the $p \to 0$ limit using Corollary B.2 and Proposition B.3. After some simplifications the claim follows.

PROOF OF THEOREM 5.22. This time the proof is more involved, and as a first step we need to carry out a non-trivial rewriting of the theorem.

Appealing to analytic continuation, it suffices to prove (5.4.18) for |t| < 1. As a function of a, both sides of (5.4.18) are analytic for $|a| < |1/cqt^n|$. Hence it is enough to prove the identity for the sequence of a-values $\{t^N\}_{N \ge 0}$ with accumulation point 0. If we set $a = t^N$ in (5.4.18) we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} (\text{B.1.10}) \\ {}_{2}\Phi_{1}^{(n)} \bigg[\frac{t^{N}, t^{N-1}}{qt^{2n-1}}; q, t^{2}; c^{2}q \bigg] &= \frac{(c^{2}qt^{2N+2n-2}; q, t^{2})_{\infty^{n}}}{(c^{2}qt^{2n-2}; q, t^{2})_{\infty^{n}}} \cdot \frac{(cqt^{2n-1}; q, t)_{\infty^{2n}}}{(cqt^{N+2n-1}; q, t)_{\infty^{2n}}} \\ &\times {}_{8}W_{7}^{(n)} \big(ct^{N+2n-1}; ct^{N-1}, t^{N}, -t^{n}, q^{1/2}t^{n}, -q^{1/2}t^{n}; q, t; cq \big). \end{aligned}$$

Now define integers m_1, m_2 as

$$m_1 := \lfloor \frac{N}{2} \rfloor$$
 and $m_2 := 2 \lceil \frac{N}{2} \rceil - 1 = 2(N - m_1) - 1.$

Since $\{N - 1, N\} = \{2m_1, m_2\}$, it follows from (5.4.1) that

$${}_{r}\Phi_{s}^{(n)}\begin{bmatrix}t^{N}, t^{N-1}, a_{3}, \dots, a_{r}\\b_{1}, \dots, b_{s}\end{bmatrix}; q, t^{2}; z = {}_{2}\Phi_{1}^{(m_{1})}\begin{bmatrix}t^{2n}, t^{m_{2}}, a_{3}, \dots, a_{r}\\b_{1}, \dots, b_{s}\end{bmatrix}; q, t^{2}; z].$$

Also, by (5.4.13),

$${}_{r+1}W_r^{(n)}(a_1;t^N,a_5,\ldots,a_{r+1};q,t;z) = {}_{r+1}W_r^{(N)}(a_1;t^n,a_5,\ldots,a_{r+1};q,t;z).$$

Applying these two results to (B.1.10), and using

$$\frac{(c^2qt^{2N+2n-2}, cqt^{2n-1}, cqt^{2n-2}; q, t^2)_{\infty^n}}{(c^2qt^{2n-2}, cqt^{N+2n-1}, cqt^{N+2n-2}; q, t^2)_{\infty^n}} = \frac{(c^2qt^{2N+2n-2}; q, t^2)_{\infty^N}}{(c^2qt^{2N-2}; q, t^2)_{\infty^N}} \cdot \frac{(cqt^{N-1}; q, t)_{\infty^N}}{(cqt^{N+2n-1}; q, t)_{\infty^N}}$$

yields

$$\begin{split} {}_{2}\Phi_{1}^{(m_{1})} \bigg[\frac{b^{2}, t^{m_{2}}}{b^{2}q/t}; q, t^{2}; c^{2}q \bigg] &= \frac{(b^{2}c^{2}qt^{2N-2}; q, t^{2})_{\infty^{N}}}{(c^{2}qt^{2N-2}; q, t^{2})_{\infty^{N}}} \cdot \frac{(cqt^{N-1}; q, t)_{\infty^{N}}}{(b^{2}cqt^{N-1}; q, t)_{\infty^{N}}} \\ &\times {}_{8}W_{7}^{(N)} \big(b^{2}ct^{N-1}; ct^{N-1}, b, -b, bq^{1/2}, -bq^{1/2}; q, t; cq \big) \end{split}$$

where $b = t^n$. In the following we will prove this transformation formula for arbitrary b. We may then rename N as n so that the identity to be proved takes the form

$$(B.1.11) \quad {}_{2}\Phi_{1}^{(n_{1})} \begin{bmatrix} b^{2}, t^{n_{2}} \\ b^{2}q/t \end{bmatrix}; q, t^{2}; c^{2}q \end{bmatrix} = \frac{(b^{2}c^{2}qt^{2n-2}; q, t^{2})_{\infty^{n}}}{(c^{2}qt^{2n-2}; q, t^{2})_{\infty^{n}}} \cdot \frac{(cqt^{n-1}; q, t)_{\infty^{n}}}{(b^{2}cqt^{n-1}; q, t)_{\infty^{n}}} \times {}_{8}W_{7}^{(n)} (b^{2}ct^{n-1}; ct^{n-1}, b, -b, bq^{1/2}, -bq^{1/2}; q, t; cq)$$

where $|q|, |cq|, |c^2q| < 1$ and

(B.1.12)
$$n_1 := \lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor, \quad n_2 := 2 \lceil \frac{n}{2} \rceil - 1 = 2(n - n_1) - 1.$$

The prerequisite integral transformation is as follows.

THEOREM B.6. Let $p, q, t, t_0, \ldots, t_4 \in \mathbb{C}^*$ such that |p|, |q| < 1 and such that (B.1.7) holds. Let n_1 and n_2 be given by (B.1.12) and τ by

$$\tau = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } n \text{ is even} \\ \frac{1}{\Gamma(t_0^2, t_1^2, t_2^2, t_3^2, p, t, pt; p^2, q)} & \text{if } n \text{ is odd.} \end{cases}$$

Then

Noting that $t^{n_2-2n_1+1}$ is 1 for n even and t^2 for n odd, the above theorem is [111, Conjecture Q4] with

$$\boldsymbol{\lambda} = \boldsymbol{0} \quad \text{and} \quad (q, u_0) \mapsto (q^{1/2}, -t_3),$$

which was proved in [112, Section 8].

If we make the substitutions

$$(t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3) = (p^{-1/4}, bp^{1/4}q^{1/2}t^{1-n}, cp^{1/4}q^{1/2}, p^{3/4}/bc)$$

then (B.1.7) is automatically satisfied. Again defining α and α' as in (B.1.9), we thus obtain

$$\begin{split} B^{(n_1)}_{\alpha} \bigg(1, t^{n_2 - 2n_1 + 1}, t, b^2 q t^{2 - 2n}, c^2 q, 1, t, \frac{1}{b^2 c^2}; t^2; p^2, q \bigg) \\ &= \tau' \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{\Gamma(-bq^{1/2}t^{1-i}, -cq^{1/2}t^{n-i}, -bcp^{1/2}qt^{1-i}; p, q^{1/2})}{\Gamma(bt^{1-i}, ct^{n-i}, bcp^{1/2}q^{1/2}t^{1-i}; p, q^{1/2})} \\ &\times B^{(n)}_{\alpha'} \bigg(q^{-1/4}, q^{1/4}, bq^{1/4}t^{1-n}, bq^{3/4}t^{1-n}, cq^{1/4}, cq^{3/4}, -\frac{q^{-1/4}}{bc}, -\frac{q^{1/4}}{bc}; t; p, q \bigg), \end{split}$$

where $\tau' = 1$ if *n* is even and

$$\tau' = \frac{1}{\Gamma(p^{-1/2}, b^2 p^{1/2} q t^{2-2n}, c^2 p^{1/2} q, p^{3/2}/b^2 c^2, p, t, pt; p^2, q)}.$$

After multiplying both sides by

$$\begin{split} (p^{-1/2}t^{n_2-1},p^{-1/2}t^{2n_1-1};q,t^2)_{\infty^{n_1}} \\ &= (p^{-1/2}t^{n-1};q,t)_{\infty^n} \times \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if n is even} \\ \\ \frac{1}{(p^{-1/2};q)_{\infty}} & \text{if n is odd,} \end{cases} \end{split}$$

we can use Corollary B.2 and Proposition B.3 to take the $p \to 0$ limit, resulting in (B.1.11).

PROOF OF THEOREM 5.27. Our final proof is very similar to that of Theorem 5.24. We begin with the $\lambda = 0$ case of [111, Conjecture Q3], proved in [19, Theorem 6.1] and [112, Section 8].

THEOREM B.7. For $p, q, t, u, t_0, ..., t_3 \in \mathbb{C}^*$ such that |p|, |q| < 1 and (B.1.13) $t^{2n-2}t_0t_1t_2t_3 = pq^2$,

 $we\ have$

$$\begin{split} H_{2}^{(n)} \big(t^{-1/2} t_{0}, t^{-1/2} t_{1}, t^{-1/2} t_{2}, t^{1/2} t_{3}, t^{-1/2} u, pqt^{-1/2} / u, \pm t^{1/2}, \pm (pt)^{1/2}; t; p, q \big) \\ &= \prod_{i=1}^{n} \prod_{0 \leqslant r < s \leqslant 2} \frac{\Gamma(t^{2i-3} t_{r} t_{s}; p, q)}{\Gamma(t^{2i-2} t_{r} t_{s} / q; p, q)} \\ &\times H_{2}^{(n)} \big(q^{\pm 1/2} t_{0}, q^{\pm 1/2} t_{1}, q^{\pm 1/2} t_{2}, q^{\pm 1/2} tt_{3}, q^{1/2} u / t, pq^{3/2} / tu; t^{2}; p, q^{2} \big). \end{split}$$

For $u = t_3$ both sides reduce to a $II_1^{(n)}$ integral by (B.1.1), so that

$$\begin{split} II_{1}^{(n)} \big(t^{-1/2} t_{0}, t^{-1/2} t_{1}, t^{-1/2} t_{2}, t^{-1/2} t_{3}, \pm t^{1/2}, \pm (pt)^{1/2}; t; p, q \big) \\ &= \prod_{i=1}^{n} \prod_{0 \leqslant r < s \leqslant 2} \frac{\Gamma(t^{2i-3} t_{r} t_{s}; p, q)}{\Gamma(t^{2i-2} t_{r} t_{s}/q; p, q)} \\ &\times II_{1}^{(n)} \big(q^{\pm 1/2} t_{0}, q^{\pm 1/2} t_{1}, q^{\pm 1/2} t_{2}, (q^{1/2}/t)^{\pm} t_{3}; t^{2}; p, q^{2} \big) \end{split}$$

After carrying out the substitutions

$$(t_0, t_1, t_2, t_3) \mapsto (p^{-1/4}, ap^{1/4}qt^{1-2n}, p^{3/4}q/ac, cp^{1/4}t),$$

consistent with (B.1.13), we then obtain

$$\begin{split} B^{(n)}_{\alpha} & \left(t^{-1/2}, t^{1/2}, -t^{1/2}, aqt^{1/2-2n}, ct^{1/2}, t^{1/2}, -t^{1/2}, \frac{qt^{-1/2}}{ac}; t; p, q \right) \\ &= \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\Gamma(aqt^{-2i}, p^{1/2}qt^{2n-2i-1}/ac, pq^2t^{-2i}/c; p, q)}{\Gamma(at^{1-2i}, p^{1/2}t^{2n-2i}/ac, pqt^{1-2i}/c; p, q)} \\ &\times B^{(n)}_{\alpha'} \left(q^{1/2}, q^{-1/2}, aq^{3/2}t^{1-2n}, aq^{1/2}t^{1-2n}, cq^{-1/2}t^2, cq^{1/2}, \frac{q^{3/2}}{ac}, \frac{q^{1/2}}{ac}; t^2; p, q^2 \right), \end{split}$$

with α and α' once again given by (B.1.9). Multiplying both sides by

$$(p^{-1/4}t^{n-1}, -p^{1/4}t^{n-1}; q, t)_{\infty^n} = (p^{-1/2}t^{2n-2}; q^2, t^2)_{\infty^n}$$

and then letting p tend to 0 yields (5.4.26).

Bibliography

- G. E. Andrews, An analytic generalization of the Rogers-Ramanujan identities for odd moduli, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 71 (1974), 4082–4085.
- [2] G. E. Andrews, *The Theory of Partitions*, Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications, Vol. 2, Addison-Wesley Publishing Co., Reading, Mass.-London-Amsterdam, 1976.
- [3] G. E. Andrews, MacMahon's conjecture on symmetric plane partitions, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 74 (1977), 426–429.
- [4] G. E. Andrews, Plane partitions. I. The MacMahon conjecture, Studies in foundations and combinatorics, pp. 131–150, Adv. in Math. Suppl. Stud., 1, Academic Press, New York-London, 1978.
- [5] G. E. Andrews, A. Schilling and S. O. Warnaar, An A₂ Bailey lemma and Rogers-Ramanujantype identities, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 12 (1999), 677–702.
- [6] R. Askey and J. A. Wilson, Some basic hypergeometric polynomials that generalize Jacobi polynomials, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 54 (1985), no. 319, iv+55 pp.
- [7] J. Baik and E. M. Rains, Algebraic aspects of increasing subsequences, Duke Math. J. 109 (2001), 1–65.
- [8] T. H. Baker and P. J. Forrester, Transformation formulas for multivariable basic hypergeometric series, Methods Appl. Anal. 6 (1999), 147–164.
- [9] N. Bartlett and S. O. Warnaar, Hall-Littlewood polynomials and characters of affine Lie algebras, Adv. in Math. 285 (2015), 1066–1105.
- [10] E. A. Bender and D. E. Knuth, Enumeration of plane partitions, J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 13 (1972), 40–54.
- [11] A. Berkovich and S. O. Warnaar, Positivity preserving transformations for q-binomial coefficients, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 357 (2005), 2291–2351.
- [12] D. Betea and M. Wheeler, Refined Cauchy and Littlewood identities, plane partitions and symmetry classes of alternating sign matrices, J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 137 (2016), 126–165.
- [13] D. Betea, M. Wheeler and P. Zinn-Justin, Refined Cauchy/Littlewood identities and sixvertex model partition functions: II. Proofs and new conjectures, J. Algebraic Combin. 42 (2015), 555–603.
- [14] D. M. Bressoud, An analytic generalization of the Rogers-Ramanujan identities with interpretation, Quart. J. Math. Oxford Ser. (2) 31 (1980), 385–399.
- [15] D. M. Bressoud, Analytic and combinatorial generalizations of the Rogers-Ramanujan identities. Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 24 (1980), no. 227, 54 pp.
- [16] D. M. Bressoud, Proofs and Confirmations. The Story of the Alternating Sign Matrix Conjecture, MAA Spectrum, Mathematical Association of America, Washington, DC, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1999.
- [17] D. M. Bressoud, Elementary proofs of identities for Schur functions and plane partitions, Ramanujan J. 4 (2000), 69–80.
- [18] K. Bringmann, C. Calinescu, A. Folsom and S. Kimport, Graded dimensions of principal subspaces and modular Andrews-Gordon-type series, Commun. Contemp. Math. 16 (2014), 1350050, 20 pp.
- [19] F. J. van de Bult, Two multivariate quadratic transformations of elliptic hypergeometric integrals, arXiv:1109.1123.
- [20] F. J. van de Bult and E. M. Rains, Basic hypergeometric functions as limits of elliptic hypergeometric functions, SIGMA Symmetry Integrability Geom. Methods Appl. 5 (2009), paper 059, 31 pp.
- [21] F. J. van de Bult and E. M. Rains, Limits of multivariate elliptic beta integrals and related bilinear forms, arXiv:1110.1460.

- [22] D. Bump, *Lie Groups*, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, Vol. 225, Springer-Verlag, New York, 2004.
- [23] L. M. Butler, Subgroup lattices and symmetric functions, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 112 (1994), no. 539, vi+160 pp.
- [24] S. A. Capparelli, A construction of the level 3 modules for the affine Lie algebra $A_2^{(2)}$ and a new combinatorial identity of the Rogers-Ramanujan type, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **348** (1996), 481–501.
- [25] R. W. Carter, Lie Algebras of Finite and Affine Type, Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics, Vol. 96, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2005.
- [26] I. Cherednik, Double Affine Hecke Algebras, London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Series, Vol. 319, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2005.
- [27] I. Cherednik and B. Feigin, Rogers-Ramanujan type identities and Nil-DAHA, Adv. in Math. 248 (2013), 1050–1088.
- [28] H. S. Cohl, R. S. Costas-Santos, P. R. Hwang and T. Wakhare, On a generalization of the Rogers generating function, arXiv:1805.10149.
- [29] H. Coskun and R. A. Gustafson, Well-poised Macdonald functions W_{λ} and Jackson coefficients ω_{λ} on BC_n , in Jack, Hall-Littlewood and Macdonald Polynomials, pp. 127–155, Contemp. Math. 417, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2006.
- [30] B. Coulson, S. Kanade, J. Lepowsky, R. McRae, F. Qi, M. C. Russell and C. Sadowski, A motivated proof of the Göllnitz-Gordon-Andrews identities, Ramanujan J. 42 (2017), 97–129.
- [31] J. Désarménien, La démonstration des identités de Gordon et MacMahon et de deux identités nouvelles, Sém Lothar. Combin. 15 (1986), Art. B15a, 11pp.
- [32] J. Désarménien, Une généralisation des formules de Gordon et de MacMahon, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math. 309 (1989), 269–272.
- [33] J. Désarménien, B. Leclerc and J.-Y. Thibon, Hall-Littlewood functions and Kostka-Foulkes polynomials in representation theory, Sém. Lothar. Combin. 32 (1994), Art. B32c, 3pp.
- [34] J. F. van Diejen, Commuting difference operators with polynomial eigenfunctions, Compositio Math. 95 (1995), 183–233.
- [35] J. F. van Diejen, Self-dual Koornwinder-Macdonald polynomials, Invent. Math. 126 (1996), 319-339.
- [36] J. F. van Diejen and V. P. Spiridonov, An elliptic Macdonald-Morris conjecture and multiple modular hypergeometric sums, Math. Res. Lett. 7 (2000), 729–746.
- [37] F. Dyson, Missed opportunities, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 78 (1972), 635-652.
- [38] B. Feigin and E. Frenkel, Coinvariants of nilpotent subalgebras of the Virasoro algebra and partition identities, in I. M. Gel'fand Seminar, pp. 139–148, Adv. Soviet Math., 16, Part 1, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1993.
- [39] A. Feingold and A. Milas, The 3-state Potts model and Rogers-Ramanujan series, Cent. Eur. J. Math. 11 (2013), 1–16.
- [40] W. Fulton, Young Tableaux, London Mathematical Society Student Texts, Vol. 35, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1997.
- [41] W. Fulton and J. Harris, *Representation Theory*, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, Vol. 129, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1991.
- [42] G. Gasper and M. Rahman, Positivity of the Poisson kernel for the continuous q-Jacobi polynomials and some quadratic transformation formulas for basic hypergeometric series, SIAM J. Math. Anal. 17 (1986), 970–999.
- [43] G. Gasper and M. Rahman, Basic Hypergeometric Series, second edition, Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications, Vol. 96, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2004.
- [44] B. Gordon, A combinatorial generalization of the Rogers-Ramanujan identities, Amer. J. Math. 83 (1961), 393–399.
- [45] B. Gordon, Notes on plane partitions. V, J. Combin. Theory Ser. B 11 (1971), 157–168.
- [46] I. P. Goulden, A linear operator for symmetric functions and tableaux in a strip with given trace, Discrete Math. 99 (1992), 69–77.
- [47] M. J. Griffin, K. Ono and S. O. Warnaar, A framework of Rogers-Ramanujan identities and their arithmetic properties, Duke Math. J. 165 (2016), 1475–1527.
- [48] R. A. Gustafson, A generalization of Selberg's beta integral, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 22 (1990), 97–105.
- [49] J. Haglund, The q,t-Catalan Numbers and the Space of Diagonal Harmonics, University lecture series, Vol. 41, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2008.

110

- [50] J. E. Humphreys, Introduction to Lie Algebras and Representation Theory, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, Vol. 9, Springer-Verlag, New York-Berlin, 1972.
- [51] M. Ishikawa, F. Jouhet, J. Zeng, A generalization of Kawanaka's identity for Hall-Littlewood polynomials and applications, J. Algebraic Combin. 23 (2006), 395–412.
- [52] M. Ishikawa, S. Okada and M. Wakayama, Applications of minor-summation formula. I. Littlewood's formulas, J. Algebra 183 (1996), 193–216.
- [53] M. Ishikawa and M. Wakayama, Applications of minor-summation formula. II. Pfaffians and Schur polynomials, J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 88 (1999), 136–157.
- [54] M. Ishikawa and M. Wakayama, Applications of minor summation formula. III. Plücker relations, lattice paths and Pfaffian identities, J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 113 (2006), 113– 155.
- [55] V. K. Jain, Some transformations of basic hypergeometric functions. II. SIAM J. Math. Anal. 12 (1981), 957–961.
- [56] F. Jouhet and J. Zeng, New identities for Hall-Littlewood polynomials and applications, Ramanujan J. 10 (2005), 89–112.
- [57] S. Kanade, J. Lepowsky, M. C. Russell and Andrew V. Sills, Ghost series and a motivated proof of the Andrews-Bressoud identities, J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 146 (2017), 33–62.
- [58] J. Kaneko, q-Selberg integrals and Macdonald polynomials, Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4) 29 (1996), 583–637.
- [59] J. Kaneko, Constant term identities of Forrester-Zeilberger-Cooper, Discrete Math. 173 (1997), 79–90.
- [60] J. Kaneko, A $_1\Psi_1$ summation theorem for Macdonald polynomials, Ramanujan J. 2 (1998), 379–386.
- [61] N. Kawanaka, On subfield symmetric spaces over a finite field, Osaka J. Math. 28 (1991), 759–791.
- [62] N. Kawanaka, A q-series identity involving Schur functions and related topics, Osaka J. Math. 36 (1999), 157–176.
- [63] A. N. Kirillov, New combinatorial formula for modified Hall-Littlewood polynomials, in q-Series from a Contemporary Perspective, pp. 283–333, Contemp. Math. 254, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2000.
- [64] M. Konvalinka and A. Lauve, Skew Pieri rules for Hall-Littlewood functions, J. Algebraic Combin. 38 (2013), 499–518.
- [65] T. H. Koornwinder, Askey-Wilson polynomials for root systems of type BC in Hypergeometric Functions on Domains of Positivity, Jack Polynomials, and Applications, pp. 189–204, Contemp. Math. 138, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1992.
- [66] C. Krattenthaler, Non-crossing two-rowed arrays and summations for Schur functions, in Proceedings of the 5th Conference on Formal Power Series and Algebraic Combinatorics, Florence, 1993, A. Barlotti, M. Delest, R. Pinzani, Eds., D.S.I., Università di Firenze, pp. 301– 314.
- [67] C. Krattenthaler, Identities for classical group characters of nearly rectangular shape, J. Algebra 209 (1998), 1–64.
- [68] C. Krattenthaler, Plane partitions in the work of Richard Stanley and his school, in The Mathematical Legacy of Richard P. Stanley, pp. 231–261, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2016.
- [69] C. Krattenthaler and M. J. Schlosser, The major index generating function of standard Young tableaux of shapes of the form "staircase minus rectangle", in Ramanujan 125, pp. 111–122, Contemp. Math. 627, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2014.
- [70] D. Laksov, A. Lascoux and A. Thorup, On Giambelli's theorem on complete correlations, Acta Math. 162 (1989), 143–199.
- [71] R. Langer, M. J. Schlosser and S. O. Warnaar, Theta functions, elliptic hypergeometric series, and Kawanaka's Macdonald polynomial conjecture, SIGMA Symmetry Integrability Geom. Methods Appl. 5 (2009), paper 055, 20 pp.
- [72] A. Lascoux, Symmetric Functions and Combinatorial Operators on Polynomials, CBMS Regional Conference Series in Mathematics Vol. 99, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2003.
- [73] A. Lascoux, Adding ±1 to the argument of a Hall-Littlewood polynomial, Sém. Lothar. Combin. 54 (2005/07), Art. B54n, 17 pp.

- [74] A. Lascoux and M.-P. Schützenberger, Sur une conjecture de H. O. Foulkes, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. A-B 286 (1978), A323–A324.
- [75] A. Lascoux, E. M. Rains and S. O. Warnaar, Nonsymmetric interpolation Macdonald polynomials and gl_n basic hypergeometric series, Transform. Groups 14 (2009), 613–647.
- [76] A. Lascoux and S. O. Warnaar, Branching rules for symmetric functions and \mathfrak{sl}_n basic hypergeometric series, Adv. in Appl. Math. 46 (2011), 424–456.
- [77] J. Lepowsky, Generalized Verma modules, loop space cohomology and Macdonald-type identities, Ann. Sci. Ecole Norm. Sup. 12 (1979), 169–234.
- [78] J. Lepowsky, Affine Lie algebras and combinatorial identities in Lie algebras and related topics, pp. 130–156, Lecture Notes in Mathematics No. 933, Springer, Berlin–New York, 1982.
- [79] J. Lepowsky and S. Milne, Lie algebras and classical partition identities, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 75 (1978), 578–579.
- [80] J. Lepowsky and S. Milne, Lie algebraic approaches to classical partition identities, Adv. in Math. 29 (1978), 15–59.
- [81] J. Lepowsky and R. L. Wilson, The Rogers-Ramanujan identities: Lie theoretic interpretation and proof, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 78 (1981), 699–701.
- [82] J. Lepowsky and R. L. Wilson, A new family of algebras underlying the Rogers-Ramanujan identities and generalizations, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 78 (1981), 7254–7258.
- [83] J. Lepowsky and R. L. Wilson, A Lie theoretic interpretation and proof of the Rogers-Ramanujan identities, Adv. in Math. 45 (1982), 21–72.
- [84] J. Lepowsky and R. L. Wilson, The structure of standard modules. I. Universal algebras and the Rogers-Ramanujan identities, Invent. Math. 77 (1984), 199–290.
- [85] D. E. Littlewood, The Theory of Group Characters and Matrix Representations of Groups, Oxford University Press, 1950.
- [86] V. G. Kac, Infinite-dimensional algebras, Dedekind's η-function, classical Möbius function and the very strange formula, Adv. in Math. 30 (1978), 85–136.
- [87] V. G. Kac, Infinite-dimensional Lie Algebras, third edition, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1990.
- [88] K. Koike and I. Terada, Young-diagrammatic methods for the representation theory of the classical groups of type B_n, C_n, D_n, J. Algebra **107** (1987), 466–511.
- [89] I. G. Macdonald, Affine root systems and Dedekind's η-function, Invent. Math. 15 (1972), 91–143.
- [90] I. G. Macdonald, Symmetric Functions and Hall Polynomials, The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, New York, 1979.
- [91] I. G. Macdonald, Symmetric Functions and Hall Polynomials, second edition, The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, New York, 1995.
- [92] I. G. Macdonald, Orthogonal polynomials associated with root systems, Sém. Lothar. Combin. 45 (2000/01), Art. B45a, 40 pp.
- [93] I. G. Macdonald, Affine Hecke Algebras and Orthogonal Polynomials, Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics, Vol. 157, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2003.
- [94] I. G. Macdonald, Hypergeometric functions II (q-analogues), arXiv:1309.5208.
- [95] P. A. MacMahon, Partitions of numbers whose graphs possess symmetry, Trans. Cambridge Phil. Soc. 17 (1898–99), 149–170.
- [96] P. A. MacMahon, Combinatory Analysis, Vol. 2, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1916.
- [97] A. Milas, Virasoro algebra, Dedekind η-function and specialized Macdonald's identities, Transform. Groups 9 (2004), 273–288.
- [98] K. Mimachi, A duality of Macdonald-Koornwinder polynomials and its application to integral representations, Duke Math. J. 107 (2001), 265–281.
- [99] A. Meurman and M. Primc, Annihilating ideals of standard modules of sl(2, C)[~] and combinatorial identities, Adv. in Math. 64 (1987), 177–240.
- [100] V. A. Nguyen, Contributions to tensor models, Hurwitz numbers and Macdonald-Koornwinder polynomials, Thèse de doctorat, Université d'Angers, 2017.
- [101] S. Okada, Applications of minor summation formulas to rectangular-shaped representations of classical groups, J. Algebra 205 (1998), 337–367.
- [102] A. Okounkov, BC-type interpolation Macdonald polynomials and binomial formula for Koornwinder polynomials, Transform. Groups 3 (1998), 181–207.

- [103] A. Okounkov and N. Reshetikhin, Correlation function of Schur process with application to local geometry of a random 3-dimensional Young diagram, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 16 (2003), 581–603.
- [104] G. Panova, Tableaux and plane partitions of truncated shapes, Adv. in Appl. Math. 49 (2012), 196–217.
- [105] G. Panova, Lozenge tilings with free boundaries, Lett. Math. Phys. 105 (2015), 1551–1586.
- [106] R. A. Proctor, Bruhat lattices, plane partition generating functions, and minuscule representations, European J. Combin. 5 (1984), 331–350.
- [107] R. A. Proctor, New symmetric plane partition identities from invariant theory work of De Concini and Procesi, European J. Combin. 11 (1990), 289–300.
- [108] E. M. Rains, BC_n-symmetric polynomials, Transform. Groups 10 (2005), 63–132.
- [109] E. M. Rains, BC_n -symmetric abelian functions, Duke Math. J. 135 (2006), 99–180.
- [110] E. M. Rains, Transformations of elliptic hypergeometric integrals, Ann. of Math. (2) 171 (2010), 169–243.
- [111] E. M. Rains, *Elliptic Littlewood identities*, J. Combin. Theory Ser. A **119** (2012), 1558–1609.
- [112] E. M. Rains, Multivariate quadratic transformations and the interpolation kernel, SIGMA Symmetry Integrability Geom. Methods Appl. 14 (2018), paper 019, 69 pp.
- [113] E. M. Rains and M. Vazirani, Vanishing integrals of Macdonald and Koornwinder polynomials, Transform. Groups 12 (2007), 725–759.
- [114] L. J. Rogers, Second memoir on the expansion of certain infinite products, Proc. London Math. Soc. 25 (1894), 318–343.
- [115] H. Rosengren, A proof of a multivariable elliptic summation formula conjectured by Warnaar, in q-Series with Applications to Combinatorics, Number Theory, and Physics, pp. 193– 202, Contemp. Math. 291, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2001.
- [116] H. Rosengren, Selberg integrals, Askey-Wilson polynomials and lozenge tilings of a hexagon with a triangular hole, J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 138 (2016), 29–59.
- [117] H. Rosengren and M. Schlosser, Elliptic determinant evaluations and the Macdonald identities for affine root systems, Compos. Math. 142 (2006), 937–961.
- [118] H. Rosengren and S. O. Warnaar, *Elliptic hypergeometric functions associated with root systems*, to appear in *Multivariable Special Functions*, T. H. Koornwinder and J. V. Stokman, Eds., Cambridge University Press, arXiv:1704.08406.
- [119] S. N. M. Ruijsenaars, First order analytic difference equations and integrable quantum systems, J. Math. Phys. 38 (1997), 1069–1146.
- [120] S. Sahi, Nonsymmetric Koornwinder polynomials and duality, Ann. of Math. (2) 150 (1999), 267–282.
- [121] I. Schur, Aufgabe 569, Arch. Math. Phys. 27 (3) (1918), 163; Ges. Abhandlungen, Vol. 3, p. 456.
- [122] L. J. Slater, Further identities of the Rogers-Ramanujan type, Proc. London Math. Soc. (2) 54 (1952), 147–16.
- [123] V. P. Spiridonov, Theta hypergeometric integrals, Algebra i Analiz 15 (2003), 161–215.
- [124] R. P. Stanley, Symmetries of plane partitions, J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 43 (1986), 103–113.
- [125] R. P. Stanley, Plane partitions: past, present, and future, in Combinatorial Mathematics: Proceedings of the Third International Conference, pp. 397–401, Ann. New York Acad. Sci., 555, New York Acad. Sci., New York, 1989.
- [126] R. P. Stanley, *Enumerative Combinatorics. Vol. 2*, Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics, Vol. 62, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1999.
- [127] J. R. Stembridge, Hall-Littlewood functions, plane partitions, and the Rogers-Ramanujan identities, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 319 (1990), 469–498.
- [128] J. R. Stembridge, Nonintersecting paths, Pfaffians, and plane partitions, Adv. in Math. 83 (1990), 96–131.
- [129] J. R. Stembridge, Multiplicity-free products and restrictions of Weyl characters, Represent. Theory 7 (2003), 404–439.
- [130] J. V. Stokman, Macdonald-Koornwinder polynomials, to appear in Multivariable Special Functions, T. H. Koornwinder and J. V. Stokman, Eds., Cambridge University Press, arXiv:1111.6112.
- [131] A. V. Stoyanovsky, Lie algebra deformations and character formulas, Funct. Anal. Appl. 32 (1998), 66–68.

- [132] G. Szegő, Ein Beitrag zur Theorie der Thetafunktionen, Sitz. Preuss. Akad. Wiss. Phys.-Math. Kl. XIX (1926), 242–252.
- [133] V. Venkateswaran, Vanishing integrals for Hall-Littlewood polynomials, Transform. Groups 17 (2012), 259–302.
- [134] V. Venkateswaran, Symmetric and nonsymmetric Koornwinder polynomials in the $q \rightarrow 0$ limit, J. Algebraic Combin. 42 (2015), 331–364.
- [135] A. Verma, A quadratic transformation of a basic hypergeometric series, SIAM J. Math. Anal. 11 (1980), 425–427.
- [136] S. O. Warnaar, Summation and transformation formulas for elliptic hypergeometric series, Constr. Approx. 18 (2002), 479–502.
- [137] S. O. Warnaar, The generalized Borwein conjecture. II. Refined q-trinomial coefficients, Discrete Math. 272 (2003), 215–258.
- [138] S. O. Warnaar, q-Selberg integrals and Macdonald polynomials, Ramanujan J. 10 (2005), 237–268.
- [139] S. O. Warnaar, Rogers-Szegő polynomials and Hall-Littlewood symmetric functions, J. Algebra 303 (2006), 810–830.
- [140] S. O. Warnaar, Bisymmetric functions, Macdonald polynomials and \$1₃ basic hypergeometric series, Compos. Math. **114** (2008), 271–303.
- [141] S. O. Warnaar, A Selberg integral for the Lie algebra A_n , Acta Math. 203 (2009), 269–304.
- [142] S. O. Warnaar, The sl₃ Selberg integral, Adv. in Math. 224 (2010), 499–524.
- [143] S. O. Warnaar, Remarks on the paper "Skew Pieri rules for Hall-Littlewood functions" by Konvalinka and Lauve, J. Algebraic Combin. 38 (2013), 519–526.
- [144] S. O. Warnaar and W. Zudilin, Dedekind's eta-function and Rogers-Ramanujan identities, Bull. London Math. Soc. 44 (2012), 1–11.
- [145] M. Wheeler and P. Zinn-Justin, Refined Cauchy/Littlewood identities and six-vertex model partition functions: III. Deformed bosons, Adv. in Math. 299 (2016), 543–600.